

# Porous maltodextrin nanoparticles for the intranasal delivery of vaccines

Beatrice Bernocchi

#### ▶ To cite this version:

Beatrice Bernocchi. Porous maltodextrin nanoparticles for the intranasal delivery of vaccines. Human health and pathology. Université du Droit et de la Santé - Lille II, 2016. English. NNT: 2016LIL2S010. tel-01480950

## HAL Id: tel-01480950 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01480950

Submitted on 2 Mar 2017

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



## Université Lille 2 Droit et Santé

Ecole doctorale Biologie-Santé de Lille

## THESE

Pour l'obtention du grade de

## DOCTEUR DE L'UNIVERSITE DE LILLE 2

## Discipline : Physiologie, Physiopathologie et Biologie systémique médicale

Présentée et soutenue publiquement par

### **Beatrice BERNOCCHI**

Le 18 Juillet 2016

## POROUS MALTODEXTRIN NANOPARTICLES FOR THE INTRANASAL DELIVERY OF VACCINES

Composition du jury:

<u>Rapporteurs :</u>	Pr Gill	ian BARRATT	Institut Galien-Paris Sud, CNRS UMR 8612
	Pr Pat	rick MIDOUX	Université de Orléans, CNRS UPR 4301
Examinateurs :	: Pr Pierre DESREUMAUX		Université de Lille2, Inserm - UMR 995
	Pr Ph	ilippe CHAVATTE	Université de Lille 2, Inserm - UMR 995
Directeur de Th	hèse :	Pr Didier BETBEDER	Université de Lille 2, Inserm - UMR 995

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

TABLE OF CONTENTS	2
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	4
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	7
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	9
AIM AND OUTLINE OF THE THESIS	10
ARSTRACT	12
RESUME	13
RÉSUMÉ DE LA THÈSE	14
PART I: INTRODUCTION	
1. NANOPARTICLES	23
1.1 NANOPARTICLES AS DRUG DELIVERY SYSTEM	23
Publication 1: Endocytosis of nanoparticles	
1.1.1 Nanoparticles for vaccine and macromolecules delivery	
Publication 2: Nasal nanovaccines	
1.1.2 NPL positively charged porous nanoparticles with a lipid core	112
1.2 BIOLOGICAL FATE OF NASALLY ADMINISTERED NANOPARTICLES	113
1.2.1 Anatomy of the nose	113
1.2.2 Nasal immune system: NALT	115
1.2.3 Fate of nanoparticles after intranasal administration	117
2. INFLUENZA AND VACCINATION	118
2.1 HISTORY OF VACCINATION	118
2.2 INFLUENZA DISEASE	118
2.2.1 Influenza virus: classification and structure	
2.2.2 The infection mechanism	
2.3 INFLUENZA VACCINES: INACTIVATED AND LIVE ATTENUATED INFLUENZA VACCINES	
2.3.1 Administration routes of influenza vaccines	
2.3.2 Adjuvants	

2.3.3 Looking for a universal influenza vaccine	
2.3.4 CTA1-3M2e-DD	
2.4 INFLUENZA TREATMENT: ANTIVIRAL DRUGS	
PART II: RESULTS	
NANOPARTICLES FOR PROTEIN DELIVERY IN THE NASAL MUCOSA	
Publication 3: Mechanisms allowing protein delivery in nasal mucosa using NPL	
nanoparticles	
NPL endocytosis by THP-1 derived macrophages	148
Conclusion	149
Choice of the cell model: In vitro models of airway barriers	150
Ovalbumin as model antigen for vaccine delivery	151
NANOPARTICLES FOR UNIVERSAL INFLUENZA VACCINE DELIVERY	
Porous nanoparticles for the mucosal delivery of an adjuvanted universal influenza v	accine 154
PART III: DISCUSSION	172
PART IV: CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express my gratitude to Professor Didier Betbeder for welcoming me in his research group as PhD student and particularly for his teachings, support and patience during these years. I will always be grateful for this opportunity.

Besides my advisor, I would like to thank all the members of the jury for accepting being part of my thesis committee and for evaluating this work.

I would like to thank the funding from the People Programme (Marie Curie Actions) of the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007-2013/ under REA grant agreement  $n^{\circ}607690$ .

My sincere thanks also go to Dr Rodolphe Carpentier for his guidance, encouragements and support. Thank you for your constant help and fruitful discussions.

I wish to express my appreciation to Professor Dimier-Poisson for her presence during these years and for hosting me in her laboratory. I also wish to thank all the UMR1282 of the University Francois Rabelais of Tours, especially Céline Ducournau and Dr Isabelle Lantier for the productive collaboration.

I would like to express my thanks also to all the members of the UniVacFlu group, especially to the coordinator Professor Nils Lycke, but also to Dr Drubavka Grdic Eliasson and Valentina Bernasconi for the work done on the European project.

I am also very grateful to Fatima Dahmani for all her teachings, technical guidance and also constructive dialogues.

I would like to thank Michael Howsam for proofreading the publications and Laura Ravasi for checking the English of this manuscript.

I would like to thank the members of the LIRIC-UMR 995 for their support.

Thanks to Audrey Langlois, Madjid Djouina, Laura Choteau, Anthony Martin-Mena, Nicolas Esquerre, Mohamed Bousaleh, François Maggiotto and Didier Lefranc. Thanks for your assistance, encouragement and friendship.

I wish to acknowledge also the members of the Laboratory of Nanomedicine, the interns and the technicians with whom I shared the daily life in the laboratory. To Helena, Audrey, Coralie, Minh Quan, Amelie and Clement thanks for the nice moments together.

Finally special thanks go to my family, Manuel and all my friends. Thanks for your presence, support and encouragements during these years.

## LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

#### Mechanisms allowing protein delivery in nasal mucosa using NPL nanoparticles,

B. Bernocchi, R. Carpentier, I. Lantier, C. Ducournau, I. Dimier-Poisson, D. Betbeder, Journal of Controlled Release 232 (2016) 42-50

#### Nasal Nanovaccines,

B.Bernocchi, D. Betbeder Submitted to Biomaterials

#### Endocytosis of Nanoparticles,

B.Bernocchi, R. Carpentier, D. Betbeder Submitted to Nanoscale

## ABBREVIATIONS

(except of publications)

16HBE14o-, human bronchial epithelial cell line ADP, adenosine diphosphate APC, antigen presenting cell API, active pharmaceutical ingredient B cell, lymphocyte B BM2, ion channel influenza B virus BSA, bovine serum albumin cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate CD4, cluster of differentiation 4 CD8, cluster of differentiation 8 CM2, ion channel influenza C virus CME, clathrin mediated endocytosis CTA1, cholera toxin subunit A1 CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocytes DAS181, sialidase inhibitor of influenza virus attachment DC, dendritic cell DC-SIGN, dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing non-integrin, C-type lectin receptors DD, dimer of the D-fragment of the protein A from Staphylococcus aureus DPPG, dipalmitoylphosphatidylglycerol EMA, European Medicine Agency FDA, Food and Drug Administration FITC, fluorescein isothiocyanate

GCN4, transcriptional activator protein

GM1, monosialotetrahexosylganglioside

GRAS, generally recognized as safe

Gsa, G-protein  $\alpha$ -subunit

GTMA, glycidyltrimethylammonium chloride

GTP, guanosine triphosphate

HA, hemagglutinin

hAEpC, primary human alveolar type I-like cells

HBc, hepatitis B virus core protein

HBsAg, hepatitis B virus antigen

HLA-DR, human leukocyte antigen, antigen D related

HSP70, heat shock protein 70

IFN-γ, interferon gamma

Ig, immunoglobulin

IIV, inactivated influenza virus

IL-2, interleukin 2

ISCOM, ImmunoStimulating COMplex

LAIV, live attenuated influenza virus

LD50, median lethal dose

L-SIGN, lectin-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing non-integrin, C-type lectin receptors

LTR192G, non-toxic form of the heat labile toxin

M1, matrix protein 1 of influenza virus

M2, matrix protein 2 of influenza virus

M2e, matrix protein 2 extracellular domain of influenza virus

M-cells, microfold or membranous cells

MDCK, Madin-Darbey canine kidney cells

MHC, major histocompatibility complex

NA, neuraminidase

NALT, nose-associated lymphoid tissue

NB, ion channel influenza B virus

NP, nucleoprotein of influenza virus

NP<sup>+</sup>, maltodextrin nanoparticles

NPL, maltodextrin nanoparticles containing a lipid core

OVA, ovalbumin

PA, Influenza RNA polymerase subunit A

PB1, Influenza RNA polymerase subunit B1

PB2, Influenza RNA polymerase subunit B2

PLGA, polylactic-co-glycolic acid

PMA: phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate

QH-A, QH-B, QH-C, fraction of Quil A

QS-21, purified fraction of Quillaja saponaria

RNA, ribonucleic acid

RNPs, ribonucleoproteins

RSV, respiratory syncytial virus

sIgA, secretory immunoglobulin A

SMBV, supramolecular biovectors

T cell, lymphocyte T

TEER, transepithelial electrical resistance

Th, T helper

THP-1: monocyte cell line

TJ, tight junction

TLR, toll like receptor

TMC, N-trimethyl chitosan

TNF- $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor alpha

WHO, world health organization

## LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

### (except of publications)

Figure 1 Publications about "vaccine nanoparticle"	78
Figure 2 Representation of NPL.	112
Figure 3 Sagittal section of the nasal cavity.	114
Figure 4 Mucosal immune response.	116
Figure 5 Influenza A virus nomenclature.	120
Figure 6 Schema of Influenza A virus.	121
Figure 7 Influenza virus replication mechanism	123
Figure 8 Adjuvanted antigen CTA1-3M2e-DD.	132
Figure 9 NPL endocytosis inTHP1-derived macrophages	148
Figure 10 Mechanism of NPL interaction with the nasal mucosa.	149
Figure 11 Scanning electron microscopy of airway epithelial cells	150
Figure 12 Characterization of CTA1-3M2e-DD NPL.	160
Figure 13 Characterization of CTA1(R9K)-3M2e-DD NPL.	160
Figure 14 Characterization of HA CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL.	161
Figure 15 Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL: native PAGE	162
Figure 16 Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL 12 months	163
Figure 17 Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL: SDS PAGE	164
Figure 18 Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL 12 months	164
Figure 19 Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD.	165
Figure 20 Characterization of the size and charge stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD: NPL	166
Figure 21 Characterization of the colloidal stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL12 months	167
Figure 22 Characterization of the NPL size and charge stability.	168
Figure 23 Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD.	169
Figure 24 Antigen delivery in airway epithelial cells (a) and macrophages (b)	170
Figure 25 Tight junction opening during the antigen treatment.	171

## AIM AND OUTLINE OF THE THESIS

#### Aim of the thesis

The aim of these studies is the evaluation of cationic maltodextrin nanoparticles with a lipid core (NPL) as drug vector. We intend to elucidate the mechanism of nanoparticles interaction with the nasal mucosa and evaluate their application as protein delivery system for a universal influenza vaccine.

#### The UniVacFlu Consortium

This manuscript describes the thesis work performed under the supervision of Professor Didier Betbeder, head of the laboratory of Nanomedicine. This laboratory is part of the group of Therapeutic Innovation Targeting Inflammation of the INSERM unit LIRIC-UMR 995 of the University of Lille 2.

We evaluated the mechanism implied in NPL protein delivery after intranasal administration. These studies are prerequisite for developing a new adjuvant system for vaccine application.

Hence we used this NPL technology in the project UniVacFlu, financed by the European Union Seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007/2013, part of the People Programme, Marie Skłodowska-Curie Actions. This International Training Network focuses on the development of a mucosal universal Influenza vaccine.

The UniVacFlu project is coordinated by Professor Lycke from the University of Gothenburg. Lycke and co-workers developed the non-toxic mucosal adjuvant CTA1-DD, to circumvent the safety problems of the cholera toxin. Lycke *et al.*, together with Pr. Fiers and Pr. Saelens from the University of Ghent, developed the fusion protein CTA1-3M2e-DD, where M2e is a conserved epitope of influenza virus A. Therefore to optimize the mucosal vaccine efficacy we combined CTA1-3M2e-DD with nanoparticles technology. This vaccine is currently under evaluation for the induction of protective immunity after intranasal administration in the *Consortium*.

We also investigated the oral administration of the nanoparticle vaccine in collaboration with Rescigno *et al.*, form the European Institute of Oncology in Milan. Eventually we addressed the protection from virus transmission with Pr. Staeheli and co-workers, from the University of Freiburg.

The role of our laboratory in the UniVacFlu *Consortium* is (i) to prepare and characterize nanoparticles and vaccine formulations, (ii) to analyze the interaction of these nanoparticles with

the airway mucosa and to evaluate them as delivery systems, (iii) to investigate the vaccine stability and (iiii) to supply the vaccine formulations to the partners.

#### **Outline** of the thesis

This document is organized in four principal chapters:

The PART I is a general introduction about the state of the art of the nanotechnology applied to drug delivery. This chapter is arranged in two main sections. The first section focuses on the nanoparticles interaction with cells and their use in vaccinology. A review (submitted) on the literature concerning the study of nanoparticles endocytosis is included. This section contains also a review entitled "Nasal Nanovaccines" (submitted), which discusses the types of nanocarriers studied in literature for the nasal vaccination and controversies regarding these studies. The importance of the knowledge of vector and antigen biodistribution is also introduced. In the second section, the main features of Influenza virus and vaccines are described.

The PART II presents the results on the NPL evaluation for nasal drug delivery. In the first part we present the published article about the mechanism of nanoparticles interaction with the nasal mucosa. In the second part the results about the development of nanoparticle formulation for mucosal influenza vaccine are described. The characterized formulations were sent to our partners of the UniVacFlu *Consortium* for evaluation.

The PART III is a general discussion concerning the obtained results and the application of the nanoparticles in vaccinology.

The PART IV reports the conclusion and the future perspectives of this work.

#### ABSTRACT

Nanoparticles technology for mucosal delivery of vaccines received a growing interest in the last decades. Intranasal administration owns great advantages for immune system stimulation, such as local and systemic protection against infectious diseases. However delivery systems and adjuvants are often required to efficiently trigger mucosal and systemic immune responses. In this thesis, nanoparticles (NP) have been evaluated as delivery system for a nasal universal influenza vaccine in a People Program of the European Union Seventh Framework Program FP7 called UniVacFlu. The aim of the UniVacFlu network is to develop a universal influenza vaccine administered through the mucosal route. We used porous maltodextrin nanoparticles with a lipidic core (NPL). We loaded an adjuvanted antigen named CTA1-3M2e-DD in the NPL. CTA1-3M2e-DD is composed of the A1 subunit of the cholera toxin and a conserved epitope of influenza A virus (M2e), while DD, dimer of the synthetic analogue of the Staphyloccous aureus protein A, targets B cells. Interestingly the antigen loading in NPL was quantitative for the antigen: NPL 1:5 mass ratio and the formulation was stable for at least six months at 4°C. We assessed the successful delivery of the antigen by NPL in airway epithelial cells and macrophages. These formulations are currently evaluated by the UniVacFlu consortium in mice. One of the main issues of intranasal vaccines is the toxicity that can be elicited by the nose-brain passage of one of their components. We investigated the loading of antigens in NPL and their delivery in airway mucosa. We observed a high endocytosis of NPL and an increased protein delivery into the cells. On a transwell model of the airway mucosa we assessed the absence of transcytosis and paracellular passage of the NPL. In vivo results confirmed the lack of nose-brain passage of the NPL, as NPL were found not to cross the mucosa. Interestingly, we observed an increased nasal residence time of the protein targeted by NPL. The particles after having delivered their payload are totally eliminated through the gastrointestinal tract, making these nanoparticles good candidates for mucosal delivery system. These results highlight the interest of NPL as vectors for mucosal delivery of drugs.

Key words: nanoparticles, intranasal drug delivery, biodistribution, vaccine, influenza

## RÉSUMÉ

Au cours des dernières décennies, la technologie des nanoparticules pour la délivrance des vaccins au niveau de muqueuses a reçu un intérêt croissant. L'administration intranasale possède de grands avantages pour la stimulation du système immunitaire, telles que la stimulation d'une immunité protectrice locale et systémique. Cependant des systèmes de délivrance et des adjuvants sont souvent nécessaires pour déclencher efficacement la réponse immunitaire. Nous avons appliqué la technologie des nanoparticules en tant que système de délivrance d'un vaccin universel nasal contre la grippe dans un projet européen FP7 appelé UniVacFlu. Nous avons formulé un antigène adjuvé CTA1-3M2e-DD avec les NPL. Cet antigène est composé de la sous-unité A1 de la toxine du choléra et d'un épitope conservé du virus de la grippe A (M2e), ainsi que du dimère de l'analogue synthétique de la protéine A de Staphylococcus aureus (DD). Les nanoparticules utilisées sont poreuses et constituées de maltodextrines réticulées ayant un cœur lipidique (NPL). L'association de cet antigène avec les NPL est quantitative et la formulation est stable pendant au moins six mois à 4°C. Les NPL permettent également de délivrer d'une manière accrue cet antigène dans les cellules épithéliales des voies respiratoires et les macrophages. Actuellement ces formulations sont évaluées chez la souris par le consortium UniVacFlu.

L'un des principaux problèmes des vaccins nasal est la toxicité qui peut être provoquée par le passage nez-cerveau de l'un de ses composants. Le but de ce travail est d'évaluer le potentiel des NPL, en tant que vecteurs pour la délivrance des vaccins nasal. Ainsi, nous avons étudié le chargement d'un antigène dans les NPL et sa délivrance dans les cellules épithéliales des voies respiratoires. Notre étude révèle que les NPL interagissent fortement avec les muqueuses et délivrent d'une manière accrue les antigènes dans les cellules. Nous avons également montré l'absence de transcytose et de passage paracellulaire des NPL ou des antigènes délivrés dans un modèle de barrière épithéliale *in vitro*. Les résultats *in vivo* confirment l'absence de passage nez-cerveau des NPL et montrent qu'elles prolongent fortement le temps de résidence nasale des antigènes qui sont ensuite éliminés par le tractus gastro-intestinal.

Ces résultats mettent en évidence l'intérêt des NPL comme vecteurs pour la prochaine génération de médicaments et de vaccins.

Mots-clés : nanoparticules, délivrance nasale de médicaments, biodistribution, vaccin, grippe

## RÉSUMÉ DE LA THÈSE

#### Préambule

Ces travaux ont été effectués sous la direction du Professeur Betbeder au sein de l'équipe de Nanomédecine de l'unité Inserm LIRIC-U995 de l'Université de Lille 2. Nous avons évalué les nanoparticules comme système de délivrance des protéines dans la muqueuse nasale. Ces études sont un prérequis pour le développement d'un nouveau système adjuvant pour application dans le domaine du vaccin, et plus particulièrement pour le développement d'un vaccin universel contre la grippe administré par les voies de muqueuses. Ces travaux sont insérés dans un vaste projet européen nommé UniVacFlu. Le projet UniVacFlu a été financé par l'European Union Seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007/2013. Le *consortium* UniVacFlu est coordonné par Professeur Lycke de l'Université de Gothenburg et il est composé par plusieurs partenaires : l'Université de Ghent, l'Université de Freiburg, l'Institut Européen d'oncologie de Milan et le Kings College de Londres. Notre rôle dans le consortium UniVacFlu est de (i) préparer et caractériser les nanoparticules et les formulations vaccinales, (ii) analyser les interactions des nanoparticules avec la muqueuse nasale, (iii) étudier la stabilité des vaccins développés et (iiii) fournir les formulations à nos collaborateurs.

#### Introduction

Ces dernières années la technologie des nanoparticules a suscité de plus en plus d'intérêt. Ce sont des objets ayant au moins une dimension inférieur à 100nm (International Organization for Standardization, 2011). Les nanoparticules ont des applications dans plusieurs domaines. Cependant, dans le cadre de cette thèse, nous nous intéressons à l'application de cette technologie innovante pour la délivrance de protéines par voie nasale. Dans la première partie de ce travail nous nous intéresserons aux mécanismes d'interaction des nanoparticules avec la muqueuse nasale, puis dans la deuxième partie nous utiliserons cette stratégie pour le développement d'un vaccin universel contre la grippe.

Les nanoparticules ont plusieurs avantages, comme l'amélioration de la solubilité et de la stabilité des molécules, ainsi que la possibilité de cibler certains organes et tissus une fois administrées. Concernant les vaccins, les nanoparticules peuvent avoir différentes fonctions : adjuvant ou immunomodulateur (Zazo *et al.*, 2016; Zhao *et al.*, 2014). Quand les nanoparticules agissent comment adjuvant, elles améliorent l'immunogénicité de l'antigène par action locale simultanée avec l'antigène même. Néanmoins elles peuvent agir comme immunomodulateur par stimulation directe et systémique du système immunitaire.

Différents types de nanoparticules ont été utilisées pour délivrer des vaccins dans la muqueuse nasale. Nous avons groupé ces types des nanoparticules sur la base des matériels utilisés : polysaccharidiques, polymériques, lipidiques et protéiques (Publication «Nasal Nanovaccine »). Toutefois des systèmes plus complexes, qui mélangent différents matériaux, ont été aussi développés.

Des nanoparticules cationiques poreuses ont été utilisées comme vecteur nasal d'antigènes. Celles-ci sont constituées de maltodextrines, des polysaccharides dérivés de l'hydrolyse de l'amidon. Les maltodextrines sont hydratées et réduites, puis réticulées grâce à l'épichloridrine jusqu'à obtenir un gel. Le gel est ensuite rendu cationique par addition de Glycidyl Tri-Méthyl Ammonium chloride (GTMA) qui fixe les groupes d'ammonium quaternaire sur le polymère. Ce gel est broyé par homogénéisation à haute pression et les particules obtenues (NP<sup>+</sup>) sont filtrées pour éliminer les résidus de la synthèse (Castignolles *et al.* 1994). Il est possible d'introduire des phospholipides dans la structure des NP<sup>+</sup>, afin d'obtenir des nanoparticules lipidées (NPL). Dans le cadre de ce travail le dipalmitoyl phosphatidyl glycérol (DPPG) a été introduit dans le cœur des NP<sup>+</sup>. La voie nasale est très avantageuse pour l'administration des vaccins, car le système lymphatique associé au nez (NALT) est directement accessible. L'interaction des antigènes avec la muqueuse nasale, plus précisément le NALT, peut déclencher une réponse immunitaire locale et systémique, ainsi qu'une protection contre les agents infectieux. Cette voie est facile d'accès et plus confortable pour les patients (aucune aiguille n'est nécessaire). La cible principale des vaccins à délivrance nasale est l'anneau du Waldeyer, qui est composé par l'ensemble des amygdales, situées autour des cavités nasales et buccale (Gizurarson, 2012). Le tissu épithélial de la cavité nasale se compose principalement de cellules pseudo-stratifiées. Au niveau de la partie supérieure de la cavité nasale se trouve la région olfactive, constituée par l'épithélium olfactif, qui peut être une voie directe vers le cerveau grâce aux neurones olfactifs insérés dans l'os cribriforme.

Le NALT est un organe lymphatique secondaire, site inductif du système immunitaire muqueux. A ce niveau l'administration d'antigènes déclenche l'initiation de la réponse immunitaire. Le système d'échantillonnage de l'antigène (par exemple, les cellules M) capte l'antigène dans l'épithélium associé aux follicules et le transfère aux cellules présentatrices d'antigène (APC), telles que les cellules dendritiques (DC). Les DC induisent la réponse de cellules T naïves CD4 + et CD8 +.

Les lymphocytes T CD8 + maturent en cellules T cytotoxiques (CTL). Le rôle des CTL est de tuer les cellules infectées et de lutter contre l'infection virale.

Grâce à la présentation de l'antigène par les DC aux cellules T CD4 +, les réponses Th1, Th2 et Th17 sont activées ainsi que la commutation des immunoglobulines de classe IgA et l'hypermutation de cellules B dans les centres germinaux. Les cellules B IgA + migrent vers les sites effecteurs à travers les ganglions lymphatiques cervicaux et le sang périphérique. Dans le cas d'antigènes administrés par voie nasale, les sites effecteurs sont la lamina propria des voies respiratoires supérieures, de l'intestin et de l'appareil génital.

Une fois atteint le site effecteur, les cellules B sécrètent des IgA (sIgA). Les sIgA sont transcytosées sur le côté luminal de l'épithélium par le récepteur polymèrique d'Ig ce qui permet de bloquer l'entrée d'agents pathogènes (Kiyono *et al.*, 2004; Lamichhane *et al.*, 2014; Lycke, 2012).

Les cellules épithéliales respiratoires sont impliquées dans la régulation de la réponse immunitaire (Pichavant *et al.*, 2003). En effet ces cellules expriment le complexe majeur d'histocompatibilité de classe II (MHCII), spécifique des cellules présentatrices d'antigènes. La présence de MHC II a été observée au niveau du cornet nasal (Kalb *et al.*, 1991). Par conséquent

les cellules épithéliales respiratoires peuvent avoir une fonction de cellules présentatrices d'antigènes et constituer une cible supplémentaire pour les vaccins.

Les vaccins activant des mécanismes en cascade, ceux de transport de la formulation nanoparticulaire doivent être étudiés afin d'éviter les effets secondaires toxiques.

Des virus, comme par exemple le virus d'*Influenza* à l'origine de la grippe, infectent les animaux et les humains par voie aérienne. Le virus de la grippe peut avoir une forme sphérique avec une taille de 100nm de diamètre ou une forme filamenteuse avec une taille majeure, dans l'ordre des micromètres (Rossman *et al.*, 2012). Avec des nanoparticules de propriétés similaires et chargées des antigènes viraux, il serait possible, d'un point de vue immunologique, de mimer la forme sphérique de ce virus.

Le type majoritaire des virus de la grippe est l'*Influenza* A, à l'origine de pandémies. Le virus de la grippe est constitué de plusieurs protéines dont les hémagglutinines (H) et les neuraminidases (N) qui déterminent la classification des virus de type A.

L'association des protéines H et N est très variable et chaque année, de nouvelles combinaisons apparaissent causant les grippes saisonnières. Plusieurs inconvénients aux vaccins actuels existent: (1) Le caractère saisonnier des vaccins empêche une protection contre toutes les souches de virus grippaux de type A. (2) L'injection intramusculaire est relativement efficace mais ne reproduit pas la voie d'entrée naturelle du virus. Les vaccins muqueux présentent de meilleures réponses immunitaires (cellulaires et humorales), plus proches d'une primo-infection. (3) L'utilisation de virus vivant atténué souffre de problèmes de stabilité et peut causer une réversion vers une forme pathogénique. (4) La méthode de production prévoit l'utilisation d'œufs et la formulation vaccinale finale peut être contaminée par l'ovalbumine, un allergène reconnu.

Plusieurs nouveaux vaccins sont en phase de développement. Ceux-ci sont produits par incubation du virus dans des cellules ou par technologie recombinante.

Pour les vaccins muqueux et notamment pour les vaccins recombinants, il est nécessaire d'utiliser des adjuvants afin d'obtenir une réponse immunitaire plus efficace, spécifiquement une réponse cellulaire. Les adjuvants acceptés ne sont pas nombreux mais restent nécessaires surtout pour les vaccins muqueux et recombinants. Parmi les adjuvants les plus puissants, on trouve des toxines bactériennes que nous avons modifiées afin de limiter leur toxicité. La sous-unité A1 de cette toxine a été conjuguée au canal ionique de Influenza (M2e), une protéine très conservée du virion et au fragment de la protéine A du Staphylococcus aureus (D), qui lie les cellules B

(Agren *et al.*, 1997; Eriksson *et al.*, 2004; Lycke, 2004a). Cette protéine recombinante CTA1-3M2e-DD a été synthétisée pour être utilisée comme vaccin adjuvanté contre la grippe.

#### But de la thèse

L'objectif de cette thèse est l'évaluation des NPL comme vecteur de médicament. Nous étudierons les mécanismes d'interaction des NPL avec la muqueuse nasale et évaluerons leur application en tant que système de délivrance des protéines pour un vaccin universelle contre la grippe.

#### **Résultats et discussion**

Dans la première partie de ce travail nous avons cherché à mieux comprendre les interactions des nanoparticules poreuses (NPL) avec les cellules épithéliales des voies aériennes, leur capacité à traverser cette barrière, et d'analyser l'impact des lipides au sein de ces nanoparticules sur la délivrance et la transcytose d'antigènes dans les cellules épithéliales. Les études *in vivo* ont été réalisées pour suivre la délivrance de l'antigène dans les muqueuses respiratoires et sa biodistribution après administration nasale.

Les nanoparticules NP<sup>+</sup> possèdent un diamètre de 70nm et un potentiel zeta de +45.9 mV. Des phospholipides, notamment le DPPG, peuvent être inclus dans la structure poreuse de ces particules, donnant les NPL. Les NPL ont une taille de 76 nm et une charge de +44.2 mV.

Il est possible de marquer, avec des marqueurs fluorescents, la partie polysaccharidique du NPL, ainsi que la partie lipidique. Suite au marquage des NPL, nous avons suivi l'endocytose des nanoparticules dans les cellules épithéliales des voies aériennes (16HBE14o-) par cytométrie en flux. Nous avons observé que les NPL sont endocytosées par les cellules épithéliales et ce mécanisme atteint un plateau après 3 h. Constatant la similitude du profil d'endocytose de la partie polysaccharidique et de la partie lipidique, nous suggérons que les lipides ne sont pas délivrés par les nanoparticules pendant l'endocytose mais restent associés à celle-ci.

Ensuite nous avons évalué la transcytose de ce vecteur à travers un modèle *in vitro* d'épithélium (Transwell®). Nous avons montré que les NPL n'ouvrent pas les jonctions serrées entre les cellules épithéliales et ne traversent pas la barrière épithéliale ni par voie paracellulaire ni par transcytose.

Afin d'évaluer la capacité des NPL à délivrer des antigènes, nous avons préparé des formulations on utilisant l'ovalbumine (OVA) comme antigène modèle. La protéine est chargée dans les NPL par simple mélange à température ambiante. Différentes quantité de NPL ont été utilisées pour formuler la protéine. Nous avons observé que dans la formulation, ayant le rapport protéine : NPL 1 :3 (poids :poids), toutes les protéines sont associées et incorporées dans les NPL. Ensuite nous avons étudié la délivrance de la protéine modèle marquée dans les cellules respiratoires 16HBE par cytométrie en flux. L'OVA est efficacement délivrée dans les cellules épithéliales grâce aux NPL (14 fois plus que l'OVA seule après 24h). La transcytose de l'OVA libre ou formulée avec les NPL a été examinée sur le modèle de Transwell®. Nous avons conclu que les NPL ne favorisent pas le passage des protéines à travers la barrière épithéliale *in vitro*. Nous avons aussi étudié la biodistribution de l'OVA après administration nasale dans un modèle animal murin. L'imagerie *in vivo* montre que les NPL prolongent le temps de résidence de

l'antigène dans la muqueuse nasale. Cependant l'OVA libre est dégradée et éliminée totalement après 1.5h, tandis que l'OVA encapsulée dans les NPL reste dans le nez jusqu'à 6h et est ensuite éliminée par le tractus gastro-intestinal. Enfin nous avons vérifié la résidence dans la muqueuse de l'OVA et des NPL. L'endocytose des NPL dans les cellules de l'épithélium nasal a été confirmée *in vivo*, ainsi que l'absence de passage transcellulaire. Nos travaux précédents ont montré que ces NPL peuvent être chargées avec une grande quantité d'antigènes et induire efficacement des réponses immunitaires humorales, cellulaires et de la muqueuse après administration nasale (Dimier-Poisson *et al.*, 2015). Par ailleurs, dans la cadre de ce travail nous avons montré que les NPL ne franchissent pas la barrière nez-cerveau. Ceci supporte les résultats obtenus précédemment (Merhi *et al.*, 2012) et confirment que ces NPL ne sont pas toxiques. Les NPL sont des vecteurs idéaux pour les vaccins car ils délivrent l'antigène dans la muqueuse et sont totalement éliminées.

Dans la deuxième partie de cette thèse nous avons utilisé les NPL pour le développement d'un vaccin universel mucosal contre la grippe. Ces travaux ont été réalisés en collaboration avec les partenaires du projet Européen UniVacFlu. En conséquence nous avons étudié l'association de l'antigène CTA1-3M2e-DD aux NPL. Différents rapports en masse d'antigènes (CTA1-3M2e-DD et OVA) et NPL ont été évalués. L'antigène est complètement associé aux NPL à partir du rapport en masse testé antigène : NPL 1:3. A l'inverse, une fraction des protéines libres a été détectée en électrophorèse natif pour le rapport 1:0.5 Antigène :NPL. En complément, nous avons étudié la stabilité des formulations 1 :0.5 et 1 :5 à 40°C pendant 3 mois et à 4°C pendant 12 mois, notamment en termes de taille, de potentiel zêta, d'association antigène : NPL et de dégradation de l'antigène. Nous avons observé que la formulation 1:0.5 n'est pas stable contrairement à la formulation 1 :5 (4°C pendant 12 mois). Par contre, à 40°C, la dégradation partielle de l'antigène seul et associé aux NPL a été observée après 3 mois. Ensuite, nous avons vérifié la délivrance de l'antigène par les NPL dans les cellules épithéliales des voies aériennes (16HBE) et dans les macrophages (THP1). Des résultats similaires à ceux trouvés pour l'OVA ont été obtenus pour CTA1-3M2e-DD. Les NPL augmentent la délivrance du CTA1-3M2e-DD de douze et neuf fois par rapport à l'antigène libre dans les cellules épithéliales et les macrophages respectivement. Enfin nous avons évalué la transcytose des formulations et de l'antigène libre à travers le modèle Transwell® de l'épithélium nasal. Nous n'avons pas observé de passage transcellulaire des formulations ou de l'antigène CTA1-3M2e-DD qui n'ouvrent pas les jonctions serrées. Ces formulations sont en cours d'évaluation pour la stimulation de l'immunité humorale et cellulaire ainsi que la protection contre un challenge viral dans le modèle murin de transmission.

#### Conclusion

Les nanoparticules sont des outils prometteurs pour la délivrance de vaccins dans les muqueuses. Elles sont utiles pour la stabilisation des protéines, augmenter la délivrance des médicaments dans les cellules et pour fournir un effet dépôt, qui permet d'éviter les administrations multiples. Nous avons étudié les mécanismes d'interaction des nanoparticules de maltodextrine poreuses et cationiques avec la muqueuse nasale. Les NPL sont des vecteurs idéaux pour l'administration des vaccins, capables d'associer une grande quantité d'antigènes, de les délivrer efficacement dans les cellules et d'être totalement bio-éliminés.

## **INTRODUCTION**

#### 1. Nanoparticles

A nanoparticle is defined as an object that has at least one dimension measuring between 1-100nm (International Organization for Standardization, 2011). The discovery of nanoparticles came along with the development of suitable detection techniques and technological advances. We may attribute the introduction of the nanotechnology concept to Richard Feynmann in 1959, with his remarkable speech *"There's plenty of room at the bottom"*. However the term nanotechnology was abandoned for about a decade and introduced back in the industry of electronics by Taniguchi in Tokyo (Bassi *et al.*, 2013).

In the last 35 years we have seen a dramatic growth of nanotechnology in multiple fields. Several disciplines such as chemistry, physics, material sciences, electronics, biology and medicine have been affected by the introduction of nanotechnology. In particular in medicine, nanotechnology finds different applications in medical devices, diagnosis and imaging, radiation therapy, theranostic, tissue regeneration and drug delivery. In this thesis we will discuss about nanoparticles used as delivery systems in nanomedicine.

#### **1.1** Nanoparticles as drug delivery system

Nanoparticles are suitable drug delivery as they improve drug stability, counterbalance drug solubility issues and reduce drug toxicity (W. H. De Jong *et al.*, 2008). In fact, the use of nanoparticles does not only enable the administration of poorly soluble drugs, but also the one of nucleic acids and proteins. Bioavailability of nucleic acids and proteins is improved and their degradation is slowed down. At the nanoscale a high surface area to volume ratio is observed, thus favouring the chances of drug absorption. The application of nanoparticles may also modify drug pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution leading to drug targeting. As theorized by Paul Ehrlich, the ideal "magic bullet" is able to transport active molecules to action site with no side effect. Despite the non-"magic bullet" presence, many advances have already been accomplished, especially in cancer therapy (Couvreur *et al.*, 2006). Doxorubicin (Doxil®) is the first drug licensed as liposomal formulation and it is used for AIDS associated with Kaposi's sarcoma, ovarian cancer and multiple myeloma. Its encapsulation into stealth liposomes prolongs its half-life, enhancing tumor targeting and reducing the drug toxicity. The risk of cardiotoxicity, one of the principal adverse effects of doxorubicin, is reduced by the administration of doxorubicin-loaded liposomes (Kubecek *et al.*, 2015; Xing *et al.*, 2015).

Other nanoparticles formulations currently used are AmBisome®, amphotericin B liposomes used for fungal infections, and Abraxane®, albumin-paclitaxel conjugates for breast cancer (L. Zhang *et al.*, 2008).

However safety is the main concern of nanoparticles technology. Several materials, in particular polymers and lipids, have been used to prepare nanoparticles for drug delivery. The use of biodegradable compounds is always highly suited for pharmaceutical formulations. Hence the possible side effect of the degraded material has to be considered. Moreover the knowledge of the *in vivo* fate of the carrier, e.g. its elimination, degradation or potential accumulation in the body should be investigated.

There are many reasons to deliver drugs into cells. Firstly the drug bioavailability can be improved and the adverse effects reduced. For instance paclitaxel loaded into PLGA nanoparticles increases drug efficiency of two fold (Betbeder *et al.*, 2015; Le Broc-Ryckewaert *et al.*, 2013).

Drugs should reach a specific target localized in a defined cell compartment (e.g. endosome, cytoplasm) to be functional. Hence nanoparticles can direct drug delivery towards the targeted cell area. When cytoplasm delivery is required, pH responsive polymers can be applied. For instance polyethylenimine can induce the osmotic lysis of the endosomes through the "proton sponge effect" allowing cytoplasm drug release. Peptide modified particles have been investigated to achieve nuclear or organelle drug targeting (e.g. neurogenerative diseases) (Parodi *et al.*, 2015).

Nevertheless when the drug has to enter the cell to reach the aimed intracellular target, nanoparticles can assist its entrance into the cell using endocytosis mechanisms. In the review entitled "Endocytosis of nanoparticles" we describe the main mechanisms of endocytosis and we review the literature about the endocytosis of different vectors.

## **PUBLICATION 1: ENDOCYTOSIS OF NANOPARTICLES**

#### **Endocytosis of nanoparticles**

B.Bernocchi<sup>a,b,c</sup>, R. Carpentier<sup>a,b,c</sup>, D. Betbeder<sup>a,b,c,d</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Inserm, LIRIC—UMR 995, F-59000 Lille, France

<sup>b</sup> Université de Lille, LIRIC—UMR 995, F-59000 Lille, France

<sup>c</sup> CHRU de Lille, LIRIC—UMR 995, F-59000 Lille, France

<sup>d</sup> University of Artois, 62000 Arras, France

#### Abstract

Endocytosis of nanoparticles is influenced by several factors related to the particle itself, like size, surface charge and shape or to the cell like type, phase and differentiation. The nanoparticles composition also affects the cell uptake. We briefly describe the main mechanisms of endocytosis used by different cells types, hence we review the recent findings on nanoparticles endocytosis. Besides the nanomaterial composition is just one of the parameters affecting the endocytosis, we propose here a qualitative and quantitative analysis of the current literature based on this aspect.

#### Key words: endocytosis, nanoparticles

1.	INTRO	DUCTION	
2.	ENDO	CYTOSIS	
,	2.1 P	HAGOCYTOSIS	29
,	2.2 P	INOCYTOSIS	
	2.2.1	Clathrin-dependent endocytosis	
	2.2.2	Caveolae-dependent endocytosis	
	2.2.3	Clathrin- and caveolae-independent endocytosis	
	2.2.4	Macropinocytosis	
3.	EXOC	YTOSIS	
4.	TRAN	SCYTOSIS AND PARACELLULAR PASSAGE	
5.	ENDO	CYTOSIS OF NANOPARTICLES	
	5.1 P	OLYSACCHARIDE NANOPARTICLES	
	5.1.1	Chitosan	

	5.1.2	Maltodextrin	
	5.1.3	Hyaluronic acid	
	5.1.4	Cellulose	
	5.1.5	Other polysaccharides	
5.	2	POLYMER NANOPARTICLES	
	5.2.1	Polystyrene	
	5.2.2	PLGA	
	5.2.3	Polyacrylates	
	5.2.4	Polyethylenimine	
	5.2.5	Poly -E-caprolactone	
	5.2.6	Other polymers	
5.	3	LIPID NANOPARTICLES	
	5.3.1	Liposomes	
	5.3.2	SLN and NLC	
	5.3.3	Lipid nanocapsules	
	5.3.4	Other lipids	
5.	4	INORGANIC NANOPARTICLES	
	5.4.1	Silica	
	5.4.2	Calcium phosphate	
	5.4.3	Gold	
	5.4.4	Magnesium and Aluminium	
	5.4.5	Other metals	
6.	DISC	CUSSION	
7.	CON	CLUSION	

#### 1. Introduction

Endocytosis is a class of highly regulated heterogeneous mechanisms that allows outer material to enter cells. This process is essential for cell's communication with the surrounding environment. Cells have various possibilities to interact with the external milieu, like receptors and ion channels. Unfortunately not all these complexes processes have been completely elucidated yet.

The knowledge of these mechanisms is a considerable advantage when talking about identifying new therapeutic targets and mechanisms dysfunctions (e.g. Alzheimer, Huntington) [1].

Endocytosis is also used to direct drug delivery in a specific compartment of the cell, thus improving drug efficacy. To attain this goal, drugs can be chemically modified or delivered by a suitable targeted carrier. Therefore nanoparticles are used, not only to direct drug delivery into the cell, but also to improve the amount and the kinetics of the drug released, leading to a reduction of the dose administered and limiting toxicity issues. Nanoparticles, as drug delivery systems interact with the endocytic machinery of the cell, mimicking viral pathogens, and may reach subcellular compartment (e.g. the nucleus) to deliver drugs. Additionally the use of nanocarriers can modify the intracellular fate of drugs, leading to its lysosomal degradation rather than its cytosolic delivery.

Interest should be payed also to the nanoparticle fate, once they are endocytosed by the cell. Different scenarios are possible: the carrier may be transcytosed or metabolized. Exocytosis may occur towards the luminal side of the cell, the same side of nanoparticle entry, leading to the carrier elimination [2].Some nanoparticles may cross the cell barrier, reaching other targets present in the underlying tissue [3]. In this case we talk about transcytosis.

With this review we aim to describe general endocytosis mechanisms and possibilities of nanoparticle interactions with the cellular barrier: nanoparticles alternatives to enter the cell by endocytosis, to exit the cell by exocytosis and to eventually overcome the cell's barrier by transcytosis are reported. Moreover we describe different nanoparticles materials in order to establish general rules for nanoparticles uptake.

#### 2. Endocytosis

Endocytosis is the transport of solid or liquid matter into a cell by means of a vesicle. It is divided into two major categories: phagocytosis (also called cell eating) that involves larger particles and pinocytosis (or cell drinking) that includes solutes and particles of smaller sizes. The phagocytosis is typically operated by specific cells (e.g. macrophages and DCs) while the pinocytosis by almost all eukaryotic cell types [4].

Macropinocytosis is considered as a pinocytosis mechanism [5] since it is operated by all the cells, however *Underhill et al.* defined it as a "triggered phagocytosis" [6].

Nanoparticles are internalized by pinocytosis or following interaction with the cell membrane. This interaction may be non-specific, caused by the charge or hydrophobic interactions, or specific, such as a receptor-mediated binding [7]. Rab GTPases have a pivotal role in the intracellular vesicle trafficking and their multiple roles in the regulation of these mechanisms are reviewed elsewhere [8].

Mechanisms of cellular uptake are typically elucidated by the use of pharmacologic inhibitors. These allows to exclude an endocytosis pathway in favor of another. However particles use often more than one internalization mechanism to enter the cell [9, 10]. This depends on several characteristics of particles and cells: the composition, shape, charge, size, elasticity, porosity of the nanoparticles, the cell's type, the medium composition, the protein corona are just some elements influencing this interaction [11].

#### 2.1 Phagocytosis

Phagocytosis occurs primary in professional phagocytes such as macrophages, neutrophils and DCs for particles of bigger sizes and cell debris. Particles are opsonized predominantly by immunoglobulins (IgG and IgM) and complement proteins to induce phagocytic recognition [12]. Phagocytosis is also enhanced by surface receptors. This interaction induces actin rearrangement and the consequent particle engulfment into phagosome. The phagosome undergoes maturation and it is finally merged to a lysosome to form a phagolysosome and next a late endosome [5, 13]. This pathway is used for the uptake of large particles and bacteria [14]. However, opsonin-independent phagocytosis was observed in alveolar macrophages due to the relatively low presence of opsonins in the airways [11, 15].

#### 2.2 Pinocytosis

This mechanism is subclassified on the basis of the protein or lipid involved. The mechanisms of pinocytosis differ in the composition of the coat of the endocytic vesicle (if present), the size and the fate of the internalized particles [16]. On the other hand a common feature of these mechanisms is the involvement of the actin cytoskeleton, necessary for the vesicles to move in the cytoplasm and reach the targeted cell compartment [4, 16-18].

#### 2.2.1 Clathrin-dependent endocytosis

Clathrin-coated vesicles are the first vesicles identified able to mediate the sorting and the transport of membrane-bound protein [19].

The recycling of activated G-coupled receptors is the most known mechanism of clathrinmediated endocytosis (e.g.  $\beta$ 2 adrenergic receptor) [20, 21]. Clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME) may be either receptor-dependent or independent [22].

Clathrin is a protein, firstly identified in 1975 by Pearse, composed by a triskelion. Each leg of the triskelion is formed by a heavy chain and a light chain. Three legs are linked at the c-terminal domain of the light chains by a central hub [23, 24].

Briefly, in case of agonist-receptor binding, when the endocytosis is receptor-dependent, the beta arrestin is bound to the G-coupled receptor. Then the adaptor protein 2 (AP2) bounds the beta arrestin [25](or directly the plasma membrane, for a receptor-independent stimuli [26]). The AP2-beta arrestin complex recruits and assembles a clathrin lattice at the level of the plasma membrane to form a clathrin-coated pit. The clathrin-coated pit is finally detached from the membrane thanks to the action of the dynamin that assembles at the neck of invaginated coated pits causing constriction. Subsequently GTP hydrolysis causes a conformational change necessary to generate the force required for membrane fission and release of the vesicle in the cytoplasm [27]. Afterwards the vesicle evolves into an early endosome thanks to the clathrin depolymerization.

Early endosomes develop into different intracellular paths, depending on the nature of the cargo.

The payload of early endosome leads either to degradation or to plasma membrane recycling. Early endosomes may fuse with each other forming mature endosomes that, following further fusion, result into lysosomes. During this process the pH drops from neutral to 6 in early endosomes, then to 5 in late endosomes and lysosomes [16, 28]. In the endosomes, the cargo is sorted to different cellular compartment like lysosomes for degradation, the Golgi network, the nucleus or the plasma membrane for recycling. Retrograde trafficking from early or late endosomes to the trans-Golgi network (TGN) has been also observed as an alternative to the degradation [1, 29].

Cargo recycling to the plasma membrane is mediated by Rab4. This process may be direct and fast from the early endosome to the membrane [1]. Alternatively, the payload may be deviated from the early endosome to the endocytic recycling compartment before ending up to the plasma membrane [30].

#### 2.2.2 Caveolae-dependent endocytosis

Caveolae are flusk-shaped invagination of the plasma membrane enriched in cholesterol and glycosphingolipids [31]. Caveolin are a family of membrane protein present in almost all mammalian cells but more abundantly in adipocytes, endothelial cells and fibroblast as well as in

pneumocytes. These proteins, named Caveolin 1, 2 and 3, are differently distributed in tissues where their abundance is variable [32].

Caveolae-dependent endocytosis is generally recognized for its ability to avoid the lysosomal degradation [33-35].

Caveolae, once they engulfed the extracellular material, are detached by the membrane by the action of the dynamin. They then fuse with caveoseomes or multivesicular bodies, having a neutral pH, or with the early endosome, in a Rab5-dependent manner [36]. Caveosomes are then transferred to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) while endosomes are transported to the Golgi. The caveolar unit are then recycled back to the plasma membrane [36, 37].

#### 2.2.3 Clathrin- and caveolae-independent endocytosis

These pathways are included in a heterogeneous class and have been classified in four main categories, considering the effector proteins: RhoA-dependent, Arf6-dependent, flotillindependent and CDC42-dependent [4, 18]. Mayor and Pagano gave a noteworthy classification of the clathrin- and caveolae-independent mechanisms. They distinguished these diversified categories in pathways that use a dynamin-mediated scission mechanism (dynamin-dependent) and those that require other processes to separate the vesicle from the plasma membrane (dynamin-independent). RhoA-mediated endocytosis is dynamin-dependent while Arf6-, flotillin- and CDC42-dependent mechanisms instead, are dynamin-independent. All these pathways seem to require specific lipid compositions and are dependent on cholesterol [38]. Studying the pathway responsible for the interleukin-2 receptor internalization, it was shown that the GTPase RhoA35 regulates a clathrin- and caveolae-independent endocytosis [16, 38]. While the cell division cycle 42 (CDC42) has a role in the internalization of glycosphingolipids anchored proteins. This pathway is associated with the formation of tube-like invagination of the plasma membrane that has been observed for the cholera toxin B [4, 39]. The role of the ADPrybosilation factor 6 (Arf6) and flotillin in endocytosis needs to be further clarified [4]. Arf6 is found in clathrin vesicles and interacts with the dynamin [40]. Flotillin role in endocytosis is controversial. Meister and Tikkanen suggested a flotillin-assisted mechanism, instead of a flotillin-driven mechanism, since the presence of an actual pathway has not been proved yet [41].

When internalization by these pathways occurs, the cargo merges into early endosomes and here it is sorted to the different intracellular compartments [38].

#### 2.2.4 Macropinocytosis

Macropinocytosis is a route for the non-selective endocytosis of solutes macromolecules [16, 17]. This mechanism may be triggered by the transient activation of receptor tyrosine kinases by growth factors but also by virus and bacteria [42, 43]. The activation of receptors induce membrane ruffles that are described as actin-driven membrane protusions, similarly to phagocytosis [35]. Depending on cells type and activation pathway, the ruffles can have different shapes: ruffles can be planar folds (lamellipodia-like), circular cup-shaped extensions (circular ruffles) or large plasma extrusions (blebs) [42, 44]. These protusions fuse with the plasma membrane and form large vesicles called macropinosomes ( $0.5-10 \mu m$ ) [17, 22, 42]. Macropinosomes have no coat and do not concentrate receptors [16]. The intracellular fate of macropinosomes depends again on the cell type but often they acidify [38]. They may also fuse with lysosomes or recycle the cargo to the plasma membrane [22, 45].

Macropinocytosis mediates antigen sampling by antigen-presenting cells of the innate immune system: macrophages and activated dendritic cells operate extensive and prolonged macropinocytic activity [17, 43, 46].

#### 3. Exocytosis

Exocytosis is the opposite mechanism of endocytosis, used to actively export molecules outside the cell. These two systems are perfectly balanced in the cell and are employed as intercellular communication tool. During this process the membrane of intracellular organelles fuses with the cellular membrane. Exocytosis can be secretory, when neurotransmitters and proteins use this pathway to be released in the extracellular medium, or non-secretory, when membrane-anchored receptors are transferred on the cell surface [47, 48]. Freshly synthesized proteins in the cell are translocated in the endoplasmic reticulum. Consequently they are transported to the Golgi apparatus in COPII-coated vesicles, to be finally sorted at the TGN. The sorting is necessary to address the vesicle cargo to the right cellular compartment or for secretion. However this mechanism of TGN sorting remains unclear. Proteins can follow different paths as being transported to the lysosomes through a clathrin-mediated pathway, stored into secretory granules or transported outside the cell [47].

Once arrived at the plasma membrane, SNARE (Soluble N-ethylmaleimide sensitive factor protein receptor) complexes form between the vesicle and the plasma membrane. This produces

the membrane fusion and cargo delivery [49]. Moreover the actin activity influences many steps in exocytosis [50].

Neurotransmitters, for example, are released in the synapsis by a calcium-dependent mechanism of exocytosis [51].

Materials that reach the early endosomes can be recycled back to the plasma membrane or delivered to the Golgi. Early endosomes fuse with late endosomes followed by lysosomes but some material may escape to the cytosol. In a typical exocytosis process, the substances are entrapped in lysosomes before being transported to the cell membrane for excretion [52].

#### 4. Transcytosis and paracellular passage

There are two possible pathways to overcome biological (mainly endothelial and epithelial) barriers. The transcellular route involves both endocytosis and exocytosis processes. It enables substances to pass through the cell membrane from one side of a cell to the other. The paracellular passage instead allows molecules to pass through the tight junctions between epithelial or endothelial cells [52]. These processes may allow materials to reach the basolateral side of the barrier, but in other cases (e.g. sIgA) the inverse direction of translocation is followed, i.e. from the basolateral to the luminal axis of epithelial cells [53].

Not only the physicochemical characteristics of the materials may influence their transcytosis but also the characteristics of the barrier. The possibility of molecules transcytosis depends also on the complexity of the barrier encountered by nanoparticles. Importantly it has been observed that transcytosis is also species-specific [54].

#### 5. Endocytosis of nanoparticles

Nanoparticles endocytosis and trafficking is dependent on several characteristics of particles and cells involved in the interaction. Concerning the particle physicochemical characteristics, the size and the charge play a pivotal role but the elasticity and the composition of the nanosized material are also important [55-57]. Moreover the type of cell is relevant, since certain cells (e.g. macrophages) are professional phagocytic cells as they are specialized in engulfment of cell debris.

#### 5.1 Polysaccharide nanoparticles

Polysaccharides are biocompatible materials broadly applied for nanoparticles preparation. In this section we reported the main polysaccharide used in nanoparticles development and their endocytosis mechanisms in different cells types.

#### 5.1.1 Chitosan

Chitosan is a class of co-polymers derived from chitin and it is one of the most used polysaccharide for drug delivery. It is composed by N-acetylglucosamine monomers linked by  $\beta$ -1,4 bonds [58]. Several forms of modified chitosans have been proposed for nanoparticles preparation and targeting.

Many nanocarriers made of chemically modified chitosan and trimethyl chitosan (TMC) are endocytosed mainly by the clathrin-mediated pathway by epithelial cells (e.g. HeLa, Caco-2) [59, 60], glioma cells [61], embryonic and transformed (COS-7) kidney cells [62-64].

Interestingly chitosan oligomer polyplexes (SBTCO) forms positive particles of 76 nm that are endocytosed to a higher extent than linear chitosan (LCO) by HeLa cells; in addition LCO polyplexes are unable to escape lysosomes while SBTCO successfully from endocytic vesicles. Garaiova *et al.* showed that different pathways, clathrin-dependent and independent, are involved in the uptake of these polyplexes [59].

Similarly to other polysaccharides and polymers, chitosans have been further functionalized to obtain receptor-mediated endocytosis. Han L. *et al.* showed that galactosylation of positively charged TMC nanocomplexes increases the receptor-mediated endocytosis up to 2.4 fold in hepatocarcinoma cells after 6 h [65, 66].

Other endocytic receptors that have been exploited for nanoparticles development are megalin and cubilin. These receptors are expressed on the apical membrane of polarized epithelial cells and binds molecules such as transferrin and vitamin B12 [67, 68]. Hence Gao S. *et al.* showed that 200nm chitosan/siRNA nanoparticles accumulates in the kidney and their uptake is megalin-mediated [69].

#### 5.1.2 Maltodextrin

Maltodextrin is a polysaccharide derived from the partial hydrolysis of starch and consists of  $\alpha$ -1,4 linked glucose units [70]. Maltodextrin have been used to prepare biocompatible non-toxic nanoparticles [71]. Interestingly these particles can be modified by adding a lipid inside or outside the polysaccharide network [72, 73].

Porous positively charged maltodextrin nanoparticles are found colocalized with clathrin vesicles but not with ER and Golgi apparatus suggesting a clathrin-dependent endocytosis path in airway epithelial cells [72]. Porous positive maltodextrin nanoparticles are exocytosed by airway epithelial cells (i.e. 16HBE140- [2]) and do not to cross the airway epithelial barrier [74]. However transport studies of polysaccharide nanoparticles across BBB in an *in vitro* model evidenced that neutral and cationic particles can cross this barrier [75].

Polycaprolactone, a biodegradable, hydrophobic polyester has been used to modify maltodextrin nanoparticles. These negatively charged vectors are internalized by different mechanisms in prostate cancer cell lines. However Korang-Yeboah and co-workers identified multiple mechanism of uptake of these carriers. Although the clathrin-independent pathway is mainly responsible for polycaprolactone maltodextrin particles endocytosis in prostatic LNCaP cells, CME is the main uptake mechanism used by other prostatic cells (PC3 and DU145). Moreover macropinocytosis is involved in the internalization of these carriers, as it is a critical mechanism in cancer cells [76].

#### 5.1.3 Hyaluronic acid

Hyaluronic acid (HA), a naturally occurring polysaccharide composed of N-acetyl-dglucosamine and d-glucuronic acid, is receiving a lot of attention because it has a strong affinity for cell-specific surface marker CD44, which is overexpressed on the surface of malignant cells [77]. Singh *et al.*, similarly to Zhao and co-workers, prepared hyaluronic acid modified silica nanoparticles and confirmed their CD44 receptor-mediated endocytosis in human colon carcinoma cells. These particles measure 70-80 nm of average diameter and have a surface charge (Z-potential) about -26 mV [78, 79]. In a like manner Mezghrani *et al.* showed the same mechanism of uptake for hyaluronic acid-glycyrrethinic acid conjugates in hepatocellular and breast cancer cells [80]. Receptor-mediated endocytosis was evidenced also by Yang *et al.*. They prepared positively charged hyaluronic acid/chitosan carriers and found that these nanoparticles can enter C6 glioma cells by multiple endocytosis mechanisms [81].

#### 5.1.4 Cellulose

Cellulose is one of the most abundant polysaccharide in nature. It is composed by repeated units of cellobiose. Cellobiose is a disaccharide formed by glucose linked by a  $\beta$ -1,4 bond [82]. Many
chemically modified cellulose have been used as pharmaceutical excipient and are currently applied for nanoparticles preparation. Interestingly Pan-In and co-workers encapsulated Garcinia mangostana Linn extract in ethyl and methyl cellulose nanoparticles obtaining a 250nm negatively charged formulation for anticancer purpose. These particles are endocytosed by a clathrin-mediated mechanism by HeLa cells and take an endo-lysosomal pathway [83]. Hoang et al. showed that Cellax, a carboxymethylcellulose-docetaxel conjugate, is also uptaken by murine mammary carcinoma and human leukemic monocyte lymphoma cells through CME [84].

# 5.1.5 Other polysaccharides

Chondroitin sulfate is a glycosaminoglycan consisting of a protein core modified by tetrasaccharide linkers [85]. Chondroitin sulfate has been combined to other polymers such as chitosan or polyamidoamidine. Hagiwara and co-workers used chondroitin sulfate as coating agent, to ameliorate the transfection efficiency of pDNA/chitosan complex [86]. The negatively charged particles (-38 mV) are internalized by fibroblast through macropinocytosis. Similarly Imamura *et al.* prepared positively charged dendrimers-chondroitin sulfate complexes that improved the transfection efficiency of plasmid DNA in mouse melanoma cells [87].

Chen and co-workers covalently modified the heparosan, the exopolysaccharide of *E. coli*, by linking doxorubicin. These negatively charged conjugated have an average diameter of 140nm and showed to be endocytosed by multiple pathways by HeLa cells; the major pathway was CME followed by micropinocytosis [88].

Folic acid, a vitamin of the B group, has been linked to the nanoparticles surface to stimulate receptor-mediated endocytosis. Lee *et al.* fabricated chitosan-folic acid conjugates to ameliorate doxorubicin uptake by human carcinoma cells [89]. Similarly to CD44, folate receptor is highly expressed on cancer cells. Therefore Su and co-workers conjugated folic acid with carboxymethylcellulose to target folate receptor-positive tumors. These negatively charged carriers are successfully endocytosed by HeLa cells [90].

For cancer theranostic purpose Nagahama et al. conjugated curcumin with dextran, an  $\alpha$ -1,6 glucose polymer, and showed high endocytosis of these conjugates in HeLa cells but not in normal fibroblast and epithelial cells [91].

Alginate is a linear polysaccharide containing  $\beta$ -D-mannuronic acid and  $\alpha$ -L-guluronic acid. The endocytosis of alginate nanoparticles of different sizes in epithelial cells (Caco-2) was shown to

occur by different mechanisms related to the size: the biggest particles tested (750nm) entered the cell by macropinocytosis [92].

# 5.2 Polymer nanoparticles

Polymers are broadly investigated for nanoparticles development. The advantage of polymers use is the availability of a broad set of chemical modifications that permits to direct nanoparticles towards a specific cell or receptor type. However the application of synthetic polymers to nanomedicine raised toxicity issues.

We reported below the major classes of polymer nanoparticles remarkable for endocytosis studies.

# 5.2.1 Polystyrene

Polystyrene is an inert and hydrophobic polymer obtained by styrene polymerization. This polymer is broadly applied in the industry of plastics and it has been used to prepare nanoparticles. Polystyrene nanoparticles have a low polydispersity index and can be surface-functionalized. These particles are therefore ideal to study the effect of the nanoparticle size and surface characteristic on cell internalization [93]. For instance 50 nm polystyrene nanoparticles enters alveolar type I epithelial cells by passive diffusion, whereas 100 nm particles by CME and caveolae-dependent mechanism [94]. Also Firdessa and co-workers studied the effect of the particle size on the uptake. They compared different cells types: bone marrow derived macrophages, kidney epithelial cells and fibroblasts. Surprisingly they found that epithelial cells have relative uptake efficiency for large nanoparticles higher than macrophages. Macrophages take up five times more 20nm nanoparticles than fibroblasts [95].

Fazlollhai *et al.* investigated the effect of surface modification of polystyrene nanoparticles on the transcytosis by mouse alveolar epithelial cells. They concluded that amidine-modified particles cross the epithelium using a clathrin-dependent mechanism, while carboxylate-modified particles used a non-endocytic and a paracellular pathway [54].

# 5.2.2 PLGA

Poly(lactic co-glycolic) acid (PLGA) is a biodegradable polymer approved by the Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicine Agency. PLGA is used in nanoparticle preparation thanks to its properties of sustained release and the possibility to associate hydrophobic and hydrophilic drugs [96].

Sheng and co-workers showed that clathrin-dependent endocytosis is involved in the uptake of PLGA and N-trimethyl chitosan (TMC)-PLGA nanoparticles by intestinal epithelial cells (Caco-2) [97, 98].

The same mechanism is used by arterial smooth muscle cells [99], vascular and cochlear cells to endocytose PLGA and poly- $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone-polyethylene glycol-modified PLGA respectively [100].

Recently He and co-workers found that 90nm negatively charged PLGA nanoparticles are endocytosed by MDCK cells by a GM1 caveolae-dependent mechanism [101]. Similarly Wang *et al.* showed that 274nm PLGA are endocytosed by the same cells through a caveolin mediated mechanism [102]. Conversely chitosan-coated PLGA nanoparticles, positively charged, are uptaken by MDCK cells through macropinocytosis and CME.

PLGA nanoparticles exocytosis has been observed in vascular smooth muscle cells [103]. Reix *et al.* proposed the transepithelial transit of PLGA nanoparticles mechanism through Caco-2 cells considering two possible pathways the endolysosomal escape that would induce a cytoplasmic delivery of drugs and the exocytosis to the basolateral medium [98, 99, 104]. They hypothesize the nanoparticle transport from the late endosomes to the trans-Golgi network. Nanoparticles can be therefore included in secretory granules and exocytosed [98].

# 5.2.3 Polyacrylates

Polyacrylate and polymethacrylate are used for copolymers preparation. The characteristics of these polymers may be modulated by the polymerization with a broad variety of chemicals, such as PEG [105], phenylboronic acid [106], polycaprolactone [107], thus modifying their hydrophobicity and solubility. Acrylate derivatives can also be easily grafted to polystyrene particles [108] or used to modify the surface of metal particles [109]. Polymers of (2-(dimethylamino)ethyl methacrylate) (PDMAEMA) are the most used acrylates derivatives thanks to their water solublility and biocompatibility [110]. Nevertheless other monomers are used such as 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA) [105] and 3-(dimethylamino)propyl methacrylate (DMAPMA) [111]. These polymers open the possibility to the preparation of a high variety of nanoparticles.

Han *et al.* prepared polyester nanoparticles grafted with mPEG and PDMAEMA for siRNA delivery. They prepared also similar particles using ε-caprolactone and lactic acid-modified PDMAEMA. They observed that the lactic acid modification of the polymer reduced the uptake efficiency of the nanocarriers and increased the siRNA delivery into human liver cell (Hep G2).

Caveolae-mediated endocytosis was mainly involved in the uptake of unmodified PDMAEMA; this path was used in a lower extent by lactic acid-modified particles [107].

Huang and co-workers investigated the endocytosis of pluronic F127-modified DMAEMA tertbutyl acrylate and acrylate particles. These positively charged nanoparticles enter human embryonic kidney cells by a clathrin- and caveolin-mediated endocytosis [112]. Amphiphilic glycopolymer poly(2-lactobionamidoethyl methacrylate-random-3-acrylamidophenylboronic acid)- based nanoparticles could modify protein release. These polymeric particles were endocytosed by Calu-3 cells through a CME and a lipid raft/caveolae-mediated endocytosis [106].

### 5.2.4 Polyethylenimine

Polyethylenimine (PEI) are a class of cationic polymers, linear or branched, used for gene delivery. These synthetic polymers are obtained by the polymerization of the aziridine [113, 114].

Hwang *et al.* investigated PEI/polyamidoamidine polyplexes endocytosis for gene delivery. These polyplexes enter HeLa cells by clathrin- and caveolin-mediated endocytosis simultaneously. Furthermore the inhibition of one pathway leads to the compensatory endocytosis in another path [115].

Similarly to polysaccharide nanoparticles, folic acid may be linked to polymers. Moreover copolymers of polysaccharides and synthetic polymers can be synthesized. Hence Lo *et al.* prepared folic acid-chondroitin sulfate-PEI. These carriers are endocytosed by A549 and U87MG cells through multiple mechanisms CD44-, folate- and caveolae-mediated [116].

#### 5.2.5 Poly -ε-caprolactone

Poly-ε-caprolactone (PCL) is a synthetic biodegradable polymer widely used for drug delivery and tissue engineering [117].

Suksiriworapong and co-workers showed that PCL-PEG nanoparticles enter breast cancer cells by cholesterol dependent endocytosis [118]. Receptor-mediated endocytosis of lactobionic acid modified PCL nanoparticles was observed in HepG2 cells [119].

*Ex vivo* methods may also be used to inquire the endocytosis mechanism of nanoparticles. Hence Ravi *et al.* used the rat everted gut sac to study the endocytosis of PCL nanoparticles. Clathrinand caveolae-mediated mechanisms are involved in the uptake of these carriers in the rat intestine [120].

#### **5.2.6 Other polymers**

Several other polymer nanoparticles endocytosis has been investigated. Some of these examples are reported in the table 2.

Interestingly Madlova *et al.* showed that a low % (0.5-1.3% of the particle dose) of PVA nanoparticles translocated Calu-3 monolayer after 14 hours, suggesting that nanoparticles, once sequestered, are retained inside the cell and do not translocate readily [121].

#### 5.3 Lipid nanoparticles

Lipid-based nanoparticles are promising since they are biocompatible drug delivery systems. A broad variety of lipids is available on the market and the most used categories are linear fatty acids (e.g. oleic, stearic, palmitic acid and their derivatives), cholesterol and phospholipids. Several types of nanoparticles can be synthesized starting from lipids, such as liposomes, solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) and nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC), lipid nanocapsules, lipoplexes (complexes of DNA and lipids) as well as hybrid polymer/polysaccharide-lipid carriers.

#### 5.3.1 Liposomes

Liposomes are spherical vesicles that can be formed by one or more phospholipid bilayers. Liposomes have two alternative uptake mechanisms: endocytosis or fusion with the cell membrane [122]. Conventional liposomes constituted by phospholipids (DOPC) and cholesterol enter epithelial cells (HeLa and HT-29) by CME. Un *et al.* found that, after endocytosis, DOPC is colocalized with the ER and Golgi apparatus, whereas cholesterol is found only in the Golgi network [123]. Li and co-workers showed that docetaxel-loaded cationic liposomes are endocytosed by a lipid-raft-mediated mechanism by epithelial cells (HepG2 and A345) [124]. Stealth nanoparticles have been prepared by PEGylation of liposomes. He et al. found that PEGylated liposomes were internalized by tumor cells through CME, while polycaprolactone modified PEGylated liposomes by a clathrin and caveolin mediated mechanism [125]. Other PEGylated liposomes functionalized with Ephrin A2 specific targeted peptide enters lung cancer cells through caveolae-mediated mechanism [126]. Moreover stealth liposomes can also transcytose epithelial cells monolayers [127].

#### 5.3.2 SLN and NLC

Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) are carriers formed by a lipid that is solid at room and body temperature. These particles have been prepared to control and target the drug release as well as

improve the drug stability. However these systems showed some disadvantages related to their stability. Indeed these particles may crystallize and release the drug. Hence nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC) have been developed. NLC are composed by a blend of solid and liquid lipid in order to improve the loading capacity of the carrier and to reduce its release during the storage [128]. The solid lipids most used in the preparation of SLN and NLC are stearic and palmitic acid derivatives.

Clathrin-dependent endocytosis is involved in the uptake SLN by human epithelial cells (A549 and Hela cells) [129]. Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) transcytosis has been observed across MDCK cells monolayer. Approximately 2.5% of the total SLN crosses the monolayer and exocytosis from the apical side is also detected. Lysosomes are the main destinations of SLNs, and the inhibition of endosomal acidification increases their transcytosis [130].

Clathrin and caveolae mediated endocytosis of 180nm negatively charged SLN have been identified in Caco-2 cells [10]. Similarly positively charged SLN use the same mechanism than negative ones in rat everted gut sac model [131]. Additionally Chai *et al.* showed that 90nm negatively charged SLN are endocytosed by Caco-2 cells also through micropinocytosis [132]. In a like way NLC are endocytosed by epithelial cells through a clathrin and caveolin mediated

mechanism [133-135].

#### 5.3.3 Lipid nanocapsules

Lipid nanocapsules are formed by three principal components: an oily phase, made by tryglicerides, an aqueous phase, made of water and sodium chloride salt, and a non-ionic surfactant, derived from PEG. Soya bean lecithin is used to increase the nanocapsule stability [136].

Paillard *et al.* showed that the internalization of lipid nanocapsules in rat glioma cells is mediated mainly by a clathrin- and caveolae-independent mechanism [137]. The same laboratory previously found that the uptake of lipid nanocapsules is cholesterol dependent [138]. Contrarily Caco-2 cells endocytose lipid nanocapsules through a caveolae-mediated pathway [139]. Moreover Roger and co-workers showed that P-glycoprotein, ATP-binding cassette transporter [140], affects the lipid nanocapsules transport across Caco-2 monolayer [141].

# 5.3.4 Other lipids

Lipid-polymer hybrid nanoparticles have been developed by combining a wide variety of materials and chemical functions. However each particle investigated shows a specific endocytic pathway [142-145].

### 5.4 Inorganic nanoparticles

Inorganic materials have several applications in nanomedicine. These nanotechnologies have been applied in molecular imaging [146], photodynamic therapy [147], radiomedicine [148], theranostic [149], gene delivery [150] and as targeted delivery systems (e.g. magnetic nanoparticles) [151]. Hence the understanding of inorganic nanomaterials interaction with the biological substrate is essential.

### 5.4.1 Silica

Silica nanoparticles are a broad class of nanoparticles based on  $SiO_2$ . These carriers are further classified into non-porous and mesoporous silica nanoparticles. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles are characterized by homogeneous pores that can range between 2 and 50 nm [152]. Many mechanisms have been identified in the uptake of silica nanoparticles.

Nowak and co-workers showed that A549 uptake 20nm silica nanoparticles through a caveolaeindependent and actin-dependent mechanism [153]. Silica nanoparticles were found co-located with flotillin in endocytic vesicles in epithelial cells; moreover flotillin-depleted epithelial cells showed a decreased uptake of the same nanoparticles [154]. The same authors showed that other particles (SicastarRed and AmOrSil) were incorporated in flotillin labeled vesicles, indicating the involvement of flotillin in trafficking or storage mechanism [155].

Walker *et al.* found that cholera toxin B modified mesoporous silica nanoparticles are endocytosed through a clathrin and caveolin dependent mechanism [156]. Soenen *et al.* showed that also 25 nm non-porous silica particles enter cells (vascular, neural and adrenal gland cells) by using clathrin, but 45 and 75nm particles use macropinocytosis [157]. Similarly silica-based nanoparticles modified with monoclonal antibodies against the  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  integrin (130nm) enter osteosarcoma cells through a macropinocytic path [158].

Silica nanoparticles can also be exocytosed. Yanes *et al.* showed that phosphonate silica nanoparticles uses mainly lysosomal exocytosis to exit the cell [159]. In contrast metallic oxide nanoparticles have been found to transcytose the Calu-3 barrier, between 12.1-17.9% for SiO<sub>2</sub>-NP after 24 hours [3].

#### 5.4.2 Calcium phosphate

Calcium phosphate is a biocompatible and biodegradable inorganic material that has been applied in nanomedicine, especially in bone tissue engineering. Indeed several forms of calcium phosphate have been studied, such as hydroxyapatite  $Ca_{10}(OH)_2(PO_4)_6$  a compound chemically similar to the inorganic component of bones [160, 161].

Bawer and co-workers found that needle-shaped hydroxyapatite nanoparticles are endocytosed by hepatocarcinoma cells through a clathrin-mediated mechanism [162]. The coating of hydroxyapatite nanoparticles with magnetite induces a receptor-mediated uptake into osteoblast [163]. Similarly Kakizawa *et al.* observed receptor-mediated endocytosis of block-copolymer coated calcium phosphate nanoparticles into HeLa cells [164]. Sokolova and co-workers showed that negatively charged calcium phosphate nanoparticles enter Hela cells through macropinocytosis in higher extent than the positively charged ones [165].

#### 5.4.3 Gold

Gold nanoparticles are a useful model to understand the physicochemical properties that affect nanoparticles biodistribution. Thanks to its photothermal property, gold particles have been also applied to cancer diagnosis and therapy. Gold nanoparticles have a size ranging between 2-100nm and can be easily functionalized. These nanostructures can have spherical or rod-like shapes [166]. Pyshnaya and co-workers found that positively charged gold nanoparticles and nanorods modified with linear polyetylenimine enter melanoma B16, HeLa and kidney fibroblast in the same manner. These particles uptake is caveolin- and lipid raft-mediated [167]. Transferrin-modified gold nanoparticles are endocytosed by epithelial, glioblastoma cells and fibroblast trough a clathrin-mediated mechanism thanks to the transferrin. Chithrani *et al.* showed that these carriers are also exocytosed in a size dependent manner: smaller nanoparticles are exocytosed faster than larger one [168].

#### 5.4.4 Magnesium and Aluminium

Magnesium and aluminum are the principal components of double layered hydroxide, a class of anionic clay materials. These compounds have been used to prepare nanoparticles as vectors for drug delivery [169]. Double layered hydroxide have a particle size between 50-300 nm and are endocytosed through a clathrin-mediated mechanism by embryonic kidney cells, embryonic fibroblast, ovarian [169] and osteosarcoma cells [170, 171].

# 5.4.5 Other metals

Iron oxide nanoparticles are used for their superparamagnetic behavior. Hence they are mainly applied to tumor and central nervous system imaging. The safety of these particles has been discussed, however controversial and insufficient information are nowadays available [172]. Similarly to other particles iron oxide- polystyrene nanoparticles are endocytosed by HeLa cells through a macropinocytosis mechanism [173].

After intra-arterial injection, (anti-PECAM)-modified iron oxide NP were found to target and transcytose *in vitro* and *in vivo* the blood-brain-barrier (BBB) [174].

Silver is also used in nanotechnology. Recently Duran et al. reviewed silver nanoparticles interaction with cells. They discuss the relationship between the formation of protein coronas and their toxicity, however they do not specify the uptake pathway preferred by these particles [175]. For instance Ahlberg *et al.* found that polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP)-capped silver nanoparticles enter mesenchymal stem cells through CME and macropinocytosis but not through caveolae-dependent mechanism [176].

Gadolinium based nanoparticles are used in theranostic and especially in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Wael and co-workers observed that 5 nm gadolinium nanoparticles are internalized by head and neck squamous cells through passive diffusion and macropinocytosis [177].

Quantum dots are small semiconductor nanocrystals having a size between 1-10nm broadly applied for optical imaging. Hild *et al.* reviewed the state-of-the-art concerning quantum dots cellular uptake. Thanks to their uniform and small size, quantum dots are useful for the investigation of nanoparticles endocytosis [178].

### 6. Discussion



**Figure 1** Occurrence of the endocytosis route used by nanoparticles made by different materials, considering the articles cited in this review.

Due to the huge variety of nanomaterials characteristics, paired with the large diversity of cellular models, it is difficult to draw a consistent conclusion that includes all the relevant elements. However some points are here discussed.

Unfortunately a lot of studies are performed without reliable positive controls. For instance transferrin is known to enter cells through the clathrin-pathway but it is not often used as control. Additionally the toxicity of the inhibitors may constitute a serious obstacle for the evaluation of the nanoparticles endocytosis pathway. The poor selectivity of some inhibitors should be taken into account. It has been evidenced that cholesterol is essential during the endocytosis process and its depletion perturbs particles internalization [179, 180]. Molecules that deplete cell's cholesterol are frequently used as inhibitors of caveolae-mediated endocytosis. However attention should be paid using these inhibitors since their caveolae-selectivity is uncertain. Nonetheless experimental artifacts can emerge using pharmacological inhibitors, due to the suppression of an entrance path and potential compensative mechanisms implemented by the cell.

Alternatively knocking down the clathrin- or caveolae-pathway of the cell is a complementary strategy used to understand particles uptake. This approach may be used in parallel with the use of inhibitors [94, 181].

Furthermore the cell phenotype influences the nanoparticles uptake. Endothelial and epithelial cells uptake is predominantly clathrin- and caveolae-mediated [182]. Macrophage polarization also affects the endocytosis. For instance Hoppstädter *et al.* showed that the M2-polarization of primary human monocyte-derived macrophages enhances the uptake of silica nanoparticles compared to M1 [183]. Macropinocytosis seems to be critical for the uptake in cancer cells [76]. Moreover defective endocytosis pathways have been observed in human cancer cells [184]. Kim *et al.* eventually highlights the dependence of the uptake on the cell cycle phase. Hence in G2/M-phase cells uptake more nanoparticles than in phase S, G0/G1 [185].

It is hard to define general rules for nanoparticles endocytosis since these mechanisms are dependent on a large number of factors. Other authors describe the influence of size, surface charge, shape, protein corona and cell division on nanoparticles endocytosis [55, 186].

The presence of numerous physicochemical characteristics of particles, which affect endocytosis, makes difficult to identify the parameter that most influences the uptake. Hence the definition of a hierarchy of parameters that we can modulate to induce a specific uptake of nanomaterials is ambitious and has not yet been achieved. However we propose here a comprehensive analysis of the state-of-the-art of nanoparticles endocytosis based on the material used to prepare nanostructured carriers. Thus we focus on the influence of the material nature on the uptake pathway. Nonetheless considering other physicochemical characteristics (e.g. size, surface charge, chemical modification, etc.) other conclusions may be drawn. It should be taken into account that all these variables interact with each other in the definition of the uptake pathway. Indeed many parameters should be considered during the rational design of nanoparticles and should be evaluated case by case.

Clathrin-mediated pathway is the endocytic mechanism involved in the endocytosis of the majority of nanoparticles. In figure 1 we reported the percentage of articles, cited in this review, and the incidence of the endocytosis path for the different nanoparticles categories. Our analysis shows that more than 40% of the polysaccharide and polymer nanoparticles here reported (40.9% and 42.8% articles respectively) use CME. This pathway is also preferred by inorganic and lipid nanoparticles since 37% and 35.7% of articles describe CME for these particles categories.

Regarding nanoparticles charge it has been noticed that positive polymers (e.g. PLA) and maltodextrin nanoparticles enter cells through a clathrin-mediated pathway preferentially [72, 187]. However also negatively charged chondroitin sulfate and heparosan showed to be endocytosed CME, but also by macropinocytosis [88]. Comparing different polysaccharides we observe that the charge seems not to be relevant in the choice of the endocytosis pathway.

Concerning the particle size smaller inorganic particles seems to enter cells preferentially by CME while larger through macropinocytosis [157]. The endocytosis of alginate nanoparticles was shown to be related to the size: 50-120nm nanoparticles are endocytosed by CME, whereas 420nm and 730nm particles by caveolae-mediated endocytosis and macropinocytosis respectively [92].

Studies show that when the uptake of nanoparticles occurs through a clathrin-mediated mechanism, caveolae-mediated endocytosis or macropinocytosis are also often involved [9, 10]. For instance polycaprolactone liposomes use both clathrin- and caveolin-mediated endocytosis [125].

Caveolae are involved mainly in the endocytosis of polymer and lipid nanoparticles, this path is described by 34.7% and 32.1% of articles respectively. Caveolae-mediated endocytosis is used also by inorganic and polysaccharide particles but in a much lower extent (14.8% and 11.4% of articles).

It seems that the size of the PLGA nanoparticles does not affect the endocytosis in MDCK cells, since 90nm and 274nm nanoparticles use both caveolae [101, 102]. However the coating of PLGA with a positively charged polysaccharide (i.e. chitosan) produced a switch in the uptake pathway to macropinocytosis. Hence the charge and the nature of the material play an important role in this case [102].

Polysaccharide and inorganic nanoparticles prefer macropinocytosis over caveolae-mediated endocytosis, since 22.7% and 18.5% of the analyzed articles report their macropinocytosis. However, only the 10.2% and 7.1% of articles about polymer and lipid nanoparticles respectively describe the macropinocytosis pathway. In case of inorganic nanoparticles (i.e. calcium phosphate) the charge plays a role in the uptake by HeLa cells. Indeed negatively charged particles are more endocytosed than positively charged one [165].

In the category "others" in Figure 1 we grouped all the articles that reported endocytosis mechanisms different from the main ones previously described. In this section the prevalent mechanisms were receptor-mediated endocytosis and lipid rafts.

# 7. Conclusion

In the last decades a lot of efforts have been done to better understand endocytosis mechanisms and intracellular trafficking. Although many pathways have been elucidated, not all processes have been clarified because of their complexity (e.g. clathrin- and caveolin- independent endocytosis). Much more data are available on clathrin-mediated pathway compared to the others, probably because it is the most known endocytic mechanism.

The introduction of nanoparticles as new technologies for intracellular drug delivery opened a new field of investigation. However it is still unclear how to modulate all the physico-chemical characteristics of nanoparticles to target a specific endocytosis pathway or intracellular organelles. Concerning transcytosis and exocytosis of nanoparticles and the opportunities to improve it, limited information are available. Due to the heterogeneity of nanoparticles composition, it is hard to find a general rule of nanoparticles interaction with the biological interface. Therefore it is necessary to evaluate case-by-case the impact of nanoparticles modification on the cell entry, exocytosis or eventual transcytosis.

Type of	Composition	Size	Z (mV)	Cells	Endocytosis mechanism	Ref
particle		(nm)				
	CS/siRNA	200	-	MDCK	Megalin-dependent	[69]
	CS-ornithine conjugate	100-150	17-21	C6	CME, dynamin	[61]
	Chitosan polyplexes	76.7	17	Hela	Clathrin dependent and independent	[59]
	Glucomannosylated CS	100-200	6.30-12	Raw 264.7, Caco-2	CME, mannose and glucose- receptor mediated	[60]
	Cis-aconitate-modified CS-	<b>60</b>	20.0			
	g-stearic acid	60	30.8	HEK-293	CME, Cav, Macropinocytosis	[63]
	(MTX+MMC)-PEG-CS	215	32.33	Hela	Folic acid receptor-mediated	[188]
	TMC Vit B12	321.4	26.2	Caco-2, HT29	CME, Cav	[189]
CS and TMC	Mannose-modified TMC- cysteine	se-modified TMC- cysteine Rat lipid-raft macropinoc exudate cells		lipid-raft and macropinocytosis	[190]	
	Galactose-modified TMC- cysteine	52.4	27.2	QGY-7703	Gal receptor-mediated endocytosis, CME	[65]
	urocanic acid-modified galactosylated TMC	170	25	QGY-7703	Galactose-mediated, CME, endo/lysosomal escape	[66]
	Arginine, cysteine, and	120 150	22.21	HEV 202	CME	[6]
	histidine modified TMC	120-130	22-31	HEK 293	CME	[02]
	<b>TMC-PEI</b> polyplexes	-	-	COS-7	CME	[64]
				Caco-		
	IMC CSK (CSKSSDYQC)	198	19	2/HT29-	CME, Cav, Macropinocytosis	[191]
	peptide modified			MTX		
				16HBE	CME	[72]
	Maltodextrin	63	25	16HBE	Transcytosis	[74]
Maltodextr				BCEC	Transcytosis	[75]
in				LNCaP	CI, Macropinocytosis	
	PCL/maltodextrin	170	-8.3	DU145	CME, CI, Macropinocytosis	[76]
				PC3	CME, CI, Macropinocytosis	
	Dextran	-	-	Hela	CME	
Dextran				HUVEC	low cellular uptake	[91]
				HDF	low cellular uptake	
	ChS -CS	250	-	Caco-2	-	[192]
Chondroiti	ChS -CS	186.3	-38.7	COS7	Macropinocytosis	[86]
n sulfate	Polyamidoamine	102.0	26.2			1071
	Dendrimer-ChS	183.9	28.3	B10-F10	CME, Cav	[8/]

Table 1 Polysaccharide nanoparticles endocytosis

	<b>HA</b> 00		67	UCT 116	CD44-mediated, endosomal	[102]
	ΠΑ	90	-0.7	HC1-110	escape	[193]
	HA-CS	207	25.37	C6	Macropinocytosis, CME, Cav,	[81]
	HA-coated CS/TPP	317	-52	RAW 264 7	CD44-mediated	[194]
	HA modified Mesonorous	517	52	10110 204.7		[174]
	Silica	80	-27.9	HC-116	CD44-mediated	[79]
Hvaluronic	HA–glycyrrhetinic acid conjugate	190	-21.93	MDA-MB- 231	CD44-mediated	[80]
acid	(SiNp)-curcumin complex HA conjugated	70	-26	Colo-205	CD44-mediated	[78]
	Hyaluronan-doxorubicin and cisplatin conjugates	-	-	MDA-1986	CD44-mediated	[195]
				A549, H69,		
			-208	MDA-		
	fotty aminos	90-1000		MB468,	CD44-mediated	[196]
	fatty amines			Hep3B,		
				B16F10		
	Folic acid-grafted CS					
	dextran + succinic	150	-	KB	Folate receptor-mediated	[89]
Folic acid	anhydride					
	Folic acid Carboxymethyl-	211	7 52	SMMC-7721,	Folate recentor modiated	[00]
	β-cyclodextrin	511	-7.55	Hela	Folate receptor-mediated	[90]
	Ethyl cellulose and methyl cellulose	250	-11.7	Hela	CME, endolysosomal pathway	[83]
Callabara	Carboxymethylcellulose	120	-	EMT6, U937	CME	[84]
Cenulose	Colluloso non convetala falia			DBTRG-		
	centrose nanoci ystais fonc	-	-	05MG, H4,	Folate receptor-mediated	[197]
	aciu-conjugateu			C6		
	Heparosan	139.2	-17.4	Hela, A549	CME, Macropinocytosis	[88]
	Gracilaria lemaneiformis	50	-24	U87MG C6	$\alpha v\beta 3$ integrin-mediated	[198]
	Polysaccharide selenium	50	-24	087100, 00	endocytosis	[170]
Others	Oleoyl alginate ester	50-120	-31	Caco-2	CME	
Others		420		Caco-2	Cav	[92]
		730		Caco-2	Macropinocytosis	
	Cholesterol modified Pullulan	63	-	HepG2	CME, Macropinocytosis	[199]

Z potential (Z); chitosan (CS); Trimethyl chitosan (TMC); Polyethylenglycol (PEG); polyethilenimine (PEI); Polycaprolactone (PCL); Methotrexate (MTX); Mitomycin C(MMX); Vitamin B12 (Vit B12); Chondroitin sulfate (ChS); Hyaluronic acid (HA); tripoliphosphate (TPP); Clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME); Caveolin-mediated endocytosis (Cav); Clathrin-independent endocytosis (CI)

Type of particle	Composition	Size (nm)	Z (mV)	Cells	Endocytosis mechanism	Ref
	Polystyrene	50	-	AT1	Passive diffusion	[94]
	Polystyrene	100	-	AT1	CME, Cav	[94]
	Polystyrene	44	-	BOEC, HCF	non-endocytic transcellular flux	[200]
	Polystyrene	293	-13	Calu-3	Transcytosis	[121]
	Polystyrene	100	-	BMDM, 293T, L929	Macropinocytosis, phagocytosis, CME, Cav, CI, CavI	[95]
Delustemens	Polystyrene	120-603	-	HeLa	Macropinocytosis (excavator shovel like mechanism)	[201]
Polystyrene	Polystyrene	40	-	A549	CME, Cav	[202]
	Polystyrene	40	-	J774A.1	Macropinocytosis, Phagocytosis, CME	[202]
	NH2-labeled	60	35	BEAS-2B	Cav	[180]
	polystyrene					
	PAEA-g-PEG-b-PS	14-24	8-20	MLE 12	CME	[203]
	PAEA-b-PS	14-25	8-21	MLE 12	CI	[204]
	Amidine polystyrene	20-100	-	AEC	CME, Transcytosis	[54]
	Carboxylate	20-100	-	AEC	Paracellular passage	[54]
	polystyrene			-	1	L- 1
	PLGA	132	-8.9	Caco-2	CME	[97]
	PLGA	97	-	HAVSM	Exocytosis	[103]
	PLGA	-	-	HBE	Exocytosis	[104]
	PLGA	-	-	Caco-2	Exocytosis	[104]
	PLGA	-	-	renal proximal tube	Exocytosis	[104]
	PLGA	130-180	-5	Caco-2	Exocytosis CME-fluid phase	[98]
PLGA	PLGA	69	-12.5	HASMCs	endocytosis+endosomal escape	[99]
	PLGA	80-90	-25	MDCK	Cav, CME	[101]
	PLGA	274	-13.8	MDCK	Cav	[102]
	PCL-PEG/PLGA	133-210	0	HEI-OC1, SVK-1	CME	[100]
	CS-coated PLGA	300	17	MDCK	Macropinocytosis, CME	[102]
	mPEG-PLGA-					
	PLL, (Gal)-mPEG-	198.8	-	HepG2	sialic acid receptor-	[205]
	PLGA-PLL			· r	mediated, CME	
		-	-	Huh7	CME	[205]

# Table 2 Polymer nanoparticles endocytosis

			_	PI C	sialic acid recentor CME	[205]
	Destant	-	-	TLC	Transactoria e deservicios	[203]
	Protamine-coated	140-173	-	U87MG	Transcytosis adsorptive-	[206]
	PLGA				mediated	
	TMC PLGA	247.2	45.2	Caco-2	CME	[97]
	Dol-PLA-PEG-FA	89-122	-1520	MCF-7, CCL-110	Receptor-mediated	[207]
	PEG-b-PCL-g-	100-170	10-35	HenG2	Macropinocytosis, CME,	[107]
	PDMAEMA	100-170	10-55	nep02	Cav	[107]
	HPMA-oligolysine	rods 20/100	-	HeLa, CHO-K1	Cav	[208]
Polyacrylates	Pluronic F127	00.100	5.00			[110]
	PDMAEMA	80-180	5-20	HEK 2931	CME, Cav	[112]
	p(LAMA-r-					
	AAPBA)	289–353	-25	Calu-3	CME, lipid raft/Cav	[106]
	PEI and PAMAM					
PEI	polyplexes	90-150	-	HeLa	CME, Cav	[115]
	ChS-PEI	-	-	U87, A549	CME, folate, CD44	[116]
	PCL-g-SS-LBA	85-140	-	HepG2	Receptor-mediated	[119]
PCL	PCL PEG	20-235	-47	SKBR3	Cholesterol-dependent	[118]
	PCL	195	-19.7	rat everted gut sac	CME, Cav	[120]
				everted intestinal		
	CD-PVM/MA	273.7	-9.82	ring model	CME, Cav	[209]
	PEG-PLA	125.93	-30.87	HUVEC	Cav, lipid raft	[210]
	2-deoxy-D-glucose				Cav, CME, GLUT-	
	PEG-co-PTMC	71	-	RG-2	mediated	[211]
	PEGylated					
	polvester	104-118	-3715	Caco-2	lipid raft, CavI	[212]
	PEGvlated					
	PAMAM	200-250	-	C2C12, HepG2	Cav	[213]
	lysine-linked					
	ditocopherol PEG	20.5	0	Caco-2	Cav, CME, transcytosis CI	[214]
Others (PEO.	2000 succinate				CavI	
PEG, PVA)	PPE	61	53	HeLa	Cav	[215]
-,	polyoxyethylene				Receptor-mediated	L - J
	sorbital alegte	-	-	RBL-2H3	endocytosis	[216]
	noly(B amino astor)				endocytosis	
	poly(p-animo ester)	200	10-17	MDA-MB 231	Cav, CME	[217]
	polypiexes				Enorgy dopondont	
	PNVCL	438	-	KB	endocytosis	[218]
	PAMAM				Cholesterol-dependent	
	cholesterol	80-160	50-60	MCF-7	endocvtosis	[219]
	PVA	183_221	3_10	Calu-3	Transcytosis	[121]
	Alkyl conned	105-251	5-17	Caru-5	11anoc y (0515	[121]
	Aikyi-cappeu	5	-	Hela, SW1353	Cholesterol-dependent	[220]
	silicon nanocrystals					

Poly (d,l-lactide-co-glycolic) acid(PLGA); Polyethylenglycol (PEG); Polyethilenimine (PEI); Poly-ε-caprolactone (PCL); poly(acrylamidoethylamine-graft-poly(ethylene glycol))-block-polystyrene (PAEA-g-PEG-b-PS); 4-O-beta-D-Galactopyranosyl-D-gluconic acid monomethoxy (polyethylene glycol)-poly (D,L-lactide-co-glycolide)-poly (Llysine) ((Gal)-mPEG-PLGA-PLL); Dodecanol-poly(d,l-lactic acid)-b-poly (ethylene glycol)-folate (Dol-PLA-PEG-FA); poly(dimethylamino ethyl methacrylate) (PDMAEMA); N-(2-hydroxypropyl) methacrylamide (HPMA); glycopolymer poly(2-lactobionamidoethyl methacrylate-random-3-acrylamidophenylboronic acid) (p(LAMA-r-AAPBA); Polyamidoamine (PAMAM); Chondroitin sulfate (ChS); poly(ε-caprolactone)-graft-SS-lactobionic acid (PCL-g-SS-LBA); poly(methyl vinyl ether-co-maleic anhydride)-graft-hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin amphiphilic copolymer (CD-PVM/MA); poly(trimethylene carbonate) (PTMC); poly(phenyleneethynylene) (PPE); poly(Nvinylcaprolactam) (PNVCL); Clathrin-mediated endocytosis(CME); Caveolin-mediated endocytosis (Cav); Clathrin-independent endocytosis (CI), Caveolin-independent endocytosis (CavI)

Type of particle	Composition	Size (nm)	Z (mV)	Cells	Endocytosis mechanism	Ref
	DOPC, Chol	110	0	HeLa, HT-29	CME	[123]
	PEGylated peptid- modified	157,3	-3.64	A549	Cav	[126]
	DDAB or DOTAP,	121 105	34 70	HopG2 and A375	Lipid rafts Cayl	[124]
		121-195	54-70	hep02 and A575	Lipid faits, Cavi	[124]
	(anti-FGFR mAbs)					
	hybrid linosomal	-	_	A431, DU145, HL-	receptor-mediated	[221]
Liposomes	immunocerasomes			60	endocytosis	[221]
	minunocerasonies				macropinocytosis	
	<b>PEGylated liposomes</b>	125 105-121	-16	A 549	membrane raffling and	[222]
	DOPC and DOPE	120	10	1017	hlebbing	[222]
	LPPs	105-121	-2	4T1	CME. Cav	[125]
	LDP2000	97.7-112	-17	4T1	CME	[125]
	PEGvlated (PAMAM)	,,,,, <u>,</u> ,,	17		Transcytosis, P-gp	[1=0]
	dendrimers in liposomes	119	-	Caco-2	efflux pump	[127]
	Glyceryl tribehenate					
	SLN	167	23	rat everted gut sac	CME, Cav	[131]
	SLN, cetyl palmitate,;					
	NLC, cetyl palmitate,	180	-30	Caco-2	CME, Cav	[10]
	miglyol-812					
	SLN stearic acid	250	-25	A549 and HeLa	CME	[129]
	TX-Lf-BCNU-SLNs	100-160	20-37	HBMECs	increased TEER	[223]
				Caco-2	Transcytosis,	
	SLN Octadecylamine,	86.7-91.6	-28		Macropinocytosis,	[132]
	Glycerol monostearate				CME, Cav	
	SLN soya lecithin,					
SLN and NLC	stearic acid, Tween 80	76-98	-1924	MCF-7, DU-145	adenosine receptor-	[224]
	adenosine modified				mediated	
	SLN Monostearin and	<u> </u>	20 20	MDCV	Cav, CME,	[120]
	poloxamer 188	88,5	-20.70	WIDCK	Transcytosis	[150]
	SLN Compritol 888	161		Case 2	CME	[225]
	АТО	101	-	Cac0-2	CIVIE	[223]
	SLNs stearic acid,					
	salmon calcitonin,	240-409	-2719	Caco-2/HT29-MTX	CME, Cav	[226]
	peptide ligand					
	NLC	13,4	-9.5	A549	CME	[134]
	NLC stearic acid	49.2	29.8	RAW264.7	Cav, CavI	[133]
	DDAB18	- ,-	- ,-			[]

# Table 3 Lipid nanoparticles endocytosis

	NLC chitosan hydrochloride	73-744	-7-+22	HLE	CME	[135]
	BNC HBsAg	105	-	SKBR3 and HeLa	HER2 receptor- mediated	[227]
I inid	lipid nanocapsules	22-50-102	-7.21.9	F98	CI, CavI	[137]
Lipiu	lipid nanocapsules	51.5-55.6	-	Caco-2	P-gp	[141]
nanocapsules	lipid nanocapsules	26-132	-	Caco-2	Cav	[139]
	lipid nanocapsules	50	-	9L, F98	Chol-dependent, lipid rafts	[138]
	FA-BSA-(DOPE)oleic acid	116,1	4,89	MCF-7, HepG2, MDA-MB-231	-	[142]
Others	PEGylated (DSPC, DSPE-PEG2000, Chol)- mesoporous silica	80-220	-	HT29, SKBR3	HER1 or HER2 receptor-mediated	[143]
	HDL-mimicking peptide phospholipid	18-23	-	СНО	Cav	[144]
	fatty glyceride-CS- enoxaparin	247-274	20	Caco-2	CME, Cav	[145]

1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DOPC); Cholesterol (Chol); Didecyldimethylammonium bromide (DDAB); 2-dioleoyl-3-trimethylammoniumpropane (DOTAP); 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DPPC); 1,2-dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine (DOPE); anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibodies (EGFR mAbs); soybean phosphatidylcholine, Chol modified with PEG-b-PCL copolymers (LPP); PEGylated liposomes consisting of DSPE-PEG2000 (LDP2000); Polyamidoamidine (PAMAM); Solid Lipid Nanoparticles (SLN); Nanostructures Lipid Carriers (NLC); tamoxifen lactoferrin Behenic acid (TX-Lf-BCNU); Bio-nanocapsules (BNC); Hepatitis B antigen (HBsAg); Folic acid (FA); 1,2-Distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DSPE); P-glycoprotein (P-gp); Human epidermal growth factor receptor (HER); transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER); Clathrin-mediated endocytosis(CME); Caveolin-mediated endocytosis (Cav); Clathrin-independent endocytosis (CavI)

Type of particle	Composition	Size (nm)	Z (mV)	Cells	Endocytosis mechanism	Ref
	lactosaminated	100	-	HepG2,	CME	[228]
	mesoporous silica	100		SMMC7721		[220]
	Mesoporous silica arginine-HyA	20-50/50-200	-	CNE1-LMP1	energy-dependent	[229]
Silica	silica	20	-	A549	CavI, actin- dependent	[153]
Since	CTB modified mesoporous silica	164	-19	HeLa	CME, Cav	[156]
	PLC-PLA, PLC silica	80-100	-2719	Murine microglial	Macropinocytosis and phagocytosis	[230]
	non-porous silica	25, 45 and 75	-15	HUVEC, C17.2, PC12	CME, Macropinocytosis	[157]
	amorphous CpP/retinol	45	-	MC3T3	CME	[231]
	HyA coated magnetite	-	-	osteoblast	receptor-mediated	[163]
Calcium	(Fe3O4)				I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	[]
Phosphate	СР	120	-	HeLa	macropinocytosis	[165]
	НуА	100	-	HAP	CME	[162]
	Block copolymer-coated CP	170	-	HeLa	receptor-mediated	[164]
	Gold Nanorods PEI	37-49	53	BHK-21, B16, HeLa	Cav, lipid raft	[167]
	Gold PEI	65-75	34	BHK-21, B16, HeLa	Cav, lipid raft	[167]
	Tf-coated gold	14-50-74-100	-	HeLa, SNB19, STO	CME	[168]
Gold	PEO nanogels inorganic gold np	132	-	HUVECs, hMSCs	CME	[232]
	dendrimer and gold dendrimers	-	-2,3	KB	folic acid receptor- mediated	[233]
	AuNRs (PEG-PCL-LA)	90	-	U87MG	receptor-mediated	[234]
	Mg and Al hydroxyde	100	40	НЕК293Т, NIH3T3, СНО-К1	СМЕ	[169]
Mg and Al	Mg and Al hydroxyde	127-136	5-20	MNNG/HOS	CME	[170]
	Mg and Al hydroxyde	50-200	18-30	MNNG/HOS	CME	[171]
	PEG-folic acid iron oxide	67-74	-	HeLa	receptor mediated	[235]
	iron oxide polystyrene	126	-44	HeLa	Macropinocytosis	[173]
	PVP-capped silver	120	-20	hMSC	CME, Macropinocytosis	[176]
Others	folic acid selenium	180	-	HepG2	folic acid receptor mediated	[236]
	NaGdF4:Ce/TbCaP	120	-25,7	HEK, MCF-7, MDA, HeLa	receptor-mediated	[237]

# Table 4 Inorganic nanoparticles endocytosis

graphene quantum dots	3-12	-	MDCK	lipid raft	[238]

Hydroxyapatite (HyA); Cholera toxin B (CTB); Poly-ε-caprolactone (PLC); Polylactic acid (PLA); Calcium polyphosphate (CpP); Calcium phosphate (CP); Polyethyleneimine (PEI); Transferrin (Tf); poly(ethylene oxide) (PEO); Magnesium (Mg); Aluminium (Al); Polyethyleneglycol (PEG); Polyvynylpirrolidone (PVP); NaGdF4:Ce/TbCaP; Clathrin-mediated endocytosis(CME); Caveolin-mediated endocytosis (Cav); Clathrin-independent endocytosis (CavI).

# Abbreviations (Cells)

16HBE, human bronchial epithelial cells	HAP, near-haploid human cells
4T1 cells, mammary gland tumor	HASMCs, Human arterial smooth muscle cells
9L, rat gliosarcoma cells	HAVSM, human arterial vascular smooth muscle cells
293T, human embryonic kidney	HBMECs, Human Brain Microvascular Endothelial cells
A375, Homo sapiens skin malignant melanoma	HCF, human colon fibroblasts
A549, lung epithelial cells	HCT -16, Cell Line human colon carcinoma
AEC, alveolar epithelial cells	HDF cells, normal human fibroblast cell line
AT1, immortalized alveolar type I epithelial cells	HEK 293 cells, human embryonic kidney cells
B16-F10, mouse melanoma cell line	HEI-OC1, cochlear cells, House Ear Institute-organ of
BCEC, Brain capillary endothelial cells	Corti 1
BEAS-2B, human bronchial epithelium	Hela, human cervical carcinoma cells
BHK-21, hamster kidney	Hep3B, liver cancer
BMDM, bone marrow-derived macrophage	HepG2, hepatocellular carcinoma
BOEC, bovine oviductal epithelial cells	HL-60, Human promyelocytic leukemia cells
C17.2, murine neural progenitor cells	HLE, human lens epithelial cells
C6, glioma cell line	hMSCs, human mesenchymal stem cells
C2C12, mouse myoblast cell line	Huh7, hepatocyte derived cellular carcinoma cell line
Caco-2, human epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma	HT-29MTX, human epithelial colon cells
Calu-3, Homo sapiens lung adenocarcinoma cells	HUVEC, human umbilical vascular endothelial cells
CCL-110, normal fibroblast cells	J774A.1, mouse monocytes, macrophages
CHO-K1, chinese hamster ovary cells	KB, Homo sapiens HeLa contaminant Carcinoma
CNE1-LMP1, nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell line	LNCaP, prostate cancer cell line
colo-205, human colon carcinoma cells	MC3T3, osteoblast precursor cell line
COS7, transformed African green monkey kidney	MCF-7, breast cancer cell lines
fibroblasts	MDA-MB-231 cells, Homo sapiens mammary gland/breast
DBTRG-05MG, human brain tumor cells	MDA-MB468, breast cancer
DU145, Prostate cancer cell line	MDA-1986, head and neck squamous cell cancer cell line
EMT6, murine mammary carcinoma	MDCK, Madine Darby Canine Kidney
F98, rat glioblastoma cell	MLE 12, mouse cell line alveolar type II cells
H4, Homo sapiens brain neuroglioma	MNNG/HOS, osteosarcoma cells
H69, small cell lung cancer (SCLC)	NIH3T3, mouse embryo fibroblasts

PC3, Prostate cancer cell line
PC12, rat pheochromocytoma cells
QGY-7703, human hepato-carcinoma cells
RAW 264.7, murine macrophages
RBL-2H3, basophilic leukemia cell line
RG-2, rat glioma cells
SKBR3, breast cancer cells

SMMC-7721, Human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line

SNB19, human glioma cell line

STO, mouse embryonic fibroblasts

SVK-1, Stria vascularis K-1

SW1353, human bone chondrosarcoma, fibroblast-like cell line

U937 cells, Human leukemic monocyte lymphoma cell line

U87MG, Human glioblastoma cells

#### **Bibliography**

[1] Jovic M, Sharma M, Rahajeng J, Caplan S. The early endosome: a busy sorting station for proteins at the crossroads. Histology and histopathology. 2010;25:99-112.

[2] Dombu CY, Kroubi M, Zibouche R, Matran R, Betbeder D. Characterization of endocytosis and exocytosis of cationic nanoparticles in airway epithelium cells. Nanotechnology. 2010;21:355102.

[3] George I, Naudin G, Boland S, Mornet S, Contremoulins V, Beugnon K, et al. Metallic oxide nanoparticle translocation across the human bronchial epithelial barrier. Nanoscale. 2015;7:4529-44.

[4] Canton I, Battaglia G. Endocytosis at the nanoscale. Chemical Society reviews. 2012;41:2718-39.

[5] Sahay G, Alakhova DY, Kabanov AV. Endocytosis of nanomedicines. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2010;145:182-95.

[6] Underhill DM, Goodridge HS. Information processing during phagocytosis. Nature reviews Immunology. 2012;12:492-502.

[7] Duncan R, Richardson SC. Endocytosis and intracellular trafficking as gateways for nanomedicine delivery: opportunities and challenges. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2012;9:2380-402.

[8] Stenmark H. Rab GTPases as coordinators of vesicle traffic. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2009;10:513-25.

[9] Sulheim E, Baghirov H, von Haartman E, Boe A, Aslund AK, Morch Y, et al. Cellular uptake and intracellular degradation of poly(alkyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles. Journal of nanobiotechnology. 2016;14:1.

[10] Neves AR, Queiroz JF, Costa Lima SA, Figueiredo F, Fernandes R, Reis S. Cellular uptake and transcytosis of lipid-based nanoparticles across the intestinal barrier: Relevance for oral drug delivery. Journal of colloid and interface science. 2016;463:258-65.

[11] Patel B, Gupta N, Ahsan F. Particle engineering to enhance or lessen particle uptake by alveolar macrophages and to influence the therapeutic outcome. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2015;89:163-74.

[12] Owens DE, 3rd, Peppas NA. Opsonization, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics of polymeric nanoparticles. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2006;307:93-102.

[13] Aderem A, Underhill DM. Mechanisms of phagocytosis in macrophages. Annual review of immunology. 1999;17:593-623.

[14] Mercer J, Schelhaas M, Helenius A. Virus entry by endocytosis. Annual review of biochemistry. 2010;79:803-33.

[15] Donnelly LE, Barnes PJ. Defective phagocytosis in airways disease. Chest. 2012;141:1055-62.

[16] Khalil IA, Kogure K, Akita H, Harashima H. Uptake pathways and subsequent intracellular trafficking in nonviral gene delivery. Pharmacological reviews. 2006;58:32-45.

[17] Conner SD, Schmid SL. Regulated portals of entry into the cell. Nature. 2003;422:37-44.

[18] Doherty GJ, McMahon HT. Mechanisms of endocytosis. Annual review of biochemistry. 2009;78:857-902.

[19] Brodsky FM, Chen CY, Knuehl C, Towler MC, Wakeham DE. Biological basket weaving: formation and function of clathrin-coated vesicles. Annual review of cell and developmental biology. 2001;17:517-68.

[20] Goodman OB, Jr., Krupnick JG, Santini F, Gurevich VV, Penn RB, Gagnon AW, et al. Beta-arrestin acts as a clathrin adaptor in endocytosis of the beta2-adrenergic receptor. Nature. 1996;383:447-50.

[21] Zhang J, Barak LS, Winkler KE, Caron MG, Ferguson SS. A central role for beta-arrestins and clathrin-coated vesicle-mediated endocytosis in beta2-adrenergic receptor resensitization. Differential regulation of receptor resensitization in two distinct cell types. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1997;272:27005-14.

[22] Hillaireau H, Couvreur P. Nanocarriers' entry into the cell: relevance to drug delivery. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS. 2009;66:2873-96.

[23] Robinson MS. Forty Years of Clathrin-coated Vesicles. Traffic. 2015;16:1210-38.

[24] Fotin A, Cheng Y, Sliz P, Grigorieff N, Harrison SC, Kirchhausen T, et al. Molecular model for a complete clathrin lattice from electron cryomicroscopy. Nature. 2004;432:573-9.

[25] Laporte SA, Oakley RH, Holt JA, Barak LS, Caron MG. The interaction of beta-arrestin with the AP-2 adaptor is required for the clustering of beta 2-adrenergic receptor into clathrin-coated pits. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2000;275:23120-6.

[26] Kirchhausen T, Toyoda T. Immunoelectron microscopic evidence for the extended conformation of light chains in clathrin trimers. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1993;268:10268-73.

[27] Mettlen M, Pucadyil T, Ramachandran R, Schmid SL. Dissecting dynamin's role in clathrinmediated endocytosis. Biochemical Society transactions. 2009;37:1022-6.

[28] Maxfield FR, McGraw TE. Endocytic recycling. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2004;5:121-32.

[29] Lu L, Hong W. From endosomes to the trans-Golgi network. Seminars in cell & developmental biology. 2014;31:30-9.

[30] Naslavsky N, Boehm M, Backlund PS, Jr., Caplan S. Rabenosyn-5 and EHD1 interact and sequentially regulate protein recycling to the plasma membrane. Molecular biology of the cell. 2004;15:2410-22.

[31] Nassar ZD, Parat MO. Cavin Family: New Players in the Biology of Caveolae. International review of cell and molecular biology. 2015;320:235-305.

[32] Parton RG. Caveolae and caveolins. Current opinion in cell biology. 1996;8:542-8.

[33] Ferrari A, Pellegrini V, Arcangeli C, Fittipaldi A, Giacca M, Beltram F. Caveolae-mediated internalization of extracellular HIV-1 tat fusion proteins visualized in real time. Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy. 2003;8:284-94.

[34] Harris J, Werling D, Hope JC, Taylor G, Howard CJ. Caveolae and caveolin in immune cells: distribution and functions. Trends in immunology. 2002;23:158-64.

[35] Kou L., Sun J., Zhai Y., He Z. The endocytosis and intracellular fate of nanomedicines: Implication for rational design. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2013;8:1-10.

[36] Parton RG, Simons K. The multiple faces of caveolae. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2007;8:185-94.

[37] Pelkmans L, Kartenbeck J, Helenius A. Caveolar endocytosis of simian virus 40 reveals a new twostep vesicular-transport pathway to the ER. Nature cell biology. 2001;3:473-83.

[38] Mayor S, Pagano RE. Pathways of clathrin-independent endocytosis. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2007;8:603-12.

[39] Kirkham M, Fujita A, Chadda R, Nixon SJ, Kurzchalia TV, Sharma DK, et al. Ultrastructural identification of uncoated caveolin-independent early endocytic vehicles. The Journal of cell biology. 2005;168:465-76.

[40] Okada R, Yamauchi Y, Hongu T, Funakoshi Y, Ohbayashi N, Hasegawa H, et al. Activation of the Small G Protein Arf6 by Dynamin2 through Guanine Nucleotide Exchange Factors in Endocytosis. Scientific reports. 2015;5:14919.

[41] Meister M, Tikkanen R. Endocytic trafficking of membrane-bound cargo: a flotillin point of view. Membranes. 2014;4:356-71.

[42] Mercer J, Helenius A. Virus entry by macropinocytosis. Nature cell biology. 2009;11:510-20.

[43] Mercer J, Helenius A. Gulping rather than sipping: macropinocytosis as a way of virus entry. Current opinion in microbiology. 2012;15:490-9.

[44] Orth JD, McNiven MA. Get off my back! Rapid receptor internalization through circular dorsal ruffles. Cancer research. 2006;66:11094-6.

[45] Mukherjee S, Ghosh RN, Maxfield FR. Endocytosis. Physiological reviews. 1997;77:759-803.

[46] Mellman I, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells: specialized and regulated antigen processing machines. Cell. 2001;106:255-8.

[47] Kienzle C, von Blume J. Secretory cargo sorting at the trans-Golgi network. Trends in cell biology. 2014;24:584-93.

[48] Chieregatti E, Meldolesi J. Regulated exocytosis: new organelles for non-secretory purposes. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2005;6:181-7.

[49] Bombardier JP, Munson M. Three steps forward, two steps back: mechanistic insights into the assembly and disassembly of the SNARE complex. Current opinion in chemical biology. 2015;29:66-71.

[50] Nightingale TD, Cutler DF, Cramer LP. Actin coats and rings promote regulated exocytosis. Trends in cell biology. 2012;22:329-37.

[51] Shin OH. Exocytosis and synaptic vesicle function. Comprehensive Physiology. 2014;4:149-75.

[52] Sakhtianchi R, Minchin RF, Lee KB, Alkilany AM, Serpooshan V, Mahmoudi M. Exocytosis of nanoparticles from cells: role in cellular retention and toxicity. Advances in colloid and interface science. 2013;201-202:18-29.

[53] Tuma P, Hubbard AL. Transcytosis: crossing cellular barriers. Physiological reviews. 2003;83:871-932.

[54] Fazlollahi F, Kim YH, Sipos A, Hamm-Alvarez SF, Borok Z, Kim KJ, et al. Nanoparticle translocation across mouse alveolar epithelial cell monolayers: species-specific mechanisms. Nanomedicine : nanotechnology, biology, and medicine. 2013;9:786-94.

[55] Salatin S, Maleki Dizaj S, Yari Khosroushahi A. Effect of the surface modification, size, and shape on cellular uptake of nanoparticles. Cell biology international. 2015;39:881-90.

[56] Ma N, Ma C, Li C, Wang T, Tang Y, Wang H, et al. Influence of nanoparticle shape, size, and surface functionalization on cellular uptake. Journal of nanoscience and nanotechnology. 2013;13:6485-98.

[57] Anselmo AC, Mitragotri S. Impact of particle elasticity on particle-based drug delivery systems. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2016.

[58] Periayah MH, Halim AS, Saad AZ. Chitosan: A Promising Marine Polysaccharide for Biomedical Research. Pharmacognosy reviews. 2016;10:39-42.

[59] Garaiova Z, Strand SP, Reitan NK, Lelu S, Storset SO, Berg K, et al. Cellular uptake of DNAchitosan nanoparticles: the role of clathrin- and caveolae-mediated pathways. International journal of biological macromolecules. 2012;51:1043-51.

[60] Harde H, Agrawal AK, Jain S. Tetanus toxoids loaded glucomannosylated chitosan based nanohoming vaccine adjuvant with improved oral stability and immunostimulatory response. Pharmaceutical research. 2015;32:122-34.

[61] Alex SM, Sharma CP. Enhanced intracellular uptake and endocytic pathway selection mediated by hemocompatible ornithine grafted chitosan polycation for gene delivery. Colloids and surfaces B, Biointerfaces. 2014;122:792-800.

[62] Zheng H, Tang C, Yin C. Exploring advantages/disadvantages and improvements in overcoming gene delivery barriers of amino acid modified trimethylated chitosan. Pharmaceutical research. 2015;32:2038-50.

[63] Yao JJ, Du YZ, Yuan H, You J, Hu FQ. Efficient gene delivery system mediated by cis-aconitatemodified chitosan-g-stearic acid micelles. International journal of nanomedicine. 2014;9:2993-3003.

[64] Xu T, Liu W, Wang S, Shao Z. Elucidating the role of free polycationic chains in polycation gene carriers by free chains of polyethylenimine or N,N,N-trimethyl chitosan plus a certain polyplex. International journal of nanomedicine. 2014;9:3231-45.

[65] Han L, Tang C, Yin C. Dual-targeting and pH/redox-responsive multi-layered nanocomplexes for smart co-delivery of doxorubicin and siRNA. Biomaterials. 2015;60:42-52.

[66] Han L, Tang C, Yin C. Enhanced antitumor efficacies of multifunctional nanocomplexes through knocking down the barriers for siRNA delivery. Biomaterials. 2015;44:111-21.

[67] Christensen EI, Birn H. Megalin and cubilin: multifunctional endocytic receptors. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2002;3:256-66.

[68] Kozyraki R, Fyfe J, Verroust PJ, Jacobsen C, Dautry-Varsat A, Gburek J, et al. Megalin-dependent cubilin-mediated endocytosis is a major pathway for the apical uptake of transferrin in polarized epithelia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2001;98:12491-6.

[69] Gao S, Hein S, Dagnaes-Hansen F, Weyer K, Yang C, Nielsen R, et al. Megalin-mediated specific uptake of chitosan/siRNA nanoparticles in mouse kidney proximal tubule epithelial cells enables AQP1 gene silencing. Theranostics. 2014;4:1039-51.

[70] van der Maarel MJ, van der Veen B, Uitdehaag JC, Leemhuis H, Dijkhuizen L. Properties and applications of starch-converting enzymes of the alpha-amylase family. Journal of biotechnology. 2002;94:137-55.

[71] Merhi M, Dombu CY, Brient A, Chang J, Platel A, Le Curieux F, et al. Study of serum interaction with a cationic nanoparticle: Implications for in vitro endocytosis, cytotoxicity and genotoxicity. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2012;423:37-44.

[72] Dombu C, Carpentier R, Betbeder D. Influence of surface charge and inner composition of nanoparticles on intracellular delivery of proteins in airway epithelial cells. Biomaterials. 2012;33:9117-26.

[73] Debin A, Kravtzoff R, Santiago JV, Cazales L, Sperandio S, Melber K, et al. Intranasal immunization with recombinant antigens associated with new cationic particles induces strong mucosal as well as systemic antibody and CTL responses. Vaccine. 2002;20:2752-63.

[74] Bernocchi B, Carpentier R, Lantier I, Ducournau C, Dimier-Poisson I, Betbeder D. Mechanisms allowing protein delivery in nasal mucosa using NPL nanoparticles. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2016;232:42-50.

[75] Jallouli Y, Paillard A, Chang J, Sevin E, Betbeder D. Influence of surface charge and inner composition of porous nanoparticles to cross blood-brain barrier in vitro. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2007;344:103-9.

[76] Korang-Yeboah M, Gorantla Y, Paulos SA, Sharma P, Chaudhary J, Palaniappan R. Polycaprolactone/maltodextrin nanocarrier for intracellular drug delivery: formulation, uptake mechanism, internalization kinetics, and subcellular localization. International journal of nanomedicine. 2015;10:4763-81.

[77] Toole BP. Hyaluronan-CD44 Interactions in Cancer: Paradoxes and Possibilities. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2009;15:7462-8.

[78] Singh SP, Sharma M, Gupta PK. Cytotoxicity of curcumin silica nanoparticle complexes conjugated with hyaluronic acid on colon cancer cells. International journal of biological macromolecules. 2015;74:162-70.

[79] Zhao Q, Geng H, Wang Y, Gao Y, Huang J, Zhang J, et al. Hyaluronic acid oligosaccharide modified redox-responsive mesoporous silica nanoparticles for targeted drug delivery. ACS applied materials & interfaces. 2014;6:20290-9.

[80] Mezghrani O, Tang Y, Ke X, Chen Y, Hu D, Tu J, et al. Hepatocellular carcinoma dually-targeted nanoparticles for reduction triggered intracellular delivery of doxorubicin. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2015;478:553-68.

[81] Yang L, Gao S, Asghar S, Liu G, Song J, Wang X, et al. Hyaluronic acid/chitosan nanoparticles for delivery of curcuminoid and its in vitro evaluation in glioma cells. International journal of biological macromolecules. 2015;72:1391-401.

[82] Domingues RM, Gomes ME, Reis RL. The potential of cellulose nanocrystals in tissue engineering strategies. Biomacromolecules. 2014;15:2327-46.

[83] Pan-In P, Wanichwecharungruang S, Hanes J, Kim AJ. Cellular trafficking and anticancer activity of Garcinia mangostana extract-encapsulated polymeric nanoparticles. International journal of nanomedicine. 2014;9:3677-86.

[84] Hoang B, Ernsting MJ, Roy A, Murakami M, Undzys E, Li SD. Docetaxel-carboxymethylcellulose nanoparticles target cells via a SPARC and albumin dependent mechanism. Biomaterials. 2015;59:66-76.
[85] Prydz K. Determinants of Glycosaminoglycan (GAG) Structure. Biomolecules. 2015;5:2003-22.

[86] Hagiwara K, Nakata M, Koyama Y, Sato T. The effects of coating pDNA/chitosan complexes with chondroitin sulfate on physicochemical characteristics and cell transfection. Biomaterials. 2012;33:7251-60.

[87] Imamura M, Kodama Y, Higuchi N, Kanda K, Nakagawa H, Muro T, et al. Ternary complex of plasmid DNA electrostatically assembled with polyamidoamine dendrimer and chondroitin sulfate for effective and secure gene delivery. Biological & pharmaceutical bulletin. 2014;37:552-9.

[88] Chen JX, Liu W, Zhang M, Chen JH. Heparosan based negatively charged nanocarrier for rapid intracellular drug delivery. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2014;473:493-500.

[89] Lee KD, Choi SH, Kim da H, Lee HY, Choi KC. Self-organized nanoparticles based on chitosanfolic acid and dextran succinate-doxorubicin conjugates for drug targeting. Archives of pharmacal research. 2014;37:1546-53.

[90] Su C, Li H, Shi Y, Wang G, Liu L, Zhao L, et al. Carboxymethyl-beta-cyclodextrin conjugated nanoparticles facilitate therapy for folate receptor-positive tumor with the mediation of folic acid. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2014;474:202-11.

[91] Nagahama K, Sano Y, Kumano T. Anticancer drug-based multifunctional nanogels through selfassembly of dextran-curcumin conjugates toward cancer theranostics. Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters. 2015;25:2519-22.

[92] Li Q, Liu CG, Yu Y. Separation of monodisperse alginate nanoparticles and effect of particle size on transport of vitamin E. Carbohydrate polymers. 2015;124:274-9.

[93] Loos C, Syrovets T, Musyanovych A, Mailander V, Landfester K, Nienhaus GU, et al. Functionalized polystyrene nanoparticles as a platform for studying bio-nano interactions. Beilstein journal of nanotechnology. 2014;5:2403-12.

[94] Thorley AJ, Ruenraroengsak P, Potter TE, Tetley TD. Critical determinants of uptake and translocation of nanoparticles by the human pulmonary alveolar epithelium. ACS nano. 2014;8:11778-89.
[95] Firdessa R, Oelschlaeger TA, Moll H. Identification of multiple cellular uptake pathways of polystyrene nanoparticles and factors affecting the uptake: relevance for drug delivery systems. European journal of cell biology. 2014;93:323-37.

[96] Danhier F, Ansorena E, Silva JM, Coco R, Le Breton A, Preat V. PLGA-based nanoparticles: an overview of biomedical applications. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2012;161:505-22.

[97] Sheng J, Han L, Qin J, Ru G, Li R, Wu L, et al. N-trimethyl chitosan chloride-coated PLGA nanoparticles overcoming multiple barriers to oral insulin absorption. ACS applied materials & interfaces. 2015;7:15430-41.

[98] Reix N, Parat A, Seyfritz E, Van der Werf R, Epure V, Ebel N, et al. In vitro uptake evaluation in Caco-2 cells and in vivo results in diabetic rats of insulin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2012;437:213-20.

[99] Panyam J, Zhou WZ, Prabha S, Sahoo SK, Labhasetwar V. Rapid endo-lysosomal escape of poly(DL-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles: implications for drug and gene delivery. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2002;16:1217-26.

[100] Youm I, Youan BB. Uptake mechanism of furosemide-loaded pegylated nanoparticles by cochlear cell lines. Hearing research. 2013;304:7-19.

[101] He B, Yuan L, Dai W, Gao W, Zhang H, Wang X, et al. Dynamic bio-adhesion of polymer nanoparticles on MDCK epithelial cells and its impact on bio-membranes, endocytosis and paracytosis. Nanoscale. 2016;8:6129-45.

[102] Wang M, Zhang Y, Feng J, Gu T, Dong Q, Yang X, et al. Preparation, characterization, and in vitro and in vivo investigation of chitosan-coated poly (d,l-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles for intestinal delivery of exendin-4. International journal of nanomedicine. 2013;8:1141-54.

[103] Panyam J, Labhasetwar V. Dynamics of endocytosis and exocytosis of poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles in vascular smooth muscle cells. Pharmaceutical research. 2003;20:212-20.

[104] Cartiera MS, Johnson KM, Rajendran V, Caplan MJ, Saltzman WM. The uptake and intracellular fate of PLGA nanoparticles in epithelial cells. Biomaterials. 2009;30:2790-8.

[105] Xu FJ, Li H, Li J, Zhang Z, Kang ET, Neoh KG. Pentablock copolymers of poly(ethylene glycol), poly((2-dimethyl amino)ethyl methacrylate) and poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) from consecutive atom transfer radical polymerizations for non-viral gene delivery. Biomaterials. 2008;29:3023-33.

[106] Zheng C, Guo Q, Wu Z, Sun L, Zhang Z, Li C, et al. Amphiphilic glycopolymer nanoparticles as vehicles for nasal delivery of peptides and proteins. European journal of pharmaceutical sciences : official journal of the European Federation for Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2013;49:474-82.

[107] Han S, Cheng Q, Wu Y, Zhou J, Long X, Wei T, et al. Effects of hydrophobic core components in amphiphilic PDMAEMA nanoparticles on siRNA delivery. Biomaterials. 2015;48:45-55.

[108] Wang Y, Song X, Wang H, Chen H. Using Polystyrene-block-poly(acrylic acid)-coated Metal Nanoparticles as Monomers for Their Homo- and Co-polymerization. Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE. 2015:e52954.

[109] Wang H, Song X, Liu C, He J, Chong WH, Chen H. Homo- and co-polymerization of polysytreneblock-poly(acrylic acid)-coated metal nanoparticles. ACS nano. 2014;8:8063-73.

[110] Alhoranta AM, Lehtinen JK, Urtti AO, Butcher SJ, Aseyev VO, Tenhu HJ. Cationic amphiphilic star and linear block copolymers: synthesis, self-assembly, and in vitro gene transfection. Biomacromolecules. 2011;12:3213-22.

[111] Dai F, Liu W. Enhanced gene transfection and serum stability of polyplexes by PDMAEMA-polysulfobetaine diblock copolymers. Biomaterials. 2011;32:628-38.

[112] Huang SJ, Wang TP, Lue SI, Wang LF. Pentablock copolymers of pluronic F127 and modified poly(2-dimethyl amino)ethyl methacrylate for internalization mechanism and gene transfection studies. International journal of nanomedicine. 2013;8:2011-27.

[113] Hobel S, Aigner A. Polyethylenimines for siRNA and miRNA delivery in vivo. Wiley interdisciplinary reviews Nanomedicine and nanobiotechnology. 2013;5:484-501.

[114] Kircheis R, Wightman L, Wagner E. Design and gene delivery activity of modified polyethylenimines. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2001;53:341-58.

[115] Hwang ME, Keswani RK, Pack DW. Dependence of PEI and PAMAM Gene Delivery on Clathrinand Caveolin-Dependent Trafficking Pathways. Pharmaceutical research. 2015;32:2051-9.

[116] Lo YL, Lo PC, Chiu CC, Wang LF. Folic Acid Linked Chondroitin Sulfate-Polyethyleneimine Copolymer Based Gene Delivery System. Journal of biomedical nanotechnology. 2015;11:1385-400.

[117] Dash TK, Konkimalla VB. Poly-small je, Ukrainian-caprolactone based formulations for drug delivery and tissue engineering: A review. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2012;158:15-33.

[118] Suksiriworapong J, Phoca K, Ngamsom S, Sripha K, Moongkarndi P, Junyaprasert VB. Comparison of poly(epsilon-caprolactone) chain lengths of poly(epsilon-caprolactone)-co-d-alpha-tocopheryl-poly(ethylene glycol) 1000 succinate nanoparticles for enhancement of quercetin delivery to SKBR3 breast cancer cells. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2016;101:15-24.

[119] Chen W, Zou Y, Meng F, Cheng R, Deng C, Feijen J, et al. Glyco-nanoparticles with sheddable saccharide shells: a unique and potent platform for hepatoma-targeting delivery of anticancer drugs. Biomacromolecules. 2014;15:900-7.

[120] Ravi PR, Vats R, Dalal V, Gadekar N, N A. Design, optimization and evaluation of poly-epsiloncaprolactone (PCL) based polymeric nanoparticles for oral delivery of lopinavir. Drug development and industrial pharmacy. 2015;41:131-40.

[121] Madlova M, Jones SA, Zwerschke I, Ma Y, Hider RC, Forbes B. Poly(vinyl alcohol) nanoparticle stability in biological media and uptake in respiratory epithelial cell layers in vitro. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2009;72:437-43.

[122] Braun T, Kleusch C, Naumovska E, Merkel R, Csiszar A. A bioanalytical assay to distinguish cellular uptake routes for liposomes. Cytometry Part A : the journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology. 2016;89:301-8.

[123] Un K, Sakai-Kato K, Oshima Y, Kawanishi T, Okuda H. Intracellular trafficking mechanism, from intracellular uptake to extracellular efflux, for phospholipid/cholesterol liposomes. Biomaterials. 2012;33:8131-41.

[124] Li Y, Gao L, Tan X, Li F, Zhao M, Peng S. Lipid rafts-mediated endocytosis and physiology-based cell membrane traffic models of doxorubicin liposomes. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2016;1858:1801-11.

[125] He X, Li L, Su H, Zhou D, Song H, Wang L, et al. Poly(ethylene glycol)-block-poly(epsilon-caprolactone)-and phospholipid-based stealth nanoparticles with enhanced therapeutic efficacy on murine breast cancer by improved intracellular drug delivery. International journal of nanomedicine. 2015;10:1791-804.

[126] Patel K, Doddapaneni R, Sekar V, Chowdhury N, Singh M. Combination Approach of YSA Peptide Anchored Docetaxel Stealth Liposomes with Oral Antifibrotic Agent for the Treatment of Lung Cancer. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2016.

[127] Ma Q, Han Y, Chen C, Cao Y, Wang S, Shen W, et al. Oral absorption enhancement of probucol by PEGylated G5 PAMAM dendrimer modified nanoliposomes. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2015;12:665-74.

[128] Mehnert W, Mader K. Solid lipid nanoparticles: production, characterization and applications. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2001;47:165-96.

[129] Shah RM, Rajasekaran D, Ludford-Menting M, Eldridge DS, Palombo EA, Harding IH. Transport of stearic acid-based solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) into human epithelial cells. Colloids and surfaces B, Biointerfaces. 2016;140:204-12.

[130] Chai GH, Hu FQ, Sun J, Du YZ, You J, Yuan H. Transport pathways of solid lipid nanoparticles across Madin-Darby canine kidney epithelial cell monolayer. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2014;11:3716-26.

[131] Ravi PR, Aditya N, Kathuria H, Malekar S, Vats R. Lipid nanoparticles for oral delivery of raloxifene: optimization, stability, in vivo evaluation and uptake mechanism. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2014;87:114-24.

[132] Chai GH, Xu Y, Chen SQ, Cheng B, Hu FQ, You J, et al. Transport Mechanisms of Solid Lipid Nanoparticles across Caco-2 Cell Monolayers and their Related Cytotoxicology. ACS applied materials & interfaces. 2016;8:5929-40.

[133] Kaur A, Jyoti K, Rai S, Sidhu R, Pandey RS, Jain UK, et al. Tetanus toxoid-loaded cationic nonaggregated nanostructured lipid particles triggered strong humoral and cellular immune responses. Journal of microencapsulation. 2016;33:263-73.

[134] Jyoti K, Kaur K, Pandey RS, Jain UK, Chandra R, Madan J. Inhalable nanostructured lipid particles of 9-bromo-noscapine, a tubulin-binding cytotoxic agent: in vitro and in vivo studies. Journal of colloid and interface science. 2015;445:219-30.

[135] Zhang W, Liu J, Zhang Q, Li X, Yu S, Yang X, et al. Enhanced cellular uptake and antiproliferating effect of chitosan hydrochlorides modified genistein loaded NLC on human lens epithelial cells. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2014;471:118-26.

[136] Huynh NT, Passirani C, Saulnier P, Benoit JP. Lipid nanocapsules: a new platform for nanomedicine. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2009;379:201-9.

[137] Paillard A, Hindre F, Vignes-Colombeix C, Benoit JP, Garcion E. The importance of endolysosomal escape with lipid nanocapsules for drug subcellular bioavailability. Biomaterials. 2010;31:7542-54. [138] Garcion E, Lamprecht A, Heurtault B, Paillard A, Aubert-Pouessel A, Denizot B, et al. A new generation of anticancer, drug-loaded, colloidal vectors reverses multidrug resistance in glioma and reduces tumor progression in rats. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 2006;5:1710-22.

[139] Roger E, Lagarce F, Garcion E, Benoit JP. Lipid nanocarriers improve paclitaxel transport throughout human intestinal epithelial cells by using vesicle-mediated transcytosis. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2009;140:174-81.

[140] Lin JH, Yamazaki M. Role of P-glycoprotein in pharmacokinetics: clinical implications. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 2003;42:59-98.

[141] Roger E, Lagarce F, Garcion E, Benoit JP. Reciprocal competition between lipid nanocapsules and P-gp for paclitaxel transport across Caco-2 cells. European journal of pharmaceutical sciences : official journal of the European Federation for Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2010;40:422-9.

[142] Chen C, Hu H, Qiao M, Zhao X, Wang Y, Chen K, et al. Tumor-targeting and pH-sensitive lipoprotein-mimic nanocarrier for targeted intracellular delivery of paclitaxel. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2015;480:116-27.

[143] Huang WC, Burnouf PA, Su YC, Chen BM, Chuang KH, Lee CW, et al. Engineering Chimeric Receptors To Investigate the Size- and Rigidity-Dependent Interaction of PEGylated Nanoparticles with Cells. ACS nano. 2016;10:648-62.

[144] Lin Q, Chen J, Ng KK, Cao W, Zhang Z, Zheng G. Imaging the cytosolic drug delivery mechanism of HDL-like nanoparticles. Pharmaceutical research. 2014;31:1438-49.

[145] Wang L, Sun Y, Shi C, Li L, Guan J, Zhang X, et al. Uptake, transport and peroral absorption of fatty glyceride grafted chitosan copolymer-enoxaparin nanocomplexes: influence of glyceride chain length. Acta biomaterialia. 2014;10:3675-85.

[146] Sheng Y, Liao LD, Thakor NV, Tan MC. Nanoparticles for molecular imaging. Journal of biomedical nanotechnology. 2014;10:2641-76.

[147] Colombeau L, Acherar S, Baros F, Arnoux P, Gazzali AM, Zaghdoudi K, et al. Inorganic Nanoparticles for Photodynamic Therapy. Topics in current chemistry. 2016;370:113-34.

[148] Puntes V. Design and pharmacokinetical aspects for the use of inorganic nanoparticles in radiomedicine. The British journal of radiology. 2016;89:20150210.

[149] Muthu MS, Leong DT, Mei L, Feng SS. Nanotheranostics - application and further development of nanomedicine strategies for advanced theranostics. Theranostics. 2014;4:660-77.

[150] Loh XJ, Lee TC, Dou Q, Deen GR. Utilising inorganic nanocarriers for gene delivery. Biomaterials science. 2016;4:70-86.

[151] Mou X, Ali Z, Li S, He N. Applications of Magnetic Nanoparticles in Targeted Drug Delivery System. Journal of nanoscience and nanotechnology. 2015;15:54-62.

[152] Yang Y, Yu C. Advances in silica based nanoparticles for targeted cancer therapy. Nanomedicine : nanotechnology, biology, and medicine. 2016;12:317-32.

[153] Nowak JS, Mehn D, Nativo P, Garcia CP, Gioria S, Ojea-Jimenez I, et al. Silica nanoparticle uptake induces survival mechanism in A549 cells by the activation of autophagy but not apoptosis. Toxicology letters. 2014;224:84-92.

[154] Kasper J, Hermanns MI, Bantz C, Koshkina O, Lang T, Maskos M, et al. Interactions of silica nanoparticles with lung epithelial cells and the association to flotillins. Archives of toxicology. 2013;87:1053-65.

[155] Kasper J, Hermanns MI, Bantz C, Utech S, Koshkina O, Maskos M, et al. Flotillin-involved uptake of silica nanoparticles and responses of an alveolar-capillary barrier in vitro. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2013;84:275-87.

[156] Walker WA, Tarannum M, Vivero-Escoto JL. Cellular Endocytosis and Trafficking of Cholera Toxin B-Modified Mesoporous Silica Nanoparticles. Journal of materials chemistry B, Materials for biology and medicine. 2016;4:1254-62.

[157] Soenen SJ, Manshian B, Doak SH, De Smedt SC, Braeckmans K. Fluorescent non-porous silica nanoparticles for long-term cell monitoring: cytotoxicity and particle functionality. Acta biomaterialia. 2013;9:9183-93.

[158] Kankaanpaa P, Tiitta S, Bergman L, Puranen AB, von Haartman E, Linden M, et al. Cellular recognition and macropinocytosis-like internalization of nanoparticles targeted to integrin alpha2beta1. Nanoscale. 2015;7:17889-901.

[159] Yanes RE, Tarn D, Hwang AA, Ferris DP, Sherman SP, Thomas CR, et al. Involvement of lysosomal exocytosis in the excretion of mesoporous silica nanoparticles and enhancement of the drug delivery effect by exocytosis inhibition. Small. 2013;9:697-704.

[160] Ridi F, Meazzini I, Castroflorio B, Bonini M, Berti D, Baglioni P. Functional calcium phosphate composites in nanomedicine. Advances in colloid and interface science. 2016.

[161] Zhou H, Lee J. Nanoscale hydroxyapatite particles for bone tissue engineering. Acta biomaterialia. 2011;7:2769-81.

[162] Bauer IW, Li SP, Han YC, Yuan L, Yin MZ. Internalization of hydroxyapatite nanoparticles in liver cancer cells. Journal of materials science Materials in medicine. 2008;19:1091-5.

[163] Tran N, Webster TJ. Understanding magnetic nanoparticle osteoblast receptor-mediated endocytosis using experiments and modeling. Nanotechnology. 2013;24:185102.

[164] Kakizawa Y, Furukawa S, Kataoka K. Block copolymer-coated calcium phosphate nanoparticles sensing intracellular environment for oligodeoxynucleotide and siRNA delivery. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2004;97:345-56.
[165] Sokolova V, Kozlova D, Knuschke T, Buer J, Westendorf AM, Epple M. Mechanism of the uptake of cationic and anionic calcium phosphate nanoparticles by cells. Acta biomaterialia. 2013;9:7527-35.

[166] Chithrani DB. Intracellular uptake, transport, and processing of gold nanostructures. Molecular membrane biology. 2010;27:299-311.

[167] Pyshnaya IA, Razum KV, Poletaeva JE, Pyshnyi DV, Zenkova MA, Ryabchikova EI. Comparison of behaviour in different liquids and in cells of gold nanorods and spherical nanoparticles modified by linear polyethyleneimine and bovine serum albumin. BioMed research international. 2014;2014:908175.

[168] Chithrani BD, Chan WC. Elucidating the mechanism of cellular uptake and removal of proteincoated gold nanoparticles of different sizes and shapes. Nano letters. 2007;7:1542-50.

[169] Ladewig K, Xu ZP, Lu GQ. Layered double hydroxide nanoparticles in gene and drug delivery. Expert opinion on drug delivery. 2009;6:907-22.

[170] Oh JM, Choi SJ, Kim ST, Choy JH. Cellular uptake mechanism of an inorganic nanovehicle and its drug conjugates: Enhanced efficacy due to clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Bioconjugate chemistry. 2006;17:1411-7.

[171] Oh JM, Choi SJ, Lee GE, Kim JE, Choy JH. Inorganic metal hydroxide nanoparticles for targeted cellular uptake through clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Chemistry, an Asian journal. 2009;4:67-73.

[172] Valdiglesias V, Fernandez-Bertolez N, Kilic G, Costa C, Costa S, Fraga S, et al. Are iron oxide nanoparticles safe? Current knowledge and future perspectives. J Trace Elem Med Biol. 2016.

[173] Hofmann D, Tenzer S, Bannwarth MB, Messerschmidt C, Glaser SF, Schild H, et al. Mass spectrometry and imaging analysis of nanoparticle-containing vesicles provide a mechanistic insight into cellular trafficking. ACS nano. 2014;8:10077-88.

[174] Dan M, Cochran DB, Yokel RA, Dziubla TD. Binding, transcytosis and biodistribution of anti-PECAM-1 iron oxide nanoparticles for brain-targeted delivery. PloS one. 2013;8:e81051.

[175] Duran N, Silveira CP, Duran M, Martinez DS. Silver nanoparticle protein corona and toxicity: a mini-review. Journal of nanobiotechnology. 2015;13:55.

[176] Ahlberg S, Antonopulos A, Diendorf J, Dringen R, Epple M, Flock R, et al. PVP-coated, negatively charged silver nanoparticles: A multi-center study of their physicochemical characteristics, cell culture and in vivo experiments. Beilstein journal of nanotechnology. 2014;5:1944-65.

[177] Rima W, Sancey L, Aloy MT, Armandy E, Alcantara GB, Epicier T, et al. Internalization pathways into cancer cells of gadolinium-based radiosensitizing nanoparticles. Biomaterials. 2013;34:181-95.

[178] Hild WA, Breunig M, Goepferich A. Quantum dots - nano-sized probes for the exploration of cellular and intracellular targeting. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2008;68:153-68.

[179] Schnitzer JE, Oh P, Pinney E, Allard J. Filipin-sensitive caveolae-mediated transport in endothelium: reduced transcytosis, scavenger endocytosis, and capillary permeability of select macromolecules. The Journal of cell biology. 1994;127:1217-32.

[180] Xia T, Kovochich M, Liong M, Zink JI, Nel AE. Cationic polystyrene nanosphere toxicity depends on cell-specific endocytic and mitochondrial injury pathways. ACS nano. 2008;2:85-96.

[181] Yan Y, Gause KT, Kamphuis MM, Ang CS, O'Brien-Simpson NM, Lenzo JC, et al. Differential roles of the protein corona in the cellular uptake of nanoporous polymer particles by monocyte and macrophage cell lines. ACS nano. 2013;7:10960-70.

[182] Howard M, Zern BJ, Anselmo AC, Shuvaev VV, Mitragotri S, Muzykantov V. Vascular targeting of nanocarriers: perplexing aspects of the seemingly straightforward paradigm. ACS nano. 2014;8:4100-32.

[183] Hoppstadter J, Seif M, Dembek A, Cavelius C, Huwer H, Kraegeloh A, et al. M2 polarization enhances silica nanoparticle uptake by macrophages. Frontiers in pharmacology. 2015;6:55.

[184] Mosesson Y, Mills GB, Yarden Y. Derailed endocytosis: an emerging feature of cancer. Nature reviews Cancer. 2008;8:835-50.

[185] Kim JA, Aberg C, Salvati A, Dawson KA. Role of cell cycle on the cellular uptake and dilution of nanoparticles in a cell population. Nature nanotechnology. 2012;7:62-8.

[186] Oh N, Park JH. Endocytosis and exocytosis of nanoparticles in mammalian cells. International journal of nanomedicine. 2014;9 Suppl 1:51-63.

[187] Harush-Frenkel O, Debotton N, Benita S, Altschuler Y. Targeting of nanoparticles to the clathrinmediated endocytic pathway. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2007;353:26-32.

[188] Jia M, Li Y, Yang X, Huang Y, Wu H, Lin J, et al. Development of both methotrexate and mitomycin C loaded PEGylated chitosan nanoparticles for targeted drug codelivery and synergistic anticancer effect. ACS applied materials & interfaces. 2014;6:11413-23.

[189] Ke Z, Guo H, Zhu X, Jin Y, Huang Y. Efficient Peroral Delivery of Insulin via Vitamin B12 Modified Trimethyl Chitosan Nanoparticles. Journal of pharmacy & pharmaceutical sciences : a publication of the Canadian Society for Pharmaceutical Sciences, Societe canadienne des sciences pharmaceutiques. 2015;18:155-70.

[190] He C, Yin L, Song Y, Tang C, Yin C. Optimization of multifunctional chitosan-siRNA nanoparticles for oral delivery applications, targeting TNF-alpha silencing in rats. Acta biomaterialia. 2015;17:98-106.

[191] Zhang J, Zhu X, Jin Y, Shan W, Huang Y. Mechanism study of cellular uptake and tight junction opening mediated by goblet cell-specific trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2014;11:1520-32.

[192] Hu CS, Chiang CH, Hong PD, Yeh MK. Influence of charge on FITC-BSA-loaded chondroitin sulfate-chitosan nanoparticles upon cell uptake in human Caco-2 cell monolayers. International journal of nanomedicine. 2012;7:4861-72.

[193] Lee CS, Na K. Photochemically triggered cytosolic drug delivery using pH-responsive hyaluronic acid nanoparticles for light-induced cancer therapy. Biomacromolecules. 2014;15:4228-38.

[194] Almalik A, Karimi S, Ouasti S, Donno R, Wandrey C, Day PJ, et al. Hyaluronic acid (HA) presentation as a tool to modulate and control the receptor-mediated uptake of HA-coated nanoparticles. Biomaterials. 2013;34:5369-80.

[195] Cai S, Alhowyan AA, Yang Q, Forrest WC, Shnayder Y, Forrest ML. Cellular uptake and internalization of hyaluronan-based doxorubicin and cisplatin conjugates. Journal of drug targeting. 2014;22:648-57.

[196] Ganesh S, Iyer AK, Morrissey DV, Amiji MM. Hyaluronic acid based self-assembling nanosystems for CD44 target mediated siRNA delivery to solid tumors. Biomaterials. 2013;34:3489-502.

[197] Dong S, Cho HJ, Lee YW, Roman M. Synthesis and cellular uptake of folic acid-conjugated cellulose nanocrystals for cancer targeting. Biomacromolecules. 2014;15:1560-7.

[198] Jiang W, Fu Y, Yang F, Yang Y, Liu T, Zheng W, et al. Gracilaria lemaneiformis polysaccharide as integrin-targeting surface decorator of selenium nanoparticles to achieve enhanced anticancer efficacy. ACS applied materials & interfaces. 2014;6:13738-48.

[199] Jiang L, Li X, Liu L, Zhang Q. Cellular uptake mechanism and intracellular fate of hydrophobically modified pullulan nanoparticles. International journal of nanomedicine. 2013;8:1825-34.

[200] Fiorentino I, Gualtieri R, Barbato V, Mollo V, Braun S, Angrisani A, et al. Energy independent uptake and release of polystyrene nanoparticles in primary mammalian cell cultures. Experimental cell research. 2015;330:240-7.

[201] Lerch S, Dass M, Musyanovych A, Landfester K, Mailander V. Polymeric nanoparticles of different sizes overcome the cell membrane barrier. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2013;84:265-74.

[202] Kuhn DA, Vanhecke D, Michen B, Blank F, Gehr P, Petri-Fink A, et al. Different endocytotic uptake mechanisms for nanoparticles in epithelial cells and macrophages. Beilstein journal of nanotechnology. 2014;5:1625-36.

[203] Costa RR, Custodio CA, Arias FJ, Rodriguez-Cabello JC, Mano JF. Nanostructured and thermoresponsive recombinant biopolymer-based microcapsules for the delivery of active molecules. Nanomedicine : nanotechnology, biology, and medicine. 2013;9:895-902.

[204] Ibricevic A, Guntsen SP, Zhang K, Shrestha R, Liu Y, Sun JY, et al. PEGylation of cationic, shellcrosslinked-knedel-like nanoparticles modulates inflammation and enhances cellular uptake in the lung. Nanomedicine : nanotechnology, biology, and medicine. 2013;9:912-22.

[205] Liu P, Sun Y, Wang Q, Li H, Duan Y. Intracellular trafficking and cellular uptake mechanism of mPEG-PLGA-PLL and mPEG-PLGA-PLL-Gal nanoparticles for targeted delivery to hepatomas. Biomaterials. 2014;35:760-70.

[206] Dhami NK, Pandey RS, Jain UK, Chandra R, Madan J. Non-aggregated protamine-coated poly(lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles of cisplatin crossed blood-brain barrier, enhanced drug delivery and improved therapeutic index in glioblastoma cells: in vitro studies. Journal of microencapsulation. 2014;31:685-93.

[207] Wang S, Luo Y, Zeng S, Luo C, Yang L, Liang Z, et al. Dodecanol-poly(D,L-lactic acid)-b-poly (ethylene glycol)-folate (Dol-PLA-PEG-FA) nanoparticles: evaluation of cell cytotoxicity and selecting capability in vitro. Colloids and surfaces B, Biointerfaces. 2013;102:130-5.

[208] Shi J, Choi JL, Chou B, Johnson RN, Schellinger JG, Pun SH. Effect of polyplex morphology on cellular uptake, intracellular trafficking, and transgene expression. ACS nano. 2013;7:10612-20.

[209] Zhang D, Pan X, Wang S, Zhai Y, Guan J, Fu Q, et al. Multifunctional Poly(methyl vinyl ether-comaleic anhydride)-graft-hydroxypropyl-beta-cyclodextrin Amphiphilic Copolymer as an Oral High-Performance Delivery Carrier of Tacrolimus. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2015;12:2337-51.

[210] Gu G, Hu Q, Feng X, Gao X, Menglin J, Kang T, et al. PEG-PLA nanoparticles modified with APTEDB peptide for enhanced anti-angiogenic and anti-glioma therapy. Biomaterials. 2014;35:8215-26.

[211] Jiang X, Xin H, Ren Q, Gu J, Zhu L, Du F, et al. Nanoparticles of 2-deoxy-D-glucose functionalized poly(ethylene glycol)-co-poly(trimethylene carbonate) for dual-targeted drug delivery in glioma treatment. Biomaterials. 2014;35:518-29.

[212] Song Q, Wang X, Hu Q, Huang M, Yao L, Qi H, et al. Cellular internalization pathway and transcellular transport of pegylated polyester nanoparticles in Caco-2 cells. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2013;445:58-68.

[213] Shen W, van Dongen MA, Han Y, Yu M, Li Y, Liu G, et al. The role of caveolin-1 and syndecan-4 in the internalization of PEGylated PAMAM dendrimer polyplexes into myoblast and hepatic cells. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2014;88:658-63.

[214] Wang J, Li L, Du Y, Sun J, Han X, Luo C, et al. Improved oral absorption of doxorubicin by amphiphilic copolymer of lysine-linked ditocopherol polyethylene glycol 2000 succinate: in vitro characterization and in vivo evaluation. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2015;12:463-73.

[215] Lee J, Twomey M, Machado C, Gomez G, Doshi M, Gesquiere AJ, et al. Caveolae-mediated endocytosis of conjugated polymer nanoparticles. Macromolecular bioscience. 2013;13:913-20.

[216] Li C, Sun C, Li S, Han P, Sun H, Ouahab A, et al. Novel designed polyoxyethylene nonionic surfactant with improved safety and efficiency for anticancer drug delivery. International journal of nanomedicine. 2014;9:2089-100.

[217] Kim J, Sunshine JC, Green JJ. Differential polymer structure tunes mechanism of cellular uptake and transfection routes of poly(beta-amino ester) polyplexes in human breast cancer cells. Bioconjugate chemistry. 2014;25:43-51.

[218] Kavitha T, Kang IK, Park SY. Poly(N-vinyl caprolactam) grown on nanographene oxide as an effective nanocargo for drug delivery. Colloids and surfaces B, Biointerfaces. 2014;115:37-45.

[219] Chen CJ, Wang JC, Zhao EY, Gao LY, Feng Q, Liu XY, et al. Self-assembly cationic nanoparticles based on cholesterol-grafted bioreducible poly(amidoamine) for siRNA delivery. Biomaterials. 2013;34:5303-16.

[220] Alsharif NH, Berger CE, Varanasi SS, Chao Y, Horrocks BR, Datta HK. Alkyl-capped silicon nanocrystals lack cytotoxicity and have enhanced intracellular accumulation in malignant cells via cholesterol-dependent endocytosis. Small. 2009;5:221-8.

[221] Leung SL, Zha Z, Cohn C, Dai Z, Wu X. Anti-EGFR antibody conjugated organic-inorganic hybrid lipid nanovesicles selectively target tumor cells. Colloids and surfaces B, Biointerfaces. 2014;121:141-9.

[222] Yao L, Daniels J, Wijesinghe D, Andreev OA, Reshetnyak YK. pHLIP(R)-mediated delivery of PEGylated liposomes to cancer cells. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2013;167:228-37.

[223] Kuo YC, Cheng SJ. Brain targeted delivery of carmustine using solid lipid nanoparticles modified with tamoxifen and lactoferrin for antitumor proliferation. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2016;499:10-9.

[224] Swami R, Singh I, Jeengar MK, Naidu VG, Khan W, Sistla R. Adenosine conjugated lipidic nanoparticles for enhanced tumor targeting. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2015;486:287-96.

[225] Shah MK, Madan P, Lin S. Elucidation of intestinal absorption mechanism of carvedilol-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles using Caco-2 cell line as an in-vitro model. Pharmaceutical development and technology. 2014:1-9.

[226] Fan T, Chen C, Guo H, Xu J, Zhang J, Zhu X, et al. Design and evaluation of solid lipid nanoparticles modified with peptide ligand for oral delivery of protein drugs. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2014;88:518-28.

[227] Nishimura Y, Takeda K, Ezawa R, Ishii J, Ogino C, Kondo A. A display of pH-sensitive fusogenic GALA peptide facilitates endosomal escape from a Bio-nanocapsule via an endocytic uptake pathway. Journal of nanobiotechnology. 2014;12:11.

[228] Quan G, Pan X, Wang Z, Wu Q, Li G, Dian L, et al. Lactosaminated mesoporous silica nanoparticles for asialoglycoprotein receptor targeted anticancer drug delivery. Journal of nanobiotechnology. 2015;13:7.

[229] Chen Y, Yang L, Huang S, Li Z, Zhang L, He J, et al. Delivery system for DNAzymes using arginine-modified hydroxyapatite nanoparticles for therapeutic application in a nasopharyngeal carcinoma model. International journal of nanomedicine. 2013;8:3107-18.

[230] Zielinski J, Moller AM, Frenz M, Mevissen M. Evaluation of endocytosis of silica particles used in biodegradable implants in the brain. Nanomedicine : nanotechnology, biology, and medicine. 2016.

[231] Muller WE, Tolba E, Schroder HC, Diehl-Seifert B, Wang X. Retinol encapsulated into amorphous Ca(2+) polyphosphate nanospheres acts synergistically in MC3T3-E1 cells. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2015;93:214-23.

[232] Siegwart DJ, Srinivasan A, Bencherif SA, Karunanidhi A, Oh JK, Vaidya S, et al. Cellular uptake of functional nanogels prepared by inverse miniemulsion ATRP with encapsulated proteins, carbohydrates, and gold nanoparticles. Biomacromolecules. 2009;10:2300-9.

[233] Shi X, Wang SH, Lee I, Shen M, Baker JR, Jr. Comparison of the internalization of targeted dendrimers and dendrimer-entrapped gold nanoparticles into cancer cells. Biopolymers. 2009;91:936-42.

[234] Zhong Y, Wang C, Cheng R, Cheng L, Meng F, Liu Z, et al. cRGD-directed, NIR-responsive and robust AuNR/PEG-PCL hybrid nanoparticles for targeted chemotherapy of glioblastoma in vivo. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2014;195:63-71.

[235] Sadhasivam S, Savitha S, Wu CJ, Lin FH, Stobinski L. Carbon encapsulated iron oxide nanoparticles surface engineered with polyethylene glycol-folic acid to induce selective hyperthermia in folate over expressed cancer cells. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2015;480:8-14.

[236] Liu T, Zeng L, Jiang W, Fu Y, Zheng W, Chen T. Rational design of cancer-targeted selenium nanoparticles to antagonize multidrug resistance in cancer cells. Nanomedicine : nanotechnology, biology, and medicine. 2015;11:947-58.

[237] Zhou L, Chen Z, Dong K, Yin M, Ren J, Qu X. DNA-mediated biomineralization of rare-earth nanoparticles for simultaneous imaging and stimuli-responsive drug delivery. Biomaterials. 2014;35:8694-702.

[238] Wang XY, Lei R, Huang HD, Wang N, Yuan L, Xiao RY, et al. The permeability and transport mechanism of graphene quantum dots (GQDs) across the biological barrier. Nanoscale. 2015;7:2034-41.

# **1.1.1** Nanoparticles for vaccine and macromolecules delivery

In 1976 Birrenbach and Speiser published the first paper about nanoparticles in vaccinology and introduced the word nanoparts defined as hydrophilic micelles containing drug molecules, used as immunological adjuvants (Birrenbach *et al.*, 1976). In 1981 Kreuter reported the microencapsulation of influenza vaccine in polymethylmethacrylate particles (Kreuter *et al.*, 1981). From the nineties on, we have witnessed a high increase of publications on vaccine administration via nanoparticles (Figure 1), especially in the last two decades. This shows the growing interest of the scientific community in the combination of these two domains: nanoparticles and vaccines.



Figure 1 Publications about "vaccine nanoparticle".

Histogram of summed publications on "vaccine nanoparticles" referenced in PubMed from 1970.

Among nanoparticles, particulate antigens are generally more immunogenic than soluble ones (Lycke, 2012). For instance, nasally administered N-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles loaded with influenza antigens elicit higher immunogenicity compared to the solution prepared with the same components (Amidi *et al.*, 2007).

The rational of nanoparticle application in vaccine development comes from the mimicry of the viral pathogens in terms of size and shape. Fifis and co-workers observed that the immunogenicity depends on the carrier size and reported that the optimum size is within the viral range (40-50 nm) (Fifis *et al.*, 2004).

Nanoparticles are generally efficient in the intracellular delivery improvement of drugs, therefore the administered dose can be reduced. This can also be used for vaccines, especially for the more expensive recombinant ones.

An additional advantage of the nanoparticles use are the protection against antigen degradation and the vaccine stabilization (Zhao *et al.*, 2014).

Nanoparticles as vaccine platform can target specific cells involved in the stimulation of the immune response. A way for nanoparticles to improve their interaction with immune cells is through targeting moieties, linked to the nanoparticle surface (Reddy *et al.*, 2007).

Nanoparticles in vaccinology may have multiple functions: as (i) adjuvant or (ii) immunomodulator (Zazo *et al.*, 2016; Zhao *et al.*, 2014). When nanoparticles behave as adjuvants, they improve the antigen immunogenicity, hence the vaccine potency, by acting locally and simultaneously with the antigen (e.g. depot effect) (Castignolles *et al.*, 1996; Vicente *et al.*, 2014). Most nanoparticles are not immunogenic *per se*, but allow the reduction of the antigen dose therefore acting as adjuvants (Brito *et al.*, 2014). For instance loading of *Toxoplasma gondii* extract in maltodextrin nanoparticles enhance the humoral and Th1/Th17 responses, while the plain nanoparticles do not stimulate the immune response (Dimier-Poisson *et al.*, 2015).

Additionally some nanoparticles are immunomodulators while systemically triggering the immune response (e.g. ISCOMs) (Coulter *et al.*, 2003; European Medicines Agency, 2006; Ilinskaya *et al.*, 2016).

Amongst several routes of vaccination, the mucosal one (e.g. nasal, oral) is advantageous as it potentially induces local and systemic protection against infections. Moreover it is convenient to mimic the natural route of pathogen entry in the body, such as the nose for the influenza virus (e.g. Flumist®) or the oral route for *Vibrio cholera* vaccine (e.g. Dukoral®). It is particularly convenient to induce an immune response as similar as possible to the natural one to promote local protection that blocks pathogen entry in the body.

This work will focus on the nasal administration of nanoparticles for vaccine delivery.

An ideal vaccine formulation administered through the nasal route should keep the antigen stable in the target region (e.g. nose-associated lymphoid tissue, NALT) for an adequate period of time, which is necessary for the antigen to interact with immune cells and provide their activation (Jabbal-Gill, 2010; Zaman *et al.*, 2013). Nasally administered solutions of vaccines remain in the nasal cavity for a period of time (e.g. 15 min) too short for effective antigen uptake (Illum *et al.*, 2001; Soane *et al.*, 1999). For this reason the use of mucoadhesive nanoparticles is advantageous to regulate the antigen nasal residence time. Chitosan, for example, is a mucoadhesive polymer known to reduce the mucociliary clearance and extend the permanence of the formulation in the mucosa (Aspden *et al.*, 1997; Illum *et al.*, 2001).

To achieve the required immunity, optimal antigen release kinetics has to be taken into account. For instance antigens released too slow, or too fast in high doses, may induce tolerance instead of the effective immune response (Woodrow *et al.*, 2012). With regards to nanoparticles carrying antigens and adjuvants, the antigen cross presentation (i.e. exogenous antigen presented on MHC class I) can be reduced by an inadequate timing in the adjuvant delivery. This means that if the adjuvant is released by the nanoparticles too early or too late after the antigen, the cross presentation may be compromised (Wilson *et al.*, 2006; Woodrow *et al.*, 2012).

In the review presented below, entitled "Nasal nanovaccines", several classes of nanoparticles investigated for nasal vaccination are described and issues concerning experimental research on nanoparticles for vaccine delivery are discussed.

# **PUBLICATION 2: NASAL NANOVACCINES**

## Nasal nanovaccines

B.Bernocchi<sup>a,b,c</sup>, D. Betbeder<sup>a,b,c,d</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Inserm, LIRIC—UMR 995, F-59000 Lille, France

<sup>b</sup> Université de Lille, LIRIC—UMR 995, F-59000 Lille, France

<sup>c</sup> CHRU de Lille, LIRIC—UMR 995, F-59000 Lille, France

<sup>d</sup> University of Artois, 62000 Arras, France

## Abstract

Nasal administration of vaccines is convenient for the potential stimulation of mucosal and systemic immune protection. Moreover the easy accessibility of the intranasal route renders it optimal for pandemic vaccination. Nanoparticles have been identified as ideal delivery systems and adjuvants for vaccine application. Heterogeneous protocols have been used for animal studies. This makes complicated the understanding of the formulation influence on the immune response and the comparison of the different nanoparticles approaches developed. Moreover anatomical and immunological differences between rodents and humans provide an additional hurdle in the rational development of nasal nanovaccines. This review will give a comprehensive expertise of the state of the art in nasal nanovaccines in animals and humans. Safety issues are also discussed due to the potential nose-brain passageof nanovaccines components.

Key words: nanoparticles, nasal vaccines, vaccine delivery

1.	INTI	RODUCTION	83
2.	NAS	SAL VACCINATION: WHY NANOPARTICLES?	84
3.	NOS	E FEATURES FOR VACCINE DELIVERY	85
	3.1	COMPARISON OF MICE AND HUMANS NALT	85
	3.2	MUCOSAL IMMUNE SYSTEM ACTIVATION BY NANOPARTICLES	86
	3.3	IMMUNOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF NANO-ANTIGEN DELIVERY	
4.	NAN	NOPARTICLES FOR NASAL VACCINE DELIVERY	
4	4.1	POLYSACCHARIDE NANOPARTICLES	
	4.1.1	Chitosan nanoparticles	89
	4.1.2	2 Association chitosan-polymers	

4	4.1.3	Starch nanoparticles	91
4.2	Ро	DLYMER NANOPARTICLES	92
4.3	LI	PID NANOPARTICLES	93
4	4.3.1	Liposomes	93
4	4.3.2	Virosomes	94
4	4.3.3	Lipid nanocapsules	95
4	4.3.4	ISCOMs	95
4.4	Pr	OTEIN NANOPARTICLES	96
5. N	NASAL	VACCINES ON THE MARKET	96
6. C	CONCL	.USION	97

## 1. Introduction

Several recent studies have focused on the use of nanoparticles for nasal vaccine delivery. Nasal administration is convenient to avoid the parenteral route and increase the patient compliance. Targeting the nose-associated lymphoid tissue (NALT) with nanoparticles and, as a consequence, stimulating the mucosal immune response via the production of a persistent immunological memory, has been investigated and seems to be successful [1-3]. Nevertheless, few such products have reached the market, even if they are safe, easy to produce and cost effective.

Preclinical studies are mostly performed in rodents. However problems concerning translational medicine highlight the limitations of available research, which are primarily anatomical and immunological differences between mice and humans that make it difficult to foresee the clinical efficacy and safety of nanovaccines. Furthermore the protocols used in term of number of vaccination doses, volumes, anesthesia and controls have a strong influence on the immunogenicity of the nanovaccines and it is difficult to compare the different nanosystems developed. Standardization of such experiments is necessary. The aim of this review is to give an overview of the state of the art of the use of nanoparticles for nasal vaccine application in animals and humans.

#### 2. Nasal vaccination: why nanoparticles?

The nasal route is receiving growing interest and some low molecular weight drugs have already been approved and reached the market [4]. Examples of molecules delivered via the nasal route are butorphanol for pain relief (previously Stadol NS®, Bristol Myers, now sold as a generic), gonadotropin-releasing hormone (LHRH, Kryptocur®, Sanofi-Aventis) for cryptorchidism, LHRH agonists used in some fertility treatments (e.g. Buserelin, Supercur®, Sanofi-Aventis), and desmopressin for diabetes insipidus (Minirin® by Ferring or DDAVP® Nasal Spray by Sanofi-Aventis) [4-6].

However for larger molecules, such as proteins, the nasal uptake is very low and it is consequently necessary to develop strategies to improve drugs' absorption [7]. The mass cut-off for permeation of molecules in the nasal epithelium is approximately 1000 Da [4, 8] and absorption enhancers are required to ameliorate the mucosal delivery of larger molecules [9, 10]. Nanoparticles have been identified as successful adjuvants since they act as delivery systems and/or immune-modulators for vaccine applications [11-14]. The main rationale of using nanoparticles to deliver vaccines is their ability to protect antigens against proteolytic degradation and to improve cellular delivery of drugs [15, 16]. Interestingly, via the nasal route, nanoparticles are also able to by-pass the mucus and interact directly with mucosal cells, triggering the immune system [17, 18]. It is also possible to modify the physicochemical properties of particles (such as charge, shape and composition), thus increasing the choice for their use as potential protein carriers [19-21]. Thanks to their size, nanoparticles can also mimic viruses, given that the diameter of viruses is generally below 100 nm [22]. Like viruses, their nanometer size allows nanoparticles to by-pass mucus barrier therefore increasing nanoparticle-cell interaction [23].

Furthermore, nanoparticles may establish a sustained release of the antigen in the mucosa, in order to improve the chances of antigen uptake by the cells.

All these considerations make nanoparticles good candidates for mucosal route delivery systems for proteins. However, nasal administration may favour nose-brain passage of toxins, thus rendering this route of administration potentially highly toxic [24].

## 3. Nose features for vaccine delivery

## 3.1 Comparison of mice and humans NALT

It is perhaps instructive to compare key anatomical elements of rodent and human noses in order to understand how the immune system is triggered by this route.

In rodents, the lymphoid tissue is known as nose-associated lymphoid tissue (NALT) and it is concentrated at the bottom of the dorsal nose duct [25]. It is a paired, bell-shaped tissue that is characterized by an accumulation of lymphoid cells and its complete formation is observed around 5-8 weeks after birth [26].

Human adenoids and tonsils are the principal components of NALT and are an important feature of the human mucosal immune system [26]. A ring-shaped formation was recognized in 1884 by Waldeyer, and this structure is nowadays named "Waldeyer's ring". It is made of the adenoid, or nasopharyngeal tonsil, the paired tubal tonsils, the paired palatine tonsils and the lingual tonsil [27]. The tonsils are secondary lymphoid organs situated in the lamina propria of the pharyngeal wall. Macroscopically, the tonsillar surface is characterized by various narrow epithelial channels, called crypts, which penetrate deep into the underlying lymphoid tissue. These crypts considerably increase the tonsillar surface area and play an important role in the respiratory immune defense, since they are designed to trap foreign material [2, 28].

The nasal cavity differs both anatomically and histologically between mice and humans. Murine respiratory epithelium consists of a typical single-layer epithelium with columnar epithelial cells in the turbinate portion of the nasal cavity, whereas pseudostratified columnar epithelium covers the olfactory epithelium in mice [29]. In contrast, a single-layer epithelium is not observed in the human nasal cavity, and both the upper respiratory and olfactory surfaces are covered by a pseudostratified columnar epithelium [30, 31]. Notably, tight junction molecules (e.g. occludin, JAM-A, ZO-1, ZO-2, claudin) are expressed in the human upper airway and nasal epithelial cells [32]. These structures make the human nasal epithelium poorly permeable, while anatomical and histological differences, associated to differences in the immunological systems observed between rodents and humans [33], might explain the difficulties observed for translational studies on nasal vaccines [34].

#### 3.2 Mucosal immune system activation by nanoparticles

The mucosal immune system can be anatomically and functionally divided into two main components: the inductive sites and the effector sites. The inductive site is composed of the organized mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues (MALTs) and regional mucosa-draining lymph nodes; here antigen-specific immune responses are initiated. The effector sites, such as the lamina propria, the stroma of exocrine glands and surface epithelia, are involved in antibody production and cell-mediated immune responses [26, 35].

It has been shown that the NALT is a mucosal inductive site for humoral and cellular immune response in the upper airways. After nasal viral infection we assist to germinal centers development,  $IgA^+$  and  $IgG2a^+B$  cell expansion and cytotoxic T cells (CTL) generation [36].

In the NALT all the immunocompetent cells required for the generation of an immune response are present. Indeed, antigen presenting cells (APC) like dendritic cells and macrophages are found there, as well as T and B cells, but also antigen-sampling M cells [26]. These inductive sites are connected through the common mucosal immune system to effector sites for the generation of antigen-specific, Th2-cell-dependent IgA responses, Th1-cell and cytotoxic T lymphocyte-dependent immune responses, which function as the first line of defense at mucosal surfaces [37, 38].

The presence of M cells has also been identified in the NALT [39, 40]. Their role is to perform a 'sampling' of luminal antigens so that cells of the immune system can come into contact with potential pathogens. The M cells thus combine two important functions: maintenance of the barrier and initiation of mucosal immune responses [40]. Their presence has been reported in the adenoidal epithelium [32], and it is thus widely accepted that NALT M cells are key players in the uptake of nanoparticles for the subsequent induction of antigen specific IgA immune responses [26].

In certain areas, beneath the epithelium, there are resident dendritic cells (DC) that express tight junction molecules, which in the gut allow them to sample the antigen, penetrating the epithelial monolayer as described *in vitro* by Rescigno *et al.* [41]. The mechanism of antigen sampling carried out by transepithelial dendrites of DC has also been observed in mouse NALT and in human adenoidal epithelium [32, 42, 43]. Thus, DC and macrophages might play an important role in nasal nanovaccines uptake [44].

The first barrier that nanoparticles face once nasally instilled is the mucus and epithelial cells. Once nanoparticles have crossed the mucus layer they come into contact with epithelial cells. Epithelial cells do not only form a simple barrier to xenobiotics, they are also involved in innate immunity since they can orientate the immune response by cytokine secretion [45, 46] and have a role as APC [47]. Indeed, these cells express MHC class II, in addition to the MHC class I that is expressed by almost all nucleated cells. The presence of MHC class II, a feature typical of APC, has been reported at the level of nasal turbinates [48]. This observation suggests that epithelial cells could be implied in the uptake of nanovaccines, antigen presentation and immune response activation [49, 50].

The intranasal administration of antigens may stimulate the formation of germinal centers in NALT, leading to the clonal expansion of B cells and generation of antigen specific IgA in the respiratory tract that induces antigen specific immunity. However the nasal deposition of antigens has also been shown to be effective for the induction of systemic unresponsiveness - a form of mucosal induced tolerance [36, 51].

Different subsets of APC can induce an adaptive immune response locally by presenting the antigen to lymphocytes via the MHC. The T helper lymphocytes may also be directly primed by antigens in the NALT or draining lymphatics to stimulate an adaptive immune response [2]. Immature DCs migrate from the NALT to draining lymph nodes and stimulate a T helper or CTL response after maturation [52, 53]. Activated T cells migrate to the effector sites: T helper cells activate macrophages, NK cells and eosinophils, while cytotoxic T cells eventually lyse infected cells. Moreover, DCs activate B cells and induce surface IgA expression in activated plasma B cells [53]. At the level of the effector sites (upper airways and gut mucosa), polymeric IgA bind to the polymeric Ig receptor (pIgR). Dimeric IgA are exocytosed at the epithelial level and becomes secretory IgA (sIgA) [54]. The sIgA promote the clearance of antigens and pathogenic microorganisms by blocking their access to epithelial receptors, entrapping them in mucus, and facilitating their removal by mucociliary clearance [55]. Thus, sIgA is a characteristic feature of mucosal immunity. However more research is needed to fully understand the cell mechanism(s) that are stimulated by nasal nanovaccines.

#### 3.3 Immunological aspects of nano-antigen delivery

Once antigens loaded into nanoparticles are endocytosed by APC, many intracellular mechanisms can be activated. Depending on the pathway taken and antigen intracellular delivery, the epitopes of processed antigens can be presented as either major histocompatibility

complex (MHC) class I or MHC class II. Interestingly, after endocytosis nanoparticles may deliver the antigen to elicit MHC class I or class II presentation [56, 57].

Generally nanoparticulate formulations are endocytosed by cells and the intra-cellular traffic follows the endo-lysosomal pathway before the protein is delivered and degraded in the endosomes. Degraded peptides are associated with MHC class II and are presented on cell surface, where they can activate CD4+ T helper cells, therefore stimulating cytokine secretion and antibody responses.

However, nanoparticles may promote the endosomal escape of the protein. In this case the cytosolic delivery of the antigenic protein is possible and the antigen may undergo proteasome degradation. Peptides degraded by the proteasome are transported to the endoplasmic reticulum by transporters of antigen processing (TAP) and associate MHC class I. Cellular expression of peptide-associated MHC class I activates CD8+ T cells, and hence cell-mediated immunity [58-62].

Ideal vaccines should be able to activate both of these pathways, thereby inducing crosspresentation [59]. However, subunit vaccines are not effective in cytotoxic T cells activation and in this case vaccines are administered with adjuvants [63]. Interestingly the antigen encapsulation in nanoparticles may direct the antigen presentation towards a different or combined immune response. This orientation can be affected by multiple factors, such as the mechanism of uptake, and is dependent upon the nanoparticles physico-chemistry, such as the size and the surface charge.

Antigen endosomal escape has been observed for protein loaded in maltodextrin porous nanoparticles [64]. Polymeric nanoparticles made of propyl-acrylic acid have also been shown to promote cytosolic delivery of the antigen and MHC I presentation [22]. The release of lactic or glycolic acid from PLGA erosion may have a synergistic action on the endosomal acidification, improving the antigen degradation and presentation through MHC II [65, 66].

Antigen transcytosis through the nasal mucosa may also be advantageous. Indeed, some nanoparticles might promote the transcytosis of antigens or may be directly transcytosed through the mucosal barrier. It has been reported that the passage of immunogenic peptides across the epithelial barrier through M cells can stimulate the underlying immune cells [67].

#### 4. Nanoparticles for nasal vaccine delivery

Different types of nanoparticles have been prepared to develop nasal vaccines. They can be grouped into four major categories: polysaccharides, polymers, lipids and protein nanoparticles. Complex systems, that mix different components, have also been developed (e.g. polysaccharide and lipid, synthetic polymer and polysaccharide,...) [3, 68].

It is complex to give a clear overview of the literature on nanovaccines. A lack of harmonization with respect to the immunization protocols (such as volume, dose, and concentration of the antigen, number of administrations, with or without anesthesia) are variously employed (Table). Furthermore, different experimental set-ups are used by different laboratories. All these parameters have the potential to greatly influence the immune response, and in addition many studies have used adjuvants, therefore it is impossible to clearly define the mechanisms that elicit a given immune response. Below, we report the main types of nanoparticles used and describe relevant studies concerning their potential as vaccine carriers and adjuvants.

## 4.1 Polysaccharide nanoparticles

Thanks to their biocompatibility, polysaccharides, such as chitosan and starch, have been widely used to prepare nanoparticulate delivery systems [69].

#### 4.1.1 Chitosan nanoparticles

Chitosan is a co-polymer of glucosamine and *N*-acetylglucosamine, derived by the partial deacetylation of chitin, which is abundant in shellfish [70]. This mucoadhesive polysaccharide is soluble at acidic pH and has been applied as an absorption enhancer for small drugs [71]. Chitosan's degree of deacetylation and molecular weight influence the physicochemical characteristics of the polymer [72]. It is used as a vaccine adjuvant and it seems that its efficacy is dependent on its degree of deacetylation [73]. However in most of the published studies, the molecular weight, degree of deacetylation and purity of the polymer are not described [74]. Chitosan nanoparticles are mucoadhesive and thus prevent rapid nasal clearance, thereby improving the residence time of antigens in the nasal mucosa [71]. As mucociliary clearance is reduced this may extend the contact time between the NALT and the formulation [75, 76]. Soane *et al.* showed that the typical nasal residence time of administered solutions (15-20 min) can be quadrupled thanks to the application of mucoadhesive chitosan particles [77].

The adjuvant properties of chitosan nanoparticles are successful with various protein antigens such as recombinant anthrax [78, 79], hepatitis B (HBsAg) [80], influenza [81] and ovalbumin [82], but also with nucleotides like DNA [83].

Improved mucosal (IgA) and humoral (IgG) responses are generally observed in mice [78-81, 84] as well as in other animal models.

Chitosan nanoparticles loaded with tetanus toxoid are internalized by the rat nasal mucosa and trigger IgG and IgA production [85].

Dehghan *et al.* showed that dried chitosan nanospheres, carrying influenza whole virus, elicited strong humoral and cellular responses in rabbit [86].

Chitosan has also been used to prepare nanovaccine in one of its modified forms: N-trimethylchitosan (TMC) [87, 88]. Tafaghodi *et al.* showed that hepatitis B antigen formulated in TMC or chitosan nanoparticles elicited higher serum and nasal antibody titers after two intranasal immunizations in mice [89]. Recently, the ability of cationic chitosan to enhance Th1 and Th17 responses as well as DC maturation through type I interferon induction has been demonstrated [90, 91].

#### 4.1.2 Association chitosan-polymers

Chitosan association with other polymers (e.g. alginate, poly-(ɛ-caprolactone)) gave either modest [82] or high [92] mucosal responses. Verheul and co-workers prepared TMC-hyaluronic acid nanoparticles and investigated the effect of PEGylation on nasal and intradermal vaccination. These nanoparticles elicited antigen-specific IgG titers but PEGylation cancelled this potential benefit of the nanoparticulate formulation [87].

Poly-(ε-caprolactone)-chitosan nanoparticles were used to improve HBsAg intranasal vaccination. Jesus S. *et al.* adsorbed different antigen amounts onto a fixed quantity of these nanoparticles and showed that the different doses elicited identical humoral and mucosal antibodies in mice nasal secretion [93].

## Clinical trials

Chitosan application for nasal vaccination in the form of nanoparticles [94] or antigenconjugates [95] has already reached clinical trials (phase I and II). In one study Norovirus viruslike-particles with chitosan as an adjuvant were intranasally administered twice to healthy volunteers, inducing specific IgA responses in 70% of vaccinated individuals. The vaccination also reduced Norwalk virus symptoms and infection [94]. Huo *et al.* performed a clinical study mixing Neisseria meningitidis serogroup C polysaccharide (MCP) with (CRM)197, a non-toxic mutant of diphtheria toxin, and with chitosan. This preparation induced specific IgA in nasal washes and balanced IgG1/IgG2 responses following two intranasal vaccinations [95]. In a previous study, the same research group showed the ability of this formulation to elicit Th2 responses, studying (CRM)197-chitosan in combination with diphtheria toxoid [96]. Although these clinical studies gave promising results, no chitosan-based product for intranasal vaccination has yet reached the market.

## 4.1.3 Starch nanoparticles

Starch is a polysaccharide composed of amylose and amylopectin. This carbohydrate is abundantly found in plant amyloplasts, where it works as energy reserve [97]. Maltodextrins obtained by partial hydrolysis of starch are also used for the synthesis of nanoparticles [98, 99]. These biodegradable polysaccharides are widely used for nanovaccine applications.

Coucke *et al.* encapsulated influenza virus antigens within bioadhesive starch and propylacrylic acid mixtures. They reported that systemic antigen-specific IgG responses, but not mucosal IgA, were induced after intranasal delivery of the influenza vaccine in rabbit [100].

Positively charged maltodextrin nanoparticles surrounded by lipids are promising mucoadhesive polysaccharidic nanoparticles for intranasal vaccination. They were loaded with hepatitis B antigens and triggered greater cellular, humoral and mucosal immune responses than the free antigen [101].

These nanoparticles, loaded with inactivated influenza antigens, have been tested in a phase I clinical study. Significant mucosal IgA antibodies were produced in individuals who received two doses of the nasal influenza vaccine [102].

Dimier-Poisson and co-workers showed that lipid-maltodextrin nanoparticles can be loaded with high amounts of heterogeneous antigens, i.e. *Toxoplasma gondii* extract. These nanoparticles induced a strong humoral and cellular response, as well as a robust protection against acute and chronic disease in mice [3]. The mechanisms implied in this adjuvant effect are related to a TH1 and TH17 response, probably associated with an improved nasal residence of the antigen in the nasal mucosa [103].

#### 4.2 Polymer nanoparticles

A co-polymer of lactic and glycolic acid, PLGA, is the synthetic polymer most employed for nanoparticle delivered vaccine development thanks to its biodegradability and biocompatibility [104]. Polylactide acid (PLA) was used in nanoparticle formulations to delay the delivery rate of low molecular weight drugs [105]. The PLA characteristics were then modulated by adding glycolic acid, hence developing PLGA. A wide variety of PLGA polymers is available on the market. These are made of different mole ratios of monomers (lactic and glycolic acid) and present either an ester or an acidic terminal group, which affect the hydrophobicity of the polymer. As a result of the variation of the ratio of the two acids in the co-polymer, the biodegradation rate is modified; an increase in the amount of lactic acid in the copolymer reducing the degradation rate [106].

PLGA nanoparticles may either encapsulate antigens in their matrix or adsorb proteins on their surface [22, 107, 108]. Encapsulating antigens in PLGA particles modulates the pharmacokinetics and allows sustained and controlled release of proteins [109]. Moreover, PEG coating of PLGA nanoparticles may favor the antigen passage across the mucosa [110, 111]. While PLGA nanoparticles are typically negatively charged, they can be made positively charged by adding cationic ligands (e.g. chitosan) [68].

PLGA nanoparticles can also be functionalized to enhance their permeability across the nasal mucosa. With this aim, Sundaram *et al.* developed transferrin-conjugated PLGA nanoparticles for gene-delivery across the nasal respiratory epithelium [112].

Primard and co-workers loaded PLGA nanoparticles with bovine serum albumin and a TLR7 agonist as adjuvant and this formulation induced effective mucosal and systemic humoral responses in mice [113].

PLGA have been combined with chitosan or glycol chitosan to encapsulate hepatitis B antigens and the greatest systemic and mucosal immune responses were observed with glycol chitosan PLGA. The authors proposed that this effect was related to its lower clearance and better uptake, compared to chitosan- or uncoated PLGA [114]. Particles made of PLGA have also received significant interest for veterinary vaccine development and other veterinary applications. Brandhonneur *et al.* showed that rE2 glycoprotein antigens loaded in PLGA microspheres induce a more intense and less variable response when administered nasally than orally in rabbit [115]. Kavanagh and co-workers nasally immunized calves with OVA PLGA in the presence of adjuvants (e.g. monophosphoril lipid A, cholera toxin), inducing specific IgA production [116, 117]. Greater IgA and IgG responses were observed in calves when Bovine parainfluenza 3 virus antigens encapsulated in nanoparticles. Cattle were vaccinated against foot-and-mouth disease with either chitosan-PLGA-DNA vaccine or chitosan-trehalose inactivated virus and the PLGA vaccine elicited higher levels of mucosal, systemic and cell-mediated immunity than the inactivated virus [68].

PLGA is not the only polymer employed for nasal nanovaccine development. Other studies have developed polymeric micelles made of amphiphilic polymers able to assemble antigens and micelles composed by antigen-grafted polymers. For example Noh *et al.* covalently bound poly( $\gamma$ -glutamic acid) to cholesterol, aiming to deliver influenza antigens. The intranasal administration of these micelles produced high specific serum IgG titers and IgA in mice [17]. Recently, Li and co-workers showed the potential of intranasal vaccination with cyclodextrin-polyethylenimine 2k conjugate mRNA vaccine against HIV-1: the mRNA complex formulation elicited strong systemic, humoral and mucosal immune responses [118].

While PLGA-based vaccines have not yet reached the market, but have already been evaluated in clinical trials for example for the prevention of nicotine addiction and relapse [119]. So far, most of the studies on polymeric nanoparticles are still limited to the preclinical development.

#### 4.3 Lipid nanoparticles

#### 4.3.1 Liposomes

A liposome is a spherical vesicle with a liquid core surrounded by at least one phospholipid bilayer. By varying the lipid composition and the preparation method, different liposomes can be obtained (e.g. multilamellar vesicles (MLV), large unilamellar vesicles (LUV), small unilamellar vesicles (SUV)), of various sizes ( $20nm - 3\mu m$ ). However their poor storage stability constitutes a considerable limitation for their application in vaccine delivery [120].

De Haan and co-workers first reported that free liposomes composed of phosphatidylcholine, cholesterol and dicetylphosphate had an adjuvant effect. This indicated that the immunomodulatory activity of these particles was inherent and unrelated to the vaccines they contained [121].

Tai and co-workers loaded liposomes with highly-conserved influenza-derived peptides, with monophosphoryl lipid A and trehalose-6,6'-dimycolate as an adjuvant. This formulation elicited potent innate and selective T cell-based adaptive immune responses, and induced protection against lethal challenge in mice [122]. Similarly, Ninomiya *et al.* have demonstrated that multilamellar vesicles (MLV) liposomes loaded with CD-40 antibody and influenza nucleoprotein peptide also trigger T-cell immune responses [123].

Most of the liposomes studied are negatively charged. However, positively charged nanoparticles interact better with the nasal mucosa and cationic liposomes have been developed as adjuvants for mucosal vaccines. Immunomodulatory lipids such as polycationic sphingolipids or cationic cholesterol derivatives have also been used to prepare liposomes that exhibit adjuvant activity upon mucosal delivery [22, 124, 125].

Recently, Tada and co-workers prepared 1,2-dioleoyl-3-trimethylammonium-propane (DOTAP) and  $3\beta$ -[N-(N',N'-dimethylaminoethane)-carbamoyl] (DC-chol) (DOTAP/DC-chol) liposomes as adjuvants for intranasal vaccination. The OVA DOTAP/DC-chol liposomes induced a significantly higher humoral and mucosal immune response compared to the free antigen in mice [126].

Liposomes have also been modified by chitosan-DNA complexes in order to efficiently trigger mucosal IgA production in a mouse model [127].

Proteoliposomes are liposomes carrying proteins, and they have been studied for influenza virus delivery through the intranasal route. These nanoparticles induced systemic and mucosal immune responses in mice as well as protection against virus challenge [128].

Liposomes were one of the first particles vaccine delivery system to reach clinical trials for intranasal vaccination. Childers *et al.* found that two intranasal administrations of liposomal formulations containing *Streptococcus mutans* antigen induced significantly higher IgA titers than the free antigen in healthy adults [129].

#### 4.3.2 Virosomes

Virosomes are made of a phospholipid vesicle, as either a mono- or bi-layer, incorporating virusderived proteins. NasalFlu, launched in Switzerland and developed by Berna biotech in 2001, is a trivalent virosomal inactivated influenza vaccine administered with heat labile toxin of E.Coli (LT) as an adjuvant. It was then withdrawn from the market owing to its link to Bell's Palsy disease in vaccinated individuals, reportedly due to the presence of LT [24]. Other licensed virosome vaccines are Inflexal<sup>®</sup>, a trivalent 'flu subunit, and Epaxal<sup>®</sup>, a hepatitis B vaccine by Crucell (Berna), but these are both injected intramuscularly or subcutaneously.

#### 4.3.3 Lipid nanocapsules

Lipid nanocapsules have a hybrid structure between polymer nanocapsules and liposomes. Their inner core is made of medium chain triglycerides and is surrounded by lecithin and polyethylene glycol (PEG). The main advantage of lipid nanocapsules over liposomes is their relative stability and their solvent-free preparation [130]. These carriers have been prepared for mucosal vaccination by Li *et al.*, who combined toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists with antigen-carrying lipid nanocapsules. The pulmonary immunization of mice with this formulation elicited long-lived T cells in lungs and vaginal mucosa [131]. Even if lipid nanocapsules are promising tools for mucosal vaccination, currently there are no published studies concerning intranasal vaccination with these particles.

#### 4.3.4 ISCOMs

Immunostimulating complexes (ISCOMs) are spherical, open cage structures of about 40 nm in size. They are made of cholesterol, phospholipids and Quil A extracted from the bark of a plant, the *Quillaja saponaria* [63]. *Quil* A is amphiphilic: the hydrophilic part is made of carbohydrates, while the hydrophobic portion is quillaic acid [132]. While ISCOMs are negatively charged, since they present glucuronic acid residues at their surface, cationic derivatives have been prepared to exploit the advantages of positive particles [133]. Cibulski *et al.* prepared ovalbumin-ISCOMs and found that they induced systemic and mucosal immune responses in mice after two intranasal immunizations under anesthesia [134].

Coulter *et al.* showed that ISCOMatrix<sup>TM</sup> with influenza antigens triggered higher antibody titers than the heat labile toxin [135]. Similar results were previously reported by De Haan and co-workers concerning liposomes [121]. Both research groups immunized mice twice under anesthesia, but instilled different volumes of vaccine:  $12\mu$ l in the ISCOMatrix<sup>TM</sup> study [135] and 50\mul in the liposome study [121].

Concerning larger animal models, mucosal IgA production was stimulated in Merino ewes after intranasal administration of ISCOMs [135]. Hägglund and co-workers intranasally vaccinated calves with ISCOMs, eliciting strong protection against bovine respiratory syncytial virus [136].

A virosomal H5N1 influenza vaccine with ISCOMatrix<sup>TM</sup> as an adjuvant reached phase I clinical trials, but while this vaccine is efficient in triggering specific-IgG, it is administered through intramuscular injection [137]. There are currently no examples of products on the market using ISCOMs for nasal vaccination.

#### 4.4 Protein nanoparticles

Protein-based nanoparticulate vaccines are mainly proteosomes, composed of purified outer membrane proteins of Neisseria meningitidis. These are hydrophobic adjuvant/delivery systems that can be used for the mucosal administration of subunit vaccines [138].

Plante and co-workers intranasally vaccinated mice twice with proteosome-influenza vaccine under anesthesia. The subunit nanovaccine induced specific-serum IgG and mucosal IgA, as well as protection against virus challenge [139].

Influenza and shigella vaccines based on proteosomes have been tested in clinical trials. The intranasal administration of influenza proteosomes successfully induced nasal secretory mucosal antibodies (sIgA) and serum immune responses in healthy adults [140].

#### 5. Nasal vaccines on the market

Few nasal vaccines for human use have been licensed and commercialized. The best known are FluMist® (Medimmune) and Nasovac<sup>TM</sup> (Serum Institute of India), quadrivalent and trivalent live attenuated influenza vaccines sold in the US and Asia, respectively [141].

There are more veterinary vaccines which use live attenuated viruses than humans one. Chickens are vaccinated against Newcastle disease and infectious bronchitis by a live spray vaccine marketed by Ceva under the trade name of Cevac® Vitabron L.

Merck have marketed various nasal veterinary vaccines for different species, including a nasally administered live vaccine to protect dogs against different diseases such as Bordetella bronchiseptica, canine parainfluenza virus and canine adenovirus type 2 (Nobivac®<sub>3</sub> ADT Intra-Trac®). Cattle are given nasal vaccines such as Once PMH IN® and Nasalgen® IP; the first contains an avirulent live culture of *Mannheimia Haemolytica* and *Pasteurella Multocida*, while the second the Bovine Rhinotracheitis-Parainfluenza3 modified live virus.

In the US FluAvert® (Merck), a modified-live equine influenza vaccine, and Pinnacle® I.N. (Zoetis Animal Health), a *Streptococcus equi* live vaccine, are available on the market for horse vaccination via the nasal route.

However, to our knowledge, no nasal vaccines employing nanoparticle technology have yet reached the market. Moreover, all these cited marketed vaccines involve the administration of live attenuated pathogens with the risk of reversion and toxicity due to infection, hence there is a need for the development of subunit and recombinant vaccines for nasal administration.

## 6. Conclusion

Nanoparticles have great potential both as delivery systems and as adjuvants for mucosal vaccines. Depending on the composition of the nanoparticles, it is possible to obtain a safe carrier able to associate and stabilize recombinant or subunit vaccines. Different particles have already been developed and seem promising for nasal vaccine delivery. In addition, the ease of administration via the nasal route makes it ideal for quick vaccination in case of pandemic emergency.

Attention should be payed to safety issues, with special regard to the *in vivo* fate of the nanoparticle delivery system and/or adjuvant. This aspect should be treated in order to prevent vaccine toxicity that may be particularly important in the case of nasal administration owing to the potential for passage of materials to the brain through the olfactory bulb.

Many studies have focused on the development of new nanovaccines and have been tested in animal models. However, results from clinical trials are still sparse, and the extrapolation of animal results to humans remains an issue. Table Nanoparticles for nasal vaccination, immunization parameters and immune response evaluated.

	Nanoparticles characteristics			Immunization parameters			Imm.	
Type of particle	Size (nm)	Z (mV)	Model	Admin.	Dose Ag (µg)	Anesthesia	resp.	Ref.
Chitosan	300-680	6-30	Mice	3* 15 µl	0.4 , 1 or 2.5	Yes	h, m	[78, 79, 83]
	143-200	26	Mice	2- 3*20µl	10	No	h, m	[10, 80]
	80	14	Mice	2*10 µl	10	Yes	h, m	[89]
	210-310	23	Mice	5*20µl	100	Yes	h	[142]
	140	9.8	Mice	3*20µl	1	-	h, m	[81]
	207-603	17-26	Mice	3*25µl	2.5	-	h,c	[143]
	580	-	Rabbit	3*200µl	45	Yes	h, m	[86]
Chitosan or agarose	170-2000	-	Mice	3	10	Yes	m	[82]
TMC	250-400	7-21	Mice	2*10µl	10	-	h, m	[87, 88]
Chitosan or TMC	365-424	30-45	Mice	3	20	-	h, m	[84]
Chitosan and poly-(ɛ- caprolactone)	208	7-26	Mice	3*15µl	1.5, 5, 10	Yes	h, m	[93]
- /	12.6	23	Mice	3*10µl	15	No	h, m	[92]
Maltodextrin	70	38	Mice	3*12 ou 20μl	0.2, 1, 3 or 10	No	h,c,m	[3, 101]
PLGA, Glycol-CS PLGA, CS PLGA	200	-15-15	Mice	2	10	No	h,c,m	[114]
PLGA	290-430	-5.6-17	Mice	3*40 or 48µl	10 or 20	Yes	h,m	[113, 144]
	4000	-	Rabbit	2	10	-	-	[115]
	<2.5µm	-	Calves	2*2 ml	0,5, 1 or 5 mg	-	m	[116]
	<2.5µm	-	Calves	1*2 ml	-	-	m	[117]
	225	-	Calves	2*2 ml	-	No	m	[145]
Chitosan PLGA	500nm- 2µm	-	Cattle	1/2/3	10-15	-	h,m	[68]

PVM/MA	148	-45	Mice	1	10-20	-	-	[146]
	200	-	Mice	3*6µl	3	-	h, m	[147]
PLA Microparticle	-	-	Mice	1*50µl	-	Yes	h	[148]
Cyclodextrin- polyethylenimi ne	117.3	26.4	Mice	2	10	Yes	h, c, m	[118]
Polystyrene	300-390	-	Mice	3*20µl	10	-	с	[149]
Cholesteryl Pullulan TNFα	27-42	-	Mice	3*30µl	-	Yes		[150]
Non-ionic surfactant vesicles and bilosomes	170	-37	Mice	4	50	-	h, m	[151]
Liposomes	30-100	-	Mice	2 or 3* 50 μl	-	-	с	[122, 123]
	300	8	Mice	2* 50 µl	25	Yes	m	[127]
ISCOM and ISCOMATRIX	40-50	-	Mice	2	2µg	Yes	h, m	[134]
	-	-	Mice	2* 12 µl	-	Yes	h, m	[135]
	-	-	Sheep	2*500 μl	-	No	m	[135]

Z potential (Z); (number of administrations × volume instilled) (Admin.); antigen (Ag); immune response (Imm. resp.); the immune response is indicated as humoral (h), cellular (c) or mucosal (m); bibliographyreference (Ref.). Chitosan (CS), Trimethylchitosan (TMC), Polylactic-co-glycolic acid(PLGA), Poly methyl vinyl ether/maleic anhydride (PVM/MA), Polylactic acid (PLA), Tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ), Immunostimulating complex and Immunostimulating complex matrix (ISCOM and ISCOMATRIX)

## **Bibliography**

[1] Koping-Hoggard M, Sanchez A, Alonso MJ. Nanoparticles as carriers for nasal vaccine delivery. Expert review of vaccines. 2005;4:185-96.

[2] Csaba N, Garcia-Fuentes M, Alonso MJ. Nanoparticles for nasal vaccination. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2009;61:140-57.

[3] Dimier-Poisson I, Carpentier R, N'Guyen TT, Dahmani F, Ducournau C, Betbeder D. Porous nanoparticles as delivery system of complex antigens for an effective vaccine against acute and chronic Toxoplasma gondii infection. Biomaterials. 2015;50:164-75.

[4] Antosova Z, Mackova M, Kral V, Macek T. Therapeutic application of peptides and proteins: parenteral forever? Trends in biotechnology. 2009;27:628-35.

[5] Marmura MJ, Silberstein SD, Schwedt TJ. The acute treatment of migraine in adults: the american headache society evidence assessment of migraine pharmacotherapies. Headache. 2015;55:3-20.

[6] Illum L. Nasal drug delivery--possibilities, problems and solutions. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2003;87:187-98.

[7] Dombu CY, Betbeder D. Airway delivery of peptides and proteins using nanoparticles. Biomaterials. 2013;34:516-25.

[8] Ugwoke MI, Agu RU, Verbeke N, Kinget R. Nasal mucoadhesive drug delivery: background, applications, trends and future perspectives. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2005;57:1640-65.

[9] Davis SS, Illum L. Absorption enhancers for nasal drug delivery. Clinical pharmacokinetics. 2003;42:1107-28.

[10] Subbiah R, Ramalingam P, Ramasundaram S, Kim do Y, Park K, Ramasamy MK, et al. N,N,N-Trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles for controlled intranasal delivery of HBV surface antigen. Carbohydrate polymers. 2012;89:1289-97.

[11] Ilinskaya AN, Dobrovolskaia MA. Understanding the immunogenicity and antigenicity of nanomaterials: Past, present and future. Toxicology and applied pharmacology. 2016;299:70-7.

[12] Fifis T, Gamvrellis A, Crimeen-Irwin B, Pietersz GA, Li J, Mottram PL, et al. Size-dependent immunogenicity: therapeutic and protective properties of nano-vaccines against tumors. Journal of immunology. 2004;173:3148-54.

[13] Reddy ST, van der Vlies AJ, Simeoni E, Angeli V, Randolph GJ, O'Neil CP, et al. Exploiting lymphatic transport and complement activation in nanoparticle vaccines. Nature biotechnology. 2007;25:1159-64.

[14] Schellekens H, Hennink WE, Brinks V. The immunogenicity of polyethylene glycol: facts and fiction. Pharmaceutical research. 2013;30:1729-34.

[15] Pachioni-Vasconcelos Jde A, Lopes AM, Apolinario AC, Valenzuela-Oses JK, Costa JS, Nascimento Lde O, et al. Nanostructures for protein drug delivery. Biomaterials science. 2016;4:205-18.

[16] Peek LJ, Middaugh CR, Berkland C. Nanotechnology in vaccine delivery. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2008;60:915-28.

[17] Noh YW, Hong JH, Shim SM, Park HS, Bae HH, Ryu EK, et al. Polymer nanomicelles for efficient mucus delivery and antigen-specific high mucosal immunity. Angewandte Chemie. 2013;52:7684-9.

[18] Suk JS, Kim AJ, Trehan K, Schneider CS, Cebotaru L, Woodward OM, et al. Lung gene therapy with highly compacted DNA nanoparticles that overcome the mucus barrier. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2014;178:8-17.

[19] Anselmo AC, Mitragotri S. Impact of particle elasticity on particle-based drug delivery systems. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2016.

[20] Mitragotri S. In drug delivery, shape does matter. Pharmaceutical research. 2009;26:232-4.

[21] Decuzzi P, Godin B, Tanaka T, Lee SY, Chiappini C, Liu X, et al. Size and shape effects in the biodistribution of intravascularly injected particles. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2010;141:320-7.

[22] Woodrow KA, Bennett KM, Lo DD. Mucosal vaccine design and delivery. Annual review of biomedical engineering. 2012;14:17-46.

[23] Pearson JP, Chater PI, Wilcox MD. The properties of the mucus barrier, a unique gel - how can nanoparticles cross it? Therapeutic delivery. 2016;7:229-44.

[24] Wong SS, Yuen KY. Influenza vaccination: options and issues. Hong Kong medical journal = Xianggang yi xue za zhi / Hong Kong Academy of Medicine. 2005;11:381-90.

[25] Pabst R. Mucosal vaccination by the intranasal route. Nose-associated lymphoid tissue (NALT)-Structure, function and species differences. Vaccine. 2015;33:4406-13.

[26] Kiyono H, Fukuyama S. NALT- versus Peyer's-patch-mediated mucosal immunity. Nature reviews Immunology. 2004;4:699-710.

[27] Perry M, Whyte A. Immunology of the tonsils. Immunology today. 1998;19:414-21.

[28] van Kempen MJ, Rijkers GT, Van Cauwenberge PB. The immune response in adenoids and tonsils. International archives of allergy and immunology. 2000;122:8-19.

[29] Mery S, Gross EA, Joyner DR, Godo M, Morgan KT. Nasal diagrams: a tool for recording the distribution of nasal lesions in rats and mice. Toxicologic pathology. 1994;22:353-72.

[30] Cagici CA, Karabay G, Yilmazer C, Gencay S, Cakmak O. Electron microscopy findings in the nasal mucosa of a patient with stenosis of the nasal vestibule. International journal of pediatric otorhinolaryngology. 2005;69:399-405.

[31] Jafek BW, Murrow B, Michaels R, Restrepo D, Linschoten M. Biopsies of human olfactory epithelium. Chemical senses. 2002;27:623-8.

[32] Ogasawara N, Kojima T, Go M, Takano K, Kamekura R, Ohkuni T, et al. Epithelial barrier and antigen uptake in lymphoepithelium of human adenoids. Acta oto-laryngologica. 2011;131:116-23.

[33] Mestas J, Hughes CC. Of mice and not men: differences between mouse and human immunology. Journal of immunology. 2004;172:2731-8.

[34] Margine I, Krammer F. Animal models for influenza viruses: implications for universal vaccine development. Pathogens. 2014;3:845-74.

[35] Brandtzaeg P, Kiyono H, Pabst R, Russell MW. Terminology: nomenclature of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue. Mucosal immunology. 2008;1:31-7.

[36] Zuercher AW, Coffin SE, Thurnheer MC, Fundova P, Cebra JJ. Nasal-associated lymphoid tissue is a mucosal inductive site for virus-specific humoral and cellular immune responses. Journal of immunology. 2002;168:1796-803.

[37] Yuki Y, Kiyono H. New generation of mucosal adjuvants for the induction of protective immunity. Reviews in medical virology. 2003;13:293-310.

[38] Mestecky J, Blumberg R, Kiyono H, McGhee J. Fundamental Immunology. 5th ed. San Diego2003.

[39] Fujimura Y. Evidence of M cells as portals of entry for antigens in the nasopharyngeal lymphoid tissue of humans. Virchows Archiv : an international journal of pathology. 2000;436:560-6.

[40] Gebert A, Pabst R. M cells at locations outside the gut. Seminars in immunology. 1999;11:165-70.

[41] Rescigno M, Urbano M, Valzasina B, Francolini M, Rotta G, Bonasio R, et al. Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. Nature immunology. 2001;2:361-7.

[42] Qin T, Yin Y, Wang X, Liu H, Lin J, Yu Q, et al. Whole inactivated avian Influenza H9N2 viruses induce nasal submucosal dendritic cells to sample luminal viruses via transepithelial dendrites and trigger subsequent DC maturation. Vaccine. 2015;33:1382-92.

[43] Takano K, Kojima T, Go M, Murata M, Ichimiya S, Himi T, et al. HLA-DR- and CD11c-positive dendritic cells penetrate beyond well-developed epithelial tight junctions in human nasal mucosa of allergic rhinitis. The journal of histochemistry and cytochemistry : official journal of the Histochemistry Society. 2005;53:611-9.

[44] Smith DM, Simon JK, Baker JR, Jr. Applications of nanotechnology for immunology. Nature reviews Immunology. 2013;13:592-605.

[45] Weitnauer M, Mijosek V, Dalpke AH. Control of local immunity by airway epithelial cells. Mucosal immunology. 2016;9:287-98.

[46] Rivera A, Siracusa MC, Yap GS, Gause WC. Innate cell communication kick-starts pathogenspecific immunity. Nature immunology. 2016;17:356-63. [47] Pichavant M, Delneste Y, Jeannin P, Fourneau C, Brichet A, Tonnel AB, et al. Outer membrane protein A from Klebsiella pneumoniae activates bronchial epithelial cells: implication in neutrophil recruitment. Journal of immunology. 2003;171:6697-705.

[48] Kalb TH, Chuang MT, Marom Z, Mayer L. Evidence for accessory cell function by class II MHC antigen-expressing airway epithelial cells. American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology. 1991;4:320-9.

[49] Salik E, Tyorkin M, Mohan S, George I, Becker K, Oei E, et al. Antigen trafficking and accessory cell function in respiratory epithelial cells. American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology. 1999;21:365-79.

[50] Li TL, Zhang SY, Du YC, Yang PC. Deficiency of ubiquitin A20 promotes antigen transport across airway epithelial cells via a transcellular pathway. Analytical biochemistry. 2013;433:86-91.

[51] Prakken BJ, van der Zee R, Anderton SM, van Kooten PJ, Kuis W, van Eden W. Peptide-induced nasal tolerance for a mycobacterial heat shock protein 60 T cell epitope in rats suppresses both adjuvant arthritis and nonmicrobially induced experimental arthritis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1997;94:3284-9.

[52] Iwasaki A. Mucosal dendritic cells. Annual review of immunology. 2007;25:381-418.

[53] Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, et al. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annual review of immunology. 2000;18:767-811.

[54] Brandtzaeg P. Potential of nasopharynx-associated lymphoid tissue for vaccine responses in the airways. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2011;183:1595-604.

[55] Mantis NJ, Rol N, Corthesy B. Secretory IgA's complex roles in immunity and mucosal homeostasis in the gut. Mucosal immunology. 2011;4:603-11.

[56] Wang C, Li P, Liu L, Pan H, Li H, Cai L, et al. Self-adjuvanted nanovaccine for cancer immunotherapy: Role of lysosomal rupture-induced ROS in MHC class I antigen presentation. Biomaterials. 2016;79:88-100.

[57] Shen H, Ackerman AL, Cody V, Giodini A, Hinson ER, Cresswell P, et al. Enhanced and prolonged cross-presentation following endosomal escape of exogenous antigens encapsulated in biodegradable nanoparticles. Immunology. 2006;117:78-88.

[58] Bungener L, Huckriede A, Wilschut J, Daemen T. Delivery of protein antigens to the immune system by fusion-active virosomes: a comparison with liposomes and ISCOMs. Bioscience reports. 2002;22:323-38.

[59] Boraschi D, Italiani P. From Antigen Delivery System to Adjuvanticy: The Board Application of Nanoparticles in Vaccinology. Vaccines. 2015;3:930-9.

[60] Brandtzaeg P. Nature and function of gastrointestinal antigen-presenting cells. Allergy. 2001;56 Suppl 67:16-20.

[61] Diebold SS, Cotten M, Koch N, Zenke M. MHC class II presentation of endogenously expressed antigens by transfected dendritic cells. Gene therapy. 2001;8:487-93.

[62] Burgdorf S, Kautz A, Bohnert V, Knolle PA, Kurts C. Distinct pathways of antigen uptake and intracellular routing in CD4 and CD8 T cell activation. Science. 2007;316:612-6.

[63] Sun HX, Xie Y, Ye YP. ISCOMs and ISCOMATRIX. Vaccine. 2009;27:4388-401.

[64] Dombu C, Carpentier R, Betbeder D. Influence of surface charge and inner composition of nanoparticles on intracellular delivery of proteins in airway epithelial cells. Biomaterials. 2012;33:9117-26.

[65] Men Y, Tamber H, Audran R, Gander B, Corradin G. Induction of a cytotoxic T lymphocyte response by immunization with a malaria specific CTL peptide entrapped in biodegradable polymer microspheres. Vaccine. 1997;15:1405-12.

[66] Storni T, Kundig TM, Senti G, Johansen P. Immunity in response to particulate antigen-delivery systems. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2005;57:333-55.

[67] Singh B, Maharjan S, Jiang T, Kang SK, Choi YJ, Cho CS. Combinatorial Approach of Antigen Delivery Using M Cell-Homing Peptide and Mucoadhesive Vehicle to Enhance the Efficacy of Oral Vaccine. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2015;12:3816-28.

[68] Pan L, Zhang Z, Lv J, Zhou P, Hu W, Fang Y, et al. Induction of mucosal immune responses and protection of cattle against direct-contact challenge by intranasal delivery with foot-and-mouth disease virus antigen mediated by nanoparticles. International journal of nanomedicine. 2014;9:5603-18.

[69] Ahmed TA, Aljaeid BM. Preparation, characterization, and potential application of chitosan, chitosan derivatives, and chitosan metal nanoparticles in pharmaceutical drug delivery. Drug design, development and therapy. 2016;10:483-507.

[70] Illum L. Chitosan and its use as a pharmaceutical excipient. Pharmaceutical research. 1998;15:1326-31.

[71] Casettari L, Illum L. Chitosan in nasal delivery systems for therapeutic drugs. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2014;190:189-200.

[72] Bonferoni MC, Sandri G, Rossi S, Ferrari F, Caramella C. Chitosan and its salts for mucosal and transmucosal delivery. Expert opinion on drug delivery. 2009;6:923-39.

[73] van der Lubben IM, Verhoef JC, Borchard G, Junginger HE. Chitosan and its derivatives in mucosal drug and vaccine delivery. European journal of pharmaceutical sciences : official journal of the European Federation for Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2001;14:201-7.

[74] Vasiliev YM. Chitosan-based vaccine adjuvants: incomplete characterization complicates preclinical and clinical evaluation. Expert review of vaccines. 2015;14:37-53.

[75] Illum L, Jabbal-Gill I, Hinchcliffe M, Fisher AN, Davis SS. Chitosan as a novel nasal delivery system for vaccines. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2001;51:81-96.

[76] Aspden TJ, Mason JD, Jones NS, Lowe J, Skaugrud O, Illum L. Chitosan as a nasal delivery system: the effect of chitosan solutions on in vitro and in vivo mucociliary transport rates in human turbinates and volunteers. Journal of pharmaceutical sciences. 1997;86:509-13.

[77] Soane RJ, Frier M, Perkins AC, Jones NS, Davis SS, Illum L. Evaluation of the clearance characteristics of bioadhesive systems in humans. International journal of pharmaceutics. 1999;178:55-65.

[78] Bento D, Staats HF, Borges O. Effect of particulate adjuvant on the anthrax protective antigen dose required for effective nasal vaccination. Vaccine. 2015;33:3609-13.

[79] Bento D, Staats HF, Goncalves T, Borges O. Development of a novel adjuvanted nasal vaccine: C48/80 associated with chitosan nanoparticles as a path to enhance mucosal immunity. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2015;93:149-64.

[80] Pawar D, Jaganathan KS. Mucoadhesive glycol chitosan nanoparticles for intranasal delivery of hepatitis B vaccine: enhancement of mucosal and systemic immune response. Drug delivery. 2016;23:185-94.

[81] Liu Q, Zheng X, Zhang C, Shao X, Zhang X, Zhang Q, et al. Conjugating influenza a (H1N1) antigen to n-trimethylaminoethylmethacrylate chitosan nanoparticles improves the immunogenicity of the antigen after nasal administration. Journal of medical virology. 2015;87:1807-15.

[82] Scherliess R, Monckedieck M, Young K, Trows S, Buske S, Hook S. First in vivo evaluation of particulate nasal dry powder vaccine formulations containing ovalbumin in mice. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2015;479:408-15.

[83] Lebre F, Borchard G, Faneca H, Pedroso de Lima MC, Borges O. Intranasal Administration of Novel Chitosan Nanoparticle/DNA Complexes Induces Antibody Response to Hepatitis B Surface Antigen in Mice. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2016.

[84] Doavi T, Mousavi SL, Kamali M, Amani J, Fasihi Ramandi M. Chitosan-Based Intranasal Vaccine against Escherichia coli O157:H7. Iranian biomedical journal. 2016;20:97-108.

[85] Vila A, Sanchez A, Janes K, Behrens I, Kissel T, Vila Jato JL, et al. Low molecular weight chitosan nanoparticles as new carriers for nasal vaccine delivery in mice. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2004;57:123-31.

[86] Dehghan S, Tafaghodi M, Bolourieh T, Mazaheri V, Torabi A, Abnous K, et al. Rabbit nasal immunization against influenza by dry-powder form of chitosan nanospheres encapsulated with influenza whole virus and adjuvants. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2014;475:1-8.

[87] Verheul RJ, Slutter B, Bal SM, Bouwstra JA, Jiskoot W, Hennink WE. Covalently stabilized trimethyl chitosan-hyaluronic acid nanoparticles for nasal and intradermal vaccination. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2011;156:46-52.

[88] Bal SM, Slutter B, Verheul R, Bouwstra JA, Jiskoot W. Adjuvanted, antigen loaded N-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles for nasal and intradermal vaccination: adjuvant- and site-dependent immunogenicity in mice. European journal of pharmaceutical sciences : official journal of the European Federation for Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2012;45:475-81.

[89] Tafaghodi M, Saluja V, Kersten GF, Kraan H, Slutter B, Amorij JP, et al. Hepatitis B surface antigen nanoparticles coated with chitosan and trimethyl chitosan: Impact of formulation on physicochemical and immunological characteristics. Vaccine. 2012;30:5341-8.

[90] Carroll EC, Jin L, Mori A, Munoz-Wolf N, Oleszycka E, Moran HB, et al. The Vaccine Adjuvant Chitosan Promotes Cellular Immunity via DNA Sensor cGAS-STING-Dependent Induction of Type I Interferons. Immunity. 2016;44:597-608.

[91] Mori A, Oleszycka E, Sharp FA, Coleman M, Ozasa Y, Singh M, et al. The vaccine adjuvant alum inhibits IL-12 by promoting PI3 kinase signaling while chitosan does not inhibit IL-12 and enhances Th1 and Th17 responses. European journal of immunology. 2012;42:2709-19.

[92] Gupta NK, Tomar P, Sharma V, Dixit VK. Development and characterization of chitosan coated poly-(varepsilon-caprolactone) nanoparticulate system for effective immunization against influenza. Vaccine. 2011;29:9026-37.

[93] Jesus S, Soares E, Costa J, Borchard G, Borges O. Immune response elicited by an intranasally delivered HBsAg low-dose adsorbed to poly-epsilon-caprolactone based nanoparticles. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2016;504:59-69.

[94] Atmar RL, Bernstein DI, Harro CD, Al-Ibrahim MS, Chen WH, Ferreira J, et al. Norovirus vaccine against experimental human Norwalk Virus illness. The New England journal of medicine. 2011;365:2178-87.

[95] Huo Z, Sinha R, McNeela EA, Borrow R, Giemza R, Cosgrove C, et al. Induction of protective serum meningococcal bactericidal and diphtheria-neutralizing antibodies and mucosal immunoglobulin A in volunteers by nasal insufflations of the Neisseria meningitidis serogroup C polysaccharide-CRM197 conjugate vaccine mixed with chitosan. Infection and immunity. 2005;73:8256-65.

[96] McNeela EA, Jabbal-Gill I, Illum L, Pizza M, Rappuoli R, Podda A, et al. Intranasal immunization with genetically detoxified diphtheria toxin induces T cell responses in humans: enhancement of Th2 responses and toxin-neutralizing antibodies by formulation with chitosan. Vaccine. 2004;22:909-14.

[97] Kim HY, Park SS, Lim ST. Preparation, characterization and utilization of starch nanoparticles. Colloids and surfaces B, Biointerfaces. 2015;126:607-20.

[98] Le Corre D, Bras J, Dufresne A. Starch nanoparticles: a review. Biomacromolecules. 2010;11:1139-53.

[99] van der Maarel MJ, van der Veen B, Uitdehaag JC, Leemhuis H, Dijkhuizen L. Properties and applications of starch-converting enzymes of the alpha-amylase family. Journal of biotechnology. 2002;94:137-55.

[100] Coucke D, Schotsaert M, Libert C, Pringels E, Vervaet C, Foreman P, et al. Spray-dried powders of starch and crosslinked poly(acrylic acid) as carriers for nasal delivery of inactivated influenza vaccine. Vaccine. 2009;27:1279-86.

[101] Debin A, Kravtzoff R, Santiago JV, Cazales L, Sperandio S, Melber K, et al. Intranasal immunization with recombinant antigens associated with new cationic particles induces strong mucosal as well as systemic antibody and CTL responses. Vaccine. 2002;20:2752-63.

[102] von Hoegen P. Synthetic biomimetic supra molecular Biovector (SMBV) particles for nasal vaccine delivery. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2001;51:113-25.

[103] Bernocchi B, Carpentier R, Lantier I, Ducournau C, Dimier-Poisson I, Betbeder D. Mechanisms allowing protein delivery in nasal mucosa using NPL nanoparticles. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2016.

[104] Kapoor DN, Bhatia A, Kaur R, Sharma R, Kaur G, Dhawan S. PLGA: a unique polymer for drug delivery. Therapeutic delivery. 2015;6:41-58.

[105] Xiao RZ, Zeng ZW, Zhou GL, Wang JJ, Li FZ, Wang AM. Recent advances in PEG-PLA block copolymer nanoparticles. International journal of nanomedicine. 2010;5:1057-65.

[106] Mohammadi-Samani S, Taghipour B. PLGA micro and nanoparticles in delivery of peptides and proteins; problems and approaches. Pharmaceutical development and technology. 2015;20:385-93.

[107] Chang J, Jallouli Y, Kroubi M, Yuan XB, Feng W, Kang CS, et al. Characterization of endocytosis of transferrin-coated PLGA nanoparticles by the blood-brain barrier. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2009;379:285-92.

[108] Brunel F, Veron L, David L, Domard A, Verrier B, Delair T. Self-assemblies on chitosan nanohydrogels. Macromolecular bioscience. 2010;10:424-32.

[109] Vrignaud S, Benoit JP, Saulnier P. Strategies for the nanoencapsulation of hydrophilic molecules in polymer-based nanoparticles. Biomaterials. 2011;32:8593-604.

[110] Almeida AJ, Alpar HO, Brown MR. Immune response to nasal delivery of antigenically intact tetanus toxoid associated with poly(L-lactic acid) microspheres in rats, rabbits and guinea-pigs. The Journal of pharmacy and pharmacology. 1993;45:198-203.

[111] Vila A, Sanchez A, Evora C, Soriano I, Vila Jato JL, Alonso MJ. PEG-PLA nanoparticles as carriers for nasal vaccine delivery. Journal of aerosol medicine : the official journal of the International Society for Aerosols in Medicine. 2004;17:174-85.
[112] Sundaram S, Roy SK, Ambati BK, Kompella UB. Surface-functionalized nanoparticles for targeted gene delivery across nasal respiratory epithelium. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2009;23:3752-65.

[113] Primard C, Poecheim J, Heuking S, Sublet E, Esmaeili F, Borchard G. Multifunctional PLGAbased nanoparticles encapsulating simultaneously hydrophilic antigen and hydrophobic immunomodulator for mucosal immunization. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2013;10:2996-3004.

[114] Pawar D, Mangal S, Goswami R, Jaganathan KS. Development and characterization of surface modified PLGA nanoparticles for nasal vaccine delivery: effect of mucoadhesive coating on antigen uptake and immune adjuvant activity. European journal of pharmaceutics and biopharmaceutics : official journal of Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Pharmazeutische Verfahrenstechnik eV. 2013;85:550-9.

[115] Brandhonneur N, Loizel C, Chevanne F, Wakeley P, Jestin A, Le Potier MF, et al. Mucosal or systemic administration of rE2 glycoprotein antigen loaded PLGA microspheres. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2009;373:16-23.

[116] Kavanagh OV, Earley B, Murray M, Foster CJ, Adair BM. Antigen-specific IgA and IgG responses in calves inoculated intranasally with ovalbumin encapsulated in poly(DL-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres. Vaccine. 2003;21:4472-80.

[117] Kavanagh OV, Adair BM, Welsh M, Earley B. Immunogenetic responses in calves to intranasal delivery of bovine respiratory syncytial virus (BRSV) epitopes encapsulated in poly (DL-lactide-co-glycolide) microparticles. Research in veterinary science. 2013;95:786-93.

[118] Li M, Zhao M, Fu Y, Li Y, Gong T, Zhang Z, et al. Enhanced intranasal delivery of mRNA vaccine by overcoming the nasal epithelial barrier via intra- and paracellular pathways. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2016;228:9-19.

[119] Mi-Gyeong, Yeon PJ, Yuna S, Gunwoo K, Gayong S, Yu-Kyoung O. Nanotechnology and vaccine development. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2014;9:227–35.

[120] Copland MJ, Rades T, Davies NM, Baird MA. Lipid based particulate formulations for the delivery of antigen. Immunology and cell biology. 2005;83:97-105.

[121] de Haan A, Geerligs HJ, Huchshorn JP, van Scharrenburg GJ, Palache AM, Wilschut J. Mucosal immunoadjuvant activity of liposomes: induction of systemic IgG and secretory IgA responses in mice by intranasal immunization with an influenza subunit vaccine and coadministered liposomes. Vaccine. 1995;13:155-62.

[122] Tai W, Roberts L, Seryshev A, Gubatan JM, Bland CS, Zabriskie R, et al. Multistrain influenza protection induced by a nanoparticulate mucosal immunotherapeutic. Mucosal immunology. 2011;4:197-207.

[123] Ninomiya A, Ogasawara K, Kajino K, Takada A, Kida H. Intranasal administration of a synthetic peptide vaccine encapsulated in liposome together with an anti-CD40 antibody induces protective immunity against influenza A virus in mice. Vaccine. 2002;20:3123-9.

[124] Joseph A, Itskovitz-Cooper N, Samira S, Flasterstein O, Eliyahu H, Simberg D, et al. A new intranasal influenza vaccine based on a novel polycationic lipid--ceramide carbamoyl-spermine (CCS) I. Immunogenicity and efficacy studies in mice. Vaccine. 2006;24:3990-4006.

[125] Guy B, Pascal N, Francon A, Bonnin A, Gimenez S, Lafay-Vialon E, et al. Design, characterization and preclinical efficacy of a cationic lipid adjuvant for influenza split vaccine. Vaccine. 2001;19:1794-805.

[126] Tada R, Hidaka A, Iwase N, Takahashi S, Yamakita Y, Iwata T, et al. Intranasal Immunization with DOTAP Cationic Liposomes Combined with DC-Cholesterol Induces Potent Antigen-Specific Mucosal and Systemic Immune Responses in Mice. PloS one. 2015;10:e0139785.

[127] Chen L, Zhu J, Li Y, Lu J, Gao L, Xu H, et al. Enhanced nasal mucosal delivery and immunogenicity of anti-caries DNA vaccine through incorporation of anionic liposomes in chitosan/DNA complexes. PloS one. 2013;8:e71953.

[128] el Guink N, Kris RM, Goodman-Snitkoff G, Small PA, Jr., Mannino RJ. Intranasal immunization with proteoliposomes protects against influenza. Vaccine. 1989;7:147-51.

[129] Childers NK, Tong G, Mitchell S, Kirk K, Russell MW, Michalek SM. A controlled clinical study of the effect of nasal immunization with a Streptococcus mutans antigen alone or incorporated into liposomes on induction of immune responses. Infection and immunity. 1999;67:618-23.

[130] Huynh NT, Passirani C, Saulnier P, Benoit JP. Lipid nanocapsules: a new platform for nanomedicine. International journal of pharmaceutics. 2009;379:201-9.

[131] Li AV, Moon JJ, Abraham W, Suh H, Elkhader J, Seidman MA, et al. Generation of effector memory T cell-based mucosal and systemic immunity with pulmonary nanoparticle vaccination. Science translational medicine. 2013;5:204ra130.

[132] Kersten GF, Crommelin DJ. Liposomes and ISCOMs. Vaccine. 2003;21:915-20.

[133] Lendemans DG, Myschik J, Hook S, Rades T. Cationic cage-like complexes formed by DC-cholesterol, Quil-A, and phospholipid. Journal of pharmaceutical sciences. 2005;94:1794-807.

[134] Cibulski SP, Mourglia-Ettlin G, Teixeira TF, Quirici L, Roehe PM, Ferreira F, et al. Novel ISCOMs from Quillaja brasiliensis saponins induce mucosal and systemic antibody production, T-cell responses and improved antigen uptake. Vaccine. 2016;34:1162-71.

[135] Coulter A, Harris R, Davis R, Drane D, Cox J, Ryan D, et al. Intranasal vaccination with ISCOMATRIX adjuvanted influenza vaccine. Vaccine. 2003;21:946-9.

[136] Hagglund S, Hu KF, Larsen LE, Hakhverdyan M, Valarcher JF, Taylor G, et al. Bovine respiratory syncytial virus ISCOMs--protection in the presence of maternal antibodies. Vaccine. 2004;23:646-55.

[137] Pedersen GK, Hoschler K, Oie Solbak SM, Bredholt G, Pathirana RD, Afsar A, et al. Serum IgG titres, but not avidity, correlates with neutralizing antibody response after H5N1 vaccination. Vaccine. 2014;32:4550-7.

[138] Levine MM, Kaper JB, Rappuoli R, Liu MA, Good MF. New generation vaccines. 3rd ed. New York2004.

[139] Plante M, Jones T, Allard F, Torossian K, Gauthier J, St-Felix N, et al. Nasal immunization with subunit proteosome influenza vaccines induces serum HAI, mucosal IgA and protection against influenza challenge. Vaccine. 2001;20:218-25.

[140] Treanor J, Nolan C, O'Brien D, Burt D, Lowell G, Linden J, et al. Intranasal administration of a proteosome-influenza vaccine is well-tolerated and induces serum and nasal secretion influenza antibodies in healthy human subjects. Vaccine. 2006;24:254-62.

[141] Holmgren J, Svennerholm AM. Vaccines against mucosal infections. Current opinion in immunology. 2012;24:343-53.

[142] Yao W, Peng Y, Du M, Luo J, Zong L. Preventative vaccine-loaded mannosylated chitosan nanoparticles intended for nasal mucosal delivery enhance immune responses and potent tumor immunity. Molecular pharmaceutics. 2013;10:2904-14.

[143] Cevher E, Salomon SK, Somavarapu S, Brocchini S, Alpar HO. Development of chitosan-pullulan composite nanoparticles for nasal delivery of vaccines: in vivo studies. Journal of microencapsulation. 2015;32:769-83.

[144] Rajapaksa TE, Stover-Hamer M, Fernandez X, Eckelhoefer HA, Lo DD. Claudin 4-targeted protein incorporated into PLGA nanoparticles can mediate M cell targeted delivery. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2010;142:196-205.

[145] Mansoor F, Earley B, Cassidy JP, Markey B, Doherty S, Welsh MD. Comparing the immune response to a novel intranasal nanoparticle PLGA vaccine and a commercial BPI3V vaccine in dairy calves. BMC veterinary research. 2015;11:220.

[146] Camacho AI, Irache JM, de Souza J, Sanchez-Gomez S, Gamazo C. Nanoparticle-based vaccine for mucosal protection against Shigella flexneri in mice. Vaccine. 2013;31:3288-94.

[147] Camacho AI, de Souza J, Sanchez-Gomez S, Pardo-Ros M, Irache JM, Gamazo C. Mucosal immunization with Shigella flexneri outer membrane vesicles induced protection in mice. Vaccine. 2011;29:8222-9.

[148] Eyles JE, Carpenter ZC, Alpar HO, Williamson ED. Immunological aspects of polymer microsphere vaccine delivery systems. Journal of drug targeting. 2003;11:509-14.

[149] Misstear K, McNeela EA, Murphy AG, Geoghegan JA, O'Keeffe KM, Fox J, et al. Targeted nasal vaccination provides antibody-independent protection against Staphylococcus aureus. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2014;209:1479-84.

[150] Nagatomo D, Taniai M, Ariyasu H, Taniguchi M, Aga M, Ariyasu T, et al. Cholesteryl Pullulan Encapsulated TNF-alpha Nanoparticles Are an Effective Mucosal Vaccine Adjuvant against Influenza Virus. BioMed research international. 2015;2015:471468.

[151] Gebril AM, Lamprou DA, Alsaadi MM, Stimson WH, Mullen AB, Ferro VA. Assessment of the antigen-specific antibody response induced by mucosal administration of a GnRH conjugate entrapped in lipid nanoparticles. Nanomedicine : nanotechnology, biology, and medicine. 2014;10:971-9.



## **1.1.2** NPL positively charged porous nanoparticles with a lipid core

### Figure 2 Representation of NPL.

The chemical formula of maltodextrin and dipalmitoylphosphatidylglycerol (DPPG) are reported. Image from (Dimier-Poisson *et al.*, 2015).

We used positively charged nanoparticles to intranasally deliver antigenic proteins. These nanoparticles (NPL) are made of a net of maltodextrin that traps proteins or nucleic acids and negative lipids, in our case the dipalmitoylphosphatidylglycerol (DPPG) (Paillard *et al.*, 2010).

Maltodextrin used for NPL preparation is typically produced by starch hydrolysis through an enzymatic process. This polymer of D-glucose contains  $\alpha$ -D-glucopyranosyl molecules linked through  $\alpha$ -1,4 bounds (Chronakis, 1998). It is a polysaccharide generally recognized as safe (GRAS) by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA).

Maltodextrin nanoparticles (NP<sup>+</sup>) are produced by chemical synthesis by grafting epichlorohydrin to reticulate the polymer and glycidyltrimethylammonium chloride (GTMA) to confer a positive charge to the particle (Betbeder *et al.*, 2002; Samain *et al.*, 1994).

The safety of the NP<sup>+</sup> has been previously investigated. NP<sup>+</sup> are not cytotoxic and genotoxic even at high concentration, therefore NP<sup>+</sup> are good and safe candidates for drug delivery (Merhi *et al.*, 2012). With regards to the mechanism NP<sup>+</sup> are endocytosed by airway epithelial cells

through the clathrin-pathway and exocytosed in a cholesterol dependent manner (C. Y. Dombu *et al.*, 2010).

The carrier behavior is modified by the introduction of a negative lipid inside the NP<sup>+</sup> (NPL). Hence Dombu *et al.* showed that NPL deliver proteins in airway epithelial cells more efficiently than NP<sup>+</sup>. Moreover partial endo-lysosomal escape/cytosolic delivery of the protein is observed by ovalbumin loaded-NPL in the same cell model (C. Dombu *et al.*, 2012). This property of the NPL can be used to potentially induce MHC class I antigen presentation and consecutive cellular response in case of a vaccine formulation. NPL are highly stable carriers, able to associate a high amount of complex proteins (Dimier-Poisson *et al.*, 2015). They are effective as vaccine delivery carriers since they induce complete protection against parasitic challenge infection after nasal administration in mice (Betbeder *et al.*, 2014; Dimier-Poisson *et al.*, 2015). These carriers are also suitable to deliver lipophilic drugs, such as diminazene (Kroubi *et al.*, 2010).

## **1.2** Biological fate of nasally administered nanoparticles

## **1.2.1** Anatomy of the nose

The knowledge of carrier fate is crucial, especially for toxicity issues related to nanoparticles and adjuvants.

Once the nanoparticle formulation is instilled or sprayed in the nose, through either nostrils, it may reach different areas.

It first encounters the nasal vestibule that lies in the entrance of the nostrils (Figure 3) characterized by vibrissae or hairs and sebaceous glands where it can get trapped. The nasal septum, also called inner wall, divides the two nasal cavities. The outer wall is arranged in three or four turbinates, also called conchae that increase the surface of the nasal cavity increasing the chances for formulation-tissue contact. Turbinates irregularly divide the nasal cavity in three canals, each named *meatus*. Four different pairs of cavities, paranasal sinuses (frontal, ethmoid, maxillary and sphenoid) are observed on the lateral face of the nasal cavity. The sinuses are covered by a respiratory mucosa.

Arteries, veins and lymph vessels form the vascular net of the nasal tissue. Lymphatic vessels drain the absorbed material from the tissue to the lymph nodes. Lymph nodes localized at the submandibular level receive drained material from the anterior nasal cavity, whereas lateral,

pharyngeal, deep cervical and jugulofacial lymph nodes are connected to the middle and posterior side of the nose. M-cell aggregations or lymph corpuscles, adenoids and tonsils form the Waldeyer's ring around the nasal and buccal cavity. This formation is named nose-associated lymphoid tissue (NALT).

In the nasal cavity there are two types of epithelium: respiratory and olfactory. The main epithelium is a respiratory one, made of ciliated pseudostratified columnar cells. The olfactory region is located in the upper area of the nasal cavity where the olfactory epithelium lies. This is a direct pathway to the brain thanks to the presence of olfactory neurons inserted in the cribriform bone. M-cells within the lymphoid tissue are part of the adenoid tissue. Ciliated, columnar and goblet (mucus-producing) cells form the respiratory epithelium (Gizurarson, 2012).



**Figure 3** Sagittal section of the nasal cavity. Image from (Gizurarson, 2012).

## **1.2.2** Nasal immune system: NALT

NALT is a secondary lymphoid organ, known as inductive site of the nasal mucosal immune system. It is indeed where the initiation of the immune response induced by the antigen administration takes place. The antigen sampling system (e.g. M cells) picks up the antigen in follicle-associated epithelium and transfers it to antigen presenting cells (APC), such as dendritic cells (DC). DCs prime naïve CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Figure 4).

CD8+ T cells mature into cytotoxic T cells (CTL). CTL role is to kill infected cells and to fight viral infection.

The antigen presentation by DC to CD4+ T cells activates Th1, Th2 and Th17 responses as well as IgA class switching and B cells hypermutation in germinal centers. IgA<sup>+</sup>B cells migrate to the effector sites through cervical lymph nodes and peripheral blood. For nasally administered antigens, the effector sites are the lamina propria of the upper airways, the gut and the genital tract.

At the effector site, plasma B cells secrete IgA (sIgA). sIgA are transcytosed to the luminal side of the epithelium by the polymeric Ig receptor and block pathogen entry (Kiyono *et al.*, 2004; Lamichhane *et al.*, 2014; Lycke, 2012).

Multiple approaches are described in literature with regard to cell targeting. To improve vaccine efficacy, different strategies have focused on APC targeting, especially on dendritic cells. The nature of the target receptor, the type of APC, its activation state as well as the vaccine delivery system may affect the triggered immune response. Besides DC, macrophages, neutrophils and mastocytes can also present antigens to lymphocytes. Moreover, M cells targeting has been reported to improve immunity in mice (Alvarez *et al.*, 2013). M cells, known for antigen sampling function, have been identified in the nasal passage of mice and in NALT, to a much lesser extent (Kim *et al.*, 2011).

Epithelial cells represent the first physical barrier that separates underlying tissues from the external environment, thus protecting the body from pathogen's entry via the nose. Not only are these cells a mechanical barrier, they are also affect the immune response regulation (Pichavant *et al.*, 2003). Human bronchial epithelial cells may act as antigen presenting cells during viral infections. Papi A. *et al.* showed that MHC class I molecules, constitutively expressed on most of nucleated cells, are up-regulated subsequently to a rhinovirus infection in the respiratory

epithelium. However MHC class II, typically expressed by APC, is not up-regulated by the virus (Papi *et al.*, 2000).

In 1989, MHC II (HLA-DR) has been ubiquitously revealed in the lower respiratory tract and in the normal bronchial epithelium (Glanville *et al.*, 1989). MHC II molecules expression is necessary for the antigen presentation to T cells. The presence of these molecules in the airway epithelium suggested that this tissue contribute to immunoregulation by sampling antigens and directly interacting with T helper lymphocytes. MHC II was also observed in the nasal turbinates (Kalb *et al.*, 1991). Thus human bronchial epithelial cells have an accessory function in antigen presentation and may be an additional vaccine target (T. L. Li *et al.*, 2013; Salik *et al.*, 1999).



## Figure 4 Mucosal immune response.

Schema reporting the activation of the immune response in the NALT inductive site, the migration of white blood cells and Ig production at the effector site (Gupta *et al.*, 2011).

## **1.2.3** Fate of nanoparticles after intranasal administration

Vaccines often activate a complex cascade of immunological response and the mechanisms of transport of nanoparticulate intranasal vaccines have been investigated nonetheless, these processes are not completely clear (Sharma *et al.*, 2009). The different compositions of nanoparticles, in terms of antigen, adjuvant and raw material, may differently trigger the immune response.

Nanoparticle biodistribution and uptake are affected by the size and zeta potential of the carrier (Kumari *et al.*, 2011). The use of cationic particles is advantageous thanks to the depot effect and their muco-adhesion. The electrostatic forces between the positive particle and anionic compounds on the cell surface, such as glycosaminoglycan and sialic acid, are accountable for this interaction. The increase of hydrophobicity can also favour the cell uptake thanks to the lipids interaction with the cell membrane (Zazo *et al.*, 2016).

Interestingly supplementing the particulate formulation with cationic adjuvants potentially produces a synergistic effect with the mucoadhesive polymer, prolonging the antigen persistence in the mucosa (Bento *et al.*, 2015).

To interact with the cells, nanoparticles should pass through the 10µm-thick mucus layer (Widdicombe, 2002). Once crossed, nanoparticles possibly gains contact with epithelial cells, M-cells or transepithelial dendrites of dendritic cells. Epithelial cells and M-cells may endocytose or transcytose the antigen-nanoparticles formulation, whereas dendritic cells preferentially phagocytes it. Differences concerning the immune response rise from various targeting possibilities at subcellular level (publication 1 Endocytosis of nanoparticles). For instance the antigen delivery into the cytosol induces MHC class I presentation, hence CD8+ T cell response, whereas protein endosomal degradation by APC provides MHC II presentation with subsequent CD4+ T cell activation (publication 2, Nasal nanovaccines).

Nanoparticles may be eroded by the action of enzymes or the matrix can be disaggregated by hydrolysis, this process might increase protein delivery in the cells.

Eventually the non-endocytosed nanoparticles or those who have been exocytosed after the uptake, are cleared by the nasal cavity. The nasal clearance rate of the formulation depends on the muco-adhesion of the formulation, therefore related to the material (e.g. alginate, chitosan) (Soane *et al.*, 1999; Tafaghodi *et al.*, 2004).

## 2. Influenza and vaccination

## 2.1 History of vaccination

It is popular knowledge that survivors of some diseases that caused epidemics, such as smallpox or plague, had become immune to the previously contracted infection. This observation gave birth and spread the practice of inoculation, also called variolation, as prevention from smallpox. Variolation consisted in the subcutaneous inoculation, *via* a lancet, of smallpox virus into healthy individuals. Despite 2-3% inoculated people died from the infection, this practice gave protection in most cases and diffused through Europe, Asia and America between 1700 and 1800.

The first vaccination occurred at the end of the XVIII century, when Eduard Jenner inoculated a patient with the cowpox virus collected by fresh lesion. Although the patient was inoculated against the smallpox virus, he did not become ill (Riedel, 2005).

The term "vaccination" derived from "vacca", that means cow in Latin, was introduced over the following century.

Another milestone in vaccine discoveries was reached in the late XIX century by Louis Pasteur, who introduced the "Germ theory". He investigated *Vibrio cholerae* infection, inoculating the fresh bacteria in chickens. However its experiment was failing for all chickens were dying after the inoculation. He once accidentally inoculated the attenuated bacteria and noticed protection from the subsequent infection with the active *Vibrio cholerae*. Several vaccines, wether live and killed vaccines, followed to fight against diseases like typhoid, plague, diphtheria and tuberculosis. Noteworthy is the finding of the *Mycobacterium bovis* by Albert Calmette and Camille Guerin in Lille in the beginning of the 19<sup>th</sup> century. The virulence of this strain was attenuated compared to the *Mycobacterium Tuberculosis*, previously discovered by Robert Koch, therefore it was suitable for tuberculosis vaccination.

Concerning influenza, the virus was first isolated by Richard E. Shope in 1931. Influenza vaccine was first licensed after the Second World War in the U.S.A. (Hajj Hussein *et al.*, 2015).

## 2.2 Influenza virus disease

Influenza is an acute viral infection of the respiratory tract which mainly affects the upper airways, sometimes extending to the lungs.

World Health Organization (WHO) estimated influenza annual attack rate at 5-10% in adults and 20-30% in children. This disease causes about 2-5 million cases of severe illnesses that yield 250 000-500 000 deaths (World Health Organization, 2014a).

After one or two days of virus incubation, the infected subject presents with fever, sore throat, myalgia, runny nose, coughing and headache, as a result of the cytokines produced by infected cells (Ge *et al.*, 2011). Complications lead to viral pneumonia and bacterial infections and may occur at any age. Children, elderly and immunocompromised patients feature a greater risk of complications compared to healthy adults (Halsey *et al.*, 2015; Rimmelzwaan *et al.*, 2001). Mortality is often related to infections of the lower respiratory tract, due to *Staphylococcus aureus* or Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) infection (Nair *et al.*, 2010; O'Brien *et al.*, 2009). Patients with cardiovascular or metabolic diseases are also more likely to develop complications. Influenza viruses spread through the air. The virus transmission occurs *via* different modalities such as: (i) the contact with an infected surface or an infected individual; (ii) through airborne droplets. Respiratory droplets (size  $>5\mu$ m) or small aerosols (size  $<5\mu$ m) that remains suspended for longer time in the air, can be dispersed in the surroundings and inhaled by other people (Richard *et al.*, 2016). This enhances the viral dissemination.

The disease prevention through mass vaccination is considered the most cost-effective measure to limit the virus diffusion and protect against pandemic spread (Amorij *et al.*, 2010; Jang *et al.*, 2014; Rimmelzwaan *et al.*, 2001).

## 2.2.1 Influenza virus: classification and structure

Influenza viruses belong to the family of the *Orthomyxoviridae* and are characterized by eight negative senses - RNA (Bouvier *et al.*, 2008; Rossman *et al.*, 2012). Influenza viruses exist in three different *genera*: A, B and C, where the latter is the sole anti-genically stable. Influenza B and C viruses only infect humans, in contrast with Influenza A that also affects other mammalian and avian species.

The viral antigens used to classify A flu viruses are hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA). These antigenic glycoproteins may undergo modification causing the birth of new strains of influenza A (Couch, 1996).

Concerning influenza A, 18 different hemagglutinin (HA) and 11 different neuraminidase (NA) subtypes exist in nature; these have been originally identified in bats (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014).

In 1980, the WHO revised the nomenclature for influenza virus, firstly established already in 1971. The current nomenclature is displayed in figure 5.



Figure 5 Influenza A virus nomenclature.

An index describing the subtype of HA or NA is present in case of influenza A (World Health Organization, 1980).

Influenza virus is pleomorphic: it exists in nature as spherical virions (100 nm of diameter) or as filamentous virions (100 nm-20 µm of diameter) (Rossman *et al.*, 2012).

The virus is formed by a lipid envelope where HA, NA and proton ion channels M2 are inserted (Figure 6) (Bouvier *et al.*, 2008; Zebedee *et al.*, 1988). A middle layer of matrix protein 1 (M1) is found between the envelope and the nucleocapsid. In the viral core, the RNA, under the helical ribonucleoprotein form, is complexed with nucleoproteins. The RNA polymerase complex consists in PB1, PB2 and PA (Nayak *et al.*, 2009; Rossman *et al.*, 2012). Influenza B and C viruses differ from the A type for the presence of ion channels distinct from M2: BM2 and NB for B virus; CM2 for C virus (Bouvier *et al.*, 2008; Imai *et al.*, 2008; Liang *et al.*, 2010).

HA and NA surface antigens of seasonal influenza are capable to mutate and induce the antigenic drift of the virus. This enables the seasonal virus to escape from the host immune system.

Viral HA subtype defines the infection depth in the respiratory tract. Easily transmitted strains own an HA subtype that binds to the upper airways, as opposed to other strains (such as H5N1) which binds to receptor in a deeper part of the respiratory tract, i.e. the lungs (Ge *et al.*, 2011).

A pandemic disease occurs in case of a human infection from an unknown virus strain, derived from the animal reservoir (e.g. birds, pigs). This is called antigenic shift (J. C. De Jong *et al.*,

2000; J. K. Kelso *et al.*, 2013; Krammer *et al.*, 2015; World Health Organization, 2014b). Major alterations of the virus originate by reassortment of different subtypes of Influenza A: this may happen when the same animal (e.g. pig) is infected by an animal and a human strain at the same time and the virus undergoes modifications. As a result a new shifted virus capable to infect humans may generate and potentially cause pandemics (World health Organization, 2016). Pandemic influenza has already been reported as "Spanish Flu" H1N1 in 1918 and the "Swine flu" H1N1 in 2009.



### Figure 6 Schema of Influenza A virus.

Different proteins are labeled: hemagglutinin (HA), neuraminidase (NA), matrix protein 2 (M2), matrix protein 1 (M1), nucleoprotein (NP) and others ribonucleoproteins (PB1, PB2 and PA). Eight native-senses RNA lay in the capside (Nelson *et al.*, 2007).

## 2.2.2 The infection mechanism

Viruses use the cell endocytic machinery in order to induce infection and replicate. Viruses can use multiple entry pathways depending on the host cell (Permanyer *et al.*, 2010; Piccini *et al.*, 2015; Schulz *et al.*, 2012). Viruses invade the host cell by mean of various endocytosis mechanisms, although one usually prevails on others. All these pathways can lead to successful infection (Lakadamyali *et al.*, 2004; Piccini *et al.*, 2015).

Influenza virus may enter cells *via* either a clathrin-mediated mechanism (CME) or a clathrinand caveolin-independent pathway (Rust *et al.*, 2004; Sieczkarski *et al.*, 2002). These entrance paths are equally efficient for infection (Lakadamyali *et al.*, 2004).

Furthermore influenza A virus exists as spherical or filamentous virion (Rossman *et al.*, 2010). Spherical virions can invade cells by macropinocytosis as alternative pathway to CME, whereas the filamentous viruses mainly enter by macropinocytosis (Edinger et al., 2014; Rossman et al., 2012). The endocytosis of Influenza A virus is generally accepted as a receptor-mediated process; the primary receptor used by the virus is the sialic acid receptor (or N-acetylneuraminic acid receptor). This is bound by the viral hemagglutinin, a membrane protein highly expressed on influenza virions surface (Rust et al., 2004). However, influenza virus infection can result from sialic acid independent-receptors (Edinger et al., 2014; Stray et al., 2000). A recent study shows that C-type lectin receptors, DC-SIGN (CD209) and L-SIGN (CD209L), are endocytic receptors and enhance influenza A infection, although sialic acid attachment can improve the viral entrance into the cell (Gillespie et al., 2016). After internalization into cellular compartments, the virus localises in the early endosome and eventually reaches the late endosome. Because of the acidic pH, HA changes conformation and the viral envelope fuses with the endosomal membrane (Figure 7) (Edinger et al., 2014; Lakadamyali et al., 2004; Rust et al., 2004). In the endosome the M2 ion channel let the protons flow into the virus. As a result of the acidification, M1 is disrupted and consequently ribonucleoproteins are delivered in the cytoplasm (Jing et al., 2008). Influenza ribonucleoproteins use the nucleo-cytoplasmic traffic of the host to reach the nucleus, they enter the nucleus through the nuclear pore complex and replicate its genome (Eisfeld et al., 2015; Resa-Infante et al., 2011). New viral mRNA is transcript, transported to the cytoplasm and then translated into new viral proteins that are either imported in the nucleus or transported to the plasma membrane. The proteins PA, PB1, PB2 and NP are now required for genome replication and packaging into ribonucleoproteins (RNPs). Thanks to M1 and nuclear export protein the viral RNPs are transported to the cytoplasm and reach the plasma membrane. New viral particles containing HA, NA, M2 and M1 are assembled and released from the infected cell. M2 promotes the budding and NA cut sialic acid residues to induce efficient release, avoiding aggregation of the new virions (Air, 2012; Eisfeld et al., 2015).



Figure 7 Influenza virus replication mechanism (Eisfeld et al., 2015).

# 2.3 Influenza vaccines: inactivated (IIV) and live attenuated (LAIV) influenza vaccines

Currently licensed flu vaccines are mainly trivalent, consisting in two A virus strains (H1N1 and H3N2 subtype) and one B strain. Some formulations have been implemented with an additional B strain to generate quadrivalent vaccines (Gerdil, 2003). Most of current flu vaccines are inactivated (IIV) or live attenuated (LAIV) influenza vaccines. These are produced by virus inoculation in embryonated chicken eggs. The amplified viruses are collected by harvesting the allantoic fluid from the eggs and consequently purifying the extract by ultra-centrifugation (Eisfeld *et al.*, 2014; Gerdil, 2003).

Generally produced by cold-adaptation, LAIV are temperature-sensitive and they replicate slower than the untreated virus. In fact, these viruses grow at temperature under 25°C and they stop replicating at temperatures above 37.8°C (Esposito *et al.*, 2012). ). To disable virus ability to infect human cells, they undergo attenuation through chemical mutagenesis or multiple cell culture passages.

Alternatively virus inactivation can be performed by beta-propriolactone, formalin, heat or radiation treatment (S. D. Pawar *et al.*, 2015). The inactivated vaccine may consist of the whole virus, or it can be split by the use of a detergent or split and purified to obtain a subunit vaccine (Gerdil, 2003).

However IIV and LAIV vaccines present disadvantages related to the presence of ovalbumin that precludes administration to allergic people. LAIV vaccines also undergo age restrictions and are only to be administered to patients from 2 to 50 years old; unfortunately, the children and the elderly are an important target of the seasonal and pandemic vaccination (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015c; Esposito *et al.*, 2012).

Another disadvantage of LAIV vaccines is the variability of the immunogenicity between people. The possibility of reconversion of the attenuated virus to the initial wild-type phenotype has not yet been demonstrated (Rimmelzwaan *et al.*, 2001).

Eventually subunit vaccines constitute an advantageous alternative to others IAV and to LAIV vaccines, since they do not contain the whole virus. Subunit vaccines are composed by proteins expressed in the virus (e.g. HA or M2 for influenza), which are extracted by chemical process and purified.

Vaccines can also be synthetized in culture cell; this process is much easier for the industrial scale up. For influenza vaccine synthesis, Madin-Darbey canine kidney cells (MDCK), Per.C6 and Vero cells have been tested (Krammer *et al.*, 2015). To date, only MDCK cells found concrete application in the new influenza vaccine produced by Novartis, Flucelvax®, a trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015a). This type of vaccine requires no embryonated eggs for viral replication therefore does not contain egg-derived contaminants (e.g. ovalbumin).

Alternatively a pure protein vaccine recently appeared on the market. Based on the HA, Flublok® has been the first recombinant influenza vaccine, FDA-approved in 2013. In order to produce this vaccine, HAs are expressed in insect cell line (Spodoptera frugiperda) using a baculovirus. The proteins (HA) are then extracted using a buffer and a detergent. The HAs are finally purified by chromatography (Cox *et al.*, 2015). Recombinant vaccines are convenient because they lack of infectious virus during production, do not require eggs, they are rapidly produced and their scale-up is accessible (Krammer *et al.*, 2015).

### **2.3.1** Administration routes of influenza vaccines

Influenza vaccines (IIV) are typically administered through the intramuscular route, as one single dose flu shot, to patients who had already contracted the virus or received the yearly vaccination (Rimmelzwaan *et al.*, 2001). Serum IgG are produced subsequently to intramuscular administration of flu vaccines. These antibodies are effective in the protection against the lower respiratory tract infection, but poor protection is conveyed in the upper airways, because of a lack of antibodies in the nasal mucosa. The use of a needle to administer these vaccines decreases the patient compliance (Amorij *et al.*, 2010).

For instance, Fluzone® is a quadrivalent intramuscular flu vaccine approved by FDA for children older than 6 months of age. For adults, FDA also licensed a quadrivalent intradermal influenza vaccine (Fluzone® Intradermal Quadrivalent) (Food and Drug Administration, 2016). Similarly, in Europe a split trivalent intradermal flu vaccine (Intanza®, by Sanofi Pasteur) administered *via* a microinjection system (e.g. Soluvia) has been licensed (Durando *et al.*, 2011). With a lower dose, intradermal vaccination yields comparable immunity to that of intramuscular injection (Frenck *et al.*, 2011; Saville *et al.*, 2008).

To circumvent the disadvantage of the needle used and to induce an effective mucosal immunity, nasal flu vaccines have been developed. The nasal route of administration has been exploited to mimic the natural route of infection of influenza virus. An efficient mucosal immune system stimulation does not only confer systemic protection but it also leads to local production of IgA, that protects the upper airways from viral infection, and serum IgG, for the lower airways protection (Holmgren *et al.*, 2012). Intranasal immunization has the advantageous possibility to induce antibody production in sites distant from the infection area e.g. the genital tract and/or intestine (Lycke, 2004b). Moreover the nasal instillation of LAIV promotes cytotoxic T cell (CTL) response and does not induce influenza-like symptoms (Belshe *et al.*, 2000; Rimmelzwaan *et al.*, 2001).

Nasal LAIV have been simultaneously developed in Asia and in USA (Krammer *et al.*, 2015). FluMist® was the first trivalent nasally administered LAIV vaccine approved in 2003 in the USA, similarly Russia had the NasoVac® (Holmgren *et al.*, 2012). The currently commercialised nasal flu vaccine is a quadrivalent LAIV (FluMist® Quadrivalent, Medimmune).

NasalFlu® was another trivalent one, but IIV, made of virosomes that reached the Swiss market in 2001, later withdrawn for the potential relation with Bell's palsy (seventh cranial nerve paralysis) as an adverse effect (Wong *et al.*, 2005). The mucosal adjuvant, *Escherichia Coli* heat labile enterotoxin, had been found to be accountable for inflammation (Halsey *et al.*, 2015; Wilschut, 2009). In fact, the nasal mucosa is a direct access to the brain thanks *via* the olfactory neurons. This pathway can be the cause of toxic events.

The oral route of vaccination is also a promising mucosal site able to induce effective protection after antigenic contact. This is supported by several oral vaccines on the market (like oral cholera vaccine (Lopez *et al.*, 2014), rotavirus vaccine (Greenberg *et al.*, 2009), poliovirus vaccine (Holmgren *et al.*, 2012). However, influenza oral vaccines are not yet available. Phase 1 studies have been performed using an adenoviral vector that could elicit influenza antibodies in 90% of individuals (Liebowitz *et al.*, 2015).

Another approach investigated for the oral flu vaccination is the use of a recombinant baculovirus expressing HA in his envelope. This induced broad mucosal, humoral and cell mediated immune responses in mice (Prabakaran *et al.*, 2014). Attenuated strain of Salmonella, expressing HA and NA of H5N1 strain, elicit complete protection against the lethal challenge with H5N1 and H1N1 in mice (Pei *et al.*, 2015). The high surface of the gastrointestinal tract is

an advantage for drug administration, but the harsh enzymatic conditions and the high dilution of the vaccine reflect the limits of this mucosal route. For these reasons, and because of the small doses of vaccine administered, the nasal administration is preferable for subunit and recombinant vaccines.

Sublingual administration has recently been investigated as mucosal route for flu vaccine and compared to the nasal route. Sublingual administration of adjuvanted IIV induced local and systemic specific immune response as well as CD4+ T cells and memory B cells. However, nasal administration induces higher immune response than the sublingual one (G. Pedersen *et al.*, 2012; G. K. Pedersen *et al.*, 2011).

Similarly, the eye mucosa has been suggested as an alternative route but only few studies concerning this route of vaccination are available (Hikono *et al.*, 2013; Seo *et al.*, 2010). To date, no sublingual or eye drop flu vaccines are commercialized.

## 2.3.2 Adjuvants

Adjuvants, from the latin *adjuvare*, to help, are used to support the antigenic immune response, especially for subunit vaccines. Accordingly to European Directive and the European Medicine Agency (EMA) adjuvants are defined as substances "*aimed at enhancing, accelerating and prolonging the specific immune response towards the desired response to vaccine antigens*" (European Medicines Agency, 2006).

Often subunit vaccines are not successful in cytotoxic T cell (CTL) activation because of their insufficient cytoplasmic delivery and MHC I presentation. In these cases the adjuvant supplement is especially needed.

Many adjuvants have been examined for influenza vaccination: oil-in-water emulsions, saponins and glycolipids, liposomes, bacterial toxins, cytokines, TLR agonist, polymers (Durando *et al.*, 2011).

Aluminum salts, e.g. Aluminium hydroxide, and its derivatives have been added to vaccines for decades. Aluminium acts by triggering the "inflammasome" in cells and generating proinflammatory response (Marrack *et al.*, 2009). Not all vaccines contain aluminium and, when present, it is added in small doses. Yet, safety concerns are often controversial.

MF59<sup>TM</sup> adjuvanted flu vaccines are a blend of influenza antigens and oil-in-water emulsion containing squalene. MF59<sup>TM</sup> was firstly licensed in 1997 as adjuvant for an influenza vaccine. Inactivated adjuvanted vaccine is commercialised under the name of Fluad<sup>TM</sup> (Novartis) (Durando *et al.*, 2011). The exact mechanism of adjuvanticity of MF59<sup>TM</sup> is unknown, but it can be partially related to its depot effect after intramuscular injection (Schultze *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, MF59<sup>TM</sup> induces recruitment of antigen presenting cells (APC) at the site of injection, contributing to the adjuvant effect (Dupuis *et al.*, 2001).

After nasal administration MF59<sup>TM</sup>-adjuvanted influenza vaccine did not show higher immunogenicity than the non-adjuvanted one (Boyce *et al.*, 2000).

In addition to MF59<sup>TM</sup>, aluminium hydroxide, AS04<sup>TM</sup> (aluminium hydroxide with monophosphoril lipid A), AS03<sup>TM</sup> (squalene and tocopherol emulsion stabilized by Tween<sup>®</sup> 80) and influenza virosomes are the only other adjuvants licensed in Europe. However, these adjuvants are not effective for intranasal vaccination (Amorij *et al.*, 2010; Fox, 2009). AS03<sup>TM</sup> has been licensed in a pandemic flu vaccine named Pandemrix<sup>®</sup> but it showed risk of narcolepsy as side effect (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015b).

Virosomes are reconstituted influenza liposomal vesicles, having HA and NA integrated in the phospholipid bilayer, with a diameter of 150 nm. These subunit injectable vaccines, commercialized under the name of Inflexal® V, consist in a blend of three types of virosomes, containing a specific strain of HA and NA (Herzog *et al.*, 2009; Mischler *et al.*, 2002).

The few above cited adjuvants are the only ones currently accepted therefore there is a great need of new safe adjuvants. The use of nanoparticles, as adjuvant and drug delivery systems like in the case of virosomes, is an advantageous approach.

Heat-labile toxin, from *Escherichia coli*, and cholera toxin, from *Vibrio cholerae* are the strongest known mucosal adjuvants, well-known for their toxicity and the high possibility to cause side effects. These toxins bind to the GM1 ganglioside receptor. The intranasal administration of radiolabeled cholera toxin showed that it can enter the olfactory nerves (van Ginkel *et al.*, 2000). Hence the access of bacterial toxins to the central nervous systems raises toxicity issues (Mutsch *et al.*, 2004). These molecules have been modified to reduce their toxicity while keeping the adjuvant propriety (Yamamoto *et al.*, 1997). An innovative approach has been investigated by fusing the enzymatically active subunit A1 of the cholera toxin (CTA1) with a B cell targeting moiety. Cholera toxin consists of five enzymatically inactive B-subunits

that forms a pentamer. The pentamer builds a ring around the subunit A, formed by a linker (A2) and an ADP-ribosyltransferase portion (A1) (Agren *et al.*, 1997). CTA1 acts on GTP binding proteins (like Gs $\alpha$ ), as a result of this interaction an increase of intracellular cAMP is obtained (Lycke, 2004b). Lacking the B subunit, the cholera toxin does not bind to the GM1-ganglioside receptor that is present in almost all of mammalian cells (Lycke, 2004a, 2004b).

CTA1 has been linked to the c-terminal region of a dimer of the D-fragment of the protein A from *Staphylococcus aureus* (DD). DD binds the Ig-receptors present on B cells (Agren *et al.*, 1997; Eriksson *et al.*, 2004; Lycke, 2004a). CTA1-DD does not show any systemic toxicity and gave promising results in mouse model. This adjuvant shows strong class I and class II MHC restricted T cell immunity after intranasal or systemic administration (Eriksson *et al.*, 2004; Simmons *et al.*, 1999). Nasally administered CTA1-DD does not induce inflammatory events in the nasal mucosa and does not accumulate in the olfactory bulb, confirming the safety of this adjuvant (Eriksson *et al.*, 2004).

CTA1-DD has also been combined to another adjuvant ISCOMs (ImmunoStimulating COMplex). This couple is highly immunogenic and induces cell mediated, humoral and mucosal IgA responses after mucosal administration (Lycke, 2004b).

Immunostimulating complexes (ISCOMs) are 40nm micelles, having a cage-like structure, constituted by antigen, cholesterol, phospholipid and saponins, while ISCOMATRIX<sup>®</sup> have the same composition but do not contain the antigen. The saponins contained in ISCOMs are mostly *Quil A* or its purified compounds extracted from the bark of *Quillaja saponaria Molina* (Kersten *et al.*, 2003; Pham *et al.*, 2006; Sun *et al.*, 2009). In general, ISCOMs are prepared by centrifugation or dialysis. The former method involves three steps: at the beginning micelles of cholesterol and phospholipids are prepared using Triton X-100 as surfactant. The micelles are then centrifuged against a sucrose gradient including *Quil A*. A final dialysis stage is performed to eliminate the sucrose. The latter method, the dialysis, consists in the preparation of a micellar solution of all the ISCOMs components in a surfactant. The surfactant is consequently removed by dialysis. This method yields more homogeneous particle sizes (Sun *et al.*, 2009).

The ability to induce broad humoral and cellular immune response, such as CTL activation, is a great advantage of ISCOMATRIX (and also ISCOMs). This is linked to the antigen presentation by both MHC I and II receptors (Pearse *et al.*, 2005) allowing cross-presentation in APC. Indeed, ISCOMs are endocytosed by dendritic cells where they induce upregulation of both

MHC I and II (Villacres *et al.*, 1998). ISCOMs and ISCOMATRIX also induce upregulation of many cytokines (Sun *et al.*, 2009).

Yet, to obtain the approval of a new adjuvant for vaccine formulations, toxicity issues ought to be considered. For instance, three components of *Quil A*, QH-A, QH-B and QH-C have been separated and tested for toxic and adjuvant activity. For instance QH-B and QH-C have better adjuvant activity than QH-A. However, in terms of hemolytic activity and DL50, QH-B showed the most toxic profile, and it has been declared too toxic for clinical studies (Ronnberg *et al.*, 1995; Sun *et al.*, 2009). Noteworthy is the saponin QS21, an active fraction of the *Quil A*. Adjuvants containing QS21 are already tested in clinical trials (Zhu *et al.*, 2016)

ISCOMs have been combined with CTA1-DD to associate two different adjuvant mechanisms for a mucosal application (Mowat *et al.*, 2001). While APCs uptake ISCOMs, CTA1-DD binds to B cells, improving antigen presentation (Lycke, 2004b). The couple of adjuvants showed higher titer of IFN $\gamma$  and T cells proliferation after nasal administration than nasal and subcutaneous (Mowat *et al.*, 2001). Intranasal administration of ISCOM carrying PR8, an influenza virus antigen, and CTA1-DD induced high enhancement of the immune response, e.g. serum antibodies, Th1 and Th2 responses and mucosal IgA (Helgeby *et al.*, 2006).

## 2.3.3 Looking for a Universal influenza vaccine

Influenza virus owns the ability to seasonally drift. Therefore, every year, vaccines should be adapted to the new emerging strains. The vaccine development and production, needed to adjust the vaccine to the mutated virus, takes at least 6-8 months. Moreover, seasonal vaccines cannot protect individuals from new hypothetic pandemic virus. Hence it raises the question of a universal flu vaccine: one that can ideally protect from the changes due to the drift and shift of influenza virus and also able to confer long-lasting protection (Krammer *et al.*, 2014). Different approaches aiming to develop a universal vaccine against influenza are currently under investigation, such as using HA, NA or M2 surface proteins as vaccine antigens. HA and NA are glycoproteins accessible on the virus surface and therefore strongly immunogenic, however they drift and shift, while M2 has remained almost constant since the Spanish flu (Fiers *et al.*, 2004). HA is composed by a globular highly-variable head and a stalk-conserved domain. Providing the

vaccination with HA stalk-domain, antibodies neutralizing heterologous influenza virus can be produced, however weak protective efficiency is elicited since the stalk-domain is less immunogenic than the globular one (Jang *et al.*, 2014).

On the other hand, NA-specific antibodies avoid the release of the new virions from the infected cells preventing the viral spread and reducing the severity of the illness (Ebrahimi *et al.*, 2011; Wohlbold *et al.*, 2014). However, a NA influenza vaccine does not induce strong protection, which enables the use of this antigen together with more immunogenic proteins, like HA (Wohlbold *et al.*, 2014).

M2 extracellular domain (M2e) has been investigated as vaccine antigen but it retains a poor immunogenicity. This ion channel is highly represented on virus infected cells but scarcely on the virus itself and it is conserved in all human Influenza A strains (De Filette et al., 2006; Fiers et al., 2009). Moreover, due to its small size and its location in the viral membrane, M2e is not accessible to antibodies. To implement M2e potency, multiple approaches have been established (Ebrahimi et al., 2011). A general strategy consists in binding M2e to a domain able to increase its immunogenicity: this can be achieved by obtaining particles as final reaction product. Therefore, M2e has been fused to GCN4, an eukaryotic transcriptional activator protein (De Filette et al., 2008), or to the truncated heat shock protein (HSP70) molecule of Mycobacterium tuberculosis and E. coli (Ebrahimi & Tebianian, 2010; Ebrahimi, Tebianian, et al., 2010). Linking the M2e peptide to the hepatitis B (HBc) virus core protein, Neirynck et al. synthesized particles that could effectively protect mice against a lethal challenge after nasal or intraperitoneal administration of the particles (Neirynck et al., 1999). These particles were further optimized by linking multiple M2e sequences in tandem to the N-terminus of HBc. This induced greater protection than other constructs and higher anti-M2e antibodies than anti-HBc, supporting it as a good candidate for a universal flu vaccine. This candidate has also been implemented by co-administration of adjuvants, such as the non-toxic form of the heat labile toxin, LTR192G. This association enhanced M2e-specific antibodies and reduced morbidity conferring a complete protection against challenge (De Filette et al., 2005). M2e-HBc was also nasally administered with the mucosal adjuvant CTA1-DD. This combination significantly increased protection, decreased morbidity and directed the immune response towards a balanced Th1/Th2 response, providing complete protection in mice (De Filette et al., 2006). M2e-HBc particles were tested in Phase I clinical trials by Sanofi Pasteur. The particles were tested alone and in presence of two different adjuvants. This study concluded that the vaccine candidate ACAM-FLU-A was safe and induced immune response in most of the vaccinated individuals (Fiers et al., 2009).

## 2.3.4 CTA1-3M2e-DD

CTA1-DD had been shown to be an optimal mucosal adjuvant candidate. This innovative adjuvant targeted approach has been conjugated with the idea of an M2e-based universal vaccine, since M2e vaccines are capable to induce intra- and heterosubtypic immune response against influenza (De Filette *et al.*, 2006; Neirynck *et al.*, 1999). To overcome their weak immunogenicity, subunit vaccines often require the use of adjuvants. CTA1-DD has been therefore fused to M2e, to give CTA1-M2e-DD.

The production of CTA1-M2e-DD is achieved by expressing the protein vector in *E.coli* DH5 cells. After cell harvesting and centrifugation, the protein is collected as inclusion bodies. The inclusion bodies are washed and the protein extracted with 8M urea. The fusion protein is diluted and purified by ion exchange and size exclusion chromatography. The fusion protein containing a tandem of M2e, CTA1-3M2e-DD, is produced in the same way (Figure 8).



### Figure 8 Adjuvanted antigen CTA1-3M2e-DD.

The fusion protein is composed by three parts: the adjuvant CTA1, subunit A1 of the cholera toxin; the antigen M2e, extracellular domain of the concerved porous channel of influenza A and a targeting portion DD, dimer of the D fragment of the staphylococcal protein A.

The B cell ability to recognize the M2e fused with the adjuvant has been questioned.

After intranasal administration of the new constructs, CTA1-M2e-DD induces high M2e-specific serum antibodies titer and M2e is still recognized by the B-cell receptor. In addition, to induce T cell proliferation, 1µg CTA1-3M2e-DD is as effective as 5µg of CTA1-M2e-DD. This supports 132

the synergistic effect induced by the tandem of M2e. Moreover, CTA1-3M2e-DD elicited protective immunity against lethal challenge in mice (Eliasson *et al.*, 2008).

CTA1-3M2e-DD has also been formulated with ISCOMs as particulate adjuvant/vector, since CTA1-DD and ISCOMs possess two complementary mechanisms of immune system stimulation. As a matter of fact, the former targets B cells whereas the latter dendritic cells (DCs) or more generally antigen presenting cells (APCs).

Immunogenicity of nasally administered CTA1-3M2e-DD/ISCOMs was assessed after prime and boost immunization in mice. Dose dependent M2e-specific B and T cell responses have been evidenced, reaching a plateau at the dose of 5  $\mu$ g. In addition, IgA in BAL and serum antibodies (IgG1 and IgG2) were detected.

To exert its adjuvant property CTA1-3M2e-DD needs the ADP-ribosylating activity of CTA1 to be functional. That was proved by the immunization with an inactive mutated form of the fusion protein (CTA1(R7K)-3M2e-DD) with ISCOMs. The immunogenicity was drastically reduced by the inactive compound administration.

In addition, the stability studies of CTA1-3M2e-DD/ISCOMs showed that the vaccine is stable for 1 year at 4°C and that the lyophilized form can induce specific serum antibodies production after three intranasal administrations. Finally, this combination protected against lethal challenge with influenza virus (Eliasson *et al.*, 2011).

## 2.4 Influenza treatment: antiviral drugs

Whenever prophylaxis fails, treatment against serious influenza illness is needed. Antiviral drugs are therefore available as second line of defense. Antivirals act at different stages of the viral infection. In the case of Influenza three main proteins are traditionally targeted: neuraminidase (NA), M2 and RNA polymerase (T. C. Li *et al.*, 2015). Also RNA synthesis inhibitors, such as ribavirin, are also used (Air, 2012).

Neuraminidase inhibitors include Zanamivir (marketed as Relenza) and Oseltamivir (known as Tamiflu). These drugs mimic the natural substrate of NA, the sialic acid, showing high affinity for the viral target and blocking the release of the virions from the cells (Air, 2012; T. C. Li *et al.*, 2015).

Amantadine and its methyl derivative, named rimantadine, are the most popular M2 inhibitors. They are known to bind both the closed and open conformation of the proton pump of Influenza A virus (Hay *et al.*, 1985; Jing *et al.*, 2008). Adamantanes binding to M2 inhibit the uncoating of

the virus in the endosomes. However, these drugs are no longer extensively used for influenza infection treatment because of virus resistance (Air, 2012; T. C. Li *et al.*, 2015).

The favipiravir (or T-705), an RNA polymerase inhibitors, is active on influenza A, B and C as well as on other viruses.

In addition to the drugs inhibiting the classical targets, new molecules are under investigation, including the sialidase DAS181, an inhibitor of influenza virus attachment. DAS181 cleaves the sialic acid bond on human epithelial cells (Colombo *et al.*, 2016). Molecules suitable to bind sialic acid or blocking hemagglutinin maturation (like Nitazoxanide) are being investigated (Edinger *et al.*, 2014; T. C. Li *et al.*, 2015).

## **RESULTS**

In this project we used cationic porous maltodextrin nanoparticles with a lipid core (NPL). NPL are an optimal tool for drug delivery, since they can improve the intracellular release of several molecules, in particular low molecular drugs and proteins (Dimier-Poisson *et al.*, 2015; C. Dombu *et al.*, 2012; Kroubi *et al.*, 2010; Loiseau *et al.*, 2002).

Firstly we investigated the loading of these nanoparticles with a model protein (ovalbumin, OVA) and their biodistribution after intranasal administration. These studies were required to further apply the NPL technology as adjuvant for a universal influenza vaccine in the UniVacFlu project.

Hence in the first part of this chapter we present the publication entitled "Mechanisms allowing protein delivery in nasal mucosa using NPL nanoparticles", concerning the mechanistic study of protein-loaded NPL. Whereas, in the second part, we report results about formulation, stability and delivery of the universal influenza vaccine developed. These results indicate that NPL are an ideal platform for the mucosal delivery of proteins and vaccines.

## Nanoparticles for protein delivery in the nasal mucosa

## **Presentation of the study**

The study reported in this article assesses the interactions of porous cationic polysaccharide nanoparticles featuring a lipid core (NPL) with the nasal mucosa. The NPL were prepared, characterized and loaded with ovalbumin (OVA). We also prepared fluorescently labeled NPL and loaded them with a fluorescently labeled protein. The NPL and the protein were tracked *in vitro* and *in vivo*. These findings showed that NPL did not cross the epithelial barrier of the nose *in vitro* nor *in vivo*. NPL delivered the protein into the cell and prolonged the protein residence time in the nose.

## PUBLICATION 3: MECHANISMS ALLOWING PROTEIN DELIVERY IN NASAL MUCOSA USING NPL NANOPARTICLES

#### Journal of Controlled Release 232 (2016) 42-50



## Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jconrel



## Mechanisms allowing protein delivery in nasal mucosa using NPL nanoparticles



B. Bernocchi<sup>a,b,c</sup>, R. Carpentier<sup>a,b,c,\*</sup>, I. Lantier<sup>e,f</sup>, C. Ducournau<sup>f,e</sup>, I. Dimier-Poisson<sup>f,e</sup>, D. Betbeder<sup>a,b,c,d</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Inserm, LIRIC–UMR 995, F-59000 Lille, France

<sup>b</sup> Université de Lille, LIRIC-UMR 995, F-59000 Lille, France

<sup>c</sup> CHRU de Lille, LIRIC–UMR 995, F-59000 Lille, France

<sup>d</sup> University of Artois, 62000 Arras, France

<sup>e</sup> INRA, UMR1282 Infectiologie et Santé Publique, F-37380 Nouzilly, France. Laboratoire d'Expertise en Infection Animale

<sup>f</sup> Université François-Rabelais de Tours, UMR1282 Infectiologie et Santé Publique, F-37000 Tours, France. Immunologie Parasitaire et Vaccinologie, Biothérapies Anti-Infectieuses

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 February 2016 Received in revised form 31 March 2016 Accepted 6 April 2016 Available online 11 April 2016

Keywords: Nanoparticle Intranasal drug delivery Protein delivery Transcytosis Biodistribution Vaccine

#### ABSTRACT

The intranasal administration of proteins using nanoparticles is a promising approach for several applications, especially for mucosal vaccines. Delivery of protein within the epithelial barrier is a key point to elicit an immune response and nano-carrier has to show no toxicity. The aim of this work was to elucidate the interactions of cationic porous nanoparticles loaded with protein delivery for antigen delivery in the nose. We investigated the loading, the cellular delivery and the epithelial transcytosis of proteins associated to these nanoparticles containing an anionic lipid in their core (NPL). NPL were highly endocytosed by airway epithelial cells and significantly improved the protein delivery into the cell. *In vitro* transcytosis studies showed that NPL did not modify the *in vitro* epithelial barrier. *In vivo* studies demonstrated that NPL prolonged the nasal residence time of the protein and no NPL were found beyond the epithelial barrier *in vivo*, precluding a negative side effect. All together these results establish the NPL as a bio-eliminable and optimal vaccine carrier.

© 2016 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### 1. Introduction

In recent years, nanoparticles have been increasingly studied for use in vaccine applications [1–3] owing to their potential adjuvant effect and ability to mimic viruses, characteristics related to their size, geometry and physical properties [4]. Furthermore, researchers have repeatedly reported that the use of particulate antigens is more successful than soluble ones in activating immune cells and affording longer term protection [5–7].

The mucosal route of administration is promising in order to trigger an effective immune response and protection against pathogens [8], and offers the possibility of needle-free vaccinations [9]. Notably, the nasal route is a convenient mucosal site for vaccine delivery since, besides being the natural route of infection of many pathogens, it is also noninvasive [10,11].

The translocation of nanoparticles has been extensively investigated at the blood-brain and the intestinal barriers [12–16]. However, little is known about transcytosis of nanoparticles in the airway mucosa. Scarce *in vitro* evaluations have been conducted in models of the airway epithelial barrier to improve understanding of the permeation mechanisms governing drug and nanocarrier passage through the epithelium [17–19], but fewer *in vivo* studies have been published [20–23].

Paracellular transport is also considered as a potential pathway to overcome epithelial barriers [24] and to deliver drugs to immune cells found beneath the epithelium. The tight junction (TJ) opening can improve the drug permeation, although it could also be the result of a toxic effect [25]. Several *in vitro* models have been used to explore the interaction of xenobiotics with the airway epithelium. Human nasal septum epithelial cells RPMI2650 ATCC® CCL-30<sup>™</sup> were used however these cells pile and fail to reach a complete confluence [26,27]. The 16HBE14o-human bronchial epithelial cell line are useful in the study of paracellular drug transport, since they form a pseudo-stratified monolayer and express TJ proteins [28–30] and have been established as a model system to investigate drug transport across the airway epithelium [31].

Porous nanoparticles [32] have recently been studied as vaccine delivery vectors [33]. It is possible to load these nanoparticles with proteins in order to deliver them into cells *via* endocytosis [34] and their use as nasal delivery systems for antigens has been shown to protect mice from acute and chronic infection against *Toxoplasma gondii* [33]. However, the mechanisms by which these nanoparticles deliver antigens within the airway mucosa and their ability to cross epithelial barriers have yet to be fully clarified.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.04.014

0168-3659/© 2016 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Inserm, LIRIC-UMR 995, F-59000 Lille, France.

E-mail address: rodolphe.carpentier@univ-lille2.fr (R. Carpentier).

#### B. Bernocchi et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 232 (2016) 42-50

In this work we aimed to better understand the interactions of these nanoparticles with the airway epithelial cells, their ability to cross this barrier, and to analyze the impact of the lipids within these nanoparticles on the delivery and the transcytosis of antigens in epithelial cells. *In vivo* studies were performed to track the antigen delivery in airway mucosa and its biodistribution after nasal administration. Toxicity issues are discussed.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. NP<sup>+</sup> and NPL preparation

Polysaccharidic nanoparticles (NP<sup>+</sup>) and polysaccharidic lipidated nanoparticles (NPL) were prepared from maltodextrin (Roquette, France) as described previously by Paillard et al. [32]. Briefly, maltodextrin was dissolved in water by magnetic stirring at room temperature. A mixture of epichlorohydrin and glycidyltrimethylammonium chloride (GTMA, a cationic ligand; both from Sigma-Aldrich, France) in basic medium was added to the cationic polysaccharide leading to the formation of a gel. The gel was then neutralized with acetic acid and crushed with a high pressure homogenizer (Emulsiflex C3, Avestin, Germany). The nanoparticles (NP<sup>+</sup>) thus obtained were purified by tangential flow ultra-filtration (Centramate Minim II PALL, France) using a 1000 kDa membrane (PALL, France) to remove oligosaccharides, low-molecular weight reagents and salts. Purified NP<sup>+</sup> were freeze dried. Lyophilized NP<sup>+</sup> were resuspended in a 70% (w/w) aqueous solution of an anionic lipid (DPPG: 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphatidylglycerol from Lipoid, Germany) which was incorporated by the nanoparticles, thus obtaining NPL.

#### 2.2. Labeling of the polysaccharide part of NPL

NP<sup>+</sup> were covalently labeled with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC, Sigma-Aldrich, France) according to the following protocol: FITC was added to NP<sup>+</sup> (NP<sup>+</sup>/FITC mass ratio of 10), solubilized in 0.1 M bicarbonate buffer (pH 9.5), and the solution was mixed for 6 h in the dark at room temperature. Afterwards the NP<sup>+</sup>-FITC were purified by tangential flow filtration and lyophilized. The NP<sup>+</sup>-FITC were then lipidated, as described above, in order to obtain NPL-FITC.

#### 2.3. Labeling of the lipid part of NPL

Labeling of the phospholipids encapsulated in the NPL with DiD (1.1'-Dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'-Tetramethylindodicarbocyanine Perchlorate, ThermoFisher Scientific, France) was performed by mixing DiD (1 mg/ml in ethanol) for 30 min at room temperature with NPL with a final concentration of 0.7% (w/w of DPPG) obtaining NPL-DiD. After organic solvent evaporation the formulations were kept in the dark at 4 °C before use, while DiD loading was confirmed by gel permeation studies on a PD-10 Sephadex G25 desalting column (Sigma-Aldrich, France).

#### 2.4. Protein labeling and loading into nanoparticles

The ovalbumin (OVA, Sigma-Aldrich, France) was labeled with FITC (Fluorescein-5-isothiocyanate, ThermoFisher Scientific), TRITC (tetramethylrhodamine-5-isothiocyanate, ThermoFisher Scientific, France) or CF750<sup>®</sup> Succinimidyl ester (Sigma-Aldrich, France) following the same protocol used for the NP<sup>+</sup> labeling. The labeled protein was purified by gel filtration on a PD-10 Sephadex column, as above. The concentration of the labeled protein was then evaluated using the Micro BCA Protein Assay Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, France) following the supplier's instructions. Labeled OVA (1 mg/ml) was post-loaded into pre-made sterile NPL (5 mg/ml) by mixing increasing amounts of OVA obtaining 1:0.5, 1:3 and 1:5 (w/w) OVA:NPL formulations.

#### 2.5. Characterization of the NPL

The characterization of the size and zeta potential of the NPL were performed with a Zetasizer nanoZS (Malvern Instruments, France). For the size analysis, NPL (5 mg/ml) were directly measured. For the zeta potential analysis, 12  $\mu$ l of NPL (5 mg/ml) were diluted to a final volume of 750  $\mu$ l using distilled water and loaded into a disposable, folded capillary cell.

#### 2.6. Characterization of OVA:NPL formulations

The size and the zeta potential of the OVA:NPL formulations were determined as described above. The analysis of the protein association to the NPL was performed by native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE), supplementing the formulations with electrophoresis buffer (Tris-HCL 125 Mm (pH 6.8), 10% glycerol, 0.06% bromophenol blue) and running the samples on a 10% acrylamide-bisacrylamide gel. A silver nitrate staining was subsequently performed to detect the unbound proteins and thus evaluate the amount of associated proteins.

#### 2.7. NPL endocytosis and in vitro protein delivery

The 16HBE14o-(16HBE) human bronchial epithelial cell line obtained from Dr. Gruenert D. C. (Colchester, Vermont, USA), was maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, ThermoFisher Scientific, France) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated Fetal Calf Serum (FCS, ThermoFisher Scientific, France), 100 U/ml Penicillin, 100 mg/ml streptomycin and 1% L-glutamine at 37 °C in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. The cells were plated at a density of 7.5 × 10<sup>5</sup> cells/well in 6-well plates and used once they reached the confluence, after two days. The cells were treated for different times (0, 0.5, 1, 3, and 24 h) with NPL-FITC, NPL-DiD or with free OVA-FITC or OVA-FITC formulated in NPL. The cells were then analyzed with a BD Accuri<sup>TM</sup> C6 CFlow Sampler flow cytometer (BD Bioscience, USA).

2.8. In vitro transcytosis of NPL and ovalbumin across the airway epithelium

The *in vitro* transcytosis of NPL was investigated in a Transwell<sup>®</sup> model of the respiratory epithelial barrier. The 16HBE cells were seeded on Transwell<sup>®</sup> filters (3 µm porosity Transwell<sup>®</sup> filters, BD Bioscience, France) at a density of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/Transwell<sup>®</sup> (0.9 cm<sup>2</sup>). The confluence was checked by transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) measurement with an epithelial Voltohmmeter (EVOM2, World Precision Instrument, USA) equipped with an STX2 electrode. The cells were pre-incubated for 30 min with Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS, Life Technologies, France) at 37 °C before measuring the permeability. A low molecular weight chitosan (Sigma-Aldrich, France) solution in HBSS at pH 6.5 (0.05% w/v) was used as positive control for the TJ opening and a 50 µg/ml solution of lucifer yellow (Sigma-Aldrich, France) as control for the paracellular and transcellular transport [35,36].

The cell monolayers were treated with 25 µg of NPL-FITC, NPL-DiD or with OVA-TRITC:NPL formulation, using HBSS as donor and acceptor medium. The TEER was checked after 30 min and every hour for 3 h moving the Transwell® in a plate with fresh acceptor medium before each measurement. The samples from the apical side and basolateral side were collected separately and the fluorescence was measured with a Fluoroskan Ascent<sup>™</sup> Microplate Fluorometer (Thermo Scientific, France).

#### 2.9. Mice

Six-to-eight week-old Swiss OF1 mice were purchased from CER Janvier (France) and maintained under conventional conditions. Experiments were carried out in accordance with the guideline for



Fig. 1. Representation of NPL and ovalbumin (OVA) formulation. Premade polysaccharidic positive NP<sup>+</sup> are post-loaded with an anionic lipid to obtain NPL. The antigenic protein is postloaded in NPL to prepare the formulation.

#### Table 1

Characterization of the formulations OVA:NPL. Size (Z-average), PDI (polydispersity index) and Zeta potential are measured in triplicate with a Zetasizer NanoZS.

	Z-average (nm)	PDI	Zeta-potential (mV)
NP <sup>+</sup>	70.39	0.233	$+45.9 \pm 6.86$
NPL	76.07	0.211	$+44.2 \pm 10.15$
OVA	1.976	0.477	$-7.77 \pm 5.60$
OVA:NPL 1:0.5 w/w	2782.67	1	$+25.17 \pm 6.937$
OVA:NPL 1:3 w/w	76.71	0.261	$+33.27 \pm 9.173$
OVA:NPL 1:5 w/w	62.39	0.236	$+33.47 \pm 8.417$

animal experimentation (EU Directive 2010/63/EU) and the protocol was approved by the local ethics committee at Tours University (CEEA VdL).

To eliminate the background fluorescence caused by the grain-based diet, the animals were fed with the AIN-93M purified and dedicated diet for fluorescence optical imaging (TestDiet, United Kingdom) 7 days before instillation, and throughout the *in vivo* biodistribution study. To reduce background signal and light absorbance due to their fur, the animals were treated with depilatory cream one day before instillation and imaging process.

2.10. In vivo biodistribution studies of OVA alone or loaded in NPL after nasal administration

Three groups of non-anesthetized mice (3 mice/group) were designated as follows: control group (PBS), CF750<sup>®</sup> labeled ovalbumin (OVA-CF750<sup>®</sup>), formulation OVA-CF750<sup>®</sup>:NPL ratio 1:3 (w/w). Mice were administered with 10  $\mu$ g of protein by nasal instillation, 5  $\mu$ l in each nostril. The three groups of mice were maintained in separate boxes with water and diet *ad libitum*.

Longitudinal studies in individual animals were performed using the *In Vivo* Imaging System IVIS<sup>®</sup> Spectrum (PerkinElmer, Waltman, USA). Mice groups were successively imaged at 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5, 3, 6, 24, 48 h following instillation, and one of the control mice was also imaged with each group at each time point. Acquisitions and analyses of images thus obtained were performed with the PerkinElmer Living Image software (version 4.2).

#### 2.11. In vivo biodistribution studies of OVA and OVA:NPL in nostrils

Non-anesthetized mice were given 20  $\mu$ l nasal instillations of solutions containing 8.3  $\mu$ g of OVA-TRITC or the same amount of OVA-TRITC loaded in NPL-FITC at the ratio 1:3 (w/w). As a negative control,



Fig. 2. Flow cytometry analysis of NPL endocytosis. 16HBE cells were treated for different times (0, 0.5, 1, 3 and 24 h) with NPL-FITC (A) or NPL-DiD (B). Results are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD of three independent experiments.

44



B. Bernocchi et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 232 (2016) 42-50

Fig. 3. A: Evaluation of tight junction opening, of 16HBE cells treated with either chitosan (CS) or NPL Untreated cells were compared with cells treated with NPL, CS or lucifer yellow (LY). B: Evaluation of paracellular and transcellular permeability of LY. Cells monolayer with LY alone and in presence of CS or NPL. Results are expressed as the means ± SD of triplicate measurements of two independent experiments. \*: p < 0.05; \*\*: p < 0.001; \*\*\*: p < 0.001.

mice received 20  $\mu$ l of PBS. The sacrifice was performed by cervical dislocation at different time points (1 and 3 h). The nasal cavities were then isolated and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (VWR International, France) for 24 h. Afterwards the nasal cavities were decalcified for 7 days in 10% EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich, France) and frozen in Tissue-Tek<sup>®</sup> OCT compound (Sakura<sup>®</sup> Finetek, USA), after which 10 µm slices were obtained. The nuclei were stained with Hoechst 33342 (ThermoFisher Scientific, France). Then slices were mounted with Dako fluorescence mounting medium (Agilent Technologies, France) and imaged with a confocal microscope (LSM 710, Zeiss, France).

#### 2.12. Statistical analysis

One-way ANOVA and Two-way ANOVA plus post-test were used to determine the significance of variations between groups using GraphPad® Prism software.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Characterization of NPL

NP<sup>+</sup> were made of porous cationic nanoparticles and lipids inserted into NP<sup>+</sup> to produce NPL (Fig. 1). The mean diameters of NP<sup>+</sup> and NPL were 70 and 76 nm and their polydispersity indexes were 0.23 and 0.21, respectively (Table 1). They were both highly cationic as their zeta potentials were +45.9 and +44.2 mV, respectively. Since the association of lipids with the NP<sup>+</sup> did not significantly modify their size and zeta potential, we concluded that these lipids were inserted into the core of the nanoparticles.

#### 3.2. NPL endocytosis

We evaluated NPL endocytosis by airway epithelial cells using flow cytometry. The polysaccharidic part of the NPL was covalently labeled with FITC (NPL-FITC) while the lipidic core was labeled with the lipidic dye DiD (NPL-DiD). Following either the polysaccharidic or the lipidic part, the NPL endocytosis into epithelial cells increases in a similar way, reaching a plateau after 3 h (Fig. 2A and B). The endocytosis rate

of NPL remained constant after 24 h. Moreover the kinetics profiles of endocytosis of the polysaccharidic or the lipidic parts of NPL showed the same trend for 24 h.

#### 3.3. Evaluation of NPL transcytosis through the airway epithelial barrier

The 16HBE cells were cultured on Transwell<sup>®</sup> filters until the cells reached confluence (TEER value in the range of 250–750  $\Omega \times \text{cm}^2$ ). No decrease of TEER was observed after treatment with NPL indicating an absence of toxicity for these carriers. Chitosan (CS), that reportedly opens the TJ by an integrin mediated mechanism [37,38], was used as positive control (Fig. 3A).

To assess the permeability of the epithelial barrier, the transport of lucifer yellow (LY) across the airway mucosa was evaluated (Fig. 3). The paracellular permeation of LY reached 6% of the starting fluorescence after 3 h. A significantly higher permeation of LY (17.8% of initial fluorescence after 3 h) was observed when the tight junctions were opened using CS. The NPL induced a more rapid permeation of LY across the epithelial barrier (11% of initial fluorescence), but to a lesser extent than CS after 3 h.

Prior to the NPL transcytosis test, we first verified that NPL were able to cross the Transwell<sup>®</sup> filter (results not shown).

NPL-FITC or NPL-DiD were tested on the Transwell<sup>®</sup> model of the airway epithelial barrier in presence or absence of CS in order to evaluate NPL transcytosis. After 3 h incubation with NPL-FITC no significant transcytosis occurred. In addition, no fluorescence was detected in the basal compartment of the Transwell<sup>®</sup> treated with NPL-DiD (Fig. 4B). This confirmed that the NPL (both the polysaccharide and lipid parts) did not cross the epithelial barrier. Furthermore, even in conditions were tight junctions were opened, NPL transport was not increased (Fig. 4A and B).

#### 3.4. Characterization of the OVA:NPL formulations

Different OVA:NPL formulations were prepared at different OVA:NPL (w/w) ratios.

Size analysis of the 1:0.5 OVA:NPL formulation by dynamic light scattering showed an aggregated formulation with a particle size of



Fig. 4. Investigation of the in vitro translocation of NPL polysaccharide (A) and lipid part (B) across confluent 16HBE monolayers.

45

OVA NPL 1:0.5 1:3 1:5

Fig. 5. Characterization of the ovalbumin (OVA) association to the NPL by native polyacrylamide gel (PAGE) electrophoresis using OVA:NPL at 1:0.5, 1:3 and 1:5 (w:w) ratios. Unbound proteins were revealed by silver nitrate staining.



Fig. 6. Analysis of protein delivery by NPL into airway epithelial cells (16HBE) by flow cytometry. 16HBE were treated with free or formulated OVA-FITC for different time. Trypan blue was used to determine the % of protein bound on cell surface. Results are the mean of three independent experiments. "p < 0.05; "p < 0.01; "p < 0.001.

B. Bernocchi et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 232 (2016) 42-50

2.7  $\mu$ m and a high polydispersity index (Table 1). Moreover, compared to the NPL alone (+44.2 mV), a decreased zeta potential was observed for this formulation (from + 44 mV to + 25 mV). The OVA association to the NPL was assessed by polyacrylamide gel-electrophoresis (PAGE) in non-denaturing conditions revealing the presence of unbound proteins (Fig. 5).

Increasing the protein:NPL mass ratio to 1:3, we observed that the size and zeta potential of OVA:NPL was unchanged relatively to NPL alone (Table 1). Native-PAGE electrophoresis (Fig. 5) revealed that the formulation of OVA:NPL at mass ratios of 1:3 and 1:5 led to the complete association of the ovalbumin to the NPL. The 1:3 formulation fits the optimal criteria for the study of protein delivery (similar size and zeta potential than NPL alone, complete protein association) and was used in the following experiments.

#### 3.5. Kinetics of protein delivery into airway epithelial cells by NPL

The OVA delivery by NPL into airway epithelial cells was evaluated by flow cytometry. The epithelial cells were treated for different times (0.5, 1, 3 and 24 h) with OVA-FITC either free or formulated in the NPL at a 1:3 mass ratio. Trypan blue was used to quench the extracellular fluorescence adsorbed on cell surface [39].

Compared to T<sub>0</sub>, a very low endocytosis was observed for OVA-FITC after 24 h (Fig. 6). Interestingly NPL highly increased OVA association with the cells (14.4 fold increase). Trypan blue experiment confirmed that OVA-FITC was endocytosed and that NPL highly increased its uptake.

#### 3.6. In vitro transcytosis of free OVA or OVA:NPL

The transcytosis of free OVA or OVA:NPL was tested in the Transwell<sup>®</sup> model of the airway epithelial barrier, in the presence or absence of chitosan (CS). Neither free OVA nor OVA:NPL modified the TEER% in the absence of CS (Fig. 7A), while in the presence of CS the TEER% decreased to 45%, indicating the TJ opening.

The fluorescence of OVA-TRITC in the basal compartment of the Transwell<sup>®</sup> model was measured (Fig. 7B): after 3 h incubation, only 0.4% of the starting fluorescence of the OVA-TRITC was detected. No significant differences were observed in terms of OVA transcytosis between formulations even in the presence of CS. We concluded that NPL did not promote OVA transcytosis and that tight junction aperture by CS treatment was insufficient for the protein to cross the epithelial barrier.

#### 3.7. In vivo biodistribution of OVA and OVA:NPL after nasal administration

We evaluated the *in vivo* biodistribution of free OVA *versus* NPL-loaded OVA for 2 days in mice using real time fluorescence optical imaging. Mice were nasally administered with free OVA-CF750<sup>®</sup> or OVA-CF750<sup>®</sup>:NPL; dorsal and ventral views of living animals were taken at defined time points (Fig. 8). As can be observed ventrally, a low fluorescence persistence of the unformulated protein is observed in the nose and totally disappeared after 1.5 h. Similar considerations



Fig. 7. In vitro passage of ovalbumin (OVA) free or formulated in NPL on 16HBE Transwell® model. Evaluation of the tight junction opening (A) and of the protein passage across the epithelial barrier (B).

46


Fig. 8. Representative *in vivo* fluorescence images of OVA-CF750 biodistribution in mice. Mice were pre-treated with PBS (CTRL) or OVA-CF750, free and formulated in NPL. The ventral and the dorsal side of mice were imaged at different time points with *In Vivo* Imaging System IVIS<sup>®</sup> Spectrum (n = 3 per group).

have been brought dorsally. Moreover in the dorsal view we did not evidence fluorescence diffusion in the brain. Interestingly, NPL increased OVA residence time in the nose to at least 6 h (against 1.5 h for free OVA). Furthermore fluorescence related to labeled OVA was found in the feces (results not shown), suggesting its elimination.

B. Bernocchi et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 232 (2016) 42-50

3.8. Evaluation of NPL and OVA residence in the nose

Consistent with the *in vivo* distribution results of OVA showing a discriminative time point of 1.5 h, we wanted to determine the localization of NPL and OVA in airway mucosa 1 h and 3 h after administration.

Mice were nasally instilled with OVA-TRITC:NPL-FITC and nose tissue, sampled at three different depths (I, II and III; Fig. 9), was subsequently analyzed after nuclei staining. We observed the presence of NPL after 1 h, but only at the mucosal level. Additionally, after confocal analysis, NPL endocytosis in airway mucosa was observable 1 h after administration and became more pronounced after 3 h. The NPL were observed in all the different depths of the nasal tissue, and also at the surface of the nose-associated lymphoid tissue (NALT) at 1 and 3 h after the nasal instillation. However, no NPL was detectable on the basal side of the epithelium, underlining the inability of NPL to cross this cellular barrier *in vivo*. Contrary to what is observed in whole nose biodistribution studies (Fig. 8), OVA was not detectable in these sections (Fig. 9).

#### 4. Discussion

The nasal route of administration has been investigated in recent years as an effective mucosal site suitable for non-invasive vaccine delivery, and able to induce both systemic and mucosal immunity. Many studies have shown that nasal administration of particulate antigens (Ag) is more immunogenic compared with soluble ones [8]. For instance, it has been demonstrated that administering the whole, inactivated influenza virus was more immunogenic than administration of split, subunit or virosome vaccines [5]. We obtained similar results more than a decade ago when we demonstrated that maltodextrin nanoparticles, covered by a lipid bi-layer and loaded with HBs Ag and beta-galactosidase, were able to induce strong mucosal as well as systemic antibody and cytotoxic T cell responses, while free Ag was poorly immunogenic [40]. Recently, we demonstrated that nanoparticles loaded with Toxoplasma gondii Ag after intranasal administration were able to induce strong TH1 and TH17 responses, and were able to protect mice against an orally administered lethal challenge with wild parasite [33]. Furthermore, we also demonstrated that these nanoparticles were highly endocytosed via the clathrin pathway and highly exocytosed via a cholesterol-dependent pathway, delivering Ag within the cytosol of airway epithelial cells [34,41]. These results might explain the increased immunogenicity observed [33].

In this study, we further investigated the role of these supramolecular nanoparticles, made of a polysaccharide matrix loaded with phospholipids in their core (NPL), as potential vaccine delivery systems in airway mucosa, and the different constituents of these NPL (Fig. 1) were tracked to assess their fate after endocytosis in the mucosa.

We first confirmed that the lipid loading into the NP<sup>+</sup> did not vary the characteristics of size and zeta potential of the particles, suggesting the complete lipid incorporation into the maltodextrin structure (Table 1). As reported by Kroubi et al., the matrix saturation occurs at 70% of lipid loading (w/w); at higher percentages of lipid, irreversible aggregation of NPL was noted [42].

Due to the supramolecular structure of these nanoparticles made of polysaccharide and lipids we decided to follow the endocytosis of all their components in the cells in an effort to better define their role in protein delivery.

Interestingly, we observed similar uptake kinetics for both NPL components: polysaccharide and lipid (Fig. 2). This result suggests that the lipids are not released from the nanoparticles in the cells during their endocytosis. This is in contrast to liposomal preparations whose phospholipids were found to be converted to cellular phospholipid after lysosomal degradation [43], while our results indicate a high stability of the lipid (DPPG) inside the NPL.



Fig. 9. Confocal microscopy analysis of frozen section of nasal mice tissue after different time points. Nasal biodistribution of the OVA-TRITC:NPL-FITC in three representative depth of the mice nose are reported, from the anterior segment (1) to the posterior segment (11). Enlargements of the regions in the white frames are reported. Nuclei were stained with Hoechst, NPL are labeled with FITC and OVA with TRITC. Scale bars 50 µm (A–J) and 10 µm (A'–J'). *In vivo* NPL endocytosis was confirmed and no NPL transcytosis was observed.

We thought it is essential to track the fate of these nanoparticles after nasal administration to fully understand how they deliver antigens in mucosa and potentially cross the mucosal barriers, both to learn their mechanism of action and investigate potential toxicity issues. We observed that NPL do not open the TJ and do not cross the airway epithelial barrier *in vitro* or *in vivo* (Figs. 4 and 9). Interestingly, in contrast to what is described for other particles [44], we were able to discount any nose-to-brain delivery of these nanoparticles as they were found not to cross the epithelial cells *in vitro* or *in vivo*. Nose-brain passage of nanoparticles and their potential toxicity would prevent further studies for vaccine applications [45].

However, in some circumstances, the epithelial barrier could become damaged leading to TJ opening [46,47]. Chitosan, a cationic polysaccharide polymer, opens TJ *in vitro* and *in vivo*, thus enhancing the passage of drugs unable to traverse the epithelial barrier by transcytosis by instead favoring paracellular passage [48]. We demonstrated that when the TJ were opened by the action of CS (Figs. 4 and 7), neither OVA (MW = 43.000 Da) nor NPL crossed the cells monolayer suggesting that opening the TJ aperture facilitates paracellular passage only for low molecular weight drugs. Furthermore cytotoxicity and genotoxicity studies were also performed on these cells and it was shown that even at high doses these NPL were not toxic [49].

The NPL can be loaded with a large amount of different proteins and the formulation is effective to induce humoral, cellular and mucosal responses when administered *via* the nasal route [33]. However, the underlying mechanisms of antigen delivery or antigen translocation by the NPL are not fully understood. Ovalbumin is a well-known vaccine model antigen, currently used as a template for nanoparticulate vaccines [3,50]. The formulated protein is efficiently delivered into airway epithelial cells (Fig. 6). Notably, we found that the formulation of OVA in NPL increased the protein delivery into cells 14 fold. We then studied the protein fate and its possibility to traverse the airway epithelial barrier. *In vitro* we did not observe any transcytosis of the free or formulated OVA (Fig. 7). We thus concluded that protein (in this case ovalbumin) is not transported across the epithelial barrier by transcytosis and that NPL do not facilitate nor induce this mechanism.

To study the permeability of the *in vitro* epithelial barrier model, since NPL and OVA cannot cross it, we used lucifer yellow as a low molecular weight molecule. Lucifer yellow crossed the epithelial barrier *in vitro*, without modifying the TEER%, *via* paracellular transport and pinocytosis allowing potential transcytosis [35,36,51], and its passage was increased by the TJ opening (Fig. 3). Its transfer across the epithelium was also enhanced by the NPL. We suggest that this increase could be directly linked to the increased intracellular traffic due to NPL endocytosis in a non-specific manner (Fig. 3) as no interaction between LY and NPL was observed (data not shown).

Finally, *in vivo* studies were necessary to understand the real fate of the NPL and the encapsulated protein within nasal mucosa.

Biodistribution studies performed by *in vivo* imaging allowed us to follow the protein distribution. We observed that after 1.5 h the protein administered alone had totally disappeared from the nasal area (Fig. 8), while nanoparticle formulated protein was still present after 6 h. This result suggests that NPL stay in the nose and potentially protect protein from degradation as had already been observed *in vitro* [34]. At this stage we considered two complementary possibilities emanating from this result: either the longer residence time of NPL/protein was due to adsorption at the surface of the mucosa, or OVA delivery within cells was more efficient when formulated in NPL. Confocal microscopy studies clearly showed that NPL were found in mucosa cells of the nose (Fig. 9). Interestingly, we still observed after 3 h the NPL in airway mucosa cells and no NPL was observed in the tissues underneath confirming the *in vitro* results. Free OVA, due to its fast degradation,

B. Bernocchi et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 232 (2016) 42-50

was observed only in minute amounts and poorly detectable on the nose tissue slices.

#### 5. Conclusion

We studied the dynamics of nanoparticle and protein interaction with the nasal mucosa. Taken together, our results provide a framework of the whole mechanism for the bio-distribution of nanoparticle protein formulations. After nasal administration the NPL are endocytosed by airway epithelial cells and deliver the protein into the cells. We suggest that the in vivo increased residence time of OVA in airway cells might be due to an increased cellular protein uptake from OVA:NPL compared to free OVA, due at least in part to the partial protection of the protein from degradation afforded by its encapsulation within the NPL. The NPL are probably subsequently exocytosed and, following the mucociliary movement, are endocytosed by other/deeper cells in the nasal epithelium. During these processes, the NPL continue to deliver part of the encapsulated protein but do not cross the epithelial barrier. Contrary to what has been observed with other nanoparticles, NPL did not cross the mucosal barrier. Considering the previously demonstrated ability of NPL formulations to stimulate the immune system, and our findings that they do not cross airway epithelial barriers, these carriers are thus extremely interesting candidates for nasal vaccine delivery.

#### Acknowledgments

The research leading to these results has received funding from the People Programme (Marie Curie Actions) of the European Union Seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007-2013/ under REA grant agreement no. [607690]. The authors would like to thank Michael Howsam for critically reading the manuscript. We also thank Olivier Briand from the University of Lille 2-INSERM U1011, Laura Choteau, Madjid Djouina and Audrey Langlois from the University of Lille 2 for their help in histology and technical support. The authors would like to thank the DigestScience Foundation for support.

#### References

- [1] V.B. Joshi, S.M. Geary, A.K. Salem, Biodegradable particles as vaccine antigen delivery systems for stimulating cellular immune responses, Hum. Vaccin. Immunotherapeutics 9 (2013) 2584-2590.
- P. Sahdev, L.J. Ochyl, J.J. Moon, Biomaterials for nanoparticle vaccine delivery systems, Pharm. Res. 31 (2014) 2563–2582.
   L. Zhao, A. Seth, N. Wibowo, C.X. Zhao, N. Mitter, C. Yu, A.P. Middelberg, Nanoparticle vaccines, Vaccine 32 (2014) 327–337.
- [4] N.M. Molino, A.K. Anderson, E.L. Nelson, S.W. Wang, Biomimetic protein nanoparticles facilitate enhanced dendritic cell activation and cross-presentation, ACS Nano 7 2013) 9743-9752.
- N. Hagenaars, E. Mastrobattista, H. Glansbeek, J. Heldens, H. van den Bosch, V. [5] Schijns, D. Betbeder, H. Vromans, W. Jiskoot, Head-to-head comparison of four nonadjuvanted inactivated cell culture-derived influenza vaccines: effect of composition, spatial organization and immunization route on the immunogeneity in a murine challenge model, Vaccine 26 (2008) 6555–6563.
  [6] J.M. Patel, V.F. Vartabedian, M.C. Kim, S. He, S.M. Kang, P. Selvaraj, Influenza virus-
- like particles engineered by protein transfer with tumor-associated antigens in-duces protective antitumor immunity, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 112 (2015) 1102–1110.
- Y. Vanloubbeeck, S. Pichyangkul, B. Bayat, K. Yongvanitchit, J.W. Bennett, J. Sattabongkot, K. Schaecher, C.F. Ockenhouse, J. Cohen, A. Yadava, P.v.v.s. group, [7] Comparison of the immune responses induced by soluble and particulate *Plasmodium vivax* circumsporozoite vaccine candidates formulated in AS01 in rhesus macaques, Vaccine 31 (2013) 6216–6224. [8] N. Lycke, Recent progress in mucosal vaccine development: potential and
- limitations, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 12 (2012) 592–605. A.S. Cordeiro, M.J. Alonso, M. de la Fuente, Nanoengineering of vaccines using
- [9] natural polysaccharides, Biotechnol. Adv. 33 (2015) 1279–1293.
- [10] Q. Liu, X. Zheng, C. Zhang, X. Shao, X. Zhang, Q. Zhang, X. Jiang, Conjugating influenza a (H1N1) antigen to n-trimethylaminoethylmethacrylate chitosan nanoparticles improves the immunogenicity of the antigen after nasal administration, J. Med. irol. 87 (2015) 1807-1815.
- [11] R. Pabst, Mucosal vaccination by the intranasal route. Nose-associated lymphoid tissue (NALT)-structure, function and species differences, Vaccine 33 (2015) 4406-4413.

- [12] A. Beloqui, M.A. Solinis, A.R. Gascon, A. del Pozo-Rodriguez, A. des Rieux, V. Preat, Mechanism of transport of saquinavir-loaded nanostructured lipid carriers across the intestinal barrier, J. Control. Release 166 (2013) 115–123.
- [13] M. Gidwani, A.V. Singh, Nanoparticle enabled drug delivery across the blood brain barrier: in vivo and in vitro models, opportunities and challenges, Curr. Pharm.
- Biotechnol. 14 (2014) 1201–1212. D. Guarnieri, A. Falanga, O. Muscetti, R. Tarallo, S. Fusco, M. Galdiero, S. Galdiero, P.A. [14] Netti, Shuttle-mediated nanoparticle delivery to the blood-brain barrier, Small 9 (2013) 853-862.
- L. Han, Y. Zhao, L. Yin, R. Li, Y. Liang, H. Huang, S. Pan, C. Wu, M. Feng, Insulin-loaded [15] pH-sensitive hyaluronic acid nanoparticles enhance transcellular delivery, AAPS PharmSciTech 13 (2012) 836-845.
- C. Schimpel, B. Teubl, M. Absenger, C. Meindl, E. Frohlich, G. Leitinger, A. Zimmer, E. [16] Roblegg, Development of an advanced intestinal in vitro triple culture permeability model to study transport of nanoparticles, Mol. Pharm. 11 (2014) 808–818.
   B. Bharatwaj, R. Dimovski, D.S. Conti, S.R. da Rocha, Polymeric nanocarriers for trans-
- port modulation across the pulmonary epithelium: dendrimers, polymeric nanopar-ticles, and their nanoblends, AAPS J. 16 (2014) 522–538.
- [18] R. Fowler, D. Vllasaliu, F.H. Falcone, M. Garnett, B. Smith, H. Horsley, C. Alexander, S. Stolnik, Uptake and transport of B12-conjugated nanoparticles in airway epithelium, J. Control. Release 172 (2013) 374–381. [19] B. Rothen-Rutishauser, C. Muhlfeld, F. Blank, C. Musso, P. Gehr, Translocation of par-
- ticles and inflammatory responses after exposure to fine particles and nanoparticles in an epithelial airway model, Part. Fibre Toxicol. 4 (2007) 9.
- [20] E. Brun, F. Barreau, G. Veronesi, B. Fayard, S. Sorieul, C. Chaneac, C. Carapito, T. Rabilloud, A. Mabondzo, N. Herlin-Boime, M. Carriere, Titanium dioxide nanoparticle impact and translocation through ex vivo, in vivo and in vitro gut epithelia, Part.
- Fibre Toxicol. 11 (2014) 13. [21] D. Cremaschi, C. Porta, R. Ghirardelli, Different kinds of polypeptides and polypeptide-coated nanoparticles are accepted by the selective transcytosis shown in the rabbit nasal mucosa, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1416 (1999) 31–38.
- N. Hagenaars, M. Mania, P. de Jong, I. Que, R. Nieuwland, B. Slutter, H. Glansbeek, J. Heldens, H. van den Bosch, C. Lowik, E. Kaijzel, E. Mastrobattista, W. Jiskoot, Role of [22] trimethylated chitosan (TMC) in nasal residence time, local distribution and toxicity of an intranasal influenza vaccine, J. Control. Release 144 (2010) 17–24.
- [23] X. Han, N. Corson, P. Wade-Mercer, R. Gelein, J. Jiang, M. Sahu, P. Biswas, J.N. Finkelstein, A. Elder, G. Oberdorster, Assessing the relevance of in vitro studies in nanotoxicology by examining correlations between in vitro and in vivo data, Toxicology 297 (2012) 1-9.
- [24] R. Rosenthal, M.S. Heydt, M. Amasheh, C. Stein, M. Fromm, S. Amasheh, Analysis of absorption enhancers in epithelial cell models, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1258 (2012) 86–92. X. Cao, H. Lin, L. Muskhelishvili, J. Latendresse, P. Richter, R.H. Heflich, Tight junction
- [25] disruption by cadmium in an in vitro human airway tissue model, Respir. Res. 16 (2015) 30.
- [26] D. Patel, S. Naik, K. Chuttani, R. Mathur, A.K. Mishra, A. Misra, Intranasal delivery of cyclobenzaprine hydrochloride-loaded thiolated chitosan nanoparticles for pain relief, J. Drug Target. 21 (2013) 759–769. S. Jesus, E. Soares, J. Costa, G. Borchard, O. Borges, Immune response elicited by an
- [27] intranasally delivered HBsAg low-dose adsorbed to poly-epsilon-caprolactone based nanoparticles, Int. J. Pharm. (2016).
- [28] B. Forbes, C. Ehrhardt, Human respiratory epithelial cell culture for drug delivery applications, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 60 (2005) 193-205.
- Grumbach, N.V. Quynh, R. Chiron, V. Urbach, LXA4 stimulates ZO-1 expression and transepithelial electrical resistance in human airway epithelial (16HBE140-) cells, Am. J. Phys. Lung Cell. Mol. Phys. 296 (2009) L101-L108.
- H. Wan, H.L. Winton, C. Soeller, G.A. Stewart, P.J. Thompson, D.C. Gruenert, M.B. Cannell, D.R. Garrod, C. Robinson, Tight junction properties of the immortalized [30] human bronchial epithelial cell lines Calu-3 and 16HBE14o, Eur. Respir. J. 15 (2000) 1058–1068.
- [31] B. Forbes, A. Shah, G.P. Martin, A.B. Lansley, The human bronchial epithelial cell line 16HBE140–as a model system of the airways for studying drug transport, Int. J. Pharm. 257 (2003) 161–167. A. Paillard, C. Passirani, P. Saulnier, M. Kroubi, E. Garcion, J.P. Benoit, D. Betbeder,
- [32] Positively-charged, porous, polysaccharide nanoparticles loaded with anionic molecules behave as 'stealth' cationic nanocarriers, Pharm. Res. 27 (2010) 126–133.
- [33] I. Dimier-Poisson, R. Carpentier, T.T. N'Guyen, F. Dahmani, C. Ducournau, D. Betbeder, Porous nanoparticles as delivery system of complex antigens for an effective vaccine against acute and chronic Toxoplasma gondii infection, Biomaterials 50 (2015) 164–175.
   [34] C. Dombu, R. Carpentier, D. Betbeder, Influence of surface charge and inner
- composition of nanoparticles on intracellular delivery of proteins in airway epithelial cells, Biomaterials 33 (2012) 9117–9126.
- [35] I. George, S. Vranic, S. Boland, A. Courtois, A. Baeza-Squiban, Development of an in vitro model of human bronchial epithelial barrier to study nanoparticle translocation, Toxicol. in Vitro 29 (2015) 51–58. [36] M.S. Goligorsky, K.A. Hruska, Transcytosis in cultured proximal tubular cells, J.
- Membr. Biol. 93 (1986) 237–247. L.W. Hsu, Y.C. Ho, F.Y. Chuang, C.T. Chen, J.H. Juang, F.Y. Su, S.M. Hwang, H.W. Sung, Effects of pH on molecular mechanisms of chitosan-integrin interactions and resulting tight-junction disruptions, Biomaterials 34 (2013) 784–793. [37]
- L.W. Hsu, P.L. Lee, C.T. Chen, F.L. Mi, J.H. Juang, S.M. Hwang, Y.C. Ho, H.W. Sung, Elucidating the signaling mechanism of an epithelial tight-junction opening induced by chitosan, Biomaterials 33 (2012) 6254–6263.
- [39] J. Nuutila, E.M. Lilius, Flow cytometric quantitative determination of ingestion by phagocytes needs the distinguishing of overlapping populations of binding and ingesting cells, Cytometry A 65 (2005) 93-102.

50

#### B. Bernocchi et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 232 (2016) 42-50

- [40] A. Debin, R. Kravtzoff, J.V. Santiago, L. Cazales, S. Sperandio, K. Melber, Z. Janowicz, D. Betbeder, M. Moynier, Intranasal immunization with recombinant antigens associated with new cationic particles induces strong mucosal as well as systemic antibody and CTL responses, Vaccine 20 (2002) 2752–2763. [41] C.Y. Dombu, M. Kroubi, R. Zibouche, R. Matran, D. Betbeder, Characterization of
- endocytosis and exocytosis of cationic nanoparticles in airway epithelium cells, Nanotechnology 21 (2010) 355102.
- Nanotechnology 21 (2010) 355102.
  [42] M. Kroubi, S. Daulouede, H. Karembe, Y. Jallouli, M. Howsam, D. Mossalayi, P. Vincendeau, D. Betbeder, Development of a nanoparticulate formulation of diminazene to treat African trypanosomiasis, Nanotechnology 21 (2010) 505102.
  [43] J. Dijkstra, M. van Galen, D. Regts, G. Scherphof, Uptake and processing of liposomal phospholipids by Kupffer cells in vitro, Eur. J. Biochem, FEBS 148 (1985) 391–397.
  [44] Z. Liu, M. Jiang, T. Kang, D. Miao, G. Gu, Q. Song, L Yao, Q. Hu, Y. Tu, Z. Pang, H. Chen, X. Jiang, X. Gao, J. Chen, Lactoferrin-modified PEG-co-PCL nanoparticles for aphroged brain delivery of NAP neatide following intranscal administration
- enhanced brain delivery of NAP peptide following intranasal administration, Biomaterials 34 (2013) 3870–3881.
- [45] A. Elder, R. Gelein, V. Silva, T. Feikert, L. Opanashuk, J. Carter, R. Potter, A. Maynard, Y. Ito, J. Finkelstein, G. Oberdorster, Translocation of inhaled ultrafine manganese oxide particles to the central nervous system, Environ. Health Perspect. 114 (2006) 1172-1178.

- [46] S. Ganesan, A.T. Comstock, U.S. Sajjan, Barrier function of airway tract epithelium, Tissue Barriers 1 (2013), e24997. I. George, G. Naudin, S. Boland, S. Mornet, V. Contremoulins, K. Beugnon, L. Martinon,
- [47]
- O. Lambert, A. Baeza-Squiban, Metallic oxide nanoparticle translocation across the human bronchial epithelial barrier, Nanoscale 7 (2015) 4529–4544.
   K. Sonaje, E.Y. Chuang, K.J. Lin, T.C. Yen, F.Y. Su, M.T. Tseng, H.W. Sung, Opening of epithelial tight junctions and enhancement of paracellular permeation by chitosan: [48] microscopic, ultrastructural, and computed-tomographic observations, Mol. Pharm. 9 (2012) 1271–1279.
- [49] M. Merhi, C.Y. Dombu, A. Brient, J. Chang, A. Platel, F. Le Curieux, D. Marzin, F. Nesslany, D. Betbeder, Study of serum interaction with a cationic nanoparticle: implications for in vitro endocytosis, cytotoxicity and genotoxicity, Int. J. Pharm. 423 (2012) 37-44
- [50] S.L. Demento, W. Cui, J.M. Criscione, E. Stern, J. Tulipan, S.M. Kaech, T.M. Fahmy, Role of sustained antigen release from nanoparticle vaccines in shaping the T cell mem-ory phenotype, Biomaterials 33 (2012) 4957–4964.
- [51] D. Tyteca, P. Van Der Smissen, F. Van Bambeke, K. Leys, P.M. Tulkens, P.J. Courtoy, M.P. Mingeot-Leclercq, Azithromycin, a lysosomotropic antibiotic, impairs fluidphase pinocytosis in cultured fibroblasts, Eur. J. Cell Biol. 80 (2001) 466-478.

## Supplementary data:

### NPL endocytosis by THP-1 derived macrophages

The NPL endocytosis by macrophages was evaluated by flow cytometry. THP1-derived macrophages were treated for different times with the same amount of nanoparticles. In order to follow the polysaccharide part we used NPL FITC, while NPL DiD were used in order to follow the lipid loaded into the NPL.

The kinetics of NPL endocytosis in THP-1 derived macrophages assumed a different profile compared to the epithelial cells previously observed (Figure 2, Bernocchi *et al.*). In macrophages a continuous improvement of the fluorescence associated to the cells between 3 and 24 hours is observed (Figure 9). Both types of NPL labeling in epithelial cells or macrophages did not evidence any difference in kinetics profile. This suggests that DiD was not released form NPL neither in epithelial cells nor in macrophages. The release of DiD should lead to the cellular accumulation of the fluorophore and to a different kinetics profile when compared to NPL FITC.



Figure 9 NPL endocytosis inTHP1-derived macrophages.

The polysaccharide was covalently labeled with FITC (a); the uncovalent lipid interaction was simulated with DiD (b).

## Conclusion

This study elucidated the mechanism of NPL interaction with the nasal mucosa. The understanding of the formulation biodistribution after intranasal administration is a fundamental requirement in order to prevent toxic events that might be given by the undesired brain drug delivery. Contrary to what has been observed for lactoferrin-polycaprolactone nanoparticles by Liu *et al.* (Liu *et al.*, 2013), NPL do not cross the nasal mucosal barrier, results by (Ducournau *et al.*, 2016). Moreover in this paper we found that the protein is delivered in the nasal mucosa. In the Figure 10 we propose the comprehensive mechanism of NPL interaction with the nasal mucosa and bio-elimination.



Figure 10 Mechanism of NPL interaction with the nasal mucosa.

## Choice of the cell model: In vitro models of airway barriers

The vaccine formulation may have different ways to overcome the airway epithelial barrier. The epithelium filters the entry of ions and xenobiotics into the body. This process is under strict control thanks to the tight junctions. The tight junctions (TJ) are relatively narrow as the free diffusion cut-off ranges between 1-40Å (Plopper G., 2016). TJ opening may be induced by some molecules (e.g. chitosan). This may favour the passage of molecules or antigens present in the nasal cavity (De Magistris, 2006). The variation in the TJ opening may be evaluated *in vitro via* transepithelial electrical resistance measurement (TEER).

Alternatively the transcytosis pathway may be advantageous to cross the epithelial barrier. In this case the vaccine formulation is endocytosed by the cell at the apical level and exocytosed in the basolateral compartment (publication 1, Endocytosis of nanoparticles). According to which airway depth is to be investigated, different *in vitro* models are available: 16HBE14o-, Calu-3 and A549 are respectively bronchial, lower airways and alveolar cell lines. These cell lines form epithelia with distinct characteristic, (pseudostratified, columnar or alveolar) and have been used for drug transport investigations in the airways (Figure 11). Also primary cells like human alveolar-type I cells have been used for similar purpose (B. Forbes *et al.*, 2005).

In this study we chose 16HBE14o- cells because these cells have characteristics similar to the one found in nasal mucosal cells, such as shape, apical villi and tight junctions (Cozens *et al.*, 1994; Ehrhardt *et al.*, 2002; I. I. Forbes, 2000).



Figure 11 Scanning electron microscopy of airway epithelial cells.

(A) 16HBE14o- cell layer, (B) Calu-3 cell, (C) type I alveolar epithelial cells (hAEpC). (B. Forbes *et al.*, 2005)

### Ovalbumin as a model of antigen for vaccine delivery

Ovalbumin (OVA) is the dominant protein found in avian egg-white. This glycoprotein of 45kDa belongs to the serpin (serine-protease inhibitor) superfamily although it does not show any protease inhibition activity, as opposed to other serpins. Hen egg-white OVA accounts for 386 aminoacids, one single disulfide bond and the N-terminus is acetylated. OVA exists in a native form and a more stable, compact and hydrophobic S-form. Native OVA has a three-turn alpha-helical loop and four beta-sheets. In contrast to other serpins, the cleavage of the loop does not lead to its insertion in the beta-sheets. This explains the lack of protease activity. Ovalbumin function is unknown but is supposed to be involved in chicken embryo development (Huntington *et al.*, 2001).

Despite its unidentified function, OVA is a well-characterized protein used as antigenic model thanks to its interaction with the immune system. OVA plays a role in asthma, oral tolerance and allergies. In fact, egg-based vaccines are not to be administered to allergic individuals for OVA presence as contaminant.

To investigate antigen delivery properties and the immune system stimulation, OVA has been incorporated in several potential vaccine carriers and has therefore been associated to numerous nanoparticles such as liposomes (Nakanishi *et al.*, 1997), virosomes (Bungener *et al.*, 2002), ISCOMs (Mowat *et al.*, 1991), PLGA nanoparticles (Schiller *et al.*, 2015) to improve the immunogenicity.

Indeed intranasal administration of chitosan particles loaded with OVA (0.4-1  $\mu$ m) induces significantly higher IgG and IgA antibodies compared to the free protein in rats after 3 immunizations (Nagamoto *et al.*, 2004). On the other hand OVA-poly( $\gamma$ -glutamic acid) nanoparticles induce CD8+T cells to produce IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-2 but no antigen-specific IgG were detected (Uto *et al.*, 2009). Slütter *et al.* compared the immunogenicity of OVA-loaded PLGA, TMC and PLGA/TMC nanoparticles. They showed that a greater induction of serum antibodies and IgA is obtained after two nasal administrations of the positive TMC nanoparticles, whereas PLGA and PLGA/TMC nanoparticles induce negligible IgG titer. Although TMC nanoparticles failed in prolonging the nasal residence time of OVA and promoting DC uptake, they could deliver the antigen to B-cells (Slutter *et al.*, 2010).

In absence of adjuvants OVA and OVA-loaded liposomes induce poor mucosal and systemic response in mice (Vadolas *et al.*, 1995). Indeed OVA has been extensively used as vaccine model antigen for the development of new nanoparticles.

## Nanoparticles for universal influenza vaccine delivery

## **Presentation of the study**

This study is part of the program UniVacFlu, part of the European Union Seventh Framework Program FP7 that aims to develop a universal mucosal influenza vaccine. In this international project our partner synthesizes recombinant adjuvanted proteins and our role is to provide these constructs formulated with nanoparticles to test the protection from viral challenge and transmission. To design a new vectored influenza vaccine we prepared and characterized the formulations, investigated their stability and the antigen delivery in the airway epithelium. Studies investigating the mucosal and systemic immunity are currently on going in collaboration with the partners of the European consortium UniVacFlu.

This work will be included in original research articles in collaboration with the UniVacFlu partners.

# POROUS NANOPARTICLES FOR THE MUCOSAL DELIVERY OF AN ADJUVANTED UNIVERSAL INFLUENZA VACCINE

#### 1. Introduction

Nanoparticles increasingly play a substantial role in vaccine design, thanks to their ability to improve antigens stability and to enhance its delivery (Csaba *et al.*, 2009).

A nanoparticle formulation mimics the natural route of entry of influenza virus in the body and can potentially stimulate mucosal and systemic immunity (Woodrow *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, the mucosal immunization confers better protection from pathogen infection than the traditional injectable route. Protein-based vaccines are often not immunogenic enough to provide a sufficient immune response. To be effective, these vaccines need a delivery system and an adjuvant (Skwarczynski *et al.*, 2014).

Adjuvanted antigens, developed in order to circumvent the toxicity of the bacterial holotoxin cholera toxin, are fusion proteins based on the CTA1-DD adjuvant (Eliasson *et al.*, 2008; Eliasson *et al.*, 2011). These proteins contain a specific domain for B cells targeting, and possibly other antigen presenting cells, which strongly binds the Fc and Fb of immunoglobulins. DD is the dimer of the D-fragment, the synthetic analogue of *Staphylococcus aureus* protein A (L. C. Agren *et al.*, 1999). The adjuvant moiety is represented by the CTA1 domain of the fusion protein. This protein is the subunit A1 of the hexameric Cholera Toxin, known for its ADP ribosylating activity and its strong adjuvant function (L. Agren *et al.*, 1999). Nanoparticles may improve the delivery of the antigens in the mucosa, so we used porous cationic nanoparticles as drug delivery system of adjuvant and antigens for nasal application.

The nanoparticles used in this work are nanocarriers made of reticulated maltodextrin, positively charged  $(NP^+)$  (Paillard *et al.*, 2010) and loaded with an anionic lipid (DPPG) (NPL). Hence these systems display a negative hydrophobic core surrounded by a positive polysaccharide shell. The formulation consists of three main entities: the maltodextrin, the lipid and the protein, associated by non-covalent interactions (Van der Waals forces and electrostatic interactions).

Stability is a fundamental prerequisite for licensing a vaccine. The currently marketed nasal influenza vaccine (FluMist®, Medimmune) has a shelf life of only 18 weeks and requires the cold chain (Kumru *et al.*, 2014). Hence there is a large marge of improvement with regard to vaccine stability. The use of nanoparticles to increase drug stability has already been recorded (Kumari *et al.*, 2010).

The aim of this work is to improve the immunogenicity of influenza virus antigens administered through the nasal route using nanoparticles as delivery system and to investigate the possibility to build a universal flu vaccine, able to induce cross-protection. Therefore the antigens CTA1-3M2e-DD, its inactive mutant CTA1(R9K)-3M2e-DD and hemagglutinin (HA) have been formulated with nanoparticles.

These constructs have been prepared by the conjugation of two approaches to develop an adjuvanted recombinant influenza vaccine. The mucosal adjuvant CTA1-DD conceived by Pr Lycke, from the University of Göteborg, have been fused with the M2e ectodomain, conserved epitope of influenza (Agren *et al.*, 1997; Eliasson *et al.*, 2008). Pr Fiers, from the University of Ghent, and then Pr Xaelens firstly developed the idea of universal influenza vaccines based on the tetrameric Matrix Protein 2 (Neirynck *et al.*, 1999).

We characterized the loading of the antigens in NPL and assessed the stability for 3 and 12 months. We also investigated the ability of the NPL to deliver antigens into the airway epithelial cells and macrophages *in vitro* and we addressed the question of antigen passage across the epithelial barrier through transcytosis and paracellular pathways.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1 Nanoparticles preparation

Nanoparticles (NP<sup>+</sup>) were produced as described by Paillard *et al.* Briefly maltodextrin (Roquette, France) was dissolved in 2N sodium hydroxide by magnetic stirring at room temperature. A mixture of epichlorohydrin and glycidyltrimethylammonium chloride (GTMA, a cationic ligand; both from Sigma-Aldrich, France) was added to the polysaccharide leading to the formation of a gel. After neutralization by means of acetic acid, the gel was crushed with a high pressure homogenizer (Emulsiflex C3, Avestin, Germany). The newly obtained nanoparticles (NP<sup>+</sup>) were purified by tangential flow ultra-filtration (Centramate Minim II PALL, France) using a 300 kDa membrane (PALL, France) to remove oligosaccharides, low-molecular weight reagents and salts. Purified NP<sup>+</sup> were freeze dried. Lyophilized NP<sup>+</sup> were 155

dissolved in water and a lipid (DPPG: 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphatidylglycerol from Lipoid, Germany) was loaded into NP+ at a temperature above the gel to liquid phase transition temperature of the lipid, thus obtaining NPL.

#### 2.2 CTA1-3M2e-DD and HA loading into NPL

The fusion proteins CTA1-3M2e-DD and CTA1(R9K)-3M2e-DD were kindly given by Mucosal Immunobiology and Vaccine Center (MIVAC) Development (University of Gothenburg). This adjuvanted antigen was loaded into premade NPL, by mixing the protein (1.66 mg/ml) with NPL (5 mg/ml) (1:3 mass ratio protein: NPL) and incubating for 30 minutes at room temperature. Different mass ratios of protein and nanoparticles (NPL) (1:0.5; 1:3; 1:5 or 1:10 protein:NPL) were prepared.

Lyophilized hemagglutinin (Recombinant Influenza A Virus H1N1 (A/Puerto Rico/8/34) Hemagglutinin/HA, Sino Biological Inc., China) was resuspended in Empigen® BB (N,N-Dimethyl-N-dodecylglycine betaine, Sigma-Aldrich, France) 1.98% obtaining a protein concentration of 1mg/ml. At room temperature hemagglutinin was incubated with either NPL or CTA1-3M2e-DD:NPL to obtain a formulation 1:5 (mass ratio) antigen:NPL.

#### 2.3 Size and zeta potential measurement of Antigen-loaded NPL

The size and the zeta potential of antigens (CTA1-3M2e-DD, CTA1(R9K)-3M2e-DD and HA), NPL and antigen-loaded NPL were characterized by dynamic light scattering and laser doppler velocimetry with a Zetasizer nanoZS (Malvern Instruments, France). Antigen, NPL or antigen-loaded NPL were charged into the low volume quartz batch cuvette (ZEN2112) for particle size purposes. For the zeta potential analysis, samples were diluted in a final volume of 750µl and loaded into a disposable folded capillary cell.

#### 2.4 Analysis of antigens association to NPL

The analysis of antigens association to NPL was performed by native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE). Antigens, NPL and antigen-loaded NPL were supplemented with the electrophoresis buffer (Tris-HCL 125Mm (pH 6.8), 10% glycerol, 0.06% bromophenol blue) and run on a 10% acrylamide-bisacrylamide gel. The gel was stained by the silver nitrate method to detect the unbound proteins.

#### 2.5 Stability studies of CTA1-3M2e-DD-loaded NPL

The stability of the antigen CTA1-3M2e-DD, the NPL, the formulations CTA1-3M2e-DD:NPL 1:0.5 and 1:5 by mass ratio was evaluated over 3 months, in accelerated (40°C) and standard (4°C) conditions, and over 12 months at 4°C in sterile setting. The stability of the size and the zeta potential was measured by dynamic light scattering and laser doppler velocimetry, as previously described.

The stability of the antigen association to the NPL was evaluated by native PAGE as described above. The antigen degradation was assessed by SDS-PAGE, supplementing the samples with a denaturing buffer (Tris–HCL 125 mm (pH 6.8), 20% glycerol, 10% SDS, 2.5% b-mercaptoethanol and 0.06% bromophenol blue). The gels were stained by silver nitrate method.

#### 2.6 CTA1-3M2e-DD labeling and loading into NPL

The antigen CTA1-3M2e-DD was labeled with FITC (Fluorescein-5-isothiocyanate, ThermoFisher Scientific) according to the following protocol: FITC (1 mg) was added to 10 mg of antigen (mass ratio of 10) solubilized in 0.1 M bicarbonate buffer (pH 9.5), and the solution was mixed for 6 hours protected from light at room temperature. The labeled protein was filtered by gel filtration chromatography on a desalting column (PD-10 Sephadex, Sigma-Aldrich). The concentration of the protein was then evaluated using the Micro BCA Protein Assay Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, France) following the supplier's guide. The labeled antigen was loaded into pre-made NPL as previously described.

#### 2.7 CTA1-3M2e-DD delivery in airway epithelial cells and macrophages

The 16HBE14o<sup>-</sup> cells (16HBE), epithelial cell line, were maintained in DMEM (ThermoFisher Scientific, France) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated Fetal Calf Serum (FCS, ThermoFisher Scientific, France), 100 U/ml Penicillin, 100 mg/ml streptomycin and 1% L-glutamine at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. The cells were plated at the density of  $7.5 \times 10^5$  cells/well in 6-well plate and used after two days.

The THP-1 monocytes were maintained in RPMI 1640 (ThermoFisher Scientific, France) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FCS, 100 U/ml Penicillin, 100 mg/ml streptomycin and 1% L-glutamine, 0.05 mM  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, France) at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere.

Monocytes were plated in a 12-well plate at the density of  $8 \times 10^5$  cells/well in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 1% FCS and without  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol. Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA, Sigma-Aldrich, France) was then added at the concentration of 20ng/ml in order to induce the monocytes differentiation into macrophages. After 72 hours the THP1-derived macrophages were washed twice with PBS and treated as explained below.

The cells were treated at different times (0, 0.5, 1, 3, and 24 hours) with CTA1-3M2e-DD-FITC or CTA1-3M2e-DD-FITC:NPL. The cells were analyzed with BD Accuri<sup>TM</sup> C6 CFlow Sampler flow cytometer (BD Bioscience, USA).

#### 2.8 In vitro transcytosis of CTA1-3M2e-DD-loaded NPL through the airway epithelium

The *in vitro* transcytosis of CTA1-3M2e-DD free or loaded into NPL was studied in a Transwell® model of the respiratory epithelial barrier. 16HBE cells were seeded at a density of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/transwell (0.9 cm<sup>2</sup>) on 3 µm porosity filters (Transwell®, BD Bioscience, France). The cell's confluence was verified by transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) measurement with a Voltohmmeter (EVOM2, World Precision Instrument, USA) equipped with an STX2 electrode.

The cell's monolayers were treated with 8.3µg of antigen associated or not to NPL (1:0.5 or 1:5 antigen:NPL mass ratio), using Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS, Life Technologies, France) as donor and acceptor medium. A low molecular weight chitosan (Sigma-Aldrich, France) solution in HBSS pH 6.5 (0.05% w/v) was used as positive control for the tight junction opening (TEER decreasing). The TEER was checked after 30min and every hour for 3 hours moving the Transwell® in a plate with fresh acceptor medium before each measurement. The samples from the apical side and basolateral side were collected and the fluorescence was measured with a Fluoroskan Ascent<sup>TM</sup> Microplate Fluorometer (Thermo Scientific, France).

#### 3. Results and discussion

#### 3.1 Characterization of the formulations CTA1-3M2e-DD:NPL

The formulations of the antigen CTA1-3M2e-DD with NPL were prepared at different mass ratios and size and zeta potential were characterized using NanoZS from Malvern. CTA1-3M2e-DD had an average size of 160 nm, while the size of NPL was 70 nm. The formulations were performed at different protein:NPL mass ratios (1:0.5; 1:3; 1:5; 1:10). The dynamic light scattering analysis showed the presence of aggregates (4 $\mu$ m) in the formulation antigen:NPL

(Ag:NPL) 1:0.5 by mass ratio, that were also macroscopically visible. The increase in Ag:NPL mass ratio led to the decrease in the particle size of the formulation (Figure 12a). The zeta potential analysis displayed a highly positive charge ( $+45.63 \pm 1.65 \text{ mV}$ ) for the NPL and a negative charge for the antigen ( $-19.47 \pm 0.85 \text{ mV}$ ) (Figure 12b). All the formulations had a comparable surface charge except the formulation 1:0.5. The zeta potential of the formulation 1:0.5 Ag:NPL was  $+11.47 \pm 1.68 \text{ mV}$ , while the other formulations displayed a value of +30 mV. This supported the idea that part of the antigen was adsorbed onto the surface of the formulation 1:0.5. Increasing the NPL mass a smaller size of the formulation was obtained, implying that the protein was progressively disaggregated and encapsulated in the NPL (1:5 mass ratio). In order to assess if some antigen was free, we analyzed the formulation by native electrophoresis. The complete association of the antigen to the NPL was evidenced from the mass ratio 1:3 (Figure 12c). For a mass ratio 1:0.5, the antigen association to the NPL is partial, consistent with the results obtained by dynamic light scattering and the zeta potential analysis.

The same observations done for CTA1-3M2e-DD can be pointed out for CTA1(R9K)-3M2e-DD, the mutant protein lacking ADP-rybosilating activity (Figure 13). The free protein CTA1(R9K)-3M2e-DD is highly aggregated, since it shows a particle size of  $332.4 \pm 22.18$  nm (Figure 13a). Moreover the average size of the formulation 1:0.5 is greater than 8µm and exhibit aggregates. Similarly to the case of the active protein, while increasing the Ag:NPL mass ratio a lower particle size is detected. The formulations of the inactive protein displayed zeta potential values similar to the one obtained for the active antigen.

This suggested that the modification in CTA1 primary structure did not significantly affect the protein-NPL interaction and the association is quantitative after the 1:3 ratio. We concluded that both proteins, active and inactive, associate to the NPL in a similar way.



Figure 12 Characterization of CTA1-3M2e-DD NPL.

(a) Particle size analysis (b) Zeta potential (c) Native-PAGE electrophoresis.



Figure 13 Characterization of CTA1(R9K)-3M2e-DD NPL.

(a) Particle size analysis (b) Zeta potential (c) Native-PAGE electrophoresis.

#### 3.2 Characterization of the formulations HA:NPL and HA/CTA1-3M2e-DD:NPL

Hemagglutinin was associated to NPL or to CTA1-3M2e-DD -loaded NPL. Dynamic light scattering analysis showed that the free protein in presence of Empigen®BB has a particle size around 50nm (Figure 14a). The charge of the protein was negative (-10 mV). HA was loaded into NPL and the resulting formulation was about 100 nm. Hemagglutinin was also loaded into CTA1-3M2e-DD: NPL and CTA1(R9K)-3M2e-DD: NPL formulations, obtaining a particle size of 130 nm and 90 nm respectively. All the formulations containing HA had a comparable zeta potential of about +27 mV (Figure 14b). The antigen association was confirmed by native-PAGE, where a small fraction of HA was revealed unbound in all the formulations.

The structure of the HA could be accountable for this. Hemagglutinin has a stem portion and a globular moiety. We supposed that the former might more likely interact with the maltodextrin network than the latter because of its shape. Additionally, the globular portion has a considerable steric hindrance that may further obstruct protein-NPL interaction.



Figure 14 Characterization of HA CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL.

(a) Particle size analysis (b) Zeta potential (c) Native-PAGE electrophoresis.

#### 3.3 Stability of the formulations CTA1-3M2e-DD NPL

#### 3.3.1 Stability of the antigen association to the NPL

The stability of the antigen association to the NPL was evaluated by native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE). In these conditions, only free antigens were able to migrate into the gel. The formulations 1:0.5 and 1:5 Ag:NPL by mass:ratio were considered for this study, according to the *in vivo* tests performed for the characterization of the immune response and protection against viral challenge (data not shown, manuscript in preparation by Lycke *et al.*).

The association of the antigen to the NPL was stable for both formulations at 4°C (Figure 15 and 16). A constant association of the antigen to the NPL (mass ratio 1:0.5) was observed for 6 months at 4°C, while a complete association was observed over 12 months (Figure 16). On the other hand the antigen was steadily associated to the NPL in the formulation 1:5 by mass ratio for one year, meaning that there is no release of the protein by the NPL at 4°C.

However the stability test in accelerated conditions (40°C) showed the disappearance of the band related to the unassociated protein in the formulation 1:0.5 during the time. We suggest that at 40°C the protein better associates to the NPL or that the formulation aggregates, preventing the protein entry into the gel. Concerning the formulation 1:5, the antigen association to the NPL was stable and complete at 4°C over one year and 40°C over 3 months, as no differences were revealed by native-PAGE.



**Figure 15** Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL: native PAGE. a) 4°C, b) 40°C.



Figure 16 Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL 12 months.

#### 3.3.2 Stability of the antigen free and loaded in NPL

In SDS-PAGE (Figure 17 and 18) the degradation and the aggregation of the protein free or formulated with NPL has been evaluated. The formulation 1:0.5 was stable over 12 months at 4°C since no band changes were observed in denaturing conditions. A slight degradation of the protein was noticed for the formulation 1:5 after 12 months as suggested by band appearance in the gel (MW<35kDa). However the band corresponding to the antigen (~45kDa) was the major one observed. A band at about 100kDa was noticed, highlighting the presence of protein aggregates.

The stability test in accelerated conditions (40°C) showed the degradation of the protein even if associated to the NPL for the mass ratio 1:5 antigen:NPL (Figure 17b) suggesting the needs of a preservative for the long term storage of the formulation, in order to block the protease activity. The technique used was unfortunately inadequate for the analysis of the formulations at 40°C, since the strong binding of the proteins to the NPL did not let the totality of the protein entering the gel. However some degradation fragments (size lower than 40 kDa) are observed.

The stability of the antigen alone has been assessed, as reported in figure 19. The antigen was stable at 4°C for three months but, as expected, it degraded at 40°C. Moreover we observed that the plain antigen is stable at 4°C for one year (Figure 19b).

	N/1\A/	Δσ	NF	2L 1:5	Ag: NPL 1:0.5			Ag: NPL 1:5			h	h	N/11/	Δσ	NPL		Ag: NPL 1:0.5			Ag: NPL 1:5			
а		~5	1:0.5		то	T1	Т3	TO	Τ1	Т3		a	IVIVV	~5	1:0.5	1:5	то	T1	Т3	то	Τ1	Т3	
	3	0	1	4	U		U.	V	U	U.		1	0	)	0	-	)	-	2	-	2	-	1
kDa	1000											1											1
260 -	-												-										
140 -	-												-							_			
70 -	-									1. 2673			-										
50 -	-				100	_	_		-	1		ر	-							-	-	-	
40 -	-				-	-	-	-	-	-				-			-			-	-		
35 –	-																				-	-	
25 –	-									=			-								-	-	
15 –										-													
10 -				Carrow								17		-	-	AF 1350		1	100	003	-		
				100					A	s sample		1											

Figure 17 Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL: SDS PAGE.

a) 4°C, b) 40°C



Figure 18 Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL 12 months.



**Figure 19** Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD. Stability was evaluated by SDS-PAGE during 3 (a) and 12 months (b).

#### 3.3.3 Colloidal stability: stability of the size and the zeta-potential

The dynamic light scattering analysis displayed the lack of size stability of the formulation 1:0.5, a very high polydispersity index (close to 1) and a decreased Z-potential. These results suggested that the formulation 1:0.5 had undergone a continuous rearrangement of the protein and NPL complex. This displacement appeared limited at 4°C, as the lower temperature reduced the fall of zeta potential (Figure 20). However the Z-average varied over 6 and 12 months and the broad polydispersity index (PDI) observed for the formulation 1:0.5 increased with the time. The zeta potential of the formulation 1:0.5 (Figure 21c) reached negative values indicating that the protein was on the surface of the formulation and masks the positive charge of the NPL.

In contrast, the size and charge of the formulation 1:5 were highly stable, since this formulation kept its size at ~200nm for one year. The PDI of the formulation 1:5 increased after 6 months but decreased again after 12 months (Figure 21), whereas at 40°C increased polydispersion was observed just after 3 months (Figure 20). A constant zeta potential was measured for the 1:5 formulation.

Macroscopically, a precipitate had already appeared in the formulation 1:0.5 after few hours from the preparation. This phenomenon was not observed for the formulation 1:5 and confirms the colloidal stability of this second preparation.



**Figure 20** Characterization of the size and charge stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD: NPL. The stability was evaluated at 4°C and 40°C. Ag:NPL 1:0.5 (a,b,c), Ag:NPL 1:5 (d,e,f).



Figure 21 Characterization of the colloidal stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD NPL12 months.

The stability of the NPL alone had been investigated at two different concentrations: the one used in the formulation 1:0.5 (0.308 mg/ml) and the one of the formulation 1:5 (3.08 mg/ml) (Figure 22). At 4°C a very high stability of size, charge and polydispersity of this carrier was observed independently on the concentration of the NPL. At 40°C a lower colloidal stability was observed, especially for the polydispersity index that increases significantly for the more diluted carrier. These results evidence the high stability of the NPL at 4°C (Figure 22). We also verified the stability of the NPL for one year at 4°C, these were found overall stable (results not shown).



**Figure 22** Characterization of the NPL size and charge stability. The stability was evaluated at 4°C and 40°C.

The colloidal stability of the free antigen was evaluated (Figure 23). The protein had a z-average about 250 nm and a broad polydispersity (PDI=0.5), suggesting the presence of aggregates in the solution. Despite the stability of zeta-potential, the size detected varied during the time reaching a value of approximately 70 nm. The PDI increased after 3 months at 40°C but decreased at 4°C. The increased PDI at 40°C might be attributed to the antigen degradation observed by SDS-PAGE (Figure 17). The free antigen underwent important size and charge variation during one year of storage at 4°C (results not shown).



Figure 23 Characterization of the stability of CTA1- 3M2e-DD.

We conclude that the antigen and its association to the formulation 1:0.5 was stable for 6 months, whereas the size and zeta-potential of this formulation were unstable. On the other hand the formulation 1:5 was highly stable for 12 months.

#### 3.4 CTA1-3M2e-DD delivery in epithelial cells and macrophages

Epithelial cells (16HBE) and macrophages were treated at different incubation times with the FITC-labeled antigen CTA1- 3M2e-DD free or formulated with the NPL to evaluate the protein delivery.

NPL increased the antigen delivery in airway epithelial cells up to 12 fold compared to the unformulated antigen, after 24 hours (Figure 24a).

The kinetics profile suggested that the antigenic protein was step-by-step delivered in epithelial cells. The same result was observed in macrophages, where an increase of 9 fold was obtained after 24 hours using the NPL (Figure 24b). In THP-1 derived macrophages the kinetics profile of antigen delivery reached a plateau after 3 hours, underlining the phagocytic role of these cells.



**Figure 24** CTA1-3M2e-DD (Antigen) delivery in airway epithelial cells (a) and macrophages (b).

#### 3.5 In vitro transcytosis of antigen-loaded NPL

The protein and NPL transcytosis had been investigated in an *in vitro* model of the airway epithelial barrier, in order to understand whether the NPL cross the epithelium to deliver the antigen to the immune cells found beneath or if the antigenic protein could cross the epithelial barrier under NPL assistance. Airway epithelial cells monolayers were treated with CTA1-3M2e-DD-FITC free or formulated with NPL in presence or absence of chitosan (CS). The CS is a chitin-derived polysaccharide able to open the tight junction (TJ) of epithelial cells through an integrin mediated mechanism (Hsu *et al.*, 2013).

In figure 25 is reported the TEER%. The TEER% was constant after treatment with CTA1-3M2e-DD-FITC free or formulated with NPL in contrast, in presence of CS, the TEER% decreased to 45%, indicating TJ opening. We concluded that the NPL and the CTA1-3M2e-DD-FITC did not open the TJ. In agreement with our findings Markov *et al.* observed that cholera toxin did not open the tight junction in rat colon epithelium (Markov *et al.*, 2014). Concerning cholera toxin effect on tight junctions there are conflicting results. Indeed these results are in contrast with the observation that increased cAMP induces TEER increase and reduced paracellular permeability (Deli, 2009). However Guichard *et al.* observed epithelial tight junction disruption after treatment with the A subunit of the cholera toxin (Guichard *et al.*, 2013). The fluorescence of CTA1-3M2e-DD-FITC that permeated in the basal compartment was measured: after three hours, 0.4% of the starting fluorescence of the CTA1-3M2e-DD-FITC was detected in the basal chamber. No significant differences were revealed in terms of fluorescence passage between the protein and the formulation even in presence of CS. We conclude that the CS-dependent opening of the TJ was not sufficient for the CTA1-3M2e-DD-FITC to cross the epithelial barrier. These results suggest the lack of paracellular passage or transcytosis, while formulated antigens and NPL entered the cells.



Figure 25 Tight junctions opening during the antigen treatment.

#### 4. Conclusion

Antigen association to the NPL and the stability of the formulations were investigated. We observed a high stability of the formulation 1:5 at 4°C and we showed the complete antigen association to the NPL. However in presence of free antigen (formulation 1:0.5 w/w) the size and charge of the formulation were instable, confirming the stabilizing effect of the NPL on the antigen. NPL efficiently delivered the antigen in airway epithelial cells and macrophages. We also observed that the formulation do not cross the airway epithelial barrier and the adjuvanted antigen do not open the tight junction.

In vivo protection from viral challenge and transmission are currently under investigation by the Consortium partners using these formulations.

# DISCUSSION

#### Nanoparticles for nasal vaccine delivery: mechanism and biodistribution

Drugs are generally administered as pharmaceutical formulation, hence in combination with excipients. Nanoparticles used in nanomedicine are to carry the drug to the target organ or tissue to ensure an efficient delivery. However, drug activity may be weakened or lost, in particular in case of fragile drugs, such as proteins and peptides. As a consequence the features of a formulation include the ability to stabilize and keep the active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) structure and activity. To maximize the surface area, necessary to improve drug release, the size of the formulation can be reduced to the nanodimension.

That is the reason why nanoparticles have an application in drug delivery. Nanoparticles can associate proteins in several ways, thus influencing the drug delivery. In fact, drugs can be either encapsulated within the particles or adsorbed on the surface, thus influencing the drug biodistribution and delivery. The immune response can be oriented to humoral or cellular responses according to how whether the antigen is encapsulated, adsorbed on the surface or mixed to the nanoparticles. Zhang and co-workers have recently shown that a formulation composed by the antigen encapsulated and mixed to the nanoparticles eliciedt a stronger immune response compared to that of the antigen being only encapsulated by the nanoparticles (W. Zhang *et al.*, 2014).

In this thesis antigens were associated to the NPL by post-loading, hence we studied their association to the NPL. The NPL loading is influenced by the antigen quality, such as the structure and the molecular weight, the protein aggregation and the Ag:NPL mass ratio. The different proteins studied are OVA, CTA1-3M2e-DD and HA. However the association conditions of these proteins to the NPL were not the same since they were dissolved in different aqueous media. OVA has been dissolved in ultrapure water, HA in Empigen® BB 1.98% solution and CTA1-3M2e-DD has been supplied in buffer (NaP 10nM, NaCl 0.16M pH=7.4).

We analysed the formulations prepared by mixing several protein: NPL mass ratios using different proteins: OVA and CTA1-3M2e-DD. We observed a different particle size of the formulation 1:3 relative to different proteins. Hence OVA: NPL has a particle size of 76 nm and a Z-potential of +33 mV, whereas CTA1-3M2e-DD: NPL has a size of 250 nm and a Z-potential of +30 mV. We concluded that OVA is loaded into the NPL, whereas in the case of CTA1-3M2e-DD formulation, NPL are probably surrounding the antigen (formulation 1:3). The result obtained for CTA1-3M2e-DD is in contrast to what observed for the total extract of *Toxoplasma gondii*, which is completely loaded inside the NPL, even if the extract alone showed a high

particle size (482.4 nm) (Dimier-Poisson *et al.*, 2015). This discrepancy may result from the aggregation of CTA1-3M2e-DD.

The antigen association to the NPL was analyzed by native-PAGE. In the formulation 1:0.5 by mass ratio part of the protein is still unbound. Conversely in the formulations 1:3 by mass ratio both OVA and CTA1-3M2e-DD are completely associated to the NPL. In case of HA a fraction of free antigen is revealed by native-PAGE in presence of a high amount of NPL (mass ratio 1:5). Nonetheless, this fraction of free HA detected by electrophoresis may be attributed to several factors: (i) the presence of trimers of HA, (ii) the use of detergents (Empigen® BB) or (iii) the strength of the electrophoresis-induced electric field. Indeed HA exists in trimers that may be too bulky to associate to the NPL. Moreover, we used a detergent to solubilize HA, this can form micelles that prevent the HA association to the NPL. The electric current applied by native-PAGE can be sufficiently strong to separate poorly bounded HA by the NPL or dissociate the micelles that associate part of the protein. However, most of the HA was bound to the NPL.

Taken together these results overall suggest a different protein-NPL interaction, probably dependent mainly on proteins structure, presence in solution of dimers or trimers and use of detergents.

Additionally, this behavior may be attributed to the Z-potential of the proteins: in case of the *Toxoplasma gondii* extract the global negative charge observed (-33.6mV) differs from the NPL charge much more than the charge observed for the proteins used in this work (e.g. -10mV for the HA).

Most nanoparticles are not stable in solution or in presence of serum proteins. Our results showed that both the NPL and the formulation 1:5 CTA1-3M2e-DD: NPL are highly stable (at least one year at 4°C). We reported stability studies performed in absence of antibacterial agents commonly used in influenza vaccines (e.g. thiomersal). Even in absence of preservatives the antigen CTA1-3M2e-DD was not degraded.

The use of nanoparticles for intracellular drug delivery leads to a reduction of the administered dose (Korsmeyer, 2016). We demonstrated *in vitro* an increase of intracellular antigen delivery when using the antigen-loaded NPL compared to the free antigen (Figure 6 publication 3, Bernocchi *et al.* and figure 24 Part II: *Results*). This opens opportunities for dose-sparing strategies.

Accordingly, nanoparticles are particularly suitable for the administration of biological drugs, such as recombinant vaccines. Additional reasons for nanoparticles application in vaccinology

are found in their ability to act as adjuvants or immunomodulators (Ilinskaya *et al.*, 2016). The improvement of the nasal residence time of antigens is a considerable advantage of the nanovaccine formulation. In this way the possibility of local antigen uptake by M-cells, DC and epithelial cells may be maximized to obtain a relevant immune response. These cells are the main targets of a mucosal vaccine.

The nasal clearance of the nanoparticle should be therefore minimized. One strategy to achieve a prolonged antigen residence in the nasal cavity is the use of biocompatible mucoadhesive material to prepare the formulation.

Therefore polymers (e.g. chitosan and TMC) have been reported to extend the nasal residence of antigens. Even the simple conjugation of OVA with chitosan can slow the protein clearance in the nasal cavity, in contrast to the unconjugated antigen that is almost completely cleared from the nose within 2 hours (Slutter *et al.*, 2010). Hence the use of nanoparticles to attain a sustained antigen release is reasonable. Moreover the mucoadhesion of NPL have been previously reported following sublingual administration (Razafindratsita *et al.*, 2007).

In a previous work Dimier-Poisson *et al.* investigated the efficacy of NPL loaded with the total extract of *Toxoplasma Gondii* by nasal administration. This vaccine triggered humoral and specific Th1/Th17 cellular responses and protection against the oral parasite challenge (Dimier-Poisson *et al.*, 2015).

Mucosal routes for vaccine administration are convenient to stimulate the mucosal immune response, therefore local and systemic immunity. The nasal administration has already been successfully exploited for vaccine administration (publication 2, Nasal nanovaccines) thanks to the non-invasive approach, favouring a good patient compliance and triggering the mucosal immune response.

In this work, we showed that porous maltodextrin nanoparticles retained the antigen (OVA) in the nasal cavity for 6 hours, whereas free OVA resides time in the nose for 1h30 min (Figure 8 publication 3, Bernocchi *et al.*). Other nanoparticles have been evaluated elsewhere to implement the nasal retention time of antigens. Slütter *et al.* showed that also TMC nanoparticles decrease the protein clearance rate in the nose, compared to OVA solution. However, TMC nanoparticles extend the protein nasal residence time of 30min and PLGA nanoparticles do not affect the OVA clearance (Slutter *et al.*, 2010). Similarly, the encapsulation of <sup>125</sup>I-HBsAg in glycol chitosan-coated PLGA nanoparticles showed a higher nasal retention compared not only

to the plain antigen, but also to the chitosan-PLGA carrier (D. Pawar *et al.*, 2013). Generally, glycol-chitosan particles showed a better mucoadhesiveness than chitosan, increasing also the nasal permanence of bovine serum albumin (BSA) (D. Pawar *et al.*, 2016). Saito *et al.* showed that carboxy-vinyl polymer increased the nasal residence time of whole inactivated influenza vaccine in mice and monkeys up to 6 hours whereas significant differences with the whole inactivated influenza vaccine group are observed after 2h30min (Saito *et al.*, 2016).

Supplementing the particulate formulation with cationic adjuvants potentially produce a synergistic effect with the mucoadhesive polymer, prolonging the antigen persistence in the mucosa. Bento *et al.* showed that the addition of compound 48/80, mast cell activator, to chitosan nanoparticles improved the OVA nasal residence up to 24 hours, contrasting the mucociliary clearance (Bento *et al.*, 2015).

Nanoparticles biodistribution following nasal administration is relevant for safety issues. Similarly to the nanoparticles used in this work Supramolecular Biovectors (SMBV) showed the possibility to improve the delivery of morphine to the brain after nasal administration (Betbeder *et al.*, 2000). This mechanism was not related to the nose-brain transcytosis of the nanoparticle as no morphine loading in SMBV was observed.

The olfactory tissue, resident in the upper portion of the nasal cavity, form a direct pathway to the brain thanks to the olfactory neurons inserted in the cribriform palate. However, in case of vaccine administration, the nose-to-brain delivery of antigen, adjuvant or nanoparticle should be avoided.

A case of toxicity has been reported after the nasal administration of virosomes adjuvanted with heat labile toxin as adjuvant of a split flu vaccine (NasalFlu). This vaccine produced transient facial nerve paralysis (i.e. Bell's palsy) (Wong *et al.*, 2005). For this reason, it is crucial to assess the biodistribution of the formulation.

Ducournau *et al.* indeed investigated the biodistribution of porous maltodextrin carriers (NPL) used hereby, after nasal administration. They reported no brain passage of these carriers (Ducournau *et al.*, 2016). This carrier lasted in the nasal cavity for about 24h. In this time lag the mucociliary clearance progressively removed nanoparticles from the epithelium. Nanoparticles, most likely entrapped in the mucus, were transported to the pharynx and to the esophagus, then to the stomach, the gut and finally excreted *via* the feces.

Conversely to what has been observed for maltodextrin nanoparticles, lactoferrin-conjugated poly(ethyleneglycol)-poly(ɛ-capro-lactone) (Lf-NP) nanoparticles reached the brain after nasal

administration and increased coumarin-6 delivery in the olfactory bulb (Liu *et al.*, 2013). Lf-NP drug delivery system would not be suitable for vaccine administration.

In order to prime the immune response, the formulation has several pathway possibilities. In these studies we analyzed the nanoparticles and the antigen endocytosis and transcytosis.

Dombu *et al.* showed that these NPL were mainly endocytosed by a clathrin-dependent pathway and *in vitro*, they were exocytosed by airway epithelial cells (C. Y. Dombu *et al.*, 2010). We established an *in vitro* model (Transwell® model) to evaluate the transcytosis and the paracellular passage of the formulation. Hence we showed in the Transwell® model that NPL did not cross the airway epithelium and did not influence the TJ opening (Figure 4 publication 3, Bernocchi *et al.*). However, *in vitro* models do not entirely embrace the complexity of *in vivo* kinetics mechanisms.

Our *in vivo* results confirmed the endocytosis of the NPL and the lack of NPL passage across the airway epithelium (Figure 9 publication 3, Bernocchi *et al.*). The lack of antigen transcytosis supports or not the evidence that epithelial cells are involved in the immune response as accessory cells (T. L. Li *et al.*, 2013; Salik *et al.*, 1999). Other cells like macrophages and dendritic cells are specialized antigen presenting cells that can be activated by the antigen. However, *in vivo* we could not detect OVA. Hence we do not know the mechanism implied in the activation of the immune system.

The intracellular antigen delivery is rather enhanced by the NPL formulation (Figure 6 publication 3, Bernocchi *et al.*). Nonetheless the amount of antigen delivered is sufficient to trigger an effective immune response, stronger than the unformulated antigen (Dimier-Poisson *et al.*, 2015).

#### Universal influenza vaccine

Currently different strategies are explored to develop an effective universal influenza vaccine. Many approaches are based on the activation of broad protective immunity by using viral antigenic proteins. These strategies aim to stimulate humoral response, by means of HA, NA or M2e, or cellular responses, *via* NP or M1. While humoral response is essential in influenza disease to prevent the infection (by means of neutralizing and non-neutralizing antibodies) the cellular response is needed to decrease the severity of the illness and therefore the mortality.

Studies aiming the stimulation of the innate immunity have been performed using the bystander activation of T lymphocytes by vaccination with live viruses (Goodridge *et al.*, 2016). For 177

instance the vaccination with an attenuated strain of Bordetella pertussis protected against lethal challenge with Influenza A (R. Li *et al.*, 2010)

Other approaches are based on antigen delivery platform improvement such as recombinant viral vectors, DNA and RNA vaccines, virus-like-particles/virosomes and adjuvants (Wiersma *et al.*, 2015). It is advantageous to enhance CD8+ activation, which is usually poor in case of subunit vaccines.

Firstly we associated the adjuvanted targeted fusion protein CTA1-3M2e-DD with NPL (Part II: *Results*). Different formulations were investigated (notably 1:0.5 and 1:5 antigen:NPL by mass ratio) to address a potential difference in the immune response.

A critical issue of pharmaceutical vaccine formulations is the stability. This should be taken into account especially when considering drugs that easily degrades, such as proteins. An often adopted solution to improve the stability of antigens is freeze-drying. However, the colloidal stability of the nanoparticle formulation may be compromised by the reconstitution of the suspension, since aggregates may irreversibly form and precipitate, thus rendering the preparation useless. Even if lyophilization may be advantageous to avoid stocking liquid formulations, freeze-dried vaccine still requires the cold chain to assure the stability (Kumru *et al.*, 2014).

To achieve a universal influenza vaccine the combination of different approaches is attractive. To obtain broader protection the vaccine can be implemented by the addition of multiple antigens, while avoiding the administration of WIV. Unfortunately, hemagglutinin, a key antigen of influenza vaccines, undergoes seasonal drift. Hence to develop a universal flu vaccine the conserved stalk domain of HA can be administered. Yassine H.M. *et al.* have recently linked HA stabilized-stem region on ferritin nanoparticles and showed that these particles elicited complete and partial protection against heterosubtypic challenge in mice and ferrets respectively (Yassine *et al.*, 2015). The use of HA as vaccine antigen seems to be necessary to develop a universal influenza vaccine. Consequently, in our work we associated HA to the NPL to obtain a broader immunity.

Even if the nasal epithelium has a limited permeability, the accessibility of nose-associated lymphoid tissues and the mimicry of the natural route of influenza infection make the nasal route ideal for vaccination. Moreover, the lack of injection confers to this route rapidity and easiness, which are ideal characteristics for mass vaccination in case of pandemics. However, concerning influenza vaccines, FluMist® and Nasovac<sup>TM</sup> are the only influenza nasal vaccines

commercialized, in U.S.A. and Asia, respectively. These vaccines are live attenuated and generally considered safe. The possibility of virus reconversion has been discussed by the scientific community and should be taken into account as possible risk (Rimmelzwaan *et al.*, 2001). Even if LAIV intranasal administration can cause mild flu symptoms, such as runny nose, these vaccines are generally well tolerated. Nevertheless, patients suffering from asthma condition should not receive these vaccines (J. M. Kelso, 2012). Additionally, current nasal LAIV provide an administration schedule with two vaccinations, 1 month apart: this is a disadvantage compared to a single shot.
## **CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES**

Nanoparticles are promising tools for protein delivery in the mucosa, useful to stabilize proteins and to provide a depot effect, more advantageous than multiple administrations. We studied the mechanisms of interaction of porous cationic polysaccharide nanoparticles with the nasal mucosa. These nanoparticles are ideal vectors for the administration of drugs, especially of proteins. They are able to associate high amounts of proteins, to deliver them effectively into cells and they are totally bio-eliminated.

Concerning vaccine application, an ideal influenza vaccine should be administered in single dose *via* a non-invasive mucosal route and should trigger local and systemic protection. Moreover it should be a recombinant or split vaccine, free from egg-contaminants such as OVA, that can provoke adverse reactions in sensitive subjects. Still, recombinant vaccines need the co-administration of adjuvants to produce an effective immune response. However, the market has a great need for new adjuvants, since only a few (e.g. aluminium salts and AS01) are approved by regulatory affairs.

Great progresses have been achieved in influenza vaccine production. Flucelvax®, a trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine produced in cell culture, and Flublok®, the first recombinant flu vaccine have reached the market in the last years. Unfortunately, these are injectable vaccines and the only mucosal influenza vaccine marketed is the Flumist®, a LAIV one. The only particles that are marketed as influenza vaccine are virosomes (Infexal®). Therefore we trust that these approaches will soon be combined to obtain an ideal single dose recombinant adjuvanted vaccine delivered by nanoparticles and administered through the nasal mucosa. The development of a safe and efficient delivery system is needed.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Agren, L., Norin, M., Lycke, N., & Lowenadler, B. (1999). Hydrophobicity engineering of cholera toxin A1 subunit in the strong adjuvant fusion protein CTA1-DD. *Protein Eng*, 12(2), 173-178.
- Agren, L. C., Ekman, L., Lowenadler, B., & Lycke, N. Y. (1997). Genetically engineered nontoxic vaccine adjuvant that combines B cell targeting with immunomodulation by cholera toxin A1 subunit. *J Immunol*, 158(8), 3936-3946.
- Agren, L. C., Ekman, L., Lowenadler, B., Nedrud, J. G., & Lycke, N. Y. (1999). Adjuvanticity of the cholera toxin A1-based gene fusion protein, CTA1-DD, is critically dependent on the ADP-ribosyltransferase and Ig-binding activity. *J Immunol*, *162*(4), 2432-2440.
- Air, G. M. (2012). Influenza neuraminidase. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses*, 6(4), 245-256. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-2659.2011.00304.x
- Alvarez, B., Poderoso, T., Alonso, F., Ezquerra, A., Dominguez, J., & Revilla, C. (2013). Antigen targeting to APC: from mice to veterinary species. *Dev Comp Immunol*, 41(2), 153-163. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2013.04.021
- Amidi, M., Romeijn, S. G., Verhoef, J. C., Junginger, H. E., Bungener, L., Huckriede, A., Crommelin, D. J., & Jiskoot, W. (2007). N-trimethyl chitosan (TMC) nanoparticles loaded with influenza subunit antigen for intranasal vaccination: biological properties and immunogenicity in a mouse model. *Vaccine*, 25(1), 144-153. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.06.086
- Amorij, J. P., Hinrichs, W., Frijlink, H. W., Wilschut, J. C., & Huckriede, A. (2010). Needle-free influenza vaccination. *Lancet Infect Dis*, 10(10), 699-711. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(10)70157-2
- Aspden, T. J., Mason, J. D., Jones, N. S., Lowe, J., Skaugrud, O., & Illum, L. (1997). Chitosan as a nasal delivery system: the effect of chitosan solutions on in vitro and in vivo mucociliary transport rates in human turbinates and volunteers. *J Pharm Sci*, 86(4), 509-513. doi: 10.1021/js9601820
- Bassi, M., Santinello, I., Bevilacqua, A., & Bassi, P. (2013). [Nanotechnology: a big revolution from the small world]. *Urologia*, 80(1), 46-55. doi: 10.5301/RU.2013.10620
- Belshe, R. B., Gruber, W. C., Mendelman, P. M., Mehta, H. B., Mahmood, K., Reisinger, K., Treanor, J., Zangwill, K., Hayden, F. G., Bernstein, D. I., Kotloff, K., King, J., Piedra, P.

A., Block, S. L., Yan, L., & Wolff, M. (2000). Correlates of immune protection induced by live, attenuated, cold-adapted, trivalent, intranasal influenza virus vaccine. *J Infect Dis*, *181*(3), 1133-1137. doi: 10.1086/315323

- Bento, D., Staats, H. F., Goncalves, T., & Borges, O. (2015). Development of a novel adjuvanted nasal vaccine: C48/80 associated with chitosan nanoparticles as a path to enhance mucosal immunity. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm*, 93, 149-164. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.03.024
- Betbeder, D., Davrinche, C., Davignon, J. L., & Prieur, E. (2002). Method for increasing immunogenicity, product obtained and pharmaceutical compositions: Google Patents.
- Betbeder, D., Dimier-Poisson, I., & Ducournau, C. (2014). A pharmaceutical composition comprising a solid nanoparticle and at least an antigen for the treatment against an intracellular pathogenic agent: Google Patents.
- Betbeder, D., Lipka, E., Howsam, M., & Carpentier, R. (2015). Evolution of availability of curcumin inside poly-lactic-co-glycolic acid nanoparticles: impact on antioxidant and antinitrosant properties. *Int J Nanomedicine*, 10, 5355-5366. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S84760
- Betbeder, D., Sperandio, S., Latapie, J. P., de Nadai, J., Etienne, A., Zajac, J. M., & Frances, B. (2000). Biovector nanoparticles improve antinociceptive efficacy of nasal morphine. *Pharm Res*, 17(6), 743-748.
- Birrenbach, G., & Speiser, P. P. (1976). Polymerized micelles and their use as adjuvants in immunology. *J Pharm Sci*, 65(12), 1763-1766.
- Bouvier, N. M., & Palese, P. (2008). The biology of influenza viruses. Vaccine, 26 Suppl 4, D49-53.
- Boyce, T. G., Hsu, H. H., Sannella, E. C., Coleman-Dockery, S. D., Baylis, E., Zhu, Y., Barchfeld, G., DiFrancesco, A., Paranandi, M., Culley, B., Neuzil, K. M., & Wright, P. F. (2000). Safety and immunogenicity of adjuvanted and unadjuvanted subunit influenza vaccines administered intranasally to healthy adults. *Vaccine*, *19*(2-3), 217-226.
- Brito, L. A., & O'Hagan, D. T. (2014). Designing and building the next generation of improved vaccine adjuvants. *J Control Release*, *190*, 563-579. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.06.027
- Bungener, L., Serre, K., Bijl, L., Leserman, L., Wilschut, J., Daemen, T., & Machy, P. (2002). Virosome-mediated delivery of protein antigens to dendritic cells. *Vaccine*, 20(17-18), 2287-2295.

- Castignolles, N., Morgeaux, S., Gontier-Jallet, C., Samain, D., Betbeder, D., & Perrin, P. (1996).A new family of carriers (biovectors) enhances the immunogenicity of rabies antigens. *Vaccine*, 14(14), 1353-1360.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). Types of Influenza Viruses. Retrieved August, 2014, from http://www.cdc.gov/flu/about/viruses/types.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015a). Cell-Based Flu Vaccines. Retrieved September, 2015, from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/flu/protect/vaccine/cell-based.htm</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015b). Narcolepsy Following Pandemrix Influenza Vaccination in Europe. Retrieved August, 2015, from http://www.cdc.gov/vaccinesafety/concerns/history/narcolepsy-flu.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015c). Seasonal Influenza Vaccine Safety: A Summary for Clinicians. Retrieved October, 2015, from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/flu/professionals/vaccination/vaccine\_safety.htm</u>
- Chronakis, I. S. (1998). On the molecular characteristics, compositional properties, and structural-functional mechanisms of maltodextrins: a review. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*, 38(7), 599-637. doi: 10.1080/10408699891274327
- Colombo, R. E., Fiorentino, C., Dodd, L. E., Hunsberger, S., Haney, C., Barrett, K., Nabha, L., Davey, R. T., Jr., & Olivier, K. N. (2016). A phase 1 randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, crossover trial of DAS181 (Fludase(R)) in adult subjects with well-controlled asthma. *BMC Infect Dis*, 16(1), 54. doi: 10.1186/s12879-016-1358-9
- Couch, R. B. (1996). Orthomyxoviruses. In S. Baron (Ed.), *Medical Microbiology* (4th ed.). Galveston (TX).
- Coulter, A., Harris, R., Davis, R., Drane, D., Cox, J., Ryan, D., Sutton, P., Rockman, S., & Pearse, M. (2003). Intranasal vaccination with ISCOMATRIX adjuvanted influenza vaccine. *Vaccine*, 21(9-10), 946-949.
- Couvreur, P., & Vauthier, C. (2006). Nanotechnology: intelligent design to treat complex disease. *Pharm Res*, 23(7), 1417-1450. doi: 10.1007/s11095-006-0284-8
- Cox, M. M., Izikson, R., Post, P., & Dunkle, L. (2015). Safety, efficacy, and immunogenicity of Flublok in the prevention of seasonal influenza in adults. *Ther Adv Vaccines*, 3(4), 97-108. doi: 10.1177/2051013615595595
- Cozens, A. L., Yezzi, M. J., Kunzelmann, K., Ohrui, T., Chin, L., Eng, K., Finkbeiner, W. E., Widdicombe, J. H., & Gruenert, D. C. (1994). CFTR expression and chloride secretion in

polarized immortal human bronchial epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 10*(1), 38-47. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.10.1.7507342

- Csaba, N., Garcia-Fuentes, M., & Alonso, M. J. (2009). Nanoparticles for nasal vaccination. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, *61*(2), 140-157. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2008.09.005
- De Filette, M., Martens, W., Roose, K., Deroo, T., Vervalle, F., Bentahir, M., Vandekerckhove, J., Fiers, W., & Saelens, X. (2008). An influenza A vaccine based on tetrameric ectodomain of matrix protein 2. J Biol Chem, 283(17), 11382-11387. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M800650200
- De Filette, M., Min Jou, W., Birkett, A., Lyons, K., Schultz, B., Tonkyro, A., Resch, S., & Fiers,
  W. (2005). Universal influenza A vaccine: optimization of M2-based constructs. *Virology*, 337(1), 149-161. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2005.04.004
- De Filette, M., Ramne, A., Birkett, A., Lycke, N., Lowenadler, B., Min Jou, W., Saelens, X., & Fiers, W. (2006). The universal influenza vaccine M2e-HBc administered intranasally in combination with the adjuvant CTA1-DD provides complete protection. *Vaccine*, 24(5), 544-551. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.08.061
- De Jong, J. C., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., Fouchier, R. A., & Osterhaus, A. D. (2000). Influenza virus: a master of metamorphosis. *J Infect*, 40(3), 218-228. doi: 10.1053/jinf.2000.0652
- De Jong, W. H., & Borm, P. J. (2008). Drug delivery and nanoparticles:applications and hazards. *Int J Nanomedicine*, *3*(2), 133-149.
- De Magistris, M. T. (2006). Mucosal delivery of vaccine antigens and its advantages in pediatrics. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 58(1), 52-67. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2006.01.002
- Deli, M. A. (2009). Potential use of tight junction modulators to reversibly open membranous barriers and improve drug delivery. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1788(4), 892-910. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.09.016
- Dimier-Poisson, I., Carpentier, R., N'Guyen, T. T., Dahmani, F., Ducournau, C., & Betbeder, D. (2015). Porous nanoparticles as delivery system of complex antigens for an effective vaccine against acute and chronic Toxoplasma gondii infection. *Biomaterials*, 50, 164-175. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.01.056
- Dombu, C., Carpentier, R., & Betbeder, D. (2012). Influence of surface charge and inner composition of nanoparticles on intracellular delivery of proteins in airway epithelial cells. *Biomaterials*, 33(35), 9117-9126. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.08.064

- Dombu, C. Y., Kroubi, M., Zibouche, R., Matran, R., & Betbeder, D. (2010). Characterization of endocytosis and exocytosis of cationic nanoparticles in airway epithelium cells. *Nanotechnology*, 21(35), 355102. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/21/35/355102
- Ducournau, C., Nguyen, T. L., Carpentier, R., Lantier, I., Germon, S., Précausta, F., Pisella, P., Leroux, H., Van Langendonck, N., Betbeder, D., & Dimier-Poisson, I. (2016). Synthetic parasites: a succesful mucosal nanoparticle vaccine against *Toxoplasma* congenital infection. *Manuscript submitted*.
- Dupuis, M., Denis-Mize, K., LaBarbara, A., Peters, W., Charo, I. F., McDonald, D. M., & Ott, G. (2001). Immunization with the adjuvant MF59 induces macrophage trafficking and apoptosis. *Eur J Immunol*, 31(10), 2910-2918. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(2001010)31:10<2910::AID-IMMU2910&#62;3.0.CO;2-3
- Durando, P., Iudici, R., Alicino, C., Alberti, M., de Florentis, D., Ansaldi, F., & Icardi, G. (2011). Adjuvants and alternative routes of administration towards the development of the ideal influenza vaccine. *Hum Vaccin*, 7 Suppl, 29-40.
- Ebrahimi, S. M., & Tebianian, M. (2010). Heterologous expression, purification and characterization of the influenza A virus M2e gene fused to Mycobacterium tuberculosis HSP70(359-610) in prokaryotic system as a fusion protein. *Mol Biol Rep*, *37*(6), 2877-2883. doi: 10.1007/s11033-009-9846-2
- Ebrahimi, S. M., & Tebianian, M. (2011). Influenza A viruses: why focusing on M2e-based universal vaccines. *Virus Genes*, 42(1), 1-8. doi: 10.1007/s11262-010-0547-7
- Ebrahimi, S. M., Tebianian, M., Aghaiypour, K., Nili, H., & Mirjalili, A. (2010). Prokaryotic expression and characterization of avian influenza A virus M2 gene as a candidate for universal recombinant vaccine against influenza A subtypes; specially H5N1 and H9N2. *Mol Biol Rep*, 37(6), 2909-2914. doi: 10.1007/s11033-009-9851-5
- Edinger, T. O., Pohl, M. O., & Stertz, S. (2014). Entry of influenza A virus: host factors and antiviral targets. *J Gen Virol*, 95(Pt 2), 263-277. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.059477-0
- Ehrhardt, C., Kneuer, C., Fiegel, J., Hanes, J., Schaefer, U. F., Kim, K. J., & Lehr, C. M. (2002).
  Influence of apical fluid volume on the development of functional intercellular junctions in the human epithelial cell line 16HBE14o-: implications for the use of this cell line as an in vitro model for bronchial drug absorption studies. *Cell Tissue Res*, 308(3), 391-400. doi: 10.1007/s00441-002-0548-5

- Eisfeld, A. J., Neumann, G., & Kawaoka, Y. (2014). Influenza A virus isolation, culture and identification. *Nat Protoc*, 9(11), 2663-2681. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2014.180
- Eisfeld, A. J., Neumann, G., & Kawaoka, Y. (2015). At the centre: influenza A virus ribonucleoproteins. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, *13*(1), 28-41. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3367
- Eliasson, D. G., El Bakkouri, K., Schon, K., Ramne, A., Festjens, E., Lowenadler, B., Fiers, W., Saelens, X., & Lycke, N. (2008). CTA1-M2e-DD: a novel mucosal adjuvant targeted influenza vaccine. *Vaccine*, 26(9), 1243-1252. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.12.027
- Eliasson, D. G., Helgeby, A., Schon, K., Nygren, C., El-Bakkouri, K., Fiers, W., Saelens, X., Lovgren, K. B., Nystrom, I., & Lycke, N. Y. (2011). A novel non-toxic combined CTA1-DD and ISCOMS adjuvant vector for effective mucosal immunization against influenza virus. *Vaccine*, 29(23), 3951-3961. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.03.090
- Eriksson, A. M., Schon, K. M., & Lycke, N. Y. (2004). The cholera toxin-derived CTA1-DD vaccine adjuvant administered intranasally does not cause inflammation or accumulate in the nervous tissues. *J Immunol*, 173(5), 3310-3319.
- Esposito, S., Montinaro, V., Groppali, E., Tenconi, R., Semino, M., & Principi, N. (2012). Live attenuated intranasal influenza vaccine. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*, 8(1), 76-80. doi: 10.4161/hv.8.1.18809
- European Medicines Agency, C. f. H. M. P. (2006). Explanatory note on immunomodulators for the guideline on adjuvants in vaccines for human use. Retrieved July, 2006, from <u>http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/Scientific\_guideline/2009/09/</u> <u>WC500003810.pdf</u>
- Fiers, W., De Filette, M., Birkett, A., Neirynck, S., & Min Jou, W. (2004). A "universal" human influenza A vaccine. *Virus Res, 103*(1-2), 173-176. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2004.02.030
- Fiers, W., De Filette, M., El Bakkouri, K., Schepens, B., Roose, K., Schotsaert, M., Birkett, A., & Saelens, X. (2009). M2e-based universal influenza A vaccine. *Vaccine*, 27(45), 6280-6283. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.07.007
- Fifis, T., Gamvrellis, A., Crimeen-Irwin, B., Pietersz, G. A., Li, J., Mottram, P. L., McKenzie, I. F., & Plebanski, M. (2004). Size-dependent immunogenicity: therapeutic and protective properties of nano-vaccines against tumors. *J Immunol*, 173(5), 3148-3154.
- Food and Drug Administration. (2016). Fluzone Quadrivalent. Retrieved May, 2016, from <a href="http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vaccines/ApprovedProducts/ucm356091.ht">http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vaccines/ApprovedProducts/ucm356091.ht</a>

- Forbes, B., & Ehrhardt, C. (2005). Human respiratory epithelial cell culture for drug delivery applications. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm*, 60(2), 193-205. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2005.02.010
- Forbes, I. I. (2000). Human airway epithelial cell lines for in vitro drug transport and metabolism studies. *Pharm Sci Technolo Today*, *3*(1), 18-27.
- Fox, C. B. (2009). Squalene emulsions for parenteral vaccine and drug delivery. *Molecules*, 14(9), 3286-3312. doi: 10.3390/molecules14093286
- Frenck, R. W., Jr., Belshe, R., Brady, R. C., Winokur, P. L., Campbell, J. D., Treanor, J., Hay, C. M., Dekker, C. L., Walter, E. B., Jr., Cate, T. R., Edwards, K. M., Hill, H., Wolff, M., Leduc, T., & Tornieporth, N. (2011). Comparison of the immunogenicity and safety of a split-virion, inactivated, trivalent influenza vaccine (Fluzone(R)) administered by intradermal and intramuscular route in healthy adults. *Vaccine*, 29(34), 5666-5674. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.06.010
- Ge, S., & Wang, Z. (2011). An overview of influenza A virus receptors. *Crit Rev Microbiol*, 37(2), 157-165. doi: 10.3109/1040841X.2010.536523
- Gerdil, C. (2003). The annual production cycle for influenza vaccine. *Vaccine*, 21(16), 1776-1779.
- Gillespie, L., Roosendahl, P., Ng, W. C., Brooks, A. G., Reading, P. C., & Londrigan, S. L. (2016). Endocytic function is critical for influenza A virus infection via DC-SIGN and L-SIGN. Sci Rep, 6, 19428. doi: 10.1038/srep19428
- Gizurarson, S. (2012). Anatomical and histological factors affecting intranasal drug and vaccine delivery. *Curr Drug Deliv*, *9*(6), 566-582.
- Glanville, A. R., Tazelaar, H. D., Theodore, J., Imoto, E., Rouse, R. V., Baldwin, J. C., & Robin,
  E. D. (1989). The distribution of MHC class I and II antigens on bronchial epithelium. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 139(2), 330-334. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm/139.2.330
- Goodridge, H. S., Ahmed, S. S., Curtis, N., Kollmann, T. R., Levy, O., Netea, M. G., Pollard, A. J., van Crevel, R., & Wilson, C. B. (2016). Harnessing the beneficial heterologous effects of vaccination. *Nat Rev Immunol.* doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.43
- Greenberg, H. B., & Estes, M. K. (2009). Rotaviruses: from pathogenesis to vaccination. *Gastroenterology*, 136(6), 1939-1951. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.02.076
- Guichard, A., Cruz-Moreno, B., Aguilar, B., van Sorge, N. M., Kuang, J., Kurkciyan, A. A., Wang, Z., Hang, S., Pineton de Chambrun, G. P., McCole, D. F., Watnick, P., Nizet, V., & Bier, E. (2013). Cholera toxin disrupts barrier function by inhibiting exocyst-mediated

trafficking of host proteins to intestinal cell junctions. *Cell Host Microbe, 14*(3), 294-305. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.08.001

- Gupta, N. K., Tomar, P., Sharma, V., & Dixit, V. K. (2011). Development and characterization of chitosan coated poly-(varepsilon-caprolactone) nanoparticulate system for effective immunization against influenza. *Vaccine*, 29(48), 9026-9037. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.09.033
- Hajj Hussein, I., Chams, N., Chams, S., El Sayegh, S., Badran, R., Raad, M., Gerges-Geagea, A.,
  Leone, A., & Jurjus, A. (2015). Vaccines Through Centuries: Major Cornerstones of
  Global Health. *Front Public Health*, *3*, 269. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2015.00269
- Halsey, N. A., Talaat, K. R., Greenbaum, A., Mensah, E., Dudley, M. Z., Proveaux, T., & Salmon, D. A. (2015). The safety of influenza vaccines in children: An Institute for Vaccine Safety white paper. *Vaccine*, 33 Suppl 5, F1-F67. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.10.080
- Hay, A. J., Wolstenholme, A. J., Skehel, J. J., & Smith, M. H. (1985). The molecular basis of the specific anti-influenza action of amantadine. *EMBO J*, *4*(11), 3021-3024.
- Helgeby, A., Robson, N. C., Donachie, A. M., Beackock-Sharp, H., Lovgren, K., Schon, K., Mowat, A., & Lycke, N. Y. (2006). The combined CTA1-DD/ISCOM adjuvant vector promotes priming of mucosal and systemic immunity to incorporated antigens by specific targeting of B cells. *J Immunol*, 176(6), 3697-3706.
- Herzog, C., Hartmann, K., Kunzi, V., Kursteiner, O., Mischler, R., Lazar, H., & Gluck, R. (2009). Eleven years of Inflexal V-a virosomal adjuvanted influenza vaccine. *Vaccine*, 27(33), 4381-4387. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.05.029
- Hikono, H., Mase, M., Matsuu, A., Nakayama, M., & Saito, T. (2013). Intraocular vaccination with an inactivated highly pathogenic avian influenza virus induces protective antibody responses in chickens. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 151(1-2), 83-89. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2012.10.005
- Holmgren, J., & Svennerholm, A. M. (2012). Vaccines against mucosal infections. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 24(3), 343-353. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2012.03.014
- Hsu, L. W., Ho, Y. C., Chuang, E. Y., Chen, C. T., Juang, J. H., Su, F. Y., Hwang, S. M., & Sung, H. W. (2013). Effects of pH on molecular mechanisms of chitosan-integrin interactions and resulting tight-junction disruptions. *Biomaterials*, 34(3), 784-793. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.09.082

- Huntington, J. A., & Stein, P. E. (2001). Structure and properties of ovalbumin. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl, 756(1-2), 189-198.
- Ilinskaya, A. N., & Dobrovolskaia, M. A. (2016). Understanding the immunogenicity and antigenicity of nanomaterials: Past, present and future. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 299, 70-77. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2016.01.005
- Illum, L., Jabbal-Gill, I., Hinchcliffe, M., Fisher, A. N., & Davis, S. S. (2001). Chitosan as a novel nasal delivery system for vaccines. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, *51*(1-3), 81-96.
- Imai, M., Kawasaki, K., & Odagiri, T. (2008). Cytoplasmic domain of influenza B virus BM2 protein plays critical roles in production of infectious virus. *J Virol*, 82(2), 728-739. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01752-07
- International Organization for Standardization. (2011). Nanotechnologies Vocabulary Part

   4:
   Nanostructured
   materials.
   2011,
   from

   https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:ts:80004:-4:ed-1:v1:en

   from
- Jabbal-Gill, I. (2010). Nasal vaccine innovation. *J Drug Target, 18*(10), 771-786. doi: 10.3109/1061186X.2010.523790
- Jang, Y. H., & Seong, B. L. (2014). Options and obstacles for designing a universal influenza vaccine. *Viruses*, 6(8), 3159-3180. doi: 10.3390/v6083159
- Jing, X., Ma, C., Ohigashi, Y., Oliveira, F. A., Jardetzky, T. S., Pinto, L. H., & Lamb, R. A. (2008). Functional studies indicate amantadine binds to the pore of the influenza A virus M2 proton-selective ion channel. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105(31), 10967-10972. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0804958105
- Kalb, T. H., Chuang, M. T., Marom, Z., & Mayer, L. (1991). Evidence for accessory cell function by class II MHC antigen-expressing airway epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 4(4), 320-329. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb/4.4.320
- Kelso, J. K., Halder, N., & Milne, G. J. (2013). Vaccination strategies for future influenza pandemics: a severity-based cost effectiveness analysis. *BMC Infect Dis*, 13, 81. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-13-81
- Kelso, J. M. (2012). Safety of influenza vaccines. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol, 12(4), 383-388. doi: 10.1097/ACI.0b013e328354395d
- Kersten, G. F., & Crommelin, D. J. (2003). Liposomes and ISCOMs. Vaccine, 21(9-10), 915-920.

- Kim, D. Y., Sato, A., Fukuyama, S., Sagara, H., Nagatake, T., Kong, I. G., Goda, K., Nochi, T., Kunisawa, J., Sato, S., Yokota, Y., Lee, C. H., & Kiyono, H. (2011). The airway antigen sampling system: respiratory M cells as an alternative gateway for inhaled antigens. J Immunol, 186(7), 4253-4262. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903794
- Kiyono, H., & Fukuyama, S. (2004). NALT- versus Peyer's-patch-mediated mucosal immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 4(9), 699-710. doi: 10.1038/nri1439
- Korsmeyer, R. (2016). Critical questions in development of targeted nanoparticle therapeutics. *Regen Biomater*, *3*(2), 143-147. doi: 10.1093/rb/rbw011
- Krammer, F., & Palese, P. (2014). Universal influenza virus vaccines: need for clinical trials. *Nat Immunol*, 15(1), 3-5. doi: 10.1038/ni.2761
- Krammer, F., & Palese, P. (2015). Advances in the development of influenza virus vaccines. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, *14*(3), 167-182. doi: 10.1038/nrd4529
- Kreuter, J., & Liehl, E. (1981). Long-term studies of microencapsulated and adsorbed influenza vaccine nanoparticles. *J Pharm Sci*, 70(4), 367-371.
- Kroubi, M., Daulouede, S., Karembe, H., Jallouli, Y., Howsam, M., Mossalayi, D., Vincendeau, P., & Betbeder, D. (2010). Development of a nanoparticulate formulation of diminazene to treat African trypanosomiasis. *Nanotechnology*, 21(50), 505102. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/21/50/505102
- Kubecek, O., Blaha, M., Diaz-Garcia, D., & Filip, S. (2015). Extracorporeal Elimination of Circulating Pegylated Liposomal Doxorubicin (PLD) to Enhance the Benefit of Cytostatic Therapy in Platinum-Resistant Ovarian Cancer Patients. *Acta Medica (Hradec Kralove)*, 58(1), 3-8. doi: 10.14712/18059694.2015.84
- Kumari, A., & Yadav, S. K. (2011). Cellular interactions of therapeutically delivered nanoparticles. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv*, 8(2), 141-151. doi: 10.1517/17425247.2011.547934
- Kumari, A., Yadav, S. K., & Yadav, S. C. (2010). Biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles based drug delivery systems. *Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces*, 75(1), 1-18. doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2009.09.001
- Kumru, O. S., Joshi, S. B., Smith, D. E., Middaugh, C. R., Prusik, T., & Volkin, D. B. (2014).
   Vaccine instability in the cold chain: mechanisms, analysis and formulation strategies.
   *Biologicals*, 42(5), 237-259. doi: 10.1016/j.biologicals.2014.05.007

- Lakadamyali, M., Rust, M. J., & Zhuang, X. (2004). Endocytosis of influenza viruses. *Microbes Infect*, 6(10), 929-936. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2004.05.002
- Lamichhane, A., Azegamia, T., & Kiyonoa, H. (2014). The mucosal immune system for vaccine development. *Vaccine*, *32*(49), 6711-6723. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.08.089
- Le Broc-Ryckewaert, D., Carpentier, R., Lipka, E., Daher, S., Vaccher, C., Betbeder, D., & Furman, C. (2013). Development of innovative paclitaxel-loaded small PLGA nanoparticles: study of their antiproliferative activity and their molecular interactions on prostatic cancer cells. *Int J Pharm*, 454(2), 712-719. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.05.018
- Li, R., Lim, A., Phoon, M. C., Narasaraju, T., Ng, J. K., Poh, W. P., Sim, M. K., Chow, V. T., Locht, C., & Alonso, S. (2010). Attenuated Bordetella pertussis protects against highly pathogenic influenza A viruses by dampening the cytokine storm. *J Virol*, 84(14), 7105-7113. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02542-09
- Li, T. C., Chan, M. C., & Lee, N. (2015). Clinical Implications of Antiviral Resistance in Influenza. *Viruses*, 7(9), 4929-4944. doi: 10.3390/v7092850
- Li, T. L., Zhang, S. Y., Du, Y. C., & Yang, P. C. (2013). Deficiency of ubiquitin A20 promotes antigen transport across airway epithelial cells via a transcellular pathway. *Anal Biochem*, 433(2), 86-91. doi: 10.1016/j.ab.2012.10.027
- Liang, X., & Li, Z. Y. (2010). Ion channels as antivirus targets. *Virol Sin*, 25(4), 267-280. doi: 10.1007/s12250-010-3136-y
- Liebowitz, D., Lindbloom, J. D., Brandl, J. R., Garg, S. J., & Tucker, S. N. (2015). High titre neutralising antibodies to influenza after oral tablet immunisation: a phase 1, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Infect Dis*, 15(9), 1041-1048. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00266-2
- Liu, Z., Jiang, M., Kang, T., Miao, D., Gu, G., Song, Q., Yao, L., Hu, Q., Tu, Y., Pang, Z., Chen, H., Jiang, X., Gao, X., & Chen, J. (2013). Lactoferrin-modified PEG-co-PCL nanoparticles for enhanced brain delivery of NAP peptide following intranasal administration. *Biomaterials*, 34(15), 3870-3881. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.02.003
- Loiseau, P. M., Imbertie, L., Bories, C., Betbeder, D., & De Miguel, I. (2002). Design and antileishmanial activity of amphotericin B-loaded stable ionic amphiphile biovector formulations. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 46(5), 1597-1601.

- Lopez, A. L., Gonzales, M. L., Aldaba, J. G., & Nair, G. B. (2014). Killed oral cholera vaccines: history, development and implementation challenges. *Ther Adv Vaccines*, 2(5), 123-136. doi: 10.1177/2051013614537819
- Lycke, N. (2004a). ADP-ribosylating bacterial enzymes for the targeted control of mucosal tolerance and immunity. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1029*, 193-208. doi: 10.1196/annals.1309.036
- Lycke, N. (2004b). From toxin to adjuvant: the rational design of a vaccine adjuvant vector, CTA1-DD/ISCOM. *Cell Microbiol*, 6(1), 23-32.
- Lycke, N. (2012). Recent progress in mucosal vaccine development: potential and limitations. *Nat Rev Immunol*, *12*(8), 592-605. doi: 10.1038/nri3251
- Markov, A. G., Falchuk, E. L., Kruglova, N. M., Rybalchenko, O. V., Fromm, M., & Amasheh, S. (2014). Comparative analysis of theophylline and cholera toxin in rat colon reveals an induction of sealing tight junction proteins. *Pflugers Arch*, 466(11), 2059-2065. doi: 10.1007/s00424-014-1460-z
- Marrack, P., McKee, A. S., & Munks, M. W. (2009). Towards an understanding of the adjuvant action of aluminium. *Nat Rev Immunol*, *9*(4), 287-293. doi: 10.1038/nri2510
- Merhi, M., Dombu, C. Y., Brient, A., Chang, J., Platel, A., Le Curieux, F., Marzin, D., Nesslany, F., & Betbeder, D. (2012). Study of serum interaction with a cationic nanoparticle: Implications for in vitro endocytosis, cytotoxicity and genotoxicity. *Int J Pharm*, 423(1), 37-44. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.07.014
- Mischler, R., & Metcalfe, I. C. (2002). Inflexal V a trivalent virosome subunit influenza vaccine: production. *Vaccine, 20 Suppl 5*, B17-23.
- Mowat, A. M., Donachie, A. M., Jagewall, S., Schon, K., Lowenadler, B., Dalsgaard, K., Kaastrup, P., & Lycke, N. (2001). CTA1-DD-immune stimulating complexes: a novel, rationally designed combined mucosal vaccine adjuvant effective with nanogram doses of antigen. *J Immunol*, 167(6), 3398-3405.
- Mowat, A. M., Donachie, A. M., Reid, G., & Jarrett, O. (1991). Immune-stimulating complexes containing Quil A and protein antigen prime class I MHC-restricted T lymphocytes in vivo and are immunogenic by the oral route. *Immunology*, *72*(3), 317-322.
- Mutsch, M., Zhou, W., Rhodes, P., Bopp, M., Chen, R. T., Linder, T., Spyr, C., & Steffen, R. (2004). Use of the inactivated intranasal influenza vaccine and the risk of Bell's palsy in Switzerland. *N Engl J Med*, 350(9), 896-903. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa030595

- Nagamoto, T., Hattori, Y., Takayama, K., & Maitani, Y. (2004). Novel chitosan particles and chitosan-coated emulsions inducing immune response via intranasal vaccine delivery. *Pharm Res*, *21*(4), 671-674.
- Nair, H., Nokes, D. J., Gessner, B. D., Dherani, M., Madhi, S. A., Singleton, R. J., O'Brien, K. L., Roca, A., Wright, P. F., Bruce, N., Chandran, A., Theodoratou, E., Sutanto, A., Sedyaningsih, E. R., Ngama, M., Munywoki, P. K., Kartasasmita, C., Simoes, E. A., Rudan, I., Weber, M. W., & Campbell, H. (2010). Global burden of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet*, 375(9725), 1545-1555. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60206-1
- Nakanishi, T., Kunisawa, J., Hayashi, A., Tsutsumi, Y., Kubo, K., Nakagawa, S., Fujiwara, H., Hamaoka, T., & Mayumi, T. (1997). Positively charged liposome functions as an efficient immunoadjuvant in inducing immune responses to soluble proteins. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 240(3), 793-797. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1997.7749
- Nayak, D. P., Balogun, R. A., Yamada, H., Zhou, Z. H., & Barman, S. (2009). Influenza virus morphogenesis and budding. *Virus Res*, 143(2), 147-161. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2009.05.010
- Neirynck, S., Deroo, T., Saelens, X., Vanlandschoot, P., Jou, W. M., & Fiers, W. (1999). A universal influenza A vaccine based on the extracellular domain of the M2 protein. *Nat Med*, 5(10), 1157-1163. doi: 10.1038/13484
- Nelson, M. I., & Holmes, E. C. (2007). The evolution of epidemic influenza. *Nat Rev Genet*, 8(3), 196-205. doi: 10.1038/nrg2053
- O'Brien, K. L., Wolfson, L. J., Watt, J. P., Henkle, E., Deloria-Knoll, M., McCall, N., Lee, E., Mulholland, K., Levine, O. S., Cherian, T., Hib, & Pneumococcal Global Burden of Disease Study, T. (2009). Burden of disease caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae in children younger than 5 years: global estimates. *Lancet*, 374(9693), 893-902. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61204-6
- Paillard, A., Passirani, C., Saulnier, P., Kroubi, M., Garcion, E., Benoit, J. P., & Betbeder, D. (2010). Positively-charged, porous, polysaccharide nanoparticles loaded with anionic molecules behave as 'stealth' cationic nanocarriers. *Pharm Res*, 27(1), 126-133. doi: 10.1007/s11095-009-9986-z

- Papi, A., Stanciu, L. A., Papadopoulos, N. G., Teran, L. M., Holgate, S. T., & Johnston, S. L. (2000). Rhinovirus infection induces major histocompatibility complex class I and costimulatory molecule upregulation on respiratory epithelial cells. *J Infect Dis*, 181(5), 1780-1784. doi: 10.1086/315463
- Parodi, A., Corbo, C., Cevenini, A., Molinaro, R., Palomba, R., Pandolfi, L., Agostini, M., Salvatore, F., & Tasciotti, E. (2015). Enabling cytoplasmic delivery and organelle targeting by surface modification of nanocarriers. *Nanomedicine (Lond)*, 10(12), 1923-1940. doi: 10.2217/nnm.15.39
- Pawar, D., & Jaganathan, K. S. (2016). Mucoadhesive glycol chitosan nanoparticles for intranasal delivery of hepatitis B vaccine: enhancement of mucosal and systemic immune response. *Drug Deliv*, 23(1), 185-194. doi: 10.3109/10717544.2014.908427
- Pawar, D., Mangal, S., Goswami, R., & Jaganathan, K. S. (2013). Development and characterization of surface modified PLGA nanoparticles for nasal vaccine delivery: effect of mucoadhesive coating on antigen uptake and immune adjuvant activity. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm*, 85(3 Pt A), 550-559. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2013.06.017
- Pawar, S. D., Murtadak, V. B., Kale, S. D., Shinde, P. V., & Parkhi, S. S. (2015). Evaluation of different inactivation methods for high and low pathogenic avian influenza viruses in egg-fluids for antigen preparation. J Virol Methods, 222, 28-33. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2015.05.004
- Pearse, M. J., & Drane, D. (2005). ISCOMATRIX adjuvant for antigen delivery. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 57(3), 465-474. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2004.09.006
- Pedersen, G., & Cox, R. (2012). The mucosal vaccine quandary: intranasal vs. sublingual immunization against influenza. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*, 8(5), 689-693. doi: 10.4161/hv.19568
- Pedersen, G. K., Ebensen, T., Gjeraker, I. H., Svindland, S., Bredholt, G., Guzman, C. A., & Cox, R. J. (2011). Evaluation of the sublingual route for administration of influenza H5N1 virosomes in combination with the bacterial second messenger c-di-GMP. *PLoS One*, 6(11), e26973. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026973
- Pei, Z., Jiang, X., Yang, Z., Ren, X., Gong, H., Reeves, M., Sheng, J., Wang, Y., Pan, Z., Liu, F., Wu, J., & Lu, S. (2015). Oral Delivery of a Novel Attenuated Salmonella Vaccine Expressing Influenza A Virus Proteins Protects Mice against H5N1 and H1N1 Viral Infection. *PLoS One*, 10(6), e0129276. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129276

- Permanyer, M., Ballana, E., & Este, J. A. (2010). Endocytosis of HIV: anything goes. *Trends Microbiol*, 18(12), 543-551. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2010.09.003
- Pham, H. L., Ross, B. P., McGeary, R. P., Shaw, P. N., Hewavitharana, A. K., & Davies, N. M. (2006). Saponins from Quillaja saponaria Molina: isolation, characterization and ability to form immuno stimulatory complexes (ISCOMs). *Curr Drug Deliv*, 3(4), 389-397.
- Piccini, L. E., Castilla, V., & Damonte, E. B. (2015). Dengue-3 Virus Entry into Vero Cells: Role of Clathrin-Mediated Endocytosis in the Outcome of Infection. *PLoS One*, 10(10), e0140824. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140824
- Pichavant, M., Delneste, Y., Jeannin, P., Fourneau, C., Brichet, A., Tonnel, A. B., & Gosset, P. (2003). Outer membrane protein A from Klebsiella pneumoniae activates bronchial epithelial cells: implication in neutrophil recruitment. *J Immunol*, 171(12), 6697-6705.
- Plopper G. (2016). Principles of cell biology (J. B. Learning Ed.).
- Prabakaran, M., & Kwang, J. (2014). Recombinant baculovirus displayed vaccine: a novel tool for the development of a cross-protective influenza H5N1 vaccine. *Bioengineered*, 5(1), 45-48. doi: 10.4161/bioe.26001
- Razafindratsita, A., Saint-Lu, N., Mascarell, L., Berjont, N., Bardon, T., Betbeder, D., Van Overtvelt, L., & Moingeon, P. (2007). Improvement of sublingual immunotherapy efficacy with a mucoadhesive allergen formulation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 120(2), 278-285. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.04.009
- Reddy, S. T., van der Vlies, A. J., Simeoni, E., Angeli, V., Randolph, G. J., O'Neil, C. P., Lee, L. K., Swartz, M. A., & Hubbell, J. A. (2007). Exploiting lymphatic transport and complement activation in nanoparticle vaccines. *Nat Biotechnol*, 25(10), 1159-1164. doi: 10.1038/nbt1332
- Resa-Infante, P., Jorba, N., Coloma, R., & Ortin, J. (2011). The influenza virus RNA synthesis machine: advances in its structure and function. *RNA Biol*, 8(2), 207-215.
- Richard, M., & Fouchier, R. A. (2016). Influenza A virus transmission via respiratory aerosols or droplets as it relates to pandemic potential. *FEMS Microbiol Rev*, 40(1), 68-85. doi: 10.1093/femsre/fuv039
- Riedel, S. (2005). Edward Jenner and the history of smallpox and vaccination. *Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent)*, 18(1), 21-25.
- Rimmelzwaan, G. F., & Osterhaust, A. D. (2001). Influenza vaccines: new developments. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, *1*(5), 491-496.

- Ronnberg, B., Fekadu, M., & Morein, B. (1995). Adjuvant activity of non-toxic Quillaja saponaria Molina components for use in ISCOM matrix. *Vaccine*, *13*(14), 1375-1382.
- Rossman, J. S., Jing, X., Leser, G. P., Balannik, V., Pinto, L. H., & Lamb, R. A. (2010). Influenza virus m2 ion channel protein is necessary for filamentous virion formation. J Virol, 84(10), 5078-5088. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00119-10
- Rossman, J. S., Leser, G. P., & Lamb, R. A. (2012). Filamentous influenza virus enters cells via macropinocytosis. *J Virol*, *86*(20), 10950-10960. doi: 10.1128/JVI.05992-11
- Rust, M. J., Lakadamyali, M., Zhang, F., & Zhuang, X. (2004). Assembly of endocytic machinery around individual influenza viruses during viral entry. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 11(6), 567-573. doi: 10.1038/nsmb769
- Saito, S., Ainai, A., Suzuki, T., Harada, N., Ami, Y., Yuki, Y., Takeyama, H., Kiyono, H., Tsukada, H., & Hasegawa, H. (2016). The effect of mucoadhesive excipient on the nasal retention time of and the antibody responses induced by an intranasal influenza vaccine. *Vaccine*, 34(9), 1201-1207. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.01.020
- Salik, E., Tyorkin, M., Mohan, S., George, I., Becker, K., Oei, E., Kalb, T., & Sperber, K. (1999). Antigen trafficking and accessory cell function in respiratory epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 21(3), 365-379. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.21.3.3529
- Samain, D., Delrieu, P., GIBILARO, J., Dirson, R., Cervilla, M., De, M. I., Ding, L., Nguyen, F., Soulet, N., & Soler, C. (1994). Vecteurs particulaires synthetiques et procede de preparation: Google Patents.
- Saville, M., Marsh, G., & Hoffenbach, A. (2008). Improving seasonal and pandemic influenza vaccines. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses*, 2(6), 229-235. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-2659.2008.00060.x
- Schiller, S., Hanefeld, A., Schneider, M., & Lehr, C. M. (2015). Focused Ultrasound as a Scalable and Contact-Free Method to Manufacture Protein-Loaded PLGA Nanoparticles. *Pharm Res*, 32(9), 2995-3006. doi: 10.1007/s11095-015-1681-7
- Schultze, V., D'Agosto, V., Wack, A., Novicki, D., Zorn, J., & Hennig, R. (2008). Safety of MF59 adjuvant. *Vaccine*, 26(26), 3209-3222. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.03.093
- Schulz, W. L., Haj, A. K., & Schiff, L. A. (2012). Reovirus uses multiple endocytic pathways for cell entry. J Virol, 86(23), 12665-12675. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01861-12

- Seo, K. Y., Han, S. J., Cha, H. R., Seo, S. U., Song, J. H., Chung, S. H., & Kweon, M. N. (2010). Eye mucosa: an efficient vaccine delivery route for inducing protective immunity. *J Immunol*, 185(6), 3610-3619. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000680
- Sharma, S., Mukkur, T. K., Benson, H. A., & Chen, Y. (2009). Pharmaceutical aspects of intranasal delivery of vaccines using particulate systems. *J Pharm Sci*, 98(3), 812-843. doi: 10.1002/jps.21493
- Sieczkarski, S. B., & Whittaker, G. R. (2002). Influenza virus can enter and infect cells in the absence of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *J Virol*, *76*(20), 10455-10464.
- Simmons, C. P., Mastroeni, P., Fowler, R., Ghaem-maghami, M., Lycke, N., Pizza, M., Rappuoli, R., & Dougan, G. (1999). MHC class I-restricted cytotoxic lymphocyte responses induced by enterotoxin-based mucosal adjuvants. *J Immunol*, 163(12), 6502-6510.
- Skwarczynski, M., & Toth, I. (2014). Recent advances in peptide-based subunit nanovaccines. *Nanomedicine (Lond)*, 9(17), 2657-2669. doi: 10.2217/nnm.14.187
- Slutter, B., Bal, S., Keijzer, C., Mallants, R., Hagenaars, N., Que, I., Kaijzel, E., van Eden, W., Augustijns, P., Lowik, C., Bouwstra, J., Broere, F., & Jiskoot, W. (2010). Nasal vaccination with N-trimethyl chitosan and PLGA based nanoparticles: nanoparticle characteristics determine quality and strength of the antibody response in mice against the encapsulated antigen. *Vaccine*, 28(38), 6282-6291. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.06.121
- Slutter, B., Bal, S. M., Que, I., Kaijzel, E., Lowik, C., Bouwstra, J., & Jiskoot, W. (2010). Antigen-adjuvant nanoconjugates for nasal vaccination: an improvement over the use of nanoparticles? *Mol Pharm*, 7(6), 2207-2215. doi: 10.1021/mp100210g
- Soane, R. J., Frier, M., Perkins, A. C., Jones, N. S., Davis, S. S., & Illum, L. (1999). Evaluation of the clearance characteristics of bioadhesive systems in humans. *Int J Pharm*, 178(1), 55-65.
- Stray, S. J., Cummings, R. D., & Air, G. M. (2000). Influenza virus infection of desialylated cells. *Glycobiology*, 10(7), 649-658.
- Sun, H. X., Xie, Y., & Ye, Y. P. (2009). ISCOMs and ISCOMATRIX. *Vaccine*, 27(33), 4388-4401. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.05.032
- Tafaghodi, M., Abolghasem Sajadi Tabassi, S., Jaafari, M. R., Zakavi, S. R., & Momen-Nejad,M. (2004). Evaluation of the clearance characteristics of various microspheres in the

human nose by gamma-scintigraphy. *Int J Pharm*, 280(1-2), 125-135. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2004.05.009

- Uto, T., Wang, X., Akagi, T., Zenkyu, R., Akashi, M., & Baba, M. (2009). Improvement of adaptive immunity by antigen-carrying biodegradable nanoparticles. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 379(2), 600-604. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.12.122
- Vadolas, J., Davies, J. K., Wright, P. J., & Strugnell, R. A. (1995). Intranasal immunization with liposomes induces strong mucosal immune responses in mice. *Eur J Immunol*, 25(4), 969-975. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830250417
- van Ginkel, F. W., Jackson, R. J., Yuki, Y., & McGhee, J. R. (2000). Cutting edge: the mucosal adjuvant cholera toxin redirects vaccine proteins into olfactory tissues. *J Immunol*, *165*(9), 4778-4782.
- Vicente, S., Goins, B. A., Sanchez, A., Alonso, M. J., & Phillips, W. T. (2014). Biodistribution and lymph node retention of polysaccharide-based immunostimulating nanocapsules. *Vaccine*, 32(15), 1685-1692. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.01.059
- Villacres, M. C., Behboudi, S., Nikkila, T., Lovgren-Bengtsson, K., & Morein, B. (1998). Internalization of iscom-borne antigens and presentation under MHC class I or class II restriction. *Cell Immunol*, 185(1), 30-38. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1998.1278
- Widdicombe, J. H. (2002). Regulation of the depth and composition of airway surface liquid. *J Anat*, 201(4), 313-318.
- Wiersma, L. C., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., & de Vries, R. D. (2015). Developing Universal Influenza Vaccines: Hitting the Nail, Not Just on the Head. *Vaccines (Basel)*, 3(2), 239-262. doi: 10.3390/vaccines3020239
- Wilschut, J. (2009). Influenza vaccines: the virosome concept. *Immunol Lett, 122*(2), 118-121. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2008.11.006
- Wilson, N. S., Behrens, G. M., Lundie, R. J., Smith, C. M., Waithman, J., Young, L., Forehan, S. P., Mount, A., Steptoe, R. J., Shortman, K. D., de Koning-Ward, T. F., Belz, G. T., Carbone, F. R., Crabb, B. S., Heath, W. R., & Villadangos, J. A. (2006). Systemic activation of dendritic cells by Toll-like receptor ligands or malaria infection impairs cross-presentation and antiviral immunity. *Nat Immunol*, 7(2), 165-172. doi: 10.1038/ni1300

- Wohlbold, T. J., & Krammer, F. (2014). In the shadow of hemagglutinin: a growing interest in influenza viral neuraminidase and its role as a vaccine antigen. *Viruses*, 6(6), 2465-2494. doi: 10.3390/v6062465
- Wong, S. S., & Yuen, K. Y. (2005). Influenza vaccination: options and issues. *Hong Kong Med J*, 11(5), 381-390.
- Woodrow, K. A., Bennett, K. M., & Lo, D. D. (2012). Mucosal vaccine design and delivery. Annu Rev Biomed Eng, 14, 17-46. doi: 10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071811-150054
- World Health Organization. (1980). A revision of the system of nomenclature for influenza viruses: a WHO memorandum. *Bull World Health Organ*, 58(4), 585-591.
- World Health Organization. (2014a). Influenza (Seasonal). Retrieved March, 2014, from <a href="http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs211/en/">http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs211/en/</a>
- World Health Organization. (2014b). Influenza virus infections in humans. Retrieved February, 2014, from <u>http://www.who.int/influenza/human\_animal\_interface/virology\_laboratories\_and\_vacci</u> nes/influenza virus infections humans feb14.pdf?ua=1
- World health Organization. (2016). Influenza. Retrieved January, 2016, from <a href="http://www.who.int/biologicals/vaccines/influenza/en/">http://www.who.int/biologicals/vaccines/influenza/en/</a>
- Xing, M., Yan, F., Yu, S., & Shen, P. (2015). Efficacy and Cardiotoxicity of Liposomal Doxorubicin-Based Chemotherapy in Advanced Breast Cancer: A Meta-Analysis of Ten Randomized Controlled Trials. *PLoS One*, 10(7), e0133569. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133569
- Yamamoto, S., Takeda, Y., Yamamoto, M., Kurazono, H., Imaoka, K., Yamamoto, M., Fujihashi, K., Noda, M., Kiyono, H., & McGhee, J. R. (1997). Mutants in the ADPribosyltransferase cleft of cholera toxin lack diarrheagenicity but retain adjuvanticity. J Exp Med, 185(7), 1203-1210.
- Yassine, H. M., Boyington, J. C., McTamney, P. M., Wei, C. J., Kanekiyo, M., Kong, W. P., Gallagher, J. R., Wang, L., Zhang, Y., Joyce, M. G., Lingwood, D., Moin, S. M., Andersen, H., Okuno, Y., Rao, S. S., Harris, A. K., Kwong, P. D., Mascola, J. R., Nabel, G. J., & Graham, B. S. (2015). Hemagglutinin-stem nanoparticles generate heterosubtypic influenza protection. *Nat Med*, *21*(9), 1065-1070. doi: 10.1038/nm.3927
- Zaman, M., Chandrudu, S., & Toth, I. (2013). Strategies for intranasal delivery of vaccines. *Drug Deliv Transl Res*, 3(1), 100-109. doi: 10.1007/s13346-012-0085-z

- Zazo, H., Colino, C. I., & Lanao, J. M. (2016). Current applications of nanoparticles in infectious diseases. *J Control Release*, 224, 86-102. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.01.008
- Zebedee, S. L., & Lamb, R. A. (1988). Influenza A virus M2 protein: monoclonal antibody restriction of virus growth and detection of M2 in virions. *J Virol*, 62(8), 2762-2772.
- Zhang, L., Gu, F. X., Chan, J. M., Wang, A. Z., Langer, R. S., & Farokhzad, O. C. (2008). Nanoparticles in medicine: therapeutic applications and developments. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 83(5), 761-769. doi: 10.1038/sj.clpt.6100400
- Zhang, W., Wang, L., Liu, Y., Chen, X., Liu, Q., Jia, J., Yang, T., Qiu, S., & Ma, G. (2014). Immune responses to vaccines involving a combined antigen-nanoparticle mixture and nanoparticle-encapsulated antigen formulation. *Biomaterials*, 35(23), 6086-6097. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.04.022
- Zhao, L., Seth, A., Wibowo, N., Zhao, C. X., Mitter, N., Yu, C., & Middelberg, A. P. (2014). Nanoparticle vaccines. *Vaccine*, *32*(3), 327-337. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.11.069
- Zhu, D., & Tuo, W. (2016). QS-21: A Potent Vaccine Adjuvant. *Nat Prod Chem Res*, *3*(4). doi: 10.4172/2329-6836.1000e113